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Pursuing the vision of being the “Chinese Connection’] both among Chinese communities and
between Chinese communities and the rest of the world, Phoenix seeks to provide Chinese
everywhere with a continuous stream of Chinese-language programming, ranging from
entertainment, talk shows and Asian and Western movies through to balanced, accurate and up-to-
the-minute news and information about political and economic developments around the globe.

By performing these functions, Phoenix fulfills its mission of bringing
China closer to the world and the world closer to China.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

° Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$3,003,733,000, which represented a
decrease of 4.9% over the previous year.

° The operating loss of the Group decreased to approximately
HK$378,620,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022
(year ended 31 December 2021: HK$647,290,000), which
represented a decrease of 41.5% over previous year, benefiting
from the cost control of our internet media business and the
decrease in the impairment of accounts receivable.

° The net exchange loss of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$113,011,000 (year
ended 31 December 2021: net gain of HK$45,045,000), mainly
resulting from the depreciation of the Renminbi (the “"RMB")
against Hong Kong dollars.

° The loss attributable to owners of the Company decreased
to approximately HK$382,500,000 (year ended 31 December
2021: HK$456,201,000), which represented a decrease of
16.2%.

RESULTS

The revenue of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
(the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group”
or “"Phoenix”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately HK$3,003,733,000 (year ended 31 December 2021:
HK$3,159,240,000), which represented a decrease of 4.9% over the
previous year. The operating costs for the year ended 31 December
2022 have decreased by 11.1% to approximately HK$3,382,353,000
(year ended 31 December 2021: HK$3,806,530,000).

The operating loss of the Group decreased to approximately
HK$378,620,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (year ended
31 December 2021: HK$647,290,000), which represented a decrease
of 41.5% over previous year, benefiting from the cost control of
our internet media business and the decrease in the impairment of
accounts receivable.

The net exchange loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately HK$113,011,000 (year ended 31 December
2021: net gain of HK$45,045,000), mainly resulting from the
depreciation of RMB against Hong Kong dollars.
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The loss attributable to owners of the Company decreasedto A A G E B AEEEBEER L E L
approximately HK$382,500,000 (year ended 31 December 2021: 382,500,000 7T (& Z=20216 12 A31H
HK$456,201,000), which represented a decrease of 16.2%. IF4FE : 456,201,000 7T) © & EF R D

16.2% °

The chart below summarises the performance of the Group for the T3 % 5l #f it 748 5 & & = 2022 6 12 A 31
years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 respectively.  HX% 2021912 31 AIEFEHRR -

Television broadcasting
Internet media
Outdoor media

Real estate

Other businesses

Group's total revenue
Operating costs

Operating loss

Fair value (loss)/gain on
investment properties

Net gain/(loss) on internet
media investment

Exchange (loss)/gain, net

Other income, net

Loss before share of results of joint
ventures and associates, income tax
and non-controlling interests

Share of results of joint ventures
and associates

Income tax expense

Loss for the year
Non-controlling interests

Loss attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic loss per share, Hong Kong cents

Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALLFE

2022 2021
2022 & 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
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KRR (3,382,353) (3,806,530)
KRR (378,620) (647,290)
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(382,500) (456,201)
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND PROSPECTS

In 2022, Phoenix took multiple measures to deepen the pace of its
business transformation and innovation, and has shown a stable and
positive trend in its operating performance. Mr. Xu Wei, the Chairman
of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, emphasises the need to
“focus on core business, internationalisation, innovation and talents”
for promoting integrated marketing, cross-border cooperation
and capacity building, as well as the commitment to achieve a
comprehensive innovation in content, channels and activities in full
force. The Group shall firmly establish a strong base in Hong Kong,
facing the development orientation of Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan
and the global Chinese community, with an aim of building an
international first-class Chinese media group.

Phoenix adheres to media credibility and professionalism, bringing
first-hand news to Chinese audiences all over the world. The global
team of Phoenix has focused and broadcasted live reports on various
major domestic and foreign news events such as the 20th National
Congress of the CPC, Presidents’ Talks between China and Russia,
the U.S. and Japan, the passing of Jiang Zemin, China’s manned
space mission, Pelosi’s visit to Taiwan, and Russia’s military parade.
During the year, Phoenix comprehensively and multi-dimensionally
reported on the head-of-state diplomacy of Xi Jinping, President of
the PRC, in which he attended SCO Summit, G20 and a series of
APEC summits. Bilateral meetings were also carried out with leaders
from various countries such as the U.S. and Japan. Meanwhile,
upholding the philosophy of live reporting of all major events from
the scenes, Phoenix sent several reporters to the frontline to
perform profound and regular news coverage after the outbreak of
Russia-Ukraine War, adhering to the spirit of media professionalism.
Moreover, as an international Chinese-language media based in Hong
Kong, Phoenix had in-depth comprehensive reportings on local major
events such as Hong Kong Chief Executive Election, the Celebration
of the 25th Anniversary of Hong Kong's Return to the Motherland,
and the Central Government’s aid to Hong Kong in fighting against
the fifth wave of the pandemic.
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Chairman’s Statement
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In 2022, Phoenix has successfully revamped with over 80
programmes launched, emphasising on its news professionalism
and content, and making their presentation and visual effects to
better align with its international media positioning. Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel rendered Hong Kong's local news and entertainment
news as the main focuses, which has been widely recognised by
local and other Cantonese audience with its exclusive news reports
and opinions. According to the data of CSM, the overall average
viewership of Phoenix Hong Kong Channel once rose by 42 times,
unfolding a new page of Cantonese broadcasts. Phoenix InfoNews
Channel focused on around-the-clock news-updates and breaking
news reporting in prime time, striving to be the first-ever on the
spot to live stream major news and innovating the arrangement of
informational programmes, of which the viewership duration per
capita increased by 2.7 times. Phoenix Chinese Channel launched
a series of premium programmes in an in-depth, thoughtful and
visionary approach at international level with a yearon-year increase
of 256.5% in the viewership (in thousand people), which greatly
enriched its international broadcast content in audiovisual narrative
style as well as enhanced the expressiveness and influence of the
international broadcasts, whereby winning praises from the Chinese
audiences worldwide.

During the year, Phoenix continued to enhance its brand value, and
has been consecutively listed as Asia’s 500 Most Influential Brands
and continued to be rated as Top 4 TV brands in Asia, which reflected
its popularity and reputation in media and cultural fields. Phoenix’'s
programmes garnered numerous international awards. At the 2022
New York Festivals International TV & Film Awards, Aerial HK (Night
Version) won the gold prize in Film/Production: Technical Production
Team Category; and When the World was Young — Chinese in the
International Column won the silver prize in Documentary: Heroes
Category. At the 2022 Bangkok International Short Documentary
Awards, Fight with ALS produced by C’est La Vie programme won
the Best Short Documentary. Furthermore, a number of programmes
produced by Zoom In and Premium Spectacular also garnered
numerous awards at the International Outstanding Media Awards,
Asian Television Awards, and Chinese Documentary Festival, which
demonstrated Phoenix’s outstanding production skills and strengths
at an international level.
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Phoenix continues to enhance its broadcast efforts and influence
of international network. It extends its coverage worldwide through
various channels such as satellites, cable TV networks, mobile
internet, Internet Protocol Television (IPTV) and over-the-top (OTT)
platforms and social media, which is in line with the development
trend of digitalization, networking and intelligent audiovisual
technology. It also expands its international broadcasting capabilities
with Internet-based mindset and mobile-first broadcasting philosophy.
During the year, the official account of “Phoenix” has been upgraded
to the fullest, with an information social brand “Phoenix TV News
(Bl B & &) and a new Cantonese integrated media brand “Hong
Kong V" newly launched, of which the number of subscribers of its
overseas social media accounts increased by 10 times throughout
the year. In the future, Phoenix will continue to launch innovative,
precise and customised integrated media products to establish a
three-dimensional, diverse and integrated Chinese-language media
broadcasting matrix, and improve its overall strength in content
delivery and monetisation with the expansion of application scenarios
and intelligent distribution technology.

Phoenix undertakes media responsibilities in practising international
broadcasts by building a platform for international cultural exchange,
facilitating cultural integration and mutual learning of civilisation,
establishing extensive strategic cooperation with international
organisations and institutions such as The United Nations Educational,
Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO), The United Nations
Development Programme (UNDP) and The World Wide Fund for
Nature (WWF), as well as co-organising high-end forums including
the Zero-Carbon Mission International Climate Summit 2022 and
the 2022 Earth Hour, in order to enhance its affinity and influence in
international broadcasts via global, regional and demassified ways,
injecting new momentum into international broadcasts. During the
year, Phoenix also organised brand events including “You Bring Charm
to the World Award’, “Phoenix Financial Forum for the Greater Bay
Area” and “Compassion Award’ and joined hands with its partners
to gather strength and achieve win-win situation, gradually forming a
sustainable business model.
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In 2022, the Group has fully utilized its advantages in international
brands and integrated marketing and strived to develop customised
integrated media products and services through various corporate
strategies such as content innovation, business and resource
integration and synergy in business, so as to further improve the
monetisation of our media brands, contents, platforms, traffic and
resources. Meanwhile, the Company continued to promote the
synergistic operation of its omni-media platforms including television
broadcasting, internet media, outdoor media, magazines, App as well
as to integrate the industrial chain and value chain of all business
forms with a view to providing customers with integrated and
customised broadcasting services. During the year, the integrated
marketing projects achieved fruitful results, in which television
advertising business stably rebounded due to its prominent influence
after full revampification, facilitating the on-going development of
operational transformation and business.

The number and activeness of the users on the flagship product
IFENG News App under Phoenix New Media, an internet media
platform of the Group, maintained a leading position as one of the
most popular mobile terminal information products among Chinese
users. Phoenix New Media has unequivocal advantages in aspects
such as the in-depth coverage of major events, unique and original
content, and offline galas, and new innovations have been continued
on such basis by combining algorithms and editing skills for precise
content recommendation, live streaming, hotspots and community
operation, for optimising product experience. Meanwhile, the
Company has been promoting the matrix plan of third-party platform
accounts, and thus the number of fans across the network has
continued to rise with promising prospects for commercialisation.
It has also endeavoured to develop various business areas including
quality e-commerce, supply chain and consumption guidance, thus
bringing new monetisation potentials and strategic opportunities
for the Company. Moreover, Phoenix New Media has created an
international forum brand “Dialogue with the World” to strengthen
its global influence. It has been actively exploring synergic
cooperation with other members of the Group, and achieved mutual
communication and integration in contents, broadcast and resources,
thereby enhancing the overall influence and competitiveness of the
Phoenix brand.
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Phoenix Metropolis Media has been focusing on outdoor LED media
for years, providing the PRC and overseas famous brand customers
with professional services featuring comprehensiveness, reliability
and creativity with sufficient technical support, which has maintained
continuous profitability. In 2022, the Company has overcome the
adverse impacts arising from the pandemic and the decline in overall
businesses in the industry, and performed the progressive upgrade
on media resources, achieved a continued growth in the revenue
from premier international brands by making use of KOLs and their
traffic, and the cooperation with both PRC and overseas well-known
brands were being optimised. Currently, Phoenix Metropolis Media's
outdoor LED display panel media resources cover over 300 cities
in China with over 1,000 panels. Its global network encompasses
over 28 countries and regions including Asia, America, Europe and
Oceania, and as such it has literally achieved global procurement and
distribution for satisfying the customers’ outdoor advertising needs in
all aspects.

The Group has also maintained a systematic development in other
business segments. The Group’s Phoenix Weekly has been expanded
from solely magazine publication to multimedia integration and multi-
brand management model. Its new media brand “Phoenix WEEKLY"
has over 38 million users among the network matrix and has become
a top media main account on various major third-party platforms. In
the field of digital technology, the Company has strived to promote
the development of digital content industry with the combination of
digital technology and culture industry.

At present, the changes of the world, times and history are unfolding
in an unprecedented way. Against the background of economic
globalisation, cultural diversification and informatised societies,
international broadcasts are becoming increasingly important.
Phoenix will persist in the philosophy of openness and inclusiveness,
adhere to and deepen its core competitiveness in contents, and
leverage on Phoenix’s credibility, communication strength and
influence, so as to promote Chinese culture more effectively from
China and international perspectives, and to serve all Chinese around
the world, fulfilling the expectations of our stakeholders.
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2022 Annual Highlights
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1A1RHE

An Overall Revampification of Phoenix TV

Since 2022, Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") has been presenting itself to the
Chinese community all over the world with a refreshing image. Its three channels and one website, Phoenix
Chinese Channel, Phoenix InfoNews Channel, Phoenix Hong Kong Channel and ifeng.com, have all achieved the
goal of complete revampification in stages.

Phoenix Chinese Channel has upgraded its content through such revampification to maintain its characteristics
of humanity and enhance its cultural value. Meanwhile, it has devoted tremendous efforts in strengthening the
in-depth reporting and setting a high standard of “opinion journalism” with innovative programmes during the
evening prime time. After the revampification, several new programmes such as Zoom In, Asian Financial Insight,
You Bring the Charm to the World, China’s Insight, My Hong Kong Story and Bench Talk about Taiwan, have been
introduced to uphold the media positioning of “Facing the Global Chinese”
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Phoenix InfoNews Channel, a professional Chinese-language news channel of Phoenix TV, has greatly reinforced
its live streaming news. During the prime time everyday, it broadcasts Phoenix Morning Express for 2 hours and
Phoenix Midday Express, Phoenix Evening Express, Phoenix Midnight Express for 1 hour each providing full-day
news coverage. In addition, the morning, afternoon and evening new segments serve as hubs for connecting
information, forming a relay race of global news and information for whole day and providing real-time news
coverage to global Chinese audiences through simultaneously live broadcast on Phoenix Chinese Channel and
Phoenix InfoNews Channel.

Adhering to the concept of being based in Hong Kong and oriented towards the people in Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan as well as Chinese all over the world, Phoenix Hong Kong Channel serves the Cantonese-speaking
audiences from Hong Kong where it is rooted and from overseas with a refreshing image which focuses on
featuring authoritative Cantonese information, original Cantonese programmes, numerous movies and variety
shows. After the revampification, Phoenix Hong Kong Channel provides the Cantonese-speaking audiences from
Hong Kong and other regions with Hong Kong, Mainland China and global major news as well as local news in
Cantonese through the programmes Breakfast with Phoenix, Phoenix News Express and The World Connection,
each being broadcasted for 1 hour in the morning, afternoon and evening of every day as the mainstay.
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As the new media segment of the Group, ifeng.com has clearly defined its core competitiveness as “Both sides
of the Strait with Hong Kong and Macau together with the Globe” After its complete revampification, ifeng.com
has further strengthened the interaction between television broadcasting and the internet to achieve the mission
of “Watch Phoenix to get Global News" Meanwhile, it has created accounts on overseas social media platforms
including Twitter, YouTube and Facebook so as to deliver intriguing content to overseas Chinese audience
simultaneously and to create an influential matrix.

The highlights of such complete revampification also include a new design of the main broadcasting studio, a new
online platform design, and a new presentation of the Phoenix TV's logo.

After such a complete revampification, Phoenix TV re-energizes with unprecedented vitality as the Company'’s
TV broadcasting business has shown great improvements despite the general sluggish viewership ratings in the
overall television industry. By the end of December 2022, Phoenix Chinese Channel's viewership (in thousand
people) increased by 25.5% year-on-year, the market share increased by 23.6% year-on-year, and the viewing time
per capita increased by 242.9%; Phoenix InfoNews Channel’s viewing time per capita increased even more, by up
t0 272.7%; Phoenix Hong Kong Channel'’s viewership (in thousand people) soared by 42 times, the market share
surged by 30 times, the audience size increased by 37.7% and the viewing time per capita rocketed by 11.35
times in October 2022 compared with those in January 2022.
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Phoenix TV witnessed and reported on fighting the fifth wave of COVID-19 in
Hong Kong

The fifth wave of COVID-19, which began in late December 2021, swept through Hong Kong after the Lunar New
Year, putting Hong Kong at stake after three years. Since February, the Phoenix reporter team has been in full
force, while the hosts and commentators for current affairs have also rushed to the scene. The Phoenix team has
provided first-hand updates about the pandemic. Since the outbreak and following the support from the Central
Government to Hong Kong to fight against the pandemic, the Phoenix team has been in the frontline, witnessing
the whole process of fighting against the pandemic with all effort.
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“Hong Kong V" and “News that Matters” were officially launched

With the mission of serving the Chinese around the world, Phoenix TV officially launched “Hong Kong V' a new
international Cantonese integrated media brand, and “News That Matters' an information and social brand. Social
accounts under the name of Phoenix TV have been revamped completely to reach closer to the Chinese people
around the world.

“Hong Kong V" is featured with Cantonese contents including Cantonese news, social hot topics, service
information and lifestyles, so as to get closer to and serve the people’s livelihoods.

“News That Matters” has created accounts on international social media platforms such as YouTube, Twitter,
Facebook, Instagram and Tik Tok to establish a social matrix speedily delivering global news. The news reporting
coverage time zone has been broadened by carrying on the “Four News Express” of Phoenix InfoNews Channel,
bringing its brand characteristics of “Watching Phoenix when Major Events Happen” to overseas social media and
allowing the Global Chinese to obtain the latest and reliable information anytime and anywhere.

By the end of December, the total number of international social media account users exceeded 3.3 million.

Phoenix TV has reshaped its overseas social media matrix, promoting the popularisation of quality content to
reach more audiences worldwide, and continuously expanding its global influence.
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You Bring Charm to the World Award Ceremony 2021-2022

You Bring Charm to the World Award Ceremony 2021-2022 has come to a successful conclusion, “Telling the
stories of Chinese People, Showing the Elegance of Chinese People and Promoting the Spirit of Chinese People”
The ceremony was broadcasted to the global audience through Phoenix TV and Phoenix New Media. Outstanding
Chinese including Qin Dahe (% A7), Zhang Ronggiao (3R &:48), Yang Wei (158, Lo Yuk-ming (B 428), Lai Xuanzhi
(BBE78), Gu Alling Eileen (RE)%), Lv Xiaojun (B/\F), League of Legends team of EDward Hycan International
Gaming (EDG), Liu Xiaoyu (22 5%) were awarded respectively.

You Bring Charm to the World Award Ceremony was jointly initiated by Phoenix TV with a number of local and
overseas influential Chinese media organisations, and co-hosted by Phoenix TV and ifeng.com. It has been
15 years since its inauguration in 2007 and it has become an essential brand event for Chinese to enhance
international communication and unite their strength.
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This year's Ceremony broke the geographical limitation by setting up stages in Beijing and Hong Kong for the
first time. Awardees from all over the world attended the ceremony via cloud connection. Stage art design and
innovative packaging were used to realise a simultaneous linkage of multiple different regions and countries to
enjoy in the same space, bringing a brand new experience to the global audience.

Mr. Xu Wei, the officiating guest of this year's ceremony, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(the “Chairman and CEO") of Phoenix Media Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company"”), spoke highly of
the dedication from Chinese in his speech: “Despite multiple challenges, Chinese people all over the world have
bravely faced them with wisdom and growth, strived to build a commonwealth of human destiny, and undertook
the mission entrusted in this era. Let's light up the world with the dedication from Chinese people, the fire of
hope.”
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Phoenix Financial Forum for the Greater Bay Area

Phoenix Financial Forum for the Greater Bay Area 2022 — New Prospects Amid Changes was held in Hong Kong
and Mainland China simultaneously on 21 September for two days by Phoenix TV, ifeng.com and a number of
organisations. Government officials, experts, scholars and industry elites were all invited to discuss the resilience
and prospects of China’s economy, seeking solutions to further enhance the international competitiveness
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and explore new directions. Nearly 60 guests from
political, business and academic fields including Lee Ka-chiu, Qin Weizhong, Ip Yuk-yu, Wong Wai-lun, Shih May-
lung, Anthony Neoh, Hui Ching-yu, Laurence Li, Tu Guangshao, Mao Chaofeng, Xu Liuping, Jean-Claude Trichet
and Wang Shi, attended the grand event to offer advice and solutions on how to improve the international
competitiveness of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area amidst major changes unseen in a
century, enabling the Greater Bay Area, which has created an economic miracle, to become the motivation for
China’s development and innovation, and boosting people's confidence in the stabilization and recovery of the
world economy.

BB S & & wiE

9H21 B mERFER BEMAESZREESNN [REERMEHE2022 - FRARGEL]  £FF  MERIZHAR
REMX - BAEE » EX2E TEREABRBABAZTRLENDTEN S - RE—TRAZERKNERBKRHRF 1
SREE - REFHIMA - FRE - BERD - BEX0 - FEH - LXm - REFH  FET  FREC  BAG EBE 58
FooE e B e FinE  TATIONUBHEAREAERS A ERFRE 2AZBPRAEERNER B
FHRGTRR - RAERLETENERK AT RERMEFTNE S - WL AMHERLBELRBEANED

3 2022 19



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

2022 Annual Highlights
2022 2 F REME

/\

Lee Ka-chiu, the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the “"Chief Executive”),
delivered an opening speech to elaborate on Hong Kong's role and advantages in the Greater Bay Area. Guests
including Qin Weizhong, Deputy Secretary and Mayor of the Shenzhen Municipal Party Committee, Mao
Chaofeng, Chairman of Bauhinia Culture Group, Ip Yuk-yu, President-designate of the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, and Jean-Claude Trichet, former President of the European Central Bank, also delivered
speeches at the opening ceremony.

Mr. Xu Wei, the Chairman and CEO of the Company, emphasised in his opening speech that the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area plays an important role in the economic development of China and even the
world, and that Phoenix TV has grown together with the Greater Bay Area cities. In the past 26 years, Phoenix
TV has not only focused on reporting the Greater Bay Area, but also actively organised a number of large-scale
events to deepen the integration of Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao, facilitating win-win cooperation in the
Bay Area. It has made it an important mission to connect Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao as well as promote
the Greater Bay Area as its important mission. As an international media outlet, Phoenix TV hopes to serve as a
link, connecting the Greater Bay Area with the world through information and cultural communication.
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A documentary called Xi’s Profound Love for His Country was released

Xi Jinping, General Secretary of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (the “CPC") and
President of China, visited various impoverished areas, whereby Phoenix TV released a documentary called
Xi's Profound Love for His Country. The film crew spent six months searching and filming people’s feelings and
memories, restoring the unforgettable moments when the crowd met Xi Jinping personally, presenting a vivid
scene of Xi Jinping's footsteps and feelings.

The programme is divided into two episodes, with a total length of 90 minutes. We Should Never Forget Our
History Of Struggle For Our Goals, the first episode, kicked off with Xi Jinping'’s first visit to Fuping, Hebei
Province, after he became the General Secretary of the Central Committee of the CPC, whereby he travelled
south to Jiangxi and then north to Shanxi, narrating the historical road full of shared memories in front of the
camera. No One Should Be Left Behind, the second episode, recorded Xi Jinping discussing strategies of poverty
alleviation with the impoverished in Shibadong, Hunan, a multi-ethnic area, Guyuan, Ningxia, which is historically
impoverished, and Desheng Village, Zhangbei County in the mountains.

The programme is subtitled in both Chinese and English, and broadcasted in Greater China and worldwide in
a bilingual mode of Chinese and foreign languages. Xi’s Profound Love for His Country which is premiered in
Cantonese on Phoenix Hong Kong Channel was remade and broadcasted in Mandarin on Phoenix Chinese
Channel and presented on ifeng.com, Fengshows, Phoenix Chinese News & Entertainment Channel and Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel in a diversified manner.
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Zero Carbon Mission International Climate Summit 2022

Zero Carbon Mission International Climate Summit 2022 was hosted by Phoenix TV and Beijing Office of World
Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) Switzerland, and co-hosted by Rocky Mountain Institute (RMI), Beijing Entrepreneur
Environmental Protection Foundation (SEE Foundation) and China Champions for Climate Action (C Team) in
Beijing, which is an another significant practice of Phoenix TV undertaking its duty to disseminate the concept of
carbon neutrality to the world.

Xie Zhenhua, Special Representative for Climate Change Affairs of China, sent a letter to congratulate on the
summit with the theme of “Pathway to the Low-carbon Development” Assem Hanafi, Egypt's ambassador to China;
Siddharth Chatterjee, the United Nations Resident Coordinator in China, Marco Lambertini, the International Director
General of WWEF, and a number of major guests, experts and scholars from Chinese Academy of Engineering,
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, Ministry of Ecology and
Environment, and National Center for Climate Change Strategy and International Cooperation, discussed ways of
low-carbon transformation and how to cope with climate change, so as to promote practical and effective actions.

Mr. Xu Wei, the Chairman and CEO of the Company, said in his speech that, Phoenix TV is committed to telling
the story of green development and spreading the concept of ecological civilisation as an international media
group based in Hong Kong and facing the world, and it will leverage on its capabilities in global news reporting
and spread the concept of green development to the world with its unique omni-media advantage.
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Four reporter teams reported on the G20 summit in all aspects

The 17th summit of G20 (Group of Twenty) leaders held in Bali, Indonesia on 15 November, where Xi Jinping,
Chinese President, attended. Phoenix TV was the only media outlet who sent four reporter teams from Beijing,
Hong Kong and ASEAN countries. Two teams of special correspondents and two teams of stringers from
Malaysia and Indonesia brought a full range of professional and high-standard bilingual live reports, highlighting
the characteristics and style of Phoenix.
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High-end exclusive interviews

Phoenix TV has also conducted exclusive interviews in their several important columns with Qin Gang (then
ambassador to the U.S.), as well as Chan Kwok-ki (Chief Secretary for Administration), Paul Chan Mo-po (Financial
Secretary), Patrick Nip (Secretary for the Civil Service), Sophia Chan (Secretary of Food and Health Bureau), Siu Chak-
yee (Commissioner of Police) and various other important officials in HKSAR respectively, on topics relating to current
political affairs and people’s livelihood. Phoenix TV has become an authoritative channel for official news releases.

Moreover, Lee Ka-chiu, the Chief Executive, also visited Phoenix's headquarters and participated in the recording
of News Decoder on Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, at a time shortly after he delivered his first Policy Address
since he had assumed office, and the public was being attentive to his further interpretation of the Policy Address.
During the show, He revealed that Hong Kong had plans at multiple levels regarding the integration into China’s
development trend, and stated that, the government will provide various incentives, including taxation, housing,
medical care, education to attract talents to Hong Kong. He described the new measures as economical, high-
quality, effective, combining with Hong Kong's existing advantages, they will help talents coming to Hong Kong to
pursue careers and settle down.
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Focus on global important news

Phoenix TV delivered first-hand news to Chinese audiences all over the world, demonstrating its professionalism.
In 2022, the global team of Phoenix TV focused and broadcasted live reports on various important news events
such as China-Russia Presidents’ Talks, China-U.S. Presidents’ video conference, Russia-Ukraine war, G20 Summit,
BRICS Summit, Davos Forum, French Presidential Election, PRC government aiding Hong Kong in fighting the fifth
wave of COVID-19, North Korea Parade, and Russia Parade. At the same time, upholding the spirit of live reporting
of all major events from the scenes, several reporters were sent to the frontline of Ukraine's battlefield to report
news after the outbreak of Russia-Ukraine War. Moreover, as an international Chinese-language media rooted
in Hong Kong, Phoenix TV fully utilized its home advantage, and had a comprehensive and in-depth reporting on
major local events in Hong Kong such as Chief Executive Election, and the Celebration of the 25th Anniversary of
Hong Kong's Return to the Motherland.
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Russia-Ukraine war - the longest serving war correspondent

On 10 January 2022, as Russia-Ukraine tensions intensified, Lu Yuguang (EZF¢), Phoenix TV's reporter based
in Moscow, was assigned to report on the 2022 military exercise of Union State (i@ H#88). Upon receiving the
assignment on 19 January, he again flew overnight to the riverbanks of Don River in Southern Russia to report
on the situation in Russia-Ukraine border. On 24 February, Russia-Ukraine special military operation began. On 25
February, Lu Yuguang entered the frontline of Eastern Russia. During the period, he endured injuries, COVID-19
infection, and the hardships of war, and he persisted for a full year and yet remained on the frontline.
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Correspondents went deep into Ukraine

As Russia-Ukraine war has persisted, various Phoenix TV's correspondents have hurried off to the forefront to
deliver live reports to audiences.

On 10 January, Russia held a series of negotiations with the U.S., NATO, and others over the tensions in Ukraine.
Cao Jie (&), a reporter based in the U.K., went to Ukraine on the eve of the talks to understand more about

local residents’ views on the development of the situation.

In the evening on 15 February, Jin Liang (£5%), a reporter based in France, arrived in Ukraine. He ran into siren
alerts during his reporting and was able to bring first-hand live images to audiences.

On 24 February, people in Kyiv worried that the situation will further deteriorate. Kewali (EtE#)), a special
correspondent in Ukraine, had live coverage: long queues at stores in Kyiv.

On 4 March, with the assistance of local residents, Cao Jie (&%), a reporter based in the U.K., drove from Poland

to Lviv, a city in Western Ukraine, and reported the first-hand scenes: local residents were still struggling to
maintain their daily lives.
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On 10 March, numerous Ukrainian refugees queued up to enter Poland. Sun Qian (f4#%), a special correspondent
in Germany, did live coverage at the Polish-Ukrainian border.

On 1 April, Yang Haiying (#5/8), a reporter based in Australia, started off from Sydney all the way to Warsaw,
Poland, then changed route to Rzeszéw (a small town on the border of Poland and Ukraine), and finally arrived at
the largest city in western Ukraine — Lviv.

In May, Yang Haiying (#5/8&) and Li Xiang (2:48), a special correspondent in Ukraine, hurried off to Kyiv — the
capital of Ukraine which is 600 kilometres from Lviv, where they went pass the wartorn Bucha and crossed ten

military defense lines.

On 26 November, Liu Bei (2f#), a special correspondent based in Singapore, entered the chilly Ukraine during
winter season for interviews, crossing regions from west to east.

During the year of 2022, Phoenix TV assembled its correspondents around the world to travel to the most-
concerned regions, where they gave first-hand live coverages on Russia-Ukraine war at all angles, delivered

accurate and timely first-hand news to global audiences, and strictly adhered to and enhanced the influence and
core competitiveness of the philosophy of live reporting of all major events from the scenes.

3A10R  RERRMHERFRFHENKHE - BEEFOLERAREERBSREER -

4A1H - BERANDRESSECEELE  —BRERNTEHEY  BEBRAGK (REEH/NME)  KREZESRHE
PIEPSAI T — FPRK ©

57 HEEMESRRENRLESRE BEEMMAK00 BN SR EEELE - MICBERBANNIAE - S&
FRTBESENR-

1M A26 8 B ORE SREARRLRN SR BREAETERG - (AT R -

2022 BB —F  BEAREAURASMLE  FEASKXEINANBE  2HURRBESE RS §—FEMRE
i MEMERGENRRR  BTREAAREELERENERZEENMZOBHEF S -
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Awards and Recognition

BRI R IRER

The 2022 New York Festivals International TV & Film Awards announced
the list of winners, Phoenix Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV")
was honoured to receive the following awards: Aerial HK (Night Version),
a programme produced to celebrate the 25th Anniversary of Hong Kong's
hangover, was awarded gold prize in the Film/Production: Technical
Production Team; Phoenix Panorama, Phoenix TV's landmark documentary
programmes, won the silver prize in the Heroes with the programme
When the World was Young — Chinese in the International Column; and
C’est La Vie: Unveiling “Pig-butchering scam” won bronze prize in the
Documentary: Legal Issues.

2022 HBBREREXHAMERELE  BEFHRERAR ([BEFR])
EETHIEIE - REMEER 25 BFEMBEEN (MIAEE - ®R) K&
FREUE - BUERITEGR SR - RESARRENLEFRE (REX
BE)  BE(EERFENRER - BRAKENFTRA)  BSLERN -
B ARIREE - SBR AL (1B [RRFERR ) BB - ABIRIAE -

The 19th World Brand Summit organized by the World
Brand Lab, was held in Beijing and on the summit an
analysis report on the China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands
2022 was released. Such annual report was prepared
based on financial data, brand strength, and customer
behaviour analysis, and Phoenix TV was on the list for 19
consecutive years, together with CCTV, People’s Daily,
and Hunan Radio, Film and Television Group Co., Ltd.
ranked as the top 4 in the media industry in the China‘s
500 Most Valuable Brands 2022.

MtAREEREINNETHLEERREASEILR
BT @ EEH T 2022 F(PELOKAEBERE) »
MRE - HEfhERBEE - MEREMEEETR
DT FEERED  BEAREEF19FLEREE -
HECCTV: ARBBREHEEBYREEBEGRAFZT
2022 F (R EG00 fx EBEEMME) EEITERIUE o
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Awards and Recognition

The award ceremony of the 2022 Asian
Academy Creative Awards (AAA) was
held in Singapore on 7 and 8 December.
Phoenix TV received two awards,
including Phoenix Panorama: Legend of
Peking Opera School — Fu Lian Cheng
and Cést La Vie: Life with ALS were
selected as the National Winner of the
Best Documentary Series and the Best
Documentary Programme (One-off),
respectively.

2022 SEMFEBIE AR (AAA) R ERH#E
M12 A7 B &8 BAEMINBRTT - BEE
BORIREMBALE - B4 BEKE
BC(RE—% - RBIMITESEKE) &
RERDILHEF K RRAE GIRA
) BREBERLEAAE -

BRIA N IRER

The Asia Brand Summit organized by the World Brand Lab,
was held in Shanghai and on the summit, The Asia’s 500 Most
Influential Brands for 2022 was released. This marks the 17th time
the World Brand Lab has evaluated the influence of the Asian
brands. Phoenix TV has been listed for 17 consecutive years and
was rated as Top 4 television brands in Asia, which signified the
international influence of Chinese media.

The judging criterion of The Asia’s 500 Most Influential Brands
was the brand’s influence in Asia, and the basic evaluation index
comprise of market share, brand loyalty and leadership in Asia. The
theme of the Asia Brand Summit in this year was “How Do Asian
Brands Rise in Global Economic Turmoil?”.

it AR EREIROTNREASELEEM LM T
2022 % (GENARIE 500 38) HHTH - GRIEAREEREE 1708
DMmIENTZENETR BEFREEZTFREEE - I
EBHDNOAEERE - BRTFERENERTEN -

(EEM MR 50058 ) BT HIRER MR se M 8 ) - EARFFEE
FEEMSGAE  mESHENENEES)  SFHREEER
[ 25 M AR hR LN {RTFE 2 BRAS B YIS P UR AL | o
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Awards and Recognition
BRIA R IR

Cést La Vie: Life with ALS was
selected as the winner in the
Best Short Documentary in
the BKK DOC 2022 — Bangkok
International Documentary
Award.

SR ANECH R A L) K&
2022¢ SABBE RS, 8
- REERLES -

In December 2022, various programmes were
crowned with awards in The 28th Chinese
Documentary Festival & The 15th Shenzhou
Youth Film Festival. Phoenix TV's Premium
Spectacular was accredited in the 28th Best
Chinese Documentary Programmes; Zoom in: The
Last Surviving Comfort Women was accredited
in the 28th Best Chinese Short Documentary
Programmes; Cést La Vie: Life with ALS was
accredited in the 28th Top Ten Chinese Short
Documentary; Premium Spectacular: The Birth of
the Hong Kong Palace Museum was accredited in
the 28th Top Ten Chinese Documentary; and My
Hong Kong Story was accredited in the 28th Top
Ten Chinese Documentary Programmes.

12022F 12 A - ZEMERAESR 28 BT H4C 0 B e B 15 @RI T F BRI - BE/R (ZARHE)
EEE28EDELEN TRE  BRERE (RN BRI 1$ﬁ%>Z%%ZSJ:EFIZEﬁ‘)#L)#ﬁWEm D RBEANE CH
RAL) BE28[EPELHAEH HEFR  2RAME(EERD - T8 [ME] AT BF 28ETELHER &
A EEm (R EEBRE) BE28EPELEN HERE -

(Note:The 28th Chinese
Documentary Festival
has been postponed to
8 January 2023 due to
the pandemic)

((f: FosmP L F B0
2% B PR & 1 4 B B1 2023
F1A8H)
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

A Global Media Organisation

EEZIR

ASIA PACIFIC

As a satellite broadcaster, the television programmes of Phoenix Satellite
Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") are primarily carried by
AsiaSat 7, which has a footprint covering the Asia-Pacific region, including
Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan. In many other countries
and regions, Phoenix TV is also distributed through local operators.

MALAYSIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Astro, the major Direct-to-Home (DTH) operator,
and Enjoy TV, a new media platform.

SINGAPORE
Phoenix TV is carried by StarHub and Singtel.

INDONESIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Skynindo, PT Link Net and PT Innovate Mas
Indonesia (IMI).

THAILAND
Phoenix TV is carried by True Visions.

PHILIPPINES
Phoenix TV is carried by SKY Cable.

JAPAN
Phoenix TV is carried by Daifu.

KOREA
Phoenix TV is distributed in Korean hotels through Global Reach Korea.

VIETNAM
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline.

LAOS
Phoenix TV is carried by LAOSAT.

CAMBODIA
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

MYANMAR
Phoenix TV is carried by Costaline and LAOSAT.

BRUNEI
Phoenix TV is carried by Kristal Astro.

AUSTRALIA
Phoenix TV is carried by TVB Anywhere and is also available from AsiaSat 7.

NEW ZEALAND
Phoenix TV is carried by Culture & Media and TVB Anywhere.
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A Global Media Organisation

EEEIR

KIRGHIZIA
Phoenix TV is carried by LLC AlaTV.

THE UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
Phoenix TV is carried by USMTV.

AFRICA

Phoenix Chinese News & Entertainment Channel (the “Phoenix CNE
Channel”) and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are distributed to 54 countries
in Africa including South Africa through StarTimes platforms. Phoenix
InfoNews Channel is also carried on E21B and E7B satellite covering the
whole Africa region.

NORTH AND SOUTH AMERICA

Phoenix North America Chinese Channel (the “Phoenix NA Chinese
Channel”), Phoenix InfoNews Channel and Phoenix Hong Kong Channel
are carried on satellite, cable, IR OTT and mobile platforms such as ADTH,
AT&T (AT&T Uverse + DirecTV), Bell, Boss TV, CableVision, Charming
China, Comcast, ContentPort, COX, CWI, Dish, EnTouch, Flow, Frontier,
Hawaiian Telcom, iTalkTV, Kylin TV, NOVUS, PhoenixTV-US, Rogers, Shaw,
Spectrum (Charter + Time Warner), Telus, Verizon FiOS, Toober to cover 48
countries and regions in North and South America.

Furthermore, Phoenix TV Channels are available in over 55 hotels with
49,700 rooms in total in North America.

EUROPE

Phoenix CNE Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel are carried on
satellites and mainstream DTH, Cable, OTT and IPTV networks in Europe
such as SKY, Vodafone, Free, Orange, SFR, Numericable, Bouygues,
Wilhelm.tel, NOS and MEO, which are covering 45 countries in Europe.

Furthermore, 219 hotels in Europe with over 41,500 rooms or public
view points in total, choose Phoenix Channels as their official Chinese TV
Channels for their guests.

iy 2022

BB
BEERBBLLC AlaTVRFEE -

P Bt
BEER @B USMTV R ERE -

e
BRFRBNAMEEME AN BBIERA
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[EEIES

BEAREEMNE  BEAREAAMEEER
& 7B A 1@ BATT (AT&T Uverse + DirecTV)
Bell ~ Boss TV » CableVision * Comcast *
ContentPort ~ COX + CWI » Dish » EnTouch *
Flow * Frontier * Hawaiian Telcom » NOVUS
PhoenixTV-US * Rogers * Shaw * Spectrum
(Charter + Time Warner) ~ Telus * Verizon FiOS »
Toober * EFH#4E « @A PE - TR - BB
EREHEER  BHRER  BEER - OTTH
kBB TAEZE 4 AL EMERFME -

Bt RS EEMEFEDEMAEE - &
49,700 fE = 5 AT AU E BLEVETR -

&M

BEEREBMNE REBERENE RBBONE
KEERERDTH - BHEIE - OTT RIPTVH
4% > 4ASKY - Vodafone ~ Free * Orange * SFR »
Numericable *~ Bouygues * Wilhelm.tel - NOS k&
MEO » A& = 45 HBUMEIR -

B R B - BOMAE 219EJE - A £ #8i1B 41,500
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FHHETE R X EARSRE -
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Phoenix Chinese Channel

Phoenix InfoNews Channel

Phoenix Hong Kong Channel

Phoenix CNE Channel

Phoenix NA Chinese Channel

Phoenix Movies Channel

PHOENIX GLOBAL REACH

Phoenix TV news bureaux and
correspondent stations. Phoenix
TV also uses materials from
foreign independent bureaux
based in Brazil, Canada, Mexico,
Germany, Hungary, Pakistan and
Spain.

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

A Global Media Organisation
EEPIR
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A Global Media Organisation
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REEREE (F) BRAT]

Global Outlook

BIRRE

Russia-Ukraine War

S B

The Russia-Ukraine War is one of the most
significant news events in 2022 and the war with
the most extensive impact in recent decades. To
broadcast this war, Phoenix Satellite Television
Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") mobilized all
forces from the reporters stationed in Russia,
U.K. France, Germany, Australia, Singapore, etc.
and dispatched interview teams to warzones.
They sent back massive number of reports at the
risk of their lives and delivered comprehensive
presentations to the global audience, including
the latest warfare updates as well as the plight of
civilians struggling to survive under the flames of
war. Moreover, reporters from different stations
also conducted detailed reports and analysis
to the impacts of this war, such as food crisis,
surge in energy prices, social unrest caused by
inflation, and rapid changes in geopolitics.

BEZER2022FKREANMEEFZ— 1ER
ETFRFZESEZN—HETF - RREEHESE
BEGERERAR ((REER]) IR T2 N8
femZEAr - KB ORE - 73E - RARIEE - i E
TEEFREY  RHRBERERATEBRR -
MEZEmERECRERE - BERIATWERIALF
REBNTEARENRE - 2M2REZIRER -
AN - B E R OREFNTE - BEEBREK -
RERERETT - F@KRma|ENteEE - EHE
R RE L - (T RERBMOIT o
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The Convention of the 20th National

Congress of the Communist Party of
China

=+ KEH

The 20th National Congress of the Communist
Party of China was held on October 2022.
This meeting is greatly important for China in
embarking on a new journey. To reveal China's
brand new image at this critical moment in
history, Phoenix TV exclusively produced three
series of reports, namely Global Discussion on
China’s Inclusive Development, Our Wonderful
Life and The Unknown Aspects of Hong Kong.
Our Beijing interview team also made extensive
reports and conducted numerous live broadcasts
during the congress.

REZFARR2022F 10 A8 EfFBREEFHIT
BH—XT2EEMNAE - BTRETRAEESL @R
RrZIMFES - BEERERRIET (A B
B (BMMETEE) (R EENSS) =@
RYRiE - MAEAS BB @ b IR BB EST
TREZREMZSEE -
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Global Outlook

BIRRE

A Breakthrough in China's Aerospace
B AR SR B

The year of 2022 marks a fruitful year for the
aerospace development of China. With the
successive launch of Wentian and Mengtian lab
modules, the “T-shaped” basic configuration of
the China Space Station has been assembled in
orbit. The manned spacecrafts of Shenzhou-14
and Shenzhou-15 sent a total of six astronauts
to the space station in June and November
respectively. The six astronauts achieved a
simultaneous in-orbit stationing as well as the
first on-orbit rotation in the space station. The
space station’s maximum configuration and
capacity of “three cabins and three crafts”
was first demonstrated during the mission
handover with Shenzhou-14 and Shenzhou-15.
Phoenix TV dispatched interview teams and
reported the lift-off status of Shengzhou-15 and
interviewed multiple experts about the aerospace
development of China, as well as numerous
live broadcasts at different stages, including
launching, docking, out-of-cabin activities and
Tiangong sessions, etc.

2022 FRHPBMAREROE 2 F - EBERKTNE
KAEBMAERG AT PEER [T) FRELRE
BB ARSE TR o TR+ REHARMD B
e AN A —HNBMARE R M - 658M
FEERTRBENHE  UREXIMKEREES
Bt o Zo R bt E AR ISR A A - R SR IS R
HMEAERT Y =B =M HeAEEERSZKA
HEE AR o BEATR IR L B SR E AT R A
ZIER WHFEMXBERES T ZRER - EEH
7= HE - BRER) RKERESTRBEBRLTHAE
HiE-

4.

Former Prime Minister of Japan
Assassinated

SRANCIR=FEbEy Al

On 8 July 2022, Shinzo Ube, former Prime
Minister of Japan, was shot in the back twice
by one man and died during the campaign
rally for the candidates of House of Councilors
election in the constituency of Nara. Given the
uncommonness of shooting cases in Japanese
society and the perpetually large influence Shinzo
Ube possesses in Japanese politics, his death
shocked the entire world. The assailant claimed
that he was dissatisfied that the Unification
Church has complicated ties with the Liberal
Democratic Party, thus assassinated Abe. The
assassination also brought to the attention of the
global society. Phoenix TV reporters stationed in
Japan made comprehensive and detailed reports
since the assassination, including the Liberal
Democratic Party achieved landslide victory in
the House of Councilors election due to the
assassination of Abe, and multiple public strikes
organized due to the citizens' disapproval towards
the Japanese government for holding Abe's state
funeral.

20224 7H8RH BARERZEE=RERERAR
LFMBERBRAEDN  E—RBTHBEMER
BEBET s BAMSHAOBARER I ELEE
“HEEABUBNARKEES  thHSLEET 2k -
AEBETmHEERESTHEEHENSE —HM
TRIZRE - BRFIREHHREIRT 2R SNEZE
¥ o BEEMRE B AL E S RXMREER T 2EmeE
BRRE - UHERTEHEESRR  PEEARER
ZEBRMEDFTEREBERRERE - URALER
ATNRBEAZERITRENABL S REEE
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Global Outlook

BIRRE

Pelosi’s Visit to Taiwan
AEE A8

On 2 August 2022, hundreds and thousands
of global citizens accessed a plane-tracking
website at the same time, paying attention to
the whereabouts of a plane with a terminal
number SPAR19. Pelosi, who was Dean of the
United States House of Representatives at the
time, took this special plane to execute her
plan to visit Taiwan. After landing on the Taipei
Songshan Airport, Phoenix TV reporters in Taipei
broadcasted the report on the spot, showing
the public's opposition towards Pelosi’s hideous
visit to Taiwan, and its hit rate on the Internet
instantly exceeded 100 million. Pelosi’s insistence
to visit Taiwan provoked conflicts across the
Taiwan Strait. In response, China organized
large scale military exercises in the Taiwan Strait
and implemented multiple sanctions against

iy 2022

the United States. Pelosi's behavior also raised
suspicions among the politicians and scholars
across the world. Our reporters from different
stations made detailed reports and analysis
regarding her visit and subsequent development.

20228 A28 ' 2 TEAR—KEEA—EE
MR R ) RO A8, - BT AU AR SR SPART9 MU TR 1T
Bt o BERDEEREREREROMSAREZEER
B BITME 8 EMETEl o EHES LML
%1% - BEERE AL EEIRISEEN R R REM
BT ARHGE - 4 LB E T IREE o MIBFARR
BEANBERNERE - EREE - PEER TR
TTRBREREE  WHEBEERT ZIEGE - 232
ERRBEMSZE - BERMSERITE - AeFR
BULERE BB BT RIE T FMARENDAT ©

Queen Elizabeth Il of the United
Kingdom Passed Away

REZEFEDIA R

Queen Elizabeth Il of the United Kingdom, aged
96, passed away on 8 September 2022 after
her reign of 70 years and 214 days, being the
longest-serving monarch of the United Kingdom
and the first monarch ever to celebrate “Platinum
Jubilee” of her enthronement. Charles Ill, aged
73, succeeded the throne after her death. The
Queen'’s state funeral was held on the 19th in
the same month. More than 2,000 participants
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attended, including national leaders and members
of the Royal Family, the funeral. President of
China Xi Jinping sent the Vice President of China,
Wang Qishan to attend the funeral as special
representative. Phoenix TV reporters based in the
U.K. made thorough reports to the passing away
of the Queen, the enthronement of the new king
and the funeral, etc. The death of the Queen
also aroused public attention on issues like the
abolition of the British Monarchy and whether
the Commonwealth of Nations will disintegrate.

BEAZFFRBHA R 2022969 A8 HEMRE -
ZEIBHR ° MR 70F 214K - REM KRB EH
EHEET HwREF UENEE[ASE|NERE
F o tBtEE - 73N ERMAT =& - B FE
WEZEERAIORET BEZBETERIEKE
ERMN2TZALET #E - FRIBEREFEAEFIR
HERIRE - FRBEREIEFTELEF - BEGE
HENEENAERE T AL TR T EEE &
BEMER - AL TRt b3 RINRETIEREE
SIET UAREBABEES [HE] HERE -

Mainland China Relaxed its Pandemic
Prevention And Control Policy

B R R R R E

For the past three years, the COVID-19 pandemic
raged around the world, imposing immense

challenges to all countries including China. As the
pathogenicity and virulence of Omicron variants
significantly reduced, and the capabilities in areas
such as medical treatments, pathogen detection,
and vaccination in China continued to improve,
the Central Government successively launched
the “20 articles (Z+1{£)" and “New 10 articles (T
+1£)" on optimization of pandemic prevention
at the end of 2022. On 8 January 2023, the
COVID-19 pandemic prevention measures have
returned to “COVID-19 being managed as a Class
B infectious disease (Z%8Z% )" and control
measures for travelers are completely cancelled.
Phoenix TV's correspondent stations around the
world have closely followed the development of
the pandemic, and they have instantly reported
China’s relevant policies with its specific
implementation and interviewed experts on
the analysis of trends after the relaxation of
prevention and control measures.

BE=ZFR  MERBEZHEE  GEETEEN
AR ER T ERSE - BERTRHERRK
BUm RIS NEARRRSS - AR BB RS - mIRE
Bl REEEZRNFERI - 20225 K - PR
e @pR [ —1&] M #HR] - 202351 A
8H - MEMRERLR[ZBLE]  ABARBEE
BREZHEBUE - BEEREENEE LRI ER
BHER  FHERETHERARBRREARBET
B WRDEFROMERRRRNBE -
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Global Outlook
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China Launched its Head-of-state
Diplomacy

FERFATEIN

2022 was a year of frequent foreign affair
activities for China. In September, President Xi
Jinping attended the Meeting of the Council of
Heads of the Shanghai Cooperation Organization
Member States held in Samarkand, as well as
paid state visits to Uzbekistan and Kazakhstan.
In mid-November, President Xi Jinping attended
the G20 Summit held in Indonesia, he then
went to Thailand to attend the APEC Economic

iy 2022

Leaders’ Meeting and visited Thailand as well. In
December, President Xi attended the China-Arab
States Summit, China-Gulf Cooperation Council
(GCC) Summit, and paid state visit to Saudi
Arabia. These diplomatic visits attracted global
attention, and Phoenix TV assigned interview
teams to cooperate with correspondents based
in Indonesia and Thailand to do detail coverages
on the President's itinerary as well as arranged
several live broadcasts, which achieved desirable
broadcasting effect.

2022 FRPBISNERBIREN—F - 9F > B FE
FHETERSRFRTH LAABKERTERES
T UHK/LMRMGERETTEESIR - 1A
hE BEEHEENERTHN _TREERGAL
S BERATERZRE - HFE T EAEAMABREAFE
AeF UM THRE 128 BXREEERE-M
FABEREE  PE-FEMNUABRRGIFRESR
g UEARETEEDR - BLIITEBR I 2R
BT BEERIKHRGE - BERSHE - FERE
HEWETEENTE AR TZSEE  BET
RUFHEERR -

The 25th Anniversary of Hong Kong's
Return to the Motherland and The
Sixth-term Chief Executive Election
BHAELHE 25 AFERMEITHEE

The 25th Anniversary of Hong Kong’s Return
to the Motherland is an important historical
turning point. The sixth-term Chief Executive

41



42

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Global Outlook

BIRRE

Election of the HKSAR was successfully held
under the new electoral system in May 2022.
Lee Ka-chiu was elected by securing 99.16%
votes. President Xi Jinping attended the
meeting celebrating Hong Kong's return to the
motherland and the inaugural ceremony of the
government of HKSAR in Hong Kong on 1 July,
stating that Hong Kong was at the new stage
of advancing from chaos to order, and from
stability to prosperity, and that the next 5 years
will be a crucial stage for Hong Kong to create
new prospects and scale new heights. On 30
June and 1 July, Phoenix TV launched multiple

special programmes, utilized the live studios set
up in Tsim Sha Tsui and Wanchai in Hong Kong,
the program center studio in Beijing and the live
studio in ifeng.com, assigned various reporters
and commentators, and invited renowned
guests in Hong Kong and Beijing to do all-round
coverages on several celebrating activities. At
the same time, with a strong base of multiple
channels, Phoenix TV delivered real-time reports
through Phoenix InfoNews Channel, Phoenix
Chinese Channel, Phoenix Hong Kong Channel,
Phoenix CNE Channel, Phoenix NA Chinese
Channel, ifeng.com, Fengshows, and overseas
social media platforms, with various reporters
joining the network to do series reports and
exclusive interviews, thus witnessing the
25th anniversary of Hong Kong's Return to the
Motherland with a unique, multi-angled and all-
rounded perspective.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWNRD

Comments on Segmental Information

i

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Segment Segment
Revenue results Revenue results
WA PHEHE WA P2k SE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHExT FET Tt
Television broadcasting BERERE 1,077,964 (49,241) 703,705 (135,715)
Internet media B AR 933,245 (183,407) 1,247785 (300,346)
Outdoor media PoNERS 785,341 115,955 942,977 207,038
Real estate B E 38,879 8,228 41,359 (7716)
Other businesses H MR 168,304 (83,841) 223,414 (130,195)
Group's total revenue and REEBUITA
segment results g CES 3,003,733 (192,306) 3,159,240 (366,934)
Unallocated income RO EWA 45,205 55,342
Unallocated expenses ROBHAEZ (263,086) (232,559)
Loss before share of BEEEDER
results of joint ventures and 5?%’& 7¥ZE .
associates, income tax and 1S8R IEFER
non-controlling interests ﬁg SATEE (410,187) (544,151)
Revenue from television broadcasting, comprising advertising, BRBERERA (RIEES - WRTP REM

subscription and other revenue sources, which accounted for 35.9%
of the total revenue of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022, increased by 53.2% to
approximately HK$1,077,964,000 (year ended 31 December 2021:
HK$703,705,000), the segmental loss for the television broadcasting
business was approximately HK$49,241,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$135,715,000).

Revenue from Phoenix Chinese Channel and Phoenix InfoNews
Channel, which accounted for 23.3% of the total revenue of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, increased by 10.8%
to approximately HK$698,853,000 (year ended 31 December 2021:
HK$630,863,000).
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U A RIR) 12 4153.2% & #1,077,964,000
BT (# £2021%F128318 1+ F E:
703,705,000 7T) - HEEAFRIEKEE (3%
B BRAR ([Ra7F]) REWEQR (5
3 (M&%J)) HZE2022412A318 1
FEEBIAN35.9% - ERBEBEKAE
F2022F 12 A3 BLEFENDEEELY
749,241,000 7T ( & £2021412 A 31
HIESZ : 135,715,000/87T) °

BERF A RBEGEEME R ALS
bu 10.8% Z #7698,853,00078 7T (E = 2021
F12 A31 HILFE : 630,863,000/57T)
HAEBEET2022F12A31BILFEER
W AH23.3% °
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The total revenue of Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, Phoenix Movies
Channel, Phoenix North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, integrated media operating
platform and others increased by 420.5% to approximately
HK$379,111,000 (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$72,842,000).

The revenue of the internet media business for the year ended
31 December 2022 decreased by 25.2% to approximately
HK$933,245,000 (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$1,247785,000).
The segmental loss of internet media business for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately HK$183,407.000 (year ended
31 December 2021: HK$300,346,000). The main reasons for the
reduction in advertising revenue include the intensified industry-wide
competition and the negative impact of the COVID-19 outbreak in
certain regions in China for the year.

The revenue of the outdoor media business for the year ended
31 December 2022 decreased by 16.7% to approximately
HK$785,341,000 (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$942,977.000).
The segmental profit of the outdoor media business for the year
ended 31 December 2022 decreased by 44.0% to approximately
HK$115,955,000 (year ended 31 December 2021: HK$207,038,000).

The segmental profit for real estate business for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately HK$8,228,000 (year ended 31
December 2021: loss of HK$7,716,000).

Please refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements for a
detailed analysis of segmental information and the section entitled
“Business Overview and Prospects” in this report for commentary
on the core businesses of the Group.

IMPACT OF THE PANDEMIC ON THE GROUP’S
OPERATIONS

During the year, the normal operations of the Group's television
broadcasting was unaffected by the waves of COVID-19.
Nevertheless, due to the social distancing measures, city lockdowns
in certain major cities in China, and strict epidemic prevention and
control measures, the offline activities of the Group’s internet media
business decreased and the outdoor media business was impacted,
thereby affecting the revenue of relevant businesses of the Group. As
the epidemic gradually recedes from its peak and most of the control
measures have been lifted, we remain optimistic about the future of
our business and confident that it will gradually recover and continue
to improve.
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DIVIDENDS

The board (the “"Board”) of directors of the Company (the
“Directors”) has considered the Group's financial performance,
working capital requirements and the general economic conditions
according to the Group’s Dividend Policy, and does not recommend
the payment of final dividend to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (final
dividend for 2021: Nil).

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM")
will be held at No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong on 5 June 2023, Monday at 3:00 p.m.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 31 May
2023, Wednesday to 5 June 2023, Monday (both dates inclusive),
during which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the forthcoming AGM, all share
transfers must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2023, Tuesday.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's equity interest in Phoenix New
Media Limited (“"PNM"”) remained as 54.49% (as at 31 December
2021: 54.49%).

Save as disclosed in the section entitled “Other Important Events
During the Year and Subsequent Events’ the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Group’s funding and treasury policies aim to ensure that it
has adequate financial resources to support its businesses and
investment activities, while managing its financial risks in a prudent
and efficient manner. The Group maintains a diversified funding base
and manages its financial risks, including interest rate risk and foreign
exchange risk, through the use of financial instruments and risk
management strategies. The Group also seeks to maintain a healthy
balance sheet and strong liquidity position to enhance its financial
flexibility and resilience.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The liquidity and financial resources of the Group as at 31 December
2022 remained solid. As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total
cash and current bank deposits were about HK$1,597.690,000 (as
at 31 December 2021: HK$1,304,835,000), and structured deposits
of approximately HK$927,603,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
1,595,442,000) have been recorded as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss. The aggregate outstanding borrowings of the
Group were approximately HK$189,610,000 (as at 31 December
2021: HK$533,932,000), comprising non-interest bearing loans,
non-interest bearing loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and other secured and interest bearing bank borrowings.

The gearing ratio of the Group, based on total liabilities to equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 81.7% as at 31
December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021: 83.3%).

Save as disclosed above, the financial position of the Group
remained liquid. Most of the Group's monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars (the
“USD") and Renminbi (the “RMB"), with minimal balances in Pound
Sterling. The Group is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risks
arising from currency exposures, primarily with respect to USD and
RMB. The Group manages its foreign exchange risks by performing
regular reviews and monitoring its foreign exchange exposure. The
Group may consider using forward currency contracts as a tool
to manage and reduce such risks. Taking into account the Group's
current operational and capital requirements, the Directors consider
that the foreign currency exchange risk of the Group is limited.
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

No bank deposit (as at 31 December 2021: HK$155,792,000)
was pledged with a bank to secure a bank borrowing as at 31
December 2022. The property in the United States with carrying
value of approximately HK$2,562,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
HK$2,587,000) was pledged with a bank to secure a bank borrowing.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other charges
on its assets as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND SHARE OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the authorised share capital of the
Company was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares (the “Shares”) of HK$0.10 each, of which
4,993,659,500 Shares (as at 31 December 2021: 4,993,659,500
Shares) had been issued and fully paid.

There was no option granted or exercised under the Company's share
option scheme during the year.

As at 31 December 2022, the operations of the Group were mainly
financed by owners’' equity, bank borrowings, loans from non-
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries and banking facilities.

STAFF

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 2,975 staff (comprising
2,803 full time and 172 part time) and staff costs for the year ended
31 December 2022 decreased to approximately HK$1,316,844,000
(year ended 31 December 2021: HK$1,332,337.000).

The Company adopts an employee-oriented policy by offering
reasonable employment conditions, including salaries that meet
market standards, defined contribution pension schemes, holidays,
comprehensive medical coverage and other types of employee
insurance, employee stock option plan and other welfare to attract
and retain talents. Staff remuneration of the Group is determined by
reference to their job responsibilities, work performance, professional
qualification and relevant working experience and an appraisal would
be conducted annually to review the staff remuneration package.
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The Group offers occupational training to its employees and has
subsidy plans for staff training to enhance their knowledge and skills
for performing job duties. The Group provides continuous professional
development and training in the form of seminar or dispatch of
reading materials for its employees annually.

To maintain the uninterrupted business operation and to safeguard
the health and safety of employees, the Company had introduced
a number of precautionary measures in response to the COVID-19
pandemic during the year, including strict compliance with the
relevant government guidelines, implementation of work-from-
home arrangement for employees, health declaration and home
confinement arrangement and stepped up hygiene measures.
The Company also provided vaccination leaves, reimbursement of
COVID-19 testing expenses when applicable and additional health
insurance coverage to its employees such as benefits and additional
cash subsidies in case of COVID-19 hospitalisation as well as the
simplified claim procedure.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2022, the Group invested in listed securities
investments with estimated fair market value of approximately
HK$14,821,000 (as at 31 December 2021: HK$14,317000) which was
recognised as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’
and such investments made up of less than 5% of the Group's total
assets. Save as disclosed above, the Group had not held any other
significant investment for the year ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND EXPECTED SOURCE OF FUNDING

In view of the challenging environment ahead, the Group will
continue to consolidate its existing businesses while exploring new
business opportunities that will complement and enhance its existing
businesses. The Company will consider various means of financing as
and when such opportunities arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Various companies in the Group are involved in litigations arising in
the ordinary course of their respective businesses. Having reviewed
outstanding claims and taking into account legal advice received, the
Directors are of the opinion that adequate provisions have been made
in the consolidated financial information for the year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

During the year, the Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of
the Shares during the year.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference based upon the guideline recommended by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the code
provisions set out in the Code. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review the Company’s interim and annual results,
financial reports and the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group, and to discuss auditing and internal control and
financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year with the Company's management. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee was published on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
Beczak (chairman of the Audit Committee) and Mr. Leung Hok Lim
and one non-executive Director, namely Ms. \Wang Haixia.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and provided advice and comments
thereon before such statements were presented to the Board for
approval. The figures in respect of the Group's consolidated balance
sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and related notes thereto for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been agreed by the Group’s auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, to the amounts set out in the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the year.
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OTHER IMPORTANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR
AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Change in Shareholding Structure of Phoenix
Oriental

The Company was informed by Beijing Chinese Television Tiandi
Cultural Development Co., Ltd.* ([t RFPERMLFHEBEERETR
B)) (“Zhongshi”) that it had entered into certain agreements with
Bauhinia Culture Group Corporation Limited (&FIX{k £EAHR A7)
(“Bauhinia Group”) on 8 July 2022, whereby Zhongshi transferred
all its 21% equity interests in Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) Properties
Company Limited* (BERFILR)EXHFRAR]) (“"Phoenix
Oriental”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company principally
engaged in the development, construction, leasing and management
of the Phoenix International Media Centre, to Bauhinia Group and
assigned to Bauhinia Group part of the shareholders loan (which
is interest free, collateral free and repayable on demand) of an
outstanding amount of RMB32,186,291.26, that it previously provided
to Phoenix Oriental (the “Transfer”).

Phoenix Oriental remains as a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company upon the completion of the Transfer on 28 July 2022,
owned as to 70% by Phoenix Pictures Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), 21% by Bauhinia Group, a company
wholly owns Bauhinia Culture (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (£
FIxA(EB)EE AR A7), being a substantial Shareholder, and
9% by Shenzhou Television Company Limited* (1M ER AR
‘A\]) ("Shenzhou") which is an independent third party. As a
result, Phoenix Oriental has become a connected subsidiary of the
Company by virtue of Rule 14A.16 of the Listing Rules. Phoenix
Oriental (as lessor) has entered into certain lease agreements
with other subsidiaries of the Company (as lessees) in respect
of various business units within the Phoenix International Media
Centre for office or other commercial use for terms ended
31 December 2022 and for terms ending 31 December 2023. Such
lease agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, details of which
are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 8 July 2022,
29 July 2022, 1 November 2022 and 23 December 2022.

* For identification purpose
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Acquisition of Additional Interest in PMM

On 23 December 2022, Phoenix Metropolis Communication
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* (BUE#MXLEEELR)BRAF) (@ wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company) (“Phoenix Metropolis
Communication”) as purchaser entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (as supplemented and amended by a supplemental
agreement of the same date) with Tianjin Weidao Asset Management
Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (KRB EEEHESBLE
(BBEA%) (“"Tianjin Weidao"), a then substantial shareholder of
Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited* (JBlE#B
MEERERHBERAR) (“PMM”), as vendor, in relation to the
acquisition of 22,000,000 shares of PMM representing 14.2857%
equity interests in PMM at a consideration of RMB62,846,562.71
(equivalent to HK$70,388,150.24) (the "PMM Acquisition”). PMM
remained as a subsidiary of the Company immediately after the
completion of the PMM Acquisition on 26 December 2022, with the
Group's shareholding interest in PMM increasing from 45.5357% to
approximately 59.8214%.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
23 December 2022.

Subsequent to the completion of PMM Acquisition, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company acquired additional 2,658,370 shares
of PMM, representating 1.7262% equity interest in PMM from an
independent third party. The Group’s shareholding interest in PMM
was 61.5476% as at 31 December 2022.

Acquisitions of Equity Interests in Certain Target
Companies

Beijing Phoenix Huibo Media Company Limited* (1t /Bl B 5 & 1
BBRAF]) (formerly known as Beijing Huibo Advertisement and Media
Company Limited* ((tUEHERESEHEBRAF]) (“Beijing Huibo"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into the following agreements (as supplemented and amended
by a supplemental agreement dated 23 December 2022) for the
acquisition of interests of certain target companies:-

1. Beijing Huibo as purchaser entered into the equity transfer
agreement dated 23 November 2022 with Shenzhou as vendor
and Shanghai Phoenix Shenzhou Film and Television Cultural
Development Company Limited* (L/&BIEEREMNEZHR
XibERAR AT (“Shanghai Yingshi”) in relation to the
acquisition of the entire equity interests in Shanghai Yingshi at

* For identification purpose
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a consideration of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$5,600,000). Shanghai Yingshi became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company upon completion of such acquisition
on 8 February 2023. Beijing Huibo shall provide an interest-free
loan in the sum of RMB11,820,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$13,238,400) to Shanghai Yingshi to repay the then
shareholder’s loan owed to Shenzhou;

HRR R o B AU X 2023
F2A8ATME - LBFREKE
KRARINEENB AR - L RERE
MESBFRRE—FESHFAARE
11,820,000t (48 & 7 %Y 13,238,400
BIL) NRBER  LWEEERHERK
MM AR E K

Beijing Huibo as purchaser entered into the equity transfer 2. JtFERE ((EAEH) SN Rit =
agreement dated 23 November 2022 with Shenzhou and Beijing MEEREEEREFAT ((BEHD
Erya Far East Advertising Co., Ltd. (It R EERREERBRE (fEBER) Rt RESHRAME
f£/2 7)) (“Erya") as vendors and Beijing Huizhi Bozhong Public MAERAR (DEEER]) e
Relations Consultancy Company Limited* (1t FUES1ER AR 8 A R #2,000,0007T (8% R4
f5 & BR A 8]) (“Huizhi Bozhong”) in relation to the acquisition 2,240,000 7)) WHEES BRH 2 E
of the entire equity interests in Huizhi Bozhong at a total FEHERTS B 8152022411 A238H
consideration of RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately [ #8817 o B RAUREE R 2023 61
HK$2,240,000). Huizhi Bozhong became a wholly owned A3HZTKE  EEEREXAER
subsidiary of the Company upon completion of such acquisition AMEENBAT
on 3 January 2023;
Beijing Huibo as purchaser entered into the equity transfer 3. 1tFREE ((EAEH) &M (1A
agreement dated 28 November 2022 with Shenzhou as vendor B RER—REEESEERA
and Guangdong Yidai Media Advertising Company Limited* (& AER—RD BUREARE
R—REEESHRAR), ("Guangdong Yidai”) in relation 3,500,000 7T (#H%E 7 473,920,000 7
to the acquisition of 70% of the entire equity interests in TT) W E R — M 70% IR 32
Guangdong Yidai at a consideration of RMB3,500,000 (equivalent HEFA2022F 11 A28 HRREE R
to approximately HK$3,920,000). Guangdong Yidai became a % o A B U R 2023F3 A8H
70% owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of TKE BR—REKABERQTE
such acquisition on 8 March 2023. Beijing Huibo shall provide E70% =MW B R - L RER
an interest-free loan in the sum of RMB3,250,000 (equivalent to HRER—RRER—Z2BAARY
approximately HK$3,640,000) to Guangdong Yidai to repay the 3,250,000 7T (48E 7 #) 3,640,000 7
then shareholder's loan owed to Shenzhou; and TT) R BER - DMERE R R4
MERERER : &

Beijing Huibo as purchaser entered into the equity transfer 4. 1t FERE ((EAEF) BN & EHE
agreement dated 23 December 2022 with Shenzhou (ERER) RFEIImBEEE S bES
and Erya as vendors and Shenzhen Phoenix Star Cultural ERAT ([FYTREE] B
Industrial Company Limited* (RYITEEEX(LEEER AR KB AR 5,000,0007T (HHE K
(“Shenzhen Phoenix Star”) in relation to the acquisition of 5,600,000/ 7T ) WEERYI T ELEL2 /Y
the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Phoenix Star at a total T ERRRHERT S B HA&R 2022 F 12 A 23
consideration of RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately Hev R R i o B BUEER 2023
HK$5,600,000). Shenzhen Phoenix Star became a wholly F2AVATNE  RYTWEEEZD
owned subsidiary of the Company upon completion of such RAERARKZEN B AT -
acquisition on 1 February 2023.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated BRI * B2 A QR B #A20224F 12

23 December 2022. H23HBRE
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Mr. Xu Wei, aged 56, has been appointed as the Chairman of
the board and Executive Director and the chairman of the Risk
Management Committee of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) since 22 June 2021. He is also the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company.

Mr. Xu worked in the Shanghai Bureau of Financial Times (FT), served
as the director of the news department of Shanghai East Radio, the
general manager and editorin-chief of Shanghai Dragon TV Media Co.,
Ltd, the spokesman and director of communication and promotion
department of the Bureau of Shanghai World Expo Coordination, the
director of Information Office of the Shanghai Municipality, and the
research fellow and secretary of the Party Committee of the Shanghai
Academy of Social Sciences.

He had served as the spokesman of the Shanghai Municipality for a
considerable time (2011-2020).

Mr. Xu has obtained a bachelor degree of law at international
journalism department of Beijing Institute of International Relations,
an MBA degree from the China Europe International Business School
(CEIBS) and a doctor degree of management from the Shanghai Jiao
Tong University.

Mr. Sun Yusheng, aged 62, has been appointed as Executive Director
and member of the Nomination Committee of the Company since
22 June 2021. He is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Editor
in-Chief, Head of Phoenix Chinese Channel and director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company including Phoenix New Media Limited
(“PNM"), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company whose
shares are listed by way of American Depositary Shares on the New
York Stock Exchange in the United States. Mr. Sun has served as the
chairman of the board and the chief executive officer of PNM since
12 August 2021 and 26 March 2023 respectively. Mr. Sun had served
in China Central Television for more than 30 years. He was the vice
president, deputy editorin-chief and was the director of news centre.
He has extensive experience in television broadcasting industry. Mr.
Sun was the recipient of the State Council Special Allowance and was
elected as the vice president of the Asia-Pacific Broadcasting Union
("ABU") in 2017, the first Chinese to become a senior official of ABU.

Mr. Sun is a part-time professor at the School of Journalism and
Communication at Tsinghua University. He graduated from Jilin
University with a bachelor’'s degree in economics and holds the
professional qualification of senior editor granted by the Ministry of
Radio, Film and Television, China.
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Ms. Ho Chiu King, Pansy Catilina, JP aged 60, has been appointed
as the Vice-chairman of the board and Non-executive Director of the
Company since 22 June 2021. She is the group executive chairman,
managing director and an executive director of Shun Tak Holdings
Limited, and a co-chairperson and an executive director of MGM
China Holdings Limited, securities of which are all listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”). She is also the chairman of the board of directors of
Estoril-Sol, SGPS, S.A. which is a Portuguese listed gaming company.
She was an independent non-executive director of Sing Tao News
Corporation Limited (which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange).

Ms. Ho is a standing committee member of the National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, a standing
committee member of Beijing Municipal Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a vice chairman of All-
China Federation of Industry and Commerce, an executive committee
member of the All-China Women'’s Federation, an executive president
of All-China Federation of Tourism Chambers of Commerce, a vice
president of China Foundation for Cultural Heritage Conservation, a
member of the Committee of Experts for the Construction of World
Class Tourist Attractions and Tourist Resorts, Ministry of Culture and
Tourism, China and a vice president of China Women’s Chamber of
Commerce under All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce.
She is the chairperson of Hong Kong Federation of Women,
governor of Our Hong Kong Foundation Limited, a member of the
Board of Trustees of Cultural Development Fund of the Macau SAR
Government and the vice president of the board of directors of Macao
Chamber of Commerce. She is also an executive committee member
of World Travel & Tourism Council and was appointed as a tourism
ambassador by the United Nations World Tourism Organization in
October 2018.

Ms. Ho was appointed as a Justice of the Peace and was awarded
the Silver Bauhinia Star by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region on 1 July 2015 and 1 October 2020
respectively. She was bestowed the Medal of Merit — Tourism by the
Government of Macau SAR in September 2019.

Ms. Ho holds a Bachelor's degree in marketing and international
business management from Santa Clara University in the United
States. She received an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business
Administration from the Johnson and Wales University in May 2007.
She was appointed as Honorary Professor of School of Political
Communication by the School of Political Communication of Central
China Normal University in November 2013. She received an honorary
fellowship from The Hong Kong Academy for Performing Arts in June
2014 and an honorary university fellowship from the University of
Hong Kong in September 2015.
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Mr. Sun Guanggqi, aged 59, has been appointed as the Non-executive
Director of the Company since 22 June 2021. He is currently the
deputy general manager of Bauhinia Culture Holdings Limited and
deputy general manager of Bauhinia Culture (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited (“Bauhinia HK") since February 2022. Mr. Sun has resigned
as the director of Bauhinia HK since May 2022. Ms. Sun previously
worked in the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China
and served as the deputy director of the Department of Education,
Science and Culture of the Ministry of Finance, the supervisor of the
Office of the Financial Supervisory Commissioner of the Ministry
of Finance in Henan Province, and the director of the Economic
Construction Department of the Ministry of Finance. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in economics from Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics, a master’'s degree in economics from Beihang
University and a doctorate degree in management from Hebei
University of Technology.

Mr. JIAN Qin, aged 57 has been appointed as the Non-executive
Director and member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company since 16 November 2018 and 20 August 2021 respectively.
He is currently the vice president of China Mobile Communications
Group Co., Ltd. and the vice president of China Mobile Limited and
the director and vice president of China Mobile Communication Co.,
Ltd.

Mr. Jian is principally in charge of marketing, customer service,
terminals, mobile internet and financial technology of China Mobile.
Mr. Jian previously served as deputy director of the Nanchang
Telecom Bureau, chairman and president of China Mobile Group
Jiangxi Co., Ltd., China Mobile Group Sichuan Co., Ltd. and China
Mobile Group Guangdong Co., Ltd.

Mr. Jian graduated from Beijing University of Posts and
Telecommunications majoring in Computer and Communication,
received a doctoral degree in Industrial Economics from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics. He is a senior engineer with
over 30 years of experience in the telecommunication industry.
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Ms. Wang Haixia, aged 49, has been appointed as Non-executive
Director and member of the Audit Committee and Risk Management
Committee of the Company since 19 March 2021. She is currently
the deputy chief executive officer of Bank of China Group Investment
Limited ("BOCGI") and the non-executive director of SciClone
Pharmaceuticals (Holdings) Limited, and has been appointed as
the Supervisor of Beijing-Shanghai High Speed Railway Co., Ltd.,
shares of which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, since
28 December 2022. Before joining BOCGI, Ms. Wang held various
positions in Bank of China from March 1999 to October 2020,
including the deputy general manager of the digital platform center
of the personal digital banking product department from August 2019
to October 2020, and senior product manager and deputy general
manager of the e-finance department from May 2015 to August 2019.
Ms. Wang holds a master’s degree.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Hok Lim, aged 87 has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 21 January 2005,
and is also a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Risk Management
Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung is a retired member of CPA
Australia, a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants and a fellow member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong. Mr. Leung is the founder and senior partner of PKF. Mr.
Leung is the independent non-executive director of High Fashion
International Limited. Mr. Leung was previously an independent non-
executive director of Fujian Holding Limited until December 2018 and
an independent non-executive director of S E A Holdings Limited until
28 May 2021. He was also a director of PKF Hong Kong Limited until
20 August 2020.

Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak, aged 72, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 11 March
2005. He is also the chairman of Audit and Nomination Committees,
and a member of Remuneration and Risk Management Committees
of the Company. Mr. Beczak is currently an independent non-
executive director of Pacific Online Limited (also act as member
of its audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee) and he has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of Morgan Stanley Investment Management (China)
Company Limited since 15 June 2022. He was also an independent
non-executive director of Singapore Exchange Limited (also acted as
member of its risk management committee and regulatory conflicts
committee) until 24 September 2020, and an independent non-
executive director of MUFG Securities Asia (Singapore) Limited and
MUFG Securities Asia Limited until 7 January 2020.
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Mr. Beczak is a graduate of Columbia University (M.B.A.) and
Georgetown University (B.S.FES.).

Mr. Fang Fenglei, aged 71, has been appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 13 March 2013, and
is currently the chairman of HOPU INVESTMENTS and a director
of Goldman Sachs Gaohua Securities Company Limited. Mr. Fang
previously served as a deputy chief executive officer of China
International Capital Corporation Limited and chief executive officer of
both BOC International Holdings Limited and ICEA Finance Holdings
Limited. Mr. Fang was also a non-executive and non-independent
director and member of the Investment Committee of Global Logistic
Properties Holdings Limited, the securities of which are listed on
the Mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited,
non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited and
an independent non-executive director of Central China Real Estate
Limited. Mr. Fang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from Sun Yat-sen
University.

Mr. Zhou Longshan, aged 62, has been appointed as the Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 20 August 2021. He
was the Assistant General Manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited from October 2011 to November 2020. He has
been re-designated as a non-executive director of China Resources
Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”) since December 2020,
and was an executive director of CR Cement from March 2003 to
December 2020, the chairman of the board and the chairman of the
executive committee of CR Cement from October 2011 to December
2020, and the chief executive officer of CR Cement from August
2008 to October 2011. He was the vice chairman of the China Building
Materials Federation and the vice chairman of the China Cement
Association. Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’'s degree in economics
from the Jilin Finance and Trade Institute, China in 1983. He joined
China Resources Group in 1984, and has over 30 years' experience in
international trade and corporate management.
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Mr. Li Qi, aged 44, joined Phoenix Satellite Television Company
Limited (“Phoenix TV") in July 2021. He is currently the Executive
Vice President of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company,
responsible for the Group's financial budgeting, capital investments
and daily operations. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in
People's Daily Online and served as the chief financial officer and
secretary of the board of directors, responsible for capital market,
financial management, scientific research, technologies and Internet
information service system construction, etc. Mr. Li graduated from
Wuhan Military Economic Institute.

Mr. Yeung Ka Keung, aged 63, is the Company Secretary and a
member of the Risk Management Committee of the Company. He is
the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Group,
the qualified accountant of the Company and director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yeung joined Phoenix TV in March
1996 and is in charge of all of Phoenix TV's internal and external
financial management and arrangements as well as the supervision
of legal, administration and personnel matters.

Mr. Yeung graduated from the University of Birmingham and remained
in the United Kingdom until 1992 after obtaining his qualification as
a chartered accountant. Upon returning to Hong Kong, he worked
at Hutchison Telecommunications and Star Television Limited in the
fields of finance and business development.

Mr. Liu Zuogeng, aged 57, is currently the Executive Vice President
of the Group. He is also the chairman of the board of directors and
president of Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology Co., Ltd. ("PMM"),
a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Liu founded PMM in 2007 and has become the Chief Executive
Officer of PMM since then. He has over 30 years working and
managerial experience in media industry. Mr. Liu served as the
Vice President — advertising sales and Vice President — business
development of the Group, and also served as the vice president of
Asia Television Limited.

Mr. Liu graduated from Beijing Broadcasting Institute (currently
Communication University of China) with a bachelor's degree. He
holds an EMBA degree from Peking University, Guanghua School
of Management and holds the professional qualification of senior
economist.
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”
or “Phoenix”) adheres to an open and inclusive development
philosophy, fully leveraging its credibility, communication strength
and influence. By establishing a strong base in Hong Kong, facing the
global Chinese community, the Company is committed to building
an internationally renowned Chinese media group and promoting
the vision of “Chinese language connections” by providing high-
end Chinese programs to global Chinese audiences and promoting
Chinese culture. Phoenix continues to create commercial value by
sustaining and strengthening its core competitiveness in content,
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utilizing its brand recognition, credibility, and international influence to
more effectively promote Chinese culture from a global perspective.
Phoenix is also committed to its role as a social role model, fulfilling
its responsibilities for social welfare and environmental protection,
and creating social values such as media credibility through
humanistic care and social responsibility.

Phoenix’s corporate culture advocates the pursuit of excellence in
content and services while maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the interests of the Company’s shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) and other stakeholders. The board (the “Board”)
of directors of the Company (the “Directors”) has established the
Company'’s vision, mission, and values that are consistent with the
Company's culture. All Directors act with integrity, lead by example,
and are committed to promoting corporate culture. The management
is responsible for instilling this culture throughout the Company and
continuously reinforcing the values of acting lawfully, ethically, and
responsibly.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate governance
which combined its existing principles and practices with most of
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) with the objective of taking forward a
corporate governance structure which builds on the Company’s own
standards and experience, while respecting the benchmarks set in
the Code.

The Company has an in-house audit function to assist the Board in
monitoring and advising on the effectiveness of the governance, risk
management and internal control processes of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”). The Risk Management
Committee of the Company has also monitored the progress on
corporate governance practices, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company throughout the year. The following
summarises the corporate governance practices of the Company and
the explanations of deviations from the Code.

Save for the deviations below, the Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022, complied with the Code.
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Chairman and Chief Executive
Code Provision

Under code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive should be clearly
established and set out in writing.

Deviation and its Reasons

During the reporting year, Mr. Xu Wei (“"Mr. Xu”) has been
continually serving as both the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
(the “"CEQ"). The Board considers that Mr. Xu's extensive
experience in media industry is a great benefit to the Group. Mr.
Xu as the Chairman is responsible for leading and overseeing
the effectiveness of the Board and ensuring good corporate
governance practices and procedures are established. At the
same time, Mr. Xu is also responsible for the role of CEO
including managing business operations and devising and
implementing strategic plans of the Group as approved by the
Board from time to time. Through the supervision of the Board
and the Board Committees, balance of power and authority can
be ensured. Therefore, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company for Mr. Xu to assume the roles of
Chairman and CEO until such time as the Board considers that
such roles should be assumed by different individuals.
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(2) Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Code Provision

Under code provision B.2.2, every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

Deviation and its Reason

Mr. Xu, the Chairman, is not subject to retirement by rotation,
which deviates from code provision B.2.2.

The reason for such deviation was due to the provision of
the articles of association of the Company (the "Articles of
Association”), which provided that the Chairman and/or the
managing director shall not, whilst holding such office, be
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire each year. The
Board considers that consecutive appointment of the Chairman
is beneficial to the direction and implementation of the
Company’s long term business planning and strategy, and as
such, the Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be
subject to retirement by rotation.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, it was confirmed
that the Directors have complied with the above-mentioned required
standards of dealings regarding Directors’ securities transactions
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct governing
securities transactions by the employees of the Group who may
possess or have access to the inside information in relation to the
Group or its securities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising the Company'’s affairs such
as approval of financial results, significant financial transactions,
appointment of Directors and appointment and removal of the
Company's auditor, etc. The Board is also responsible for reviewing
and monitoring corporate governance functions including the
effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal control
systems and Environmental, Social and Governance (the “"ESG")
issues. It should be noted that the Company's risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The management of the Company is responsible for the day-to-day
business operations of the Group and the development and
implementation of corporate strategies. For significant matters that
are specifically delegated by the Board, the management of the
Company must report back to and obtain prior approval from the
Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Group.

The Company has maintained liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management officers of the Company with appropriate
coverage for liabilities which may arise in the course of performing
their duties.
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Composition

As at 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report, the Board
comprises two Executive Directors, four Non-executive Directors and
four Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDs"). The current
Board composition is well balanced with an appropriate mix of skills,
experience and expertise contributing to the effective functioning
of the Board and development of the Group. The brief biographical
details of each of the Directors are set out in the sections entitled
“Corporate Information” and “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” of this report.

The Board has also adopted a Board Diversity Policy. Please refer to
the section entitled “Board Committees — Nomination Committee” of
the “Corporate Governance Report” for details.

INEDs and Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the INEDs their annual
confirmation of independence. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has assessed the independence of each of the INEDs
pursuant to the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all INEDs are independent.

Three of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Leung Hok Lim, Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak and Mr. Fang Fenglei
have served on the Board for more than nine years. The Nomination
Committee is fully satisfied that they demonstrate complete
independence in character and judgement both in their designated
roles and as Board members and is of the opinion that they continue
to bring independent judgement and fresh perspectives on the
Company's affairs to the Board notwithstanding their length of
service. The Board believes that their in-depth knowledge of the
Group's business and their extensive experience and expertise
continue to provide invaluable contribution to the Board.

The Board welcomes and encourages Directors to provide
constructive comments and feedbacks on the Group’s operation,
development and corporate governance etc. There are channels
through which the Independent Non-executive Directors can express
their views in an open manner or confidential manner in formal or
informal way and there are sufficient resources including access
to independent professional advice (if necessary) to assist them to
perform their duties. Besides regular Board and board committees
meetings, all INEDs have access to the Chairman, Company
Secretary, Chief Financial Officer and the Group Legal Department
where they may express their views and provide feedback on issues
concerned.
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An annual private meeting between INEDs and the Chairman would
also be held for ideas sharing or discussion over any concern raised
by the INEDs. Should circumstances require, special meeting
sessions may be set up between the INEDs and the Chairman or
management or other Board members.

The Board Diversity Policy formally recognises the Group's practice of
ensuring that independent views and input are made available to the
Board.

The Board shall review the above mechanism on an annual basis.
During the year, the Board had reviewed the mechanism and
considered the mechanism to be effective.

Board and Board Committees Meetings and General
Meetings

The Board holds at least four meetings a year to review the
Group’s financial and operating performance, governance and risk
management and each Board committee holds at least one meeting
a year. The Company held five Board meetings, one annual general
meeting (the “AGM") and one extraordinary general meeting (the
“EGM") in the financial year ended 31 December 2022.
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Details of individual Director's attendance at the Board meetings,
general meetings and board committees meetings are as follows
(attendance records for senior management in Risk Management
Committee meeting are included for reference only):

NEEREFEEH KRAGREFZ
g LNEALREFBOT (FREE
BERRBREEZE RN LR CHENR

W > m oR

o

Meetings Attended!/Eligible to Attend

B/ GERHE2EE
Risk

Name of Directors/ Audit  Nomination Remuneration Management
Senior Management AGM EGM Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee
ESpa/ BEd i Board 1] R HH BREE
BREEAR BEAE KHAE Ezg ZEE ZEE EEL ZE8
Executive Directors HEZ
Mr. XuWei {Chairman and CFO) rEE (RERER) n i 55 - - - i
Mr. Sun Yusheng REELE

(Deputy CEO and Editorin-Chief] (RRamesReGs) i i 5/6 - i - -
Non-executive Directors FHnEE
Ms. Ho Chiu King, Pansy Catiina f@aRt

(Vice-chairman) (BER) 0/ 0 25 - - - -
Mr. Sun Guanggj oIy on on 55 - - - -
M. Jian Qin L on on 45 - - i -
Ms. Wang Haixia TEELT n 1 55 0 - - i
Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHEE
Mr. Leung Hok Lim RERALE i i 4 1 i on on
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas 1 11 b/ 2 i 1 /1

Beczak Beczak %
Mr. Fang Fenglei FREEE i i 55 - - - -
Mr. Zhou Longshan BRlLE i i 55 - - - -
Senior Management EHREEAE
Mr. He Daguang' WAREE! - - - - - - (i
Mr. Yeung Ka Keung BERTE - - - - - - i
Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below): i NEAR TXER) :
- = not applicable -="TEHA

! Mr. He Daguang resigned as Chief Innovation Officer and Executive Vice
President of the Group as well as member of the Risk Management

Committee of the Company on 31 December 2022.

During the year, the Board held five Board meetings to discuss and

formulate the Group's overall strategies, to review and approve
the Group's business performances including interim and annual
results as well as other operating performances including continuing
connected transactions, material transactions, corporate governance,
ESG, risk management, regulatory compliance and other significant
matters. A private meeting was held between the Chairman and the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors during the year.
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Directors’ Induction and Professional Development

Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
induction package to ensure that he has a proper understanding
of the Group’s business and his/her role and responsibilities as a
Director under the relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. Each Director is required to provide the Company with his
training records on an annual basis. During the year, the Company had
also provided in-house training and from time to time sent reference
materials on updates of the relevant laws and Listing Rules to the
Directors.

Summary of the Directors' training records for the year are as follows:

Attended
seminars

conducted by

EEMMB L BERER

BERMZEESTHRZEARE - ARER
Higy) TMASERGRAEARAERE
ERETIRESTNABREE -

ARRSEE S SRS EEE BRI SR
B EABRIRE  BRAEABZEERN
ROAHBENERTHEERFLER - &
UEFSEEANARARM S IR
8 o ARTRERERIREBEY - LT
SRR AR LT RAE NS
EE

EERAFERIFIECE AT

Read materials
relevant to

the Company’s
business or
update on legal
and regulation

professional REEAAT Attended
parties MEKS in-house
Name of Directors HEEEAL ERREEMN trainings
BEEng EROHHE BHEBNER HEREE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Xu Wei (Chairman and CEO) BBt E (EREFRITHAER) - Vv v
Mr. Sun Yusheng BEBxTE - v Vv
(Deputy CEO and Editorin-Chief) (BISRITHBE G IRE)
Non-executive Directors HRTEE
Ms. Ho Chiu King, Pansy Catilina BBt v v -
(Vice-chairman) (RAlxR%)
Mr. Sun Guanggi BrartE - v Vv
Mr. Jian Qin GE % - Vv v
Ms. Wang Haixia THEERT - Vv Vv
Independent Non-executive Directors — B FF#iTZ %
Mr. Leung Hok Lim REFREHE Vv
Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Thaddeus Thomas \J -
Beczak Beczak St
Mr. Fang Fenglei FRELE - v Vv
Mr. Zhou Longshan EREILEE - Vv Vv
Remarks it
\/ = attended Vo= HE
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management
Committee (collectively referred to as “Board Committees”) each
with specific written terms of reference in alignment with the
relevant code provisions as set out in the Code to assist the Board
to discharge its functions. The terms of reference of the Board
Committees are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and advise
on the Company’s interim and annual results, financial reports and
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, and to
discuss auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised one
Non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wang Haixia and two INEDs,
namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak (chairman of the Audit
Committee) and Mr. Leung Hok Lim.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and had
reviewed the Group's interim and annual results with the Company’s
management and external auditor and recommended their adoption
to the Board, discussed key internal audit matters, reviewed the
independence and engagement of the external auditor, audit plans,
internal control performance as well as effectiveness of the internal
control system. Members' attendance records of the meetings are
disclosed on page 66 of this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior management,
reviewing the specific remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company with reference to
salaries paid by comparable companies, the Board's corporate goals
and objectives, time commitment and responsibilities of the individual
and reviewing matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The emolument particulars of individual Directors
and the senior management (by band) for the year are set out in
notes 8 and 43 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

A Directors’ Remuneration Policy was adopted on 18 March 2022
with an aim to set out a formal and transparent framework on the
remuneration of the Directors (including those senior management
executives who are also Executive Directors) with a view to attracting
and retaining experienced, qualified and high caliber Directors
to oversee the business and development of the Company. The
Remuneration Committee would review the Directors’ (including
those senior management executives who are also Executive
Directors) remuneration packages and other benefits annually to
ensure the relevant remuneration packages are reflective of the
Company's and individual's performance as well as the skills and
experience required from the individual Director, and are in line with
the Board's corporate goals and objectives, and are otherwise fair
and competitive but not excessive. The Remuneration Committee
is delegated with the responsibility to review and monitor the
implementation of the policy regularly.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one Non-executive Director, namely Mr. Jian Qin and two INEDs,
namely Mr. Leung Hok Lim and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak.
Chairman of the meeting will be elected from the committee
members at each meeting.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
(with Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak elected as the chairman of the
meeting) to make recommendations to the Board on the directors’
fees of the INEDs, to review discretionary bonus payments for year
2021 and the salary increment effective from 1 January 2022 and,
by way of written resolutions to recommend proposed amendments
to the Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee to the
Board. Members' attendance records of the meetings are disclosed
on page 66 of this report.
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Nomination Committee

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size, composition (including the Directors’ skills, knowledge
and experience) and diversity of the Board annually, to assess the
independence of INEDs, to identify qualified individuals suitable to
become Director in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy and to make such recommendations to the
Board when necessary.

Board Diversity

In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives among Board
members, Board Diversity Policy was adopted. When deciding on
appointments to the Board, the Company shall consider a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, merit,
length of service and contribution to the Board as well as other
factors based on the Company’s business model and specific needs
from time to time.

Throughout the years, the Board has been actively seeking to achieve
gender diversity in the Board. As of the date of this report, the female
Board representation is 20%. The Company is keen to maintain a
minimum female representation of 10% on the Board going forward.
The Company is also aware that certain Directors including INEDs
have reached or passed retirement age, or have served the Board for
over 9 years. The Company would be open to invite new candidates
from diverse gender, backgrounds and expertise to bring in new
perspectives and skills to support decision making in the view of
the Group’s core businesses and strategy. As and when necessary,
independent professional headhunters may be engaged to assist the
Nomination Committee in identifying potential candidates for Board
succession and development.

The Nomination Committee is delegated with the responsibility
to review annually on the Board's composition under diversified
perspectives and monitor the implementation of this policy. During
the year, the Nomination Committee and the Board had reviewed
the Board Diversity Policy and was satisfied that the diversity of the
Board was appropriate.
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Workforce Diversity

The Group emphasises equal opportunities and workforce diversity.
As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce
(including senior management) was 47.3% male to 52.7% female.
Please refer to section entitled “Analysis on Employment” of the
“Environment, Social and Governance Report” for details.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted which sets out the selection
criteria (reputation for integrity, merits and professional experience,
skills, length of service in industries in line with the Company's
corporate strategy, time commitment in Board matters and
contribution to the diversity of the Board), procedure for nomination
of suitable director candidates to the Board for considerations, and
make recommendations to Shareholders for election as directors
at general meetings or appoint directors to fill casual vacancies.
The Nomination Committee is delegated with the responsibility of
identifying suitably qualified candidates to become Board members
with adequate consideration of both the Nomination Policy and
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee is also responsible
for monitoring the implementation of the Nomination Policy and
reviewing it as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprised
one Executive Director namely Mr. Sun Yusheng and two INEDs
namely, Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and Mr. Leung Hok Lim.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting (supplemented
by a written resolution) during the year and had reviewed the
independence of all INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, recommended to the Board the retiring Directors standing
for re-election at the AGM held on 6 June 2022, reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and considered
and recommended to the Board successively the re-election of 7
Directors namely Mr. Xu Wei, Mr. Sun Yusheng, Ms. Ho Chiu King,
Pansy Catilina, Mr. Sun Guangqi, Mr. Zhou Longshan, Mr. Jian Qin
and Mr. Thaddeus Thomas Beczak. Members' attendance records of
the meetings are disclosed on page 66 of this report.
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Risk Management Committee

The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee are to
review the Company’s risk management policies and monitor the
implementation and development of the risk management system
on an ongoing basis, assess the strategic, financial, operational,
compliance and other risks of the Company, annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems including the change
in nature and extent of significant risks including ESG risks, the
scope and quality of management's ongoing monitoring of the
internal audit function, the communication of monitoring results
to the Board, identification of significant control weaknesses and
effectiveness of the processes for financial reporting and compliance
of the Listing Rules as well as to discuss the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes received
by staff members and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions (including those related to ESG
performance).

As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee
comprised one Executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Wei (chairman
of the Risk Management Committee), one Non-executive Director,
namely Ms. Wang Haixia, two INEDs, namely Mr. Thaddeus Thomas
Beczak and Mr. Leung Hok Lim, one Executive Vice President, namely
Mr. Yeung Ka Keung.

The Risk Management Committee held one meeting during the year
and had discussed the emerging and other key risks that the Group
was encountering and the respective risk management measures.
The management of the Company had also submitted to the Risk
Management Committee a written confirmation on the effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems, which
was considered and accepted by the Risk Management Committee.
Members' attendance records of the meeting are disclosed on page
66 of this report.

Ad Hoc Committee

The Company adopted the terms of reference of the ad hoc
committee to deal with ad hoc matters, which sets out detailed
directions as to the powers delegated to the ad hoc committee. Any
two Directors shall form a quorum for the transaction of business.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements for each financial year end, which gives a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in accordance with all
relevant statutory requirements and suitable accounting standards.
The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the independent auditor's responsibilities are set out
in the section entitled “Independent Auditor’'s Report” of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance and implementing sound risk management and internal
control systems to achieve sustainable long-term growth.

Managing risk is an integral part of the Group’s business strategies.
The Group’s risk management philosophy and approach aim to
enhance shareholder value and achieve balance between risks
and rewards, maximising business opportunities while minimising
adverse outcomes.

The Board acknowledges that its overall responsibility includes
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems at least once annually.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses. The Board evaluates and determines the
Group's risk appetite in different aspects including sustainability,
strategic, financial, operational, compliance, reputational, legal, IT and
cybersecurity risks, and media credibility, ethical, environmental and
social responsibility. The Board has approved and issued a Group Risk
Management Policy which sets forth the risk management principles,
approach and procedures of the Group and is formally communicated
to all executives within the Group.

The management is fully aware of its responsibilities for the design
and implementation of robust risk management and internal control
systems across the Group, and the responsibility to continuously
monitor such systems. The management grasps the risks that the
Group is facing and endeavors to ensure the risk mitigation strategies
could bring the residual risks in line with the Group'’s risk appetite.
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The management is committed to creating and maintaining a risk
management culture in the Group and continuously manages risks in
daily business operations. The management stays alert to emerging
risks and uncertainties arising from economic, political, market,
regulatory, environmental or social changes, collects and analyses
market intelligence and data which may adversely impact the Group's
operations.

The rigorous corporate governance and risk management system in
Phoenix are partly contributed by a series of effective management
meetings and reporting mechanism, which include The Group
Management Meeting, regularly held among headquarters
management to discuss major operation, development and risk
issues of the Group; The Group Annual Business Meeting, chaired
by the CEQ, carried out annually among the management team at
headquarters with all operating units of the Group to review the
annual performance of the operating units and to approve their
strategic and business plannings for the coming year; The Group
Sales Management Committee, chaired by the CEO, conducted
on monthly basis with sales heads of the Group’s major segments
to foster sales integration across Phoenix’'s omni media platforms;
and The Editorial Board Enlarged Meeting, chaired by the Deputy
CEO cum Editor-in-Chief, held bi-weekly with the participation of
relevant department heads of programmes to discuss and monitor
all key matters in TV programme production, new media operation
and broadcasting matter/categories; The Group Monthly Operational
Report mechanism, through which the headquarters can continuously
and systematically monitor the business performance and major
operating risks of all operating units of the Group.

On top of these regular or irregular management meetings, at the
corporate level, as an important line of defense, the management
with headquarters finance, legal and business development functions
together work as a risk management team to identify and manage
major risks in their day-to-day collaboration and act as gatekeepers
against strategic, financial, operational, regulatory and compliance
risks in the Group's daily operations and business development
process. Risk information is shared transparently between
management and headquarters functions.
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To continuously monitor risks and performance of the Group's
business units, the Company assigns members of its senior
management to sit on the board of all major subsidiaries. Also,
the Group has established and implemented standard periodic
operational and financial reporting mechanisms which strictly require
all business units of the Group, in the form of reporting package, to
follow and update the headquarters in the areas of their business and
financial performance, major investments and transactions, major
projects and events, material risk and control matters, as well as
major environmental and social responsibility issues.

As to the internal control measures and procedures for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, in order to mitigate the risk
of leakage of inside information which may result in insider dealing
and violation of the relevant statutory and regulatory requirement, the
Group has implemented Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information.
The policy provides guidelines to Directors, executives and all
relevant employees of the Group to ensure inside information of
the Group is properly handled and disseminated to the public in an
equal and timely manner. The policy also includes a spokesperson
arrangement and clearly sets out the reporting lines for employees
who become aware of any non-public price-sensitive information.
Besides, the headquarters legal department ongoingly maintains
a full list of relevant employees to whom memorandum must be
sent to remind them about prohibition on dealing in securities of the
Company during the black-out periods. The Group has also adopted a
Shareholders Communication Policy which is approved by the Board
and aims to ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional,
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced
and understandable information about the Company, and allow
Shareholders to engage actively with the Company. Both policies
are under regular review during the year by the Board to ensure their
adequacy and effectiveness.

The main feature of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems is its ability to dynamically and effectively capture
and evaluate significant emerging risks and risk changes, both
quantitatively and qualitatively, and to timely manage risks by
appropriate risk responses and mitigation strategies. The source,
trigger, event and consequences of risks are analysed and
documented in the Group Risk Register. The Group has developed
its own risk management framework, which is designed in reference
to the internationally recognised Enterprise Risk Management
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations
of the Treadway Commission (commonly known as “COSO") and
Internal Control and Risk Management Basic Framework issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Board, through its Audit Committee and Risk Management
Committee, oversees the Group's risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis. Both Committees report to the
Board the material weaknesses identified by internal control systems,
significant deficiencies and their impact on the Company’s financial
performance and condition. The primary functions and compositions
of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee are
set out in the section entitled “Board Committees” on pages 68 to
73 respectively of this report.

To assist the Board in monitoring the risk management and internal
control systems, the Group has an internal audit department
(the “Group Internal Audit”) in place to provide independent
and objective appraisal and assurance in the areas of corporate
governance, risk management and internal control for the Group.

The internal audit charter and annual internal audit plans are duly
approved by the Board. The Group Internal Audit reports functionally
to Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee to preserve
its independence. The Group internal auditors possess sufficient
expertise and professional qualifications in the areas of risk
management and internal control assurance.

The Group Internal Audit evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems with
a risk-based audit approach, covering major processes, activities
and changes which are quantitatively or qualitatively significant to
the Group. The Group Internal Audit identifies and evaluates key
risks which affect the achievement of business objectives, and
review if management has implemented appropriate and effective
risk mitigation strategies and control measures in response to the
risks. The Group Internal Audit provides practical and value added
recommendations on the identified internal control weaknesses and
deficiencies, among which the significant issues and irregularities
would be timely reported to the management and the relevant board
committees for assessment and rectification.
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To comply with the risk management and internal control code
provisions under the Listing Rules, the Board, through the Audit
Committee and the Risk Management Committee together with the
assistance of the Group Internal Audit, conducted an annual review
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022. Such risks
include, amongst others, material risks relating to ESG, in which the
Board recognizes that ESG is expressing the connection between
corporate governance and social and environmental sustainability. The
annual review covers all major controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

The Directors particularly considered the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks) since the last
annual review and the Company's effectiveness to respond to such
changes. Besides, the Directors reviewed the scope and quality of
the management’s ongoing monitoring of risks (including ESG risks)
and of the internal control systems with reference to the assurance
results provided by the Group Internal Audit. The Directors also
reviewed the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring
results to the Board committees to facilitate their review of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. On the
basis of information provided by and communication with internal
and external auditors, the Directors could identify significant control
failings or weaknesses and the extent to which these control issues
have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies that have
had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material impact on
the Company'’s financial performance or condition.

As a conclusion, in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Board, with written confirmation from the management, considered
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems as
adequate and effective. The management’s confirmation was
endorsed by the Company'’s Risk Management Committee. Details of
the major risks the Group is facing are set out on pages 141 to 145 of
this report, under the section entitled “Business Review” in “Report
of Directors”

The Board, through the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, also assessed in the aforementioned review the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit,
financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the Group’s
ESG performance and reporting and considers that they are adequate.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”) was appointed as the external
auditor of the Company by Shareholders at the AGM held on 6 June
2022. A statement by the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report of this
report. The remuneration in respect of services provided by PwC
(including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management) for the Group is analysed as follows:

Audit Service BT
Non-audit Service IEEZ RIS
Tax Service B RE
Total @t
COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yeung Ka Keung has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company (the “"Company Secretary”) since 25 April 2000.
All Directors have access to the advice and service of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures, all applicable rules
and regulations are followed. Mr. Yeung has confirmed that he had
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to professional
training during the 2022 financial year.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Company did not amend its Articles of Association during the
year under review.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose the
convening of extraordinary general meeting(s)

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholder(s) to propose a person
for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended
by the Board for election, be eligible for election as a Director at
any general meeting unless a notice signed by a Shareholder (other
than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the AGM for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the Company’s head office for a minimum period of seven (7)
days. The minimum period of seven (7) days for lodgment of the
aforementioned notice will commence no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the AGM appointed for such election
and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such AGM.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a director of the Company at the AGM,
the above documents must be lodged at the registered office or head
office of the Company to the attention of the Company Secretary for
a minimum seven (7) day period commencing no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the AGM.
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For further details of the procedures, please refer to the
announcement published on the websites of both the Company and
the Stock Exchange on 28 March 2012.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Board has a high regard for investor relationship in particular, fair
disclosure, comprehensive and transparent reporting.

The Company ensures sufficient, effective and timely dissemination
of information to Shareholders for all general meetings. All
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM and other general
meetings of the Company and are welcomed to give feedback to the
Company Secretary of the Company by post or by email. The Board
members (or their respective delegates) and the members of the
management of the Company will attend the AGM and each general
meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions.

A Shareholders Communication Policy was adopted by the Company
to ensure the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, are
provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to enable
the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and
to allow the Shareholders and the investment community to engage
actively with the Company. The Board will review the Shareholders
Communication Policy annually in order to ensure its implementation
and effectiveness.

During the year, the Company’'s website was updated on a regular
basis and the information released by the Company to the Stock
Exchange was also posted on the Company's website immediately
thereafter. These enable Shareholders to access latest information of
the Company. Enquiries from Shareholders were responded within
a reasonable timeframe. Based on the above, the Board considered
that the Shareholder Communication Policy was effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a Dividend Policy to allow Shareholders
to participate in the Company's profits whilst retaining adequate
reserves for the Company’s future growth. The policy sets out the
consideration factors for recommendation and declaration of dividend
payment, such as the Group's business and financial performance,
retained earnings and distributable reserves of each member of the
Group, working capital requirements, capital expenditure and future
development plans and other factors that the Board deems relevant.
The payment of the dividend is also subject to approval by the
Shareholders and compliance with applicable laws and regulations
including the laws of Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company provides extensive information about the Company
to the investors and potential investors through the Company's
professional investor relation website on www.irasia.com/listco/
hk/phoenixtv. Hard copies of the annual report, interim report and
circulars are sent to all Shareholders, which are also available on the
Company'’s professional investor relation website.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries either by post, by
facsimiles or by email, together with their contact details, such as
postal address, email or fax, to the head office of the Company at the
following address, facsimile number or via email:

No. 2-6 Dai King Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Tai Po,
New Territories, Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2200 8340

Email: hkcss@phoenixtv.com

CONCLUSION

The Company strongly believes that good corporate governance
can safeguard the effective allocation of resources and protect
Shareholders’ interests and the management strives to maintain,
strengthen and improve the standard and quality of the Group's
corporate governance.
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This report is the eleventh Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (referred to as “Corporate Social Responsibility Report” in
2015 and before) published by Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited (the “Company”) since 2012. The report documents the
performance of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or “Phoenix”) in the areas of corporate social responsibility
and environmental protection in 2022, and represents an opportunity
for the Group to communicate with its Shareholders concerning its
philosophy, practices and achievements on environmental, social and
governance (ESG).
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The board of directors (the “Board”) and the management of the
Company firmly believe that, as an enterprise develops, in addition to
its economic value, it must also give even more consideration to its
value to the society. The enterprise must fully understand the ESG
aspects about which its stakeholders and the society are concerned,
and fulfil its social responsibilities and uphold its standard of morality
and conscience so as to stay in a strong position. This is the mission
and objective of the Group concerning its corporate sustainability.

Mr. Xu Wei, the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company (the “Chairman and CEQ"), said at the Zero Carbon
Mission International Climate Summit 2022 co-organised by Phoenix
Satellite Television Company Limited (“Phoenix TV") and World Wide
Fund for Nature: “As an international media group based in Hong Kong
and exposed to the world, Phoenix TV is committed to telling the
story of green development and spreading the concept of ecological
civilisation. Featured with our unique asset, omnimedia, we will make
the best use of our capabilities in global news reporting and spread
the concept of green development to the world.”
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Xu Wei, the Chairman and CEO: “The issue of climate change requires intense attention and concerted action by the international
community. Phoenix TV is committed to telling the story of green development and spreading the concept of ecological civilisation.”
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ESG RISK ASSESSMENT

The Board assessed that there are no significant environmental risks
in the media industry in which the Group operates, mainly because
the principal business of the Group focuses on the production and
distribution of the media content, which is not an energy-intensive
business or a natural resource-based business, and therefore the
amount of raw materials used and the output of waste gas and
wastes in the operation process are at a relatively low level. On the
contrary, the Group focuses more on the social risks and regulatory
risks that are related to our programs and social media content in
terms of the ESG aspects, and how to better fulfill its corporate
social responsibility by capitalising on its own advantages as a media
company and its brand influence.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (BOARD
STATEMENT)

The Board is aware that it plays a key role in overseeing the Group’s
ESG matters as well as assessing and managing major environmental
and social risks. The Board also assumes the ultimate responsibility
for the management policies, strategies and disclosures of the ESG
matters.

Supervision of ESG Matters

The Board, through its Risk Management Committee, continuously
monitors the Group's ESG risk management and internal control
systems. The Risk Management Committee of the Company has
incorporated environmental and social risks into the Group’s corporate
risk management and internal control system. In terms of supervision
mechanism, the Risk Management Committee reports to the Board
on the identified major ESG risks and issues, as well as any material
defect or weakness in the ESG risk control system. The primary
functions and compositions of the Risk Management Committee are
set out in the section entitled “Board Committees: Risk Management
Committee” on page 73 of this report.
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ESG Management Policies and Strategies

In terms of staffing, a function on corporate social responsibility is
in place to lead the ESG working team and assist the Board, the
Risk Management Committee and the management to supervise
the Group’s ESG and sustainability work including the identification,
assessment, prioritisation and management of major environmental
and social risks to the Group, and to incorporate the risks into Group
Risk Register and submit it to the Risk Management Committee
for review; promote the information exchange and communication
of ESG within the Group, and the compilation of the annual
Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the Company.

For policy and supervision at corporate level, the Group has
implemented a system of Board-approved Corporate Social and
Environmental Responsibilities Policy. The policy sets out the tone,
stipulates the direction of ESG management, and provides guidelines
for the social, charity and environmental protection activities of the
Group, so that the Group can fulfill its social and environmental
protection responsibilities in a more effective way, and also comply
with the disclosure requirements of ESG under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

Besides, to identify and manage the major environmental and social
risks arising during our business operations in a more systematic
and efficient way, the management has incorporated material
environmental and social welfare matters into material non-business
reporting matters in a regular monthly business reporting mechanism
for the Group’s subordinate business units, and it has been proven
effective.

ESG Targets, Progress Review and Business Relevance

The Group's ESG goals are clear and highly relevant to its core
business. Leveraging its own advantages as a media company and
its brand influence, the Group produces and broadcasts programs
and other media content that promote positive energy to the
society, provides public-welfare-related and green information and
organises charity events through its omni-media platform to pool
together resources from charitable organisations, media partners
and caring enterprises, with the aim of promoting charity, facilitating
public welfare and green concepts and environmental protection
projects as well as making contributions to the society’s sustainable
development. The Board will continuously review the Group’s ESG
goals and progress in the Board meetings, so as to ensure these ESG
goals are materially relevant to the Group’s core businesses.

The above ESG Governance Structure and Board Statement have
been formally discussed and approved by the Board.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Company has applied the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, consistency and balance for the preparation of this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Regarding the materiality principle, the Board has determined that
ESG issues which have significant impacts on the investors of the
Group and other stakeholders are material ESG issues that require
disclosure and reporting. This is the selection criterion for significant
ESG issues.

The Board and the Risk Management Committee continues to
conduct the materiality assessment on ESG issues with the
assistance of the ESG working team to determine the prioritisation
of ESG-related risks and opportunities. The ESG working team invites
representatives of the management and supervisors of the relevant
departments at the headquarters to identify the ESG issues of the
Group through focus groups or individual interviews. In addition
to collecting their opinions on the ESG issues related to Phoenix’s
business strategies and actual operations, they also collect the
opinions and expectations on the sustainable development of the
Group of various stakeholders known from the interviewees' contacts
with them, including the shareholders, investors, employees,
regulators, customers, suppliers and others during their daily work,
so as to identify and assess the Group's significant ESG risks more
comprehensively.
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The materiality analysis matrix of ESG matters of the Group in 2022 is

as follows:
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REPORTING SCOPE

This report covers the Group’s core businesses in 2022, including
business segments such as television broadcasting, internet
media, outdoor media (large outdoor LED panel display advertising
business) and real estate (mainly for leasing). The main operating
locations include the Group’s HK headquarters office cum production
and broadcasting building in Tai Po Industrial Estate (the “"HK
headquarters”), Phoenix International Media Centre (the “Beijing
Phoenix Centre”) in Chaoyang District, Beijing, ifeng.com office
floors in Wangjing District, Beijing, and Shenzhen Management
Centre. This report records the ESG performance of the Group’s main
businesses during the year.

ENVIRONMENTAL CATEGORY

Environmental Protection Policies

Even though the environmental risks faced by the media industry to
which the Group belongs are relatively low, daily office operations
still involve power consumption, office resource consumption,
greenhouse gas emissions, air pollutant emissions, etc. Therefore,
the Group persistently promotes environmental protection policies.
The HK headquarters and the business units of the Group must
effectively use resources during their operations, and at the same
time encourage reuse and recycling of waste, water conservation
and reduction of energy consumption, so as to reduce exhaust gas
and greenhouse gas emissions. The Group also avoids all operating
activities that have significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources, with a goal to reduce the negative impacts on the
environment during operation.

Relevant Environmental Protection Laws and Regulations

The Group has always attached great importance to environmental
protection and strictly abides by the laws of Hong Kong Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354), Air Pollution Control Ordinance
(Chapter 311), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358), and
the Mainland China laws The Environmental Protection Law of the
People's Republic of China, The Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and The Solid Waste Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China and
other laws and regulations related to environmental protection in the
country/region where members of the Group are located. During
the year, the Group did not receive any violation notices related to
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group.
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Data Collection for Emissions and Resource Usage

Regarding the collection of emissions and resource usage data,
for office operations in Hong Kong, electricity consumption is
calculated based on the bills issued by CLP Power Hong Kong
Limited (for the Group's HK headquarters office cum production
and broadcasting building) and The Hongkong Electric Company
(for the Group's meeting and broadcasting center in Wanchai, Hong
Kong). The gas consumption is calculated based on the bills issued
by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited. The water
consumption is calculated based on the bills issued by the Water
Supplies Department of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
Government. For operations in the regions outside Hong Kong, the
consumption of water, electricity and gas is calculated based on the
bills issued by the companies which supply water, electricity and gas
in the country/region where located. For operations in the Mainland,
the electricity consumption in Beijing region is calculated according
to the electricity notices issued by the State Grid Beijing Electric
Power Company. The hot water consumption from central heating
is calculated according to the bills of the Beijing District Heating
(Group) Co., Ltd. The tap water consumption is calculated according
to the bills of the Beijing Municipal Water Group Co., Ltd. The natural
gas consumption is calculated based on the bills of the Beijing Gas
Group Co., Ltd. For Shenzhen Management Centre, the electricity
consumption is calculated based on the electricity notices issued by
Shenzhen Power Supply Co., Ltd, and the natural gas consumption
is calculated based on the bills issued by Futian Branch of Shenzhen
Gas Corporation Ltd.

Application of Quantitative Reporting Principles

The calculation methods for air pollutant emissions and carbon
dioxide emissions in this report are in accordance with the generally
accepted standard formulas contained in Appendix II: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs of How to Prepare an ESG Report
issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Air Pollutants: Emission Data of Nitrogen Oxides, Sulfur
Oxides and Particulate Matters

The emissions of air pollutants such as nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur
oxides (SOx) and particulate matters (PM) are mainly caused by the
diesel fuel from the shuttle buses that pick up employees (24- hour
round trip between the HK headquarters building and the Tai Po
Market MTR station), a total of 386,049 grams of NOx, 684.57 grams
of SOx, and 17903 grams of PM were emitted during the year. The
gaseous fuel (towngas) consumed in the Group's HK headquarters
office cum production and broadcasting building also resulted in
emission of 3,412 grams of NOx. The emission factors used to
calculate the emissions of the above pollutants are in accordance
with Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs of How
to Prepare an ESG Report issued by the Stock Exchange.

Carbon Emissions: Direct and Energy Indirect Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

The media industry to which the Group belongs does not highly use
energy and involve industrial processes. The Group also does not own
or control businesses that consume non-renewable fuels resulting
in directly generating greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. Scope 1). The
Group’s HK headquarters office cum production and broadcasting
building has four backup generator sets for emergency power supply
and firefighting purposes, but they are not regularly used and do not
directly generate greenhouse gas emissions. In addition, the Group's
internal consumption of purchased electricity, gas, etc. during the
operations of the principal businesses will cause energy indirect
greenhouse gas emissions (i.e. Scope 2). In 2022, the Group's
greenhouse gas emissions was 17091 tons of CO2 equivalent. The
analysis and disclosure are as follows:
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Operation e €02 emission factor* Consumption volume of : S
locations Elect;cgy/{%fipﬁféﬁgory —E R purchased electricity/gas Cozf%'gﬁaﬁlg‘;%mﬁfﬁ'ons
BEHE SALARS unit A BENE KRR GRS
Electricity provided by CLP 0.39 kg/kWh 9,435,772 kWh 3,679,951 kg
Power Hong Kong 0.39F %=/ TRE 9,435,772 F FLBs 3,679,951 F %
(Television broadcasting &
HK headquarters)
RESNIRENEN
(ERERRESRH)
Electricity provided by the 0.68 kg/kWh 28,842 kWh 19,613 kg
Hongkong Electric 0.68F5%/THE 28,842 T FB% 19,613F %
(Television broadcasting &
Hong Kong meeting and broadcasting
B center in Wan Chai, Hong Kong)
BRERRUNED
(BERERRESET
SRERTL)
Gas provided by Hong Kong 0.065 kg/MJ 853,056 MJ 55,449 kg
and China Gas (Television 0.065F %,/ KEE 853,056 K EE 55,449F 5%
broadcasting & HK
headquarters)
BEARPERRRENER
(EREREREERT)
Electricity provided by 0.581 kg/kWh 4,075,300 kWh 2,367,749 kg
the State Grid Beijing Electric 0.581F 5%/ THE 4,075,300 F FLks 2,367749F %
Power Company
(Beijing Phoenix Centre)
BB RmENRARENEN
(tREEH L)
Electricity provided by 0.581 kg/kWh 940,982 kWh 546,711 kg
the State Grid Beijing 0.581F 5%,/ FHE 940,982 F FLE 546,711F 5%
Electric Power Company
(Internet media)
BRI RmENDARENE N
(EHAEE)
Electricity provided by 0.581 kg/kWh 17.320,362 kWh 10,063,130 kg
the State Grid Beijing Electric 0.581F 5%/ THE 17320,362 F BLE 10,063,130 5%
Mainland Power Company
' _ i(lutdoor media)
BRI RmE DA ARENE N
(PoMER)
Shenzhen Power Supply 0.581 kg/kWh 292,828 kWh 170,133 kg
Co., Ltd. 0.581F 5%,/ TRk 292,828F KBS 170,133F %2
(Shenzhen Management
Center)
AMIEERERAF
(RYIERRHL)
Futian Branch of Shenzhen Gas 0.015 kg/kWh 279,186 MJ 4,188 kg
Group Co., Ltd 0.016F 5%,/ THE 279,186k EE 4,188F %

(Shenzhen Management

Center)
RITRREERHABRAF
BREDLA

(RYERHL)
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CO02 emission factor*
“EbRERRE

Operation

Electricity/gas category

Sene &/

Electricity provided by Southern 0.241 kg/kWh

Consumption volume of
purchased electricity/gas
unit £ BENE BRIAE

639,806 kWh

CO2 equivalent emissions

—EtREEHHE
154,193 kg

California Edison 0241 F 5%,/ THE 639,806 F FLFs 164,193F 72
America AMMNEBERENEN
M Gas provided by the Southern 0.050 kg/MJ 278,960 MJ 13,948 kg
California Gas Company 0.050F %,/ KEE 278 960K EH 13,948F %
BANELE A AR EEROE R
Electricity provided 0.048 kg/kWh 326,164 kWh 15,656 kg
by the EDF Energy 0.048F 5%,/ THE 326,164 F FLB5 15,656 572
EDF EnergyiR{HIE /)
Electricity provided 0 kg/kWh 61,683 kWh 0 kg
by the Southern Electric 0F%/THHE 61,683 T ELE 0F5

(The power supply is 100%
E?ﬁﬁe renewable electricity from the
hydropower station and wind

farm of SSE in the UK)

Southern Electric f2EHE 1

(FEEBI00% A BELESN

RESSE EEIEKHEER

fEE%)

# Regarding the emission factors used in the calculation of the CO2
equivalent emissions by the Group, the operation in Hong Kong has
referred to the emission factors in the latest Sustainability Report of
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited and The Hongkong Electric Company,
Limited, and in the latest ESG Report of the Hong Kong and China Gas
Company Limited; for the operation outside Hong Kong, we refer to
the relevant emission factors of the country/region where it is located;
China’s national emission factors are based on the relevant information
from the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the People’s Republic
of China.
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17,090,720 kg in total,
i.e. 13,091 tons
$£5+17090,720F 52
£113,091H2

B E M E = S BB
FIRAMENRY - BEBEEEHAE
BELFENERAF - BECEERA
T 7 ) 45 4 0 9 2 o 0 1R
B LR EED TR A SR
B HBREBHEDOIARY &
S IMEE EEHA B EFERR,
AR RS - b EER MR B
RIEHEA R AR £ RN E
o

Annual Report 2022



REEREE (F) BRAT]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HEREARS

Emission Targets

The Group has set a directional and forward-looking mid-term
emission reduction target in which total annual air pollutant emissions
and greenhouse gas emissions must fall year-on-year for five years
(2021-2025). The steps taken to achieve this target include optimizing
and adjusting the air-conditioning system and lighting system of
the office cum production and broadcasting building to improve the
overall power efficiency. The indoor air-conditioning temperature
of the office cum production and broadcasting building should fall
between 23 degrees Celsius and 25 degrees Celsius to reduce
its power consumption. All employees are required to conserve
electricity (including measures such as turning off air conditioners,
lights, computers and televisions during lunch hours and after work).
And all the employee shuttle buses have been replaced with the 3.8-
ton Euro V diesel commercial vehicles that comply with the EU’s fifth
Exhaust Gas Emission Standards; shuttle buses will be maintained
regularly to effectively reduce emissions. In addition, the Group also
reserves a large outdoor green area right outside the office building
of HK headquarters, and sets up electric vehicle charging areas in the
parking lots to promote low carbon emissions.

Euro V shuttle bus for employees Electric vehicle charging areas

BEAHESFHRE L BEHEAEEER
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Large green areas outside HK headquarters office
cum production and broadcasting building
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Waste Management

The principal business of the Group is media, and no major toxic
chemicals, chemical waste, construction waste, medical waste and
other hazardous wastes are generated in the course of the business
activities. As for the disposal volume of electronic equipment,
batteries, energy saving lamps, detergent, insecticide supplies, etc.
during daily office operations, the environmental risk is assessed to
be at a relatively low risk level.

In addition, the non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group
during its operation include general office waste, food waste from
the staff canteen, garden waste, electronic waste and construction
or demolition waste generated during the repair and maintenance of
office buildings. These non-hazardous wastes are general wastes that
are not subject to any legal waste management methods restriction
and are disposed of by the municipal authority. As a more effective
waste data collection and management system is being prepared, the
waste amount has not been disclosed this year.

The Group always encourages waste reduction at source and paper
conservation, and actively promotes proper classification, treatment,
recycling and reuse of waste. The ESG working team provides
waste reduction advice and the Group's administration department
implements it and reports to the management. The Group’s HK
headquarters currently employs a professional cleaning contractor to
handle waste. The Group has set a directional and forward-looking
mid-term waste reduction target that the total annual waste volume
must fall year-on-year for five years (2021-2025). To achieve this target,
we have taken the following steps:

BEEMEE
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ERARERMERERE -
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Classifying and recycling waste systematically

RS ER B 0 S B UK

Management System (ERP)

EBE A SAP X ERTTEIEE RS (ERP) E— S HBEM M ABISRER

Further promoting the concept and practice of paperless office through the use of SAP Enterprise Resource Planning

waste paper for notes

Saving paper: Put up notices at obvious spots to remind employees to print double sided, use recycled paper and use

AR - ARG RERT - RESTRASHITHNXM - FRRBREARRERLTS

BEREIY : RITEIREREBE R ERR KR

Recycling paper: Place a large paper recycling bag next to the printer to collect waste paper for further processing

BB EERRRBEE—SRE

EHETRERMUEHE - AL EER

Controlling the quantity of food supplies in the staff canteen to effectively reduce food waste

REXFRAREEN BB EREYEREEN
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Communicating regularly with the professional cleaning contractor and monitoring the waste volume
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Recycling paper Indoor waste classification
BE A1 ENEEMHE

Energy Consumption

In terms of direct energy consumption, the 24-hour employee shuttle
bus service provided by the Group's HK headquarters consumes non-
renewable diesel fuel. In addition, the Group does not own or control
businesses or operating activities that consume a significant amount
of non-renewable fuel. In terms of indirect energy consumption, the
Group purchases and consumes indirect energy including electricity,
as well as heating (mainly in Beijing) during the operation of the
principal business. The energy consumption data for this year are
disclosed as follows:

@ 0

Outdoor waste classification

=NEEY SRR

Notice to remind employees of double-
sided printing

SR REEE TEREmITH

BLIRFEE

FEERBERIH  AEEEERIAE
TREM24/NEREE FRELTRBSHR
AT AERSORIREL o 1o - AEBDR B B
B SR HI SRR EAIFB LR RH AR
ERE) - MEREERBRESE - BT
TEXHLABHHESINE RERRZERE
BEN UERRE (Z2EER) AFE
EERERBERENT

(56

Electricity consumption Heating consumption Gas consumption Consumption of
ENFEE REEE HRFER flammable diesel fuel
33,121,739 6,004,000 S RERR PR
KWh FIES MJ or JKEE MJ or JKEE 1,638,360
1667779 MJ or JKEEE 3
i . 455,100
TR KWh T kWh T FLRs

Total energy consumption: 35,636,619 kWh
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If the number of the Group's employees (2,975 people) is used as
the unit for calculating energy consumption intensity, the energy
consumption of each employee of the Group during the year is
11,979 kWHh, representing a year-on-year decrease of 4%. The
Group has set a directional and forward-looking mid-term waste
reduction target that the total annual energy consumption must fall
yearon-year for five years (2021-2025). For the steps taken to achieve
this target, please refer to the above-mentioned series of measures
on emission reduction, the ultimate goal of which is to save energy
and reduce emissions.

Moreover, the related operating units of the Group’s outdoor media
business (large outdoor LED display panel advertising business) have
also established the following environmental protection measures:
for energy saving, large display screens use energy-saving LED tubes,
the brightness of which will be adjusted automatically during usage.
The power consumption of the display screen, therefore, is only about
40% of the designed peak consumption level during normal usage,
which reduces power consumption. It uses axial fans instead of air
conditioning for ventilation and cooling, which further reduces energy
consumption while ensuring the normal operation of screens. For
the recycling and reuse of dismantled screens which does not occur
frequently, it cleans and modifies components that are still useful
and reuses them as spare parts for newly built or modified screens
or for repairing screens. For the reduction of light pollution from
screens, the large display screens are all equipped with an outdoor
light assessment system, so screen brightness can be automatically
adjusted to accommodate the surrounding environment. It also
introduces new LED screens that adopt a color depth of 16 bit,
thereby producing softer colors and helping to alleviate discomfort
from bright lights.

Water Consumption

Regarding water consumption, the Group does not involve industrial
operations that require the use of a large amount of water, and does
not cause any significant impact on the place of operation in terms
of water resources. During the year, the total water consumption of
the Group’s HK headquarters office cum production and broadcasting
building, Phoenix North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News & Entertainment Channel, Shenzhen Management Centre
and Beijing Phoenix Centre in Chaoyang District, Beijing during the
operation is 56,489 m?3, and the intensity per employee is about
28.60 m3. The above-mentioned water consumption and intensity do
not take into account the Group's internet media business located
in the ifeng.com office floors in Wangjing District, Beijing, mainly
because it operates in a leased property (Zhongging Building), and
the water supply and drainage are managed by the Zhongqging
Building’s property management office. There is no separate water
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meter for individual tenants, and the water fee has been included
in the property fee. Therefore, there is no data on KPIs related to
water consumption. The Group has set a directional and forward-
looking mid-term water reduction target that the total annual water
consumption must fall year-on-year for five years (2021-2025). The
steps taken to achieve this target include regular inspection of water
meter readings within the HK headquarters office cum production and
broadcasting building to monitor any abnormal water usage, regular
inspections of water pipes for leaks, installation of automatic sensor
faucets in all toilets to prevent the faucets from not being turned off
or dripping, and posting notices about water saving at obvious spots.

Beijing Phoenix Centre possessed International LEED Platinum
Certification as a Green Building

The Group's Beijing Phoenix Centre has the LEED Platinum
Certification (LEED O+M: Existing Buildings e v4.1) certified for
3 years (2020-2022) and issued by the international architectural
authority LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design),
which acknowledges the positioning and achievements of the green
sustainable development design and operation model of Beijing
Phoenix Centre. Beijing Phoenix Centre makes its best efforts to
minimise energy consumption in its overall operation. In addition, its
external rainwater collection system and the natural ventilation design
for the large space inside the building are two major features of the
Beijing Phoenix Centre's environmental protection design.

The external rainwater collection system: On the outer layer of the
curved glass curtain wall exterior shell of the Beijing Phoenix Centre,
there is no rainwater pipe, but the rainwater can be directed to the
rainwater collection pool connected to the building’s bottom through
the main rib on the building’s exterior. After the centralised process,
the water is used for all the artistic waterscapes in the Phoenix
Centre, garden irrigation, etc. In the LEED certification, the building
is required to collect and process at least 25% of the rainwater from
the rainfall, but the Beijing Phoenix Centre can reach more than 95%,
effectively reducing the overall water consumption.
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Natural ventilation design for the large space inside the building: 61
electric sunroofs are installed above the curved glass curtain wall
exterior shell of the Beijing Phoenix Centre. During the transition
season, all the sunroofs are opened, and the air replacement inside
the Phoenix Centre can be completed in 30 minutes. The design
relies entirely on the building’s construction without any energy
consumption. It is significant to the reduction of carbon emissions
and enhancement of ventilation, thereby ensuring the comfort of the
people in the building.

As a green building, the operation of the Beijing Phoenix Centre
places great emphasis on the effective control and reduction of
energy consumption. Apart from the transparent glass ceiling on the
building’s exterior shell that provides sufficient natural lighting and
thus greatly reduces power consumption, the Beijing Phoenix Centre
also introduced a digital green operation model. With the assistance
of a professional property consulting company Cushman & Wakefield
and the building’s operation team, Beijing Phoenix Centre monitors
and manages the operation of the building’s heating, ventilation,
lighting, water supply and drainage in real time through the building'’s
automation system, so that the energy consumption of the Beijing
Phoenix Centre is reduced year by year. Accordingly, the energy cost
is lowered and the carbon emission is reduced.

Furthermore, Beijing Phoenix Centre often holds exhibitions and
activities, allowing more and more people to visit this building that
combines architectural beauty and green qualities. It is believed
that this will also bring educational value to the society in terms of
sustainability.

Amount of Packaging Materials Used in Finished Products

The principal business of the Group is media, which focuses on the
production and distribution of media content. During the operation,
there is no significant usage of packaging materials. Therefore,
relevant disclosures on the amount of packaging materials used are
not applicable.
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Beijing Phoenix Centre has reduced
electricity consumption and carbon dioxide
emissions by 11.5% and 15.7% year-on-
year respectively in 2022

b R BLE A 02022 FFREE M — A b i BE R
EREDBITFE11.5% % 15.7%

Green design building: Beijing Phoenix Centre LEED Plantinum Certification on Energy and
Environmental Design obtained by Beijing Phoenix
RERGTEREY - ERBEF O Contra
bR BB A OETS LEED & B IREDIRIF R
D-‘—WL:\EA

Impacts on the Environment and Natural Resources

As mentioned above, the Board assessed that there are no
significant environmental risks in the media industry in which the
Group operates. The principal business of the Group focuses on
the production and distribution of media content and does not
involve operational activities that have a significant impact on
the environment and natural resources. Also, the emissions and
resource usage in the operation process are at a low level, and
there is no impact on biodiversity. Nevertheless, the Group insists
on implementing environmental protection policies and a number of
means to fulfill the Group's environmental responsibilities

3R 2022

HIRBERRARERNOZE

WX Pt EEe DM RNEE S
BITELABERNREAR  AEBEZFE
¥BEIEBANDEERERE  BAESRY
RERRAEREKERZENELEE
BEgERREPOHERE RERERAERE
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The following is a list of relevant chapters for the matters required to

be reported under the KPI A3.1:

Matters Required to be Reported

EENBESEE

AT REREIEEASIB AT REF
HHHBEES -8

Relevant Chapters

HEEE

e Policies and/or measures taken specifically for the e
environment and natural resources

FRIARIE R B AE R BER R,/ S5

Environmental Category:

BIREE

—  Environmental Protection Policies;
FERRBR

—  Emission Targets (including a series of emission
reduction measures);
P2 BT (BRPERIIEE)

- Waste Management (including a series of waste
reduction measures);
FBEEWER (BRERIIEE)

—  Energy Consumption (including a series of energy-
saving measures);
RERFEE (SETRERTIEME)

—  Water Consumption (including a series of water
reduction measures)

FOKE (BEVKRFIFEE)

e Description of business scope, related activities e
and reporting scope

BHXHBHE  FOREEE REREG RN

Reporting Scope
EHREE

e Responsible personnel, their job duties and to e
whom they report

BEMAER  ETERRTRAREER

ESG Governance Structure:

ESG ESa%E !

—  ESG Management Policies and Strategies
ESG &1 5 &1 KRS

e |ndicators with significant impacts o

BERFZENER

Environmental category:

RIZHE

— Carbon Emissions: Direct and Energy Indirect
Greenhouse Gas Emissions;
HREERR - B KAEREERE R

- Energy Consumption

BEIRFEE

e  Statement made by the Board on the supervision e
of ESG matters
HEESMYESGEEMEEELNER

ESG Governance Structure (Board Statement)

ESGEa%E (EEER8H)

e Application of reporting principles, especially the e
materiality principle
ERRANGER - LEEEE1%] FRA o
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Reporting Principles

R A

Materiality Assessment

EEMTME

Environmental Category:

RIBEE

—  Application of Quantitative Reporting Principles
SMLERRAE &R
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Climate Change

The Board assessed that no major matters related to climate change
are affecting the business activities of the Group, and the related
climate change risks are at a low level. The Risk Management
Committee continuously monitors and evaluates changes in related
climate change risks. As a media company, the Group pays great
attention to climate change and uses its media influence to organise
large-scale climate change summits.

Phoenix TV and World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) co-hosted
Zero Carbon Mission International Climate Summit 2022

To actively promote the attainment of the National Carbon Neutrality
vision and global temperature control goals, Phoenix TV and the World
Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) co-hosted the Zero Carbon Mission
International Climate Summit 2022 at the Beijing Phoenix Centre
with the theme of Pathway to the Low-carbon Development from 1st
to 2nd November 2022. This summit invited more than 70 guests,
including Marco Lambertini, the International Director General of
WWEF; Siddharth Chatterjee, the United Nations Resident Coordinator
in China; Assem Hanafi, Egypt's ambassador to China; Xu Huaqing,
Director of the National Center for Climate Change Strategy and
International Cooperation; Pan Jiahua, Deputy Director of the National
Leading Committee on Climate Change; Du Xiangwan, the Consultant
of the National Leading Committee on Climate Change, so as to share
and discuss topics such as cooperation on global carbon neutrality,
contribution and development of China, corporate climate ambitions,
green finance, energy transition, green buildings and low-carbon
transportation. It aimed to gather resources from all parties, fully
mobilise the enthusiasm of enterprises to address climate change
and provide diversified guidance and services, such as strategic
planning, technology application, results display, knowledge sharing
and international exchange, to the local governments and enterprises
for achieving carbon peaking and carbon neutrality. During the
summit, 2022 Quality of Listed Companies in China/ESG Index and
Lists was also issued while SBTi certificates and Carbon Neutrality
Action Leadership Awards were presented to several companies.

For details of Zero Carbon Mission International Climate Summit

2022, please visit:
https://finance.ifeng.com/loc/lcsm/

iy 2022
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Thematic Roundtable Discussion: International Organisations in Global Climate Governance and China's Contributions

ElREE : [EREE2E2RER2EDRER ]

Xu Wei, the Chairman and CEO, delivered a speech:
The issues of climate change require high attention and

concerted actions by the international community.

TRRITHRAHGEHERE - RRBCREFTERRLE

SEMIR—HTH

Du Xiangwan, Academician of
Chinese Academy of Engineering,
Former Vice President of the
Chinese Academy of Engineering,
Adviser to the National Expert
Committee on Climate Change,
delivered the opening speech:
China has developed less than
a tenth of its renewable energy
resources.

B TRk b + - B TR R
Btk BRAGEECEREZE
EEEMERERERER A
BAERRTIAREENTHZ

Siddharth Chatterjee, the
United Nations Resident
Coordinator in China: The
Bretton Woods institutions
must be reformed, and
urgently.

& BB EE R P B E R
(Siddharth Chatterjee) : 7
BERMEE N ERE - T
BRFHE

Marco Lambertini, the International Director General of WWF: The
accelerated destruction of ecosystems by humans must be stopped and
natural progress need to be achieved by 2030.
HREAESGEHRAHETA « WIFE/E (Marco Lambertini) © AKBEARE
EARRFHITRLAEFIE - 2030 FAER B AR
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Assem Hanafi, Egyptian Ambassador to China, talked
about COP 27: The meeting will focus more on the
demands of developing countries and will focus on
Africa.

¥ Ko B EE K {E [ 75 48 o B 23 JF (Assem Hanafi) # COP
27 ERBEABERPERNER - FIEEEIRE
FEM
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First Day Guests
ElEES 50

Zero Carbon Mission International Climate
Summit 2022 organized by Phoenix TV and
the Beijing Representative Office of WWF
(Switzerland), co-organized by Rocky Mountain
Institute, Society of Entrepreneurs and Ecology
Foundation and China Champions for Climate
Action (C Team), with full coverage by finance,
ifeng.com.

[ 9% (2 o B P L IR U8 2022 ] s BLRL AR - tF

REAZSE Ght) LR KR WWF) E 5 -
Second Day Guests EHEILFEMRMI - bR T ERIBRESE
PN=ES-+= (SEEE S &) - KB Y IR (L RHEP O (C

Team) B4 & 37 - BURBI AT RI20E
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Sub-forums of 2022 Phoenix Financial Forum for the Greater
Bay Area: “Green Finance and ESG under the Dual Carbon
Goals” and “Dual Synergy of Digital Economy and Green
Economy”

During 21st to 22nd September 2022, against the background of the
increasingly close cooperation between the financial markets in the
Mainland and those in Hong Kong and Macao, 2022 Phoenix Financial
Forum for the Greater Bay Area was held simultaneously in Hong
Kong and the Mainland, co-hosted by Phoenix TV and ifeng.com and
supported by more than ten academic institutions, to further enhance
the international competitiveness of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area. A number of forums were held around the theme of
“New Prospects Amid Changes’ one of which was the sub-forum of
Green Finance and ESG under the Dual Carbon Goals, where officials
and scholars discuss the development of green finance and ESG in the
Mainland China and Hong Kong. At the roundtable forum session of
Green Finance and ESG under the Dual Carbon Goals, Hui Ching-yu,
Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury of the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region; Ma Jun, Chairman
and President of the Hong Kong Green Finance Association; Dennis
Wu, Founding President of the Greater Bay Area Carbon Neutral
Association; Tang Siau Feng, Senior Director of Corporate Finance
Division of the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong; and
He Jie, Chief Executive of the Shenzhen Municipal Local Financial
Regulatory Bureau, were invited to conduct in-depth discussions on a
number of topics including the development of green and sustainable
finance in the Mainland and Hong Kong (including general standards,
development subjects and green talents), carbon market and carbon
emission trading and ESG disclosure of listed companies under the
challenges of great changes. It aims to assist the authorities and
enterprises in the Greater Bay Area in achieving carbon peaking, carbon
neutrality and the establishment of a green financial ecosystem with
opinion exchange and constructive suggestions.

Green Finance and ESG under the Dual Carbon Goals
ERERTHREEREESG
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Dual Synergy of Digital Economy and Green Economy
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Roundtable Discussion “Green
Finance and ESG under the Dual
Carbon Goals” of Phoenix Financial
Forum for the Greater Bay Area 2022
— New Prospects Amid Changes
organized in Hong Kong Academy of
Sciences

EEBMZEERN [FEERME
WiE2022— EREEFL] R [E
REFE TS BEESG] BRa

i)

Christopher Hui, Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury
of HKSAR Government: To promote the international financial
cooperation, fintech and green finance are the best common
language.

BT REBRNMEEERESBBRAET @ HEEE S

Dennis Wu, Founding President of GBA Carbon Neutrality
Association: Hoping there will be a standard in the Great Bay Area
that recognizes carbon offsets.

RNEBIRP MBS SERBAL - FREEE —(ERERERY
BEIHEH

A ERNR  REERERIFNHRES

Ma Jun, Chairman and President
of Hong Kong Green Finance
Association: China has set a
global example in green finance.
ERBRCCRBEEMRERS
5 REEZESRMELE YT
ESzeEs

3R 2022

Tang, Megan Siau Feng, Senior
Director of Corporate Finance
of SFC: It is the responsibility
of corporate boards to identify
and manage the climate-related
risks and opportunities.
ERREE L EME N SRR
BT - EREWERRREAER
SRMBRMEERSET

He Jie, Director of Shenzhen Municipal Local Financial
Regulatory Bureau: Looking forward, Shenzhen and
Hong Kong have extensive cooperation space in three
aspects of green finance.

AT T eEEEERRRME : RERK  RE
GSEeeRMEYE=Z T EEERZNEEERM
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Christopher Hui, Secretary
for Financial Services and the
Treasury of HKSAR Government:
Hong Kong is confident
to become the preferred
investment and financing
platform for green enterprises
and projects from overseas and
the Mainland China.

BB E BT E IS R
B#RRRITFET  BBEEDL
R AREIN N AR B MIER

HRORHATE

Danny Alexander, Vice President of Policy and Strategy of
AlIB: At least 50% of financing will be invested in projects
related to mitigation and adaptation of climate change by
2025.

DRITBEBRETREH : 520255 - §E£ED
50% FY AR E 1R E OB ME B R IR EMEMERIE R

Zhou Qiangwu, Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of the New
Development Bank, and Wang Yao, Dean of the International Institute
of Green Finance of the Central University of Finance and Economics,
delivered keynote speeches about green economy on Dual Synergy
of Digital Economy and Green Economy, the other ESG sub-
forum. Among which, they have discussed how emerging markets
and developing countries play a central role in promoting global
sustainable development, and shared three major functions of green
finance in resource allocation, risk management and market pricing,
as well as the development opportunities of green finance under the
dual carbon goals and the application of financial technology in green
finance. Long-term planning and incisive advice were also provided
for the strategic development of a future green economy.

Green Finance
and ESG under
the Dual Carbon
Goals

BB R T HAR
EEREESG

55 ESG DimiE R (BT AR L7
SRNE)  FHERTETRREFETHE
JESR I B R KR B4R 5 5 B BIRR A ST
RIENGERLBERRERES  JwmimE
WIS ME R BERKMAEHES 2R E
REEDRNE  DEREERAEEIRE
& BRERULTISEERN =K - I
RERABRTHREeSRNEREERSRT
REAETRPOER A RRREELHR
MBI BRI IR R A B REREEE -

Zhou Qiangwu, Vice President and Chief Executive Officer of
the New Development Bank: Emerging markets and developing
countries are the backbone of global sustainable development
MRBERTETRREFTHREARR - METSNERPBERE
HERRAHERRNFENE
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Wang Yao, Dean of the International Institute of Green Finance of
the Central University of Finance and Economics: The “dual-carbon”
target brings more investment opportunities. Green finance has three
functions of resource allocation, risk management and market pricing.
PREEAZGESRBIRMRRRTE  [€x] BIZERESZRE
il HESRABEREEE  BREERTSEBS =I5
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Earth Hour 2022: Lights-Out event was held at the Beijing
Phoenix Centre

In response to China's call for establishing a vision of our home
on earth co-developed by all countries in the world and protecting
biodiversity, the lights-out event of Earth Hour 2022 Shape Our
Future was grandly held at the Beijing Phoenix Centre on the evening
of March 26. The event was sponsored by the World Wide Fund
for Nature and One Earth Foundation, co-hosted by Phoenix TV, to
encourage governments at all levels, enterprises, public celebrities,
social organizations and individuals to carry out practical environmental
protection actions, as well as calling on the whole society altogether to
create a future of fairness, carbon-neutral and natural positive.

Pride on Our Plates
Roundtable Professional
Opinions on Waste

Management
Poster of Earth Hour 2022 [EARLHBEH] Bah
2022 #bEE—/ N B R B RMREIA
R #

SOCIAL CATEGORY

Company Policies on Employment, Occupational Safety,
Training and Labour Practices

In terms of employment and labour practices, the Group attaches
great importance to talents and adopts an employee-oriented policy,
by offering reasonable employment conditions, including salaries that
meet market standards, provident fund (also known as occupational
retirement scheme) or mandatory provident fund (MPF), working
hours, holidays, medical and other types of employee insurance,
a safe and healthy working environment, continuous professional
development and training for employees, internal recruitment,
diversified recreation and welfare (such as fitness room, basketball
court, tennis court, table tennis room, snooker room, barbecue area,
rest room, breastfeeding room in the HK headquarters), eye care
checkup plan for staff, employee stock option plan to attract and retain
talents. In addition, during the COVID-19 pandemic period, employees
are provided with vaccination leave, and group medical insurance is
used to provide employees with extended protection against side
effects of the COVID-19 vaccine to protect their health.

iy 2022
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The HK headquarters of the Group formulates and distributes Staff
Manual to each employee, stating company policies related to
employment, remuneration and welfare, employees’ duties and
work regulations, subsidy plans for staff training, employee relations
and communication and resignation, to clarify employees’ rights
and obligations during their service period. In addition, a series of
personnel policies have been formulated to protect employees’ equal
development opportunities and rights, such as the Recruitment Policy,
Internal Transfer Policy, Employee Retirement Policy and Code of
Ethics. Relevant Staff Manual and personnel policies are available for
employees to download on the Company'’s intranet.

The HK headquarters of the Group held a large-scale recruitment event
in October 2022, so as to recruit more professionals for the Group,
providing media industry with enormous job opportunities at different
levels and fulfilling corporate social responsibilities in an practical
manner during the period of anti-pandemic and economic recovery.

Large-Scale On-site Recruitment Event

REVREE R E)IR

Relevant Regulations on Employment, Occupational Safety
and Labour Practices

The Group is in strict compliance with the laws of Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Hong Kong Laws) (i.e. Labour Legislation),
as well as Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labor of the People's Republic of
China under the PRC Laws and other employment/labour and social
security related laws and regulations in the countries of operation,
including signing employment or labour contracts with employees
as required by laws and regulations, opposing discrimination on age,
gender and any other aspects, and prohibiting forced labour and child
labour to protect the legitimate rights and interests of employees. The
Group emphasises equal opportunities and workplace diversity. The
Group opposes discrimination and undertakes that the employment,
remuneration and promotion of its employees are determined
irrespective of their political stance, gender, age, sexual orientation,
marital status, religion, race, nationality or other social factors, to
ensure an equal opportunities working environment.
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Phoenix TV participating in the Large-Scale Recruitment Event
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Analysis on Employment EEBERST
As of 31 December 2022, the Group has 2,975 directly employed — #ZE2022512A31 0 - A& EHEM2,975

employees. The analysis by gender, employment type, age and HREZERMETI @ &5 - EFEEL - &
geographical region is disclosed as follows: BRAER RIEE D 2 HITHRELT -

1:1.116 94%

Male to Female Ratio Percentage of
EE Bzt fl Full-Time Employees
ZRESEIE

19% 24%

Turnover Rate of Turnover Rate of
Employess of Full-Time Employees of ()
HK Headquarters the Group
BEEFEEREE EEEZBESRAE

Social KPI B1.1 Social KPI B1.2
HEBRENIEEBL HEERERENIEEBL2
Number of employees as of Employee turnover rate
31 December 2022 in 2022
Relevant KPI Social KPI R20224612 8310 2022 FEREBF AL E
THEE B RERIEE HERRENEE BEAY
Total number of employees & 2 42 2{ 2,975 30%
e O (By gender) (3214 5IE %)
ﬂ * Total number of female employees Z 4 B8 &% 1,569 34%
Total number of male employees EHES 4 1,406 24%
(By employment type) FR{E(REEL &)%)
Full time 2% 2,803 24%
Part time i 172 70%
(By age group) (izFER4RIE 5 )
350rbelow 35U T 1,496 39%
36t045 36HZ455 886 18%
46 orabove 46EHLLE 593 15%
(By geographical region) (3&ith & 215 )
Hong Kong && 788 19%
Mainland China ®EI A% 2,083 34%
Overseas 5MEE 104 21%
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The Company currently has 2 female Directors out of 10 Directors,
which accounts for a female representation of 20% of the Board.
The Board will take opportunities to further promote gender diversity
when necessary and appropriate.

As at 31 December 2022, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce
(including senior management) was 47.3% male to 52.7% female.
The Company recognizes the importance of gender diversity at the
workforce level and will endeavor to ensure that there is gender
diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that it will
have a pipeline of female talent (including senior management) and
potential successors to the Board in near future to promote gender
diversity of workforce and the Board. As female representation in
senior/managerial roles throughout the industry and the pool of
qualified females keeps growing, the Company expects to have more
female members joining our workforce or qualified to sit on the Board
in due time. The Company considers that adequate gender diversity
has been achieved for the time being.

112
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Occupational Health and Safety

The Group ensures a safe working environment for its employees and
protecting its employees from occupational hazards by establishing
a set of technical guidelines and codes on the safe operation of
machineries and electronic equipment for program production. Fire
suppression systems in compliance with the local requirements
are also installed in each of the main offices and production and
broadcasting buildings of the Group. In addition to providing a
safe workplace and raising safety awareness, the headquarters
also maintains labor insurance and business travel insurance for
its employees, and promotes work-life balance. HK headquarters
is equipped with comprehensive sports and recreational facilities
to encourage staff members to exercise and engage a healthy life
style. A variety of health talks are also provided to employees by the
headquarters from time to time.

The social KPIs (B2.1 and B2.2) for health and safety are disclosed as

follows:

Social KPI
HERRENEE

Relevant KPI
HRRERERIEE

Total number of
employees in 2022

2022 FlR B

KPI B1.1

KPI B2.1
BTAH

three years (2020-2022)

KPI B2.1

b

KPI B2.2 ETIEEREMTIERH

3R 2022

Lost Days due to work-related injury

BiRfEREELE

AEEFTERREIIERENTS  #R
BRMREE - HME R 2RI B RUFHMK
HEFRETECHIE T ARRBMES &
SR e REBE T BEMARBBARITLE
HEKEEHMERAEIRMANERL - R TR
HLZE2NTERE  RREEINZE2EH
BENTRETEE TS TREMHHHERN
RIBETE] > WIRIETERAERTE - BB
REBETENBERERE  UEBET
LR RESOEENEELN - &
BT RE TRHETRBER O REEEE
FE o

VAN RSt i B 2 2 i+ B BA SR AR BUEIR
(B2.1 ] B2.2) HIIHE -

Data
&

2,975 person(s) A

The number of work-related fatalities in
the past three years (2020-2022)
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0 person(s) A

The fatality rate due to work in the past

0%

BE=F (20205-20224F) AL THH

214 day(s) H
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Development and Training R 5|

The Group offers occupational training to its employees to enhance  A&[E &8 TIREBMEEI - LIRAEIRE
their knowledge and skills for performing job duties. The Group has in ~ {TL{EBE AV A AL - REEFZBET
place a Staff Training and Sponsorship Program to subsidise full-time  #3IREBNETE] - A2BE TREER - &
employees who attend courses, seminars and workshops includinga B/EB T{EEE TR RREXERE
series of editorin-chief workshops for media majors, advertising and ~ EEIRIERIE « TIEYIkGERE - LIRS IERS
marketing training, listing rules compliance training, anti-corruption ~ BXEKRIBHFEEHERE - BEELHEE) - £
training that are beneficial to their work performance and future MR AEGHRITI - REFEINE « L TE
career development. The social KPIs (B3.1 and B3.2) for development  #t¥f 8 T3 R KA+t & BHRE BUER
and training of employees are disclosed as follows: (B3.1 %2 B3.2) Wy :

Employment (Year
opening plus new

Relevant social KPls By ender Number of Training hour joiners in 2022) Percentage of Average training
HELERE %tg;“ %J; employees trained EE%%JIIB;%S #BIESAH (2022F employees trained hours
BENER B ZIEEAY ; INERHEET) ZHESEI BEFHZIIEEY
A B C D=A/C E=B/C
Female
6,383 h
I o 861 person(s) A /J\H?”(S) 2,380 person(s) A 36% 2.68 hour(s) /)"
KPIB3.1& cdsi ]
KPI B3.2
4,360 h
Ma';;‘g;yees 650 person(s) A /J\H;”r(S) 1,849 person(s) A 35% 2.36 hour(s) |\
Employment (Year
opening plus new
Relevant social KPls By function Number of Training hours joiners in 2022) Percentage of Average training
HEERE éé‘w;j; employees trained Eﬁﬁéﬂlﬂﬁi #BIESAH (2022F employees trained hours
ENER " ZiEEBAH ’ INFERHEST) ZHESEIN EETHTIIRY
A B C D=A/C E=B/C
HK Headquarters
Management and
Risipee Umtt 23 person(s) A 321 hour(s)/\& 55 person(s) A 42% 5.84 hour(s) /)N
managemen
KPI B3.1 &
KPI B3.2
Middle
management 91 person(s) A 961 hour(s)/\&F 303 person(s) A 30% 3.17 hour(s) /)&
HEXE
G | staff 9,461 h
eg;;; - 1,397 person(s) A /J\qur(s) 3,871 person(s) A 36% 2.44 hour(s) /NE
] F

114 Annual Report 2022



REEREE (F) BRAT]

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HEREARS

Labour Practices

The Group forbids employment of children or forced labour such as
compulsory labour or bonded labour. The HK headquarters of the
Group reviews recruitment practices from time to time, and checks
the identity documents of all job applicants during the recruitment
process to ensure whether they have reached the age to be legally
employed. In addition, the Human Resources Department of the
Group also continuously monitors the compliance of the above-
mentioned labour practices in the operating units of the Group
through its human resources system. During the year, the Group had
no non-compliance cases relating to the recruitment of child labour or
forced labour.

Supply Chain Management and Product Responsibility

The Group is principally engaged in television broadcasting, internet
media and outdoor media businesses, hence corporate social
responsibilities in relation to supply chain management and physical
products are not relevant to the Group's core activities. Despite
this fact, the Group emphasises that it should not broadcast media
content including programme content and social media content
that is detrimental to the community and audience on its media
platforms, and should firmly uphold the code of conduct of the
media industry to safeguard the independence, diversity and morality
of media content, and also to protect intellectual property rights.
The Standards and Practices Department under the headquarters
of the Group is also responsible for ensuring that the broadcasted
programmes and advertising content strictly comply with and execute
the requirements of Non-Domestic Television Programme Service
Licence for broadcast content, as well as Hong Kong's current
Broadcasting Ordinance, Generic Codes of Practice on Television
and other relevant regulations, to ensure that none of the production
and broadcast involves violent, sexual and nude, and inappropriate
content for children, or is in breach of national security.
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Internal Control Procedures for Anti-corruption and Training

The Group is dedicated to its corporate social responsibilities of anti-
corruption. To achieve its goal, it has established and implemented
its own Corporate Governance Code and procedures to help its
employees to develop a clear understanding on the Company’s code
and procedures in relation to contract execution, conflict of interests,
solicitation, acceptance or offer of advantages and entertainment,
dealing with confidential information and insider dealings. In addition,
the Group has also set up a formal whistleblowing channel and
its employees may directly contact the independent internal audit
department of the Group (the Internal Audit Department will prepare
reports for the reference of the Audit Committee regularly) through
the established appeal channel mechanism in the event of rising
concerns about financial reporting, internal control, risk management
and other matters, or in the case of employee misconduct that may
harm the interests of the Group, such as offering and accepting
bribes, conflict of interests, insider dealings, blackmail, false
instruments, fraud, money laundering, stealing or disclosure of
company's confidential information and violation of professional
ethics.

For the anti-corruption training, the Group has engaged an external
law firm, Paul Hastings LLR to provide annual anti-corruption training
for the Board. In addition, the 2022 Annual Online Anti-corruption
Training to all staff of the HK headquarters office, co-initiated by
the Group’s Chief Executive Officer and the Group's Chief Financial
Officer and coordinated by the Group's Legal Department, was
carried out and completed in an orderly manner in the third quarter
of this year, in order to reinforce the corporate culture of integrity
that the Group has always emphasised and maintained. The number
of employees participating in the above anti-corruption training
for the year was 416, representing 54% of employees in the HK
headquarters, and the total training hours were approximately 624
hours. There were no concluded lawsuits in relation to corruption
against the Company or its employees for the year.
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT: SOCIAL
CONTRIBUTION AND PUBLIC WELFARE

Policy Guidelines for Community Involvement

In the areas of community involvement and charity, the Group makes
active efforts to understand and cater to the needs of the community,
and focuses on alleviating poverty, helping underprivileged children
in China, raising concerns about climate change, environmental
protection and conservation, and social phenomenon. It promotes
charity out of corporate social responsibilities by capitalising on its
advantages as a media company and its brand influence. Through its
omni-media platform, the Group produces and broadcasts objective,
just and credible programmes on public welfare, environmental
protection and social phenomena, and reports on public welfare
activities in order to promote the spirit of public good and reveal
social phenomena. It also makes substantial contributions to the
society by organizing various public welfare events (including forums,
charity dinners, donations and others) in a constant and proactive
manner.

Society and Environment Related Programmes

For programme production, Phoenix TV has produced and broadcasted
in the year various programme themes on public welfare, poverty
alleviation, environmental protection, conservation, social phenomena
and care for humanity, including aired on Phoenix Chinese Channel,
China Expert Robert Kuhn: Targeted Poverty Alleviation Program is
the Best Story to Undermine Biases About China (F Ef&e8 Z 5 /&
B EH B 2B $1E 7 7 iR (£30F) episode of Talk With World
Leaders; China's Targeted Poverty Alleviation Chronicle (£ EJf& &
#B47%) episode, China’s Targeted Poverty Alleviation Chronicle 11
(B fE EH B 47 %) episode, Protection of Mangroves (“FAZAT15)
episode, Funding Programs Of Left-behind Children in China (B)Z
BI85 episode, Marine Conservation Topic — Dive For Love (H/&4%
) episode, A Philanthropist Among Us (& # Z1#%Z% %) episode of
You Bring Charm To The World; Children at Risk (i24% 52 2) episode
series of Phoenix Panorama, China’s Poverty Fight (B 83 %F)
episode series, Low-Carbon China ({£#¢# E]) episode series of The
Great Era; Warning Signs of Extreme Weather (1% K 517 ZPZ5K)
episode of Chit Chat With Me; A Visit to Liangshan Blackhawks Team
(FRa5 R 1L JEF) episode, a feature film about poverty alleviation,
of China Insight; High Temperature Wreaking Havoc on the Northern
Hemisphere (5,8 £2/E1t + %) episode, Sweat and Tears of Agriculture
(FIFU B3 2%) episode, a feature film about food crisis, Olympic Winter
Games, Heading to a Green Future (X8 & 4% £2/A]k ) episode, a
topic on Olympic Winter Games green energy, of Zoom In; Develop
Green Energy, Demonstrate China’s Economic Strength (/E4% 55
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JR P B4R B 77) episode of Lawrence’s Viewpoint; and aired on
Phoenix InfoNews Channel, High Frequency of Heat Wave and Power
Shortages, China Strives to Develop Green Energy and Storage
(BEGRE L 4FE A% 47 EF5E) episode of China Financial
Intelligence; Davos Forum, Focus on Developing Sustainable Energy
(K Hram e B R 35 A #5458 58)F) episode of Phoenix Focus; and
aired on Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, Plastic Bag Charge Increases
(B£E7 1118) episode, a topic on environmental protection policy, of
Hong Kong Perspectives.

[RARENRAE — PEBERERME
B (BEEHME) EXHHE FEH
BEARERR] 7 BEAREEANC(E
B RRBREE [BREMNE] B

o
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China s Targeted Poverty Alleviation Chronicle Il episode
of You Bring Charm To The World

(ERERMEE) [FEBERELEI] R

China s Targeted Poverty Alleviation Chronicle episode of You Bring Charm
To The World

(ERERMEE) [FREERELE] B

A Philanthropist
Among Us
episode of You
Bring Charm To
The World

(ERAMRMERE)
[RAZERRE]
=

High Temperatures Wreaking Havoc on the Northern
Hemisphere episode of Zoom In

(BRZE) [SRRELYR] R
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Protection of Mangroves
episode of You Bring

Charm To The World
(EARARMERE) [ <7
4t BB

High Frequency of Heat Wave and Power Shortages,
China Strives to Develop Green Energy and Storage

episode of China Financial Intelligence

(PEIREHE) [RARERIRE FEENFERHEE]

]

Children at Risk episode
series of Phoenix Panorama

(BRXREF) [BERE]
Bl

Light of Red Cross — Australian Charity Volunteer David James
Begbie episode of My Hong Kong Story
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Olympic Winter Games Heading to a Green Future episode of

Zoom In
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Low-Carbon China (Ill):
Green Living episode
series of The Great Era
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Strategic Cooperation with UNESCO on cultural heritage
protection and human culture diversity

In respect of the strategic cooperation between Phoenix TV and
the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation
(UNESCO), after the successful implementation of the five-
year strategic cooperation agreement for 2012-2017, Phoenix TV
and UNESCO entered into a new five-year strategic cooperation
agreement in September 2019, during the term of which Phoenix
TV would donate US$1.5 million to UNESCO for relevant cultural
projects. Pursuant to the agreement, both parties will continue to
cooperate extensively and intensively in areas such as promoting
cultural heritage protection for countries along the Belt and Road and
facilitating human cultural diversity.

Chinese Charity: Compassion Award Ceremony

On 11 December 2022, the 17th Compassion Award Ceremony 2022,
organised by the Hong Kong and Macao Taiwanese Charity Fund
and co-organised and produced and broadcasted by Phoenix TV, was
held simultaneously in Hong Kong and Beijing and aired on Phoenix
Chinese Channel, Phoenix Hong Kong Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News & Entertainment Channel, Phoenix North America Chinese
Channel, ifeng.com, Fengshows APP and Phoenix official social
platform accounts locally and abroad. Role models for Chinese charity
have been selected all over the globe wherever Chinese reside in,
showing our boundless love. Chinese people and businessmen all
around the world were gathered to make the charity dream come
true. Eight charity role models were selected for Compassion Award
in 2022 with due care by other judges led by Elsie Leung, the former
Secretary for Justice of the Hong Kong SAR Government.

Compassion Award Ceremony
[0 82 ] (RERHUE
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Xu Wei, the Chairman and CEO, said in his speech that Phoenix TV
is honoured to join side by side with the Compassion Award team
and the community in supporting the Chinese all around the globe.
Phoenix TV will continue to stay loyal to the purpose of charitable
work. With the all-around media platform that covers the globe, we
endeavour to innovate new ways of communication that humbly
praises the Chinese hospitality and spread boundless love, so that
love and warmth can endure and reach every corner of the Chinese
community at home and overseas.

Supporting the fight against the pandemic in Hong Kong

The Group has been actively supporting Hong Kong's efforts against
the pandemic since the fifth wave of the pandemic. Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel and Fengshows donated a total of 100,000 N95 masks
to assist the Hong Kong community.

Fengshows has successfully applied for the “Caring Company”
logo granted by Caring Company Scheme on behalf of the Company
through “2022 Fengshows and Heep Hong Society Fight Against
COVID-19 Campaign"”

Anti-pandemic supplies to support Hong Kong
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Forever Happiness

Forever Happiness is a large-scale branding and charity event of ifeng.
com, an Internet platform under the Group. It aims at uniting Chinese
all over the world for their attention to the survival, health, education
and future development of underprivileged children in China, calling
for more contributions from all sectors of society, reinforcing the idea
of public welfare. Since 2007, Forever Happiness has unremittingly
organized a total of 22 Charity Nights and has raised donations of
over RMB227 million. It has cooperated with over 10 large-scale
charity organisations around the world and has supported various
charity projects for children which cover all the provinces in China,
resulting in over 670,000 children benefiting from such projects.

Forever Happiness has organised various online and offline specific
charity projects, including the “Children Protection” project which
promotes the development of care and aid service for seriously
ill children; “Benefiting the Children” project which promotes the
medical and health service in underdeveloped areas; “Charity
Night” that raises money for children through events such as
auctions; “Children Leading Adults (/N FHIAF)" — a waste-sorting
collaboration project between family, school and community that
practices low-carbon environmental protection work.

Works on Child Protection: Children Protection Project

“ifeng.com & Sister Chiling: Children Protection Project” was jointly
initiated by ifeng.com and Ms. Lin Chiling since 2018, and is a charity
project covered by ifeng.com Special Charity Fund. ifeng.com Special
Charity Fund was established in 2016 and is a special fund under
China Charities Aid Foundation for Children. This project mainly
provides growth assistance, medical subsidies, and psychological
counseling for children in need. In 2022, the Children Protection
Project continued to cooperate with The First Affiliated Hospital of
Tsinghua University and Beijing Tongren Hospital Affiliated to Capital
Medical University to provide relief funds for children with heart
and eye diseases (the donation is provided by ifeng.com Special
Charity Fund). In 2022, a total of 66 children in need from provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions including Guangxi, Yunnan,
Guizhou, and Hunan were rescued, 62 of whom had abnormal heart
rate (hospital: The First Affiliated Hospital of Tsinghua University), 1
of whom with retinal detachment (hospital: Beijing Tongren Hospital),
2 of whom with AIDS complications (hospitals: The First Hospital
of Changsha and Heze Infectious Diseases Hospital of Shandong),
and 1 of whom with juvenile dermatomyositis (hospital: Children’s
Hospital Capital Institute of Pediatrics), with a total donation of
RMB1,173,947.49.
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Children Protection Project focuses on the mental health needs
of children, teenagers and their families during the pandemic. In
July 2020, the Parent-child Psychological Assistance Center was
established to provide psychological assistance services for children,
teenagers and their families, services of which including but not
limited to public welfare live broadcasts, air classroom, admission
talks and psychological counseling. As of the fourth quarter of 2022,
this project has directly served 180,271 persons and indirectly served
34.856 million persons, covering 21 provinces and cities across the
country, including Beijing, Shanghai, Hubei, Henan, Macau, Fujian,
and Guizhou. Among them, 2,573 hours of online and offline free
psychological counseling were provided for 528 families (1,584
persons); online mental health “air classroom” for primary and middle
school students were launched in over 100 primary and secondary
schools across the country, and its online courses recorded over 6.29
million views; and a number of well-known domestic psychological
education experts were also invited to hold a number of large-
scale popular science talks and public welfare psychological live
broadcasts, 65 short videos of popular science on topics such as
parent-child exercises, hand washing exercises, meditation relaxation
and emotional adjustment were recorded, reaching a total viewership
of 4.816 million views.

Parent-child psychological assistance
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Pink Logo of “ifeng.com and Sister Chiling Protecting
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Brochure of Parent-child Psychological Assistance Center
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Activist League Charity Platform of ifeng.com

The Activist League launched by ifeng.com in 2016, aims at
establishing a charity event platform for the mutual aid and
cooperation among charitable organisations, creative industries,
celebrities and caring companies, and through the platform providing
extra media resources and corporate support to the charitable
parties. Meanwhile, the platform also gathers and selects from all
sectors of the society innovative charity projects which are suitable
for dissemination through new media, covering multiple areas such
as caring for autistic children, environmental protection and animal
protection, etc. In the past 6 years, Activist League has launched a
series of solutions focusing on wildlife protection and child safety
issues, such as the Tape Pledge and Brave Babe, which did not only
win awards both at home and abroad, and facilitate the spread of
the social design concept in China, but also earned high recognition
from the United Nations through promoting the practice of the United
Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals in China and around the
world. Girls Protection, an important project of the Activist League,
has brought children sexual abuse prevention and puberty health
education courses to 31 provinces of the country, covering nearly 3
million children and over 0.5 million parents. In June 2022, the Activist
League platform also held the Corporate and Social Responsibility
and Innovation Forum event in Beijing.

Corporate and Social Responsibility and Innovation Forum event by
Activist League

TRHEHBRLCE L SR ERANRE

On 15th December 2022, 2022 Activist League Charity Grand Ceremony
hosted by ifeng.com was held online. The Top 10 Figures of the Year,
the Top 10 Ideas of the Year, the Top 10 Projects of the Year, the Top 10
Enterprises of the Year, the Best Popular Award of the Year, the Special
Contribution Award, and the Four Celebrity Philanthropists Award were
announced. Also, the Action Award for Rural Revitalisation was awarded
for the first time to recognise individuals, projects and organisations that
have contributed to the realisation of diverse rural values during the year
of rural revitalisation.
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Promoting Gender Equality

On 19 July 2022, The Influence of Women e 2022 ifeng.com Influence
of Women Award hosted by ifeng.com was held in Beijing. The event
includes keynote speeches, summit forum and award ceremony.
The event aims to discover and foster more “She Power” of women
through dissemination and recognition of the power of female role
models in various fields, so that gender equality is no longer just
“Women’s Business” We look forward to working with the public to
usher in a more inclusive and equal society.

ifeng.com has launched the “1/100 Project” in collaboration with
Weibo (Weibo bloggers) since 10th February 2022, in order to carry
forward the spirit of women in this era, look for more “She Power”
around us, and show the diversity of female presence. The event
aims to demonstrate the presence of women who brave the wind
and waves through the stories of female characters, and to guide
the society to pay attention to the realistic plight of women who
are defined, judged, weakened and abandoned. The stories of such
female character cover various fields such as industry and commerce,
finance, education, military, culture, public welfare, health, fashion,
etc. In 2022, we have interviewed representative women such as
Yang Lan, Deng Yapping, Zhou Wenjing, Guo Wenyan, Deqing Yuzhen,
Gao Fangxia and Jiang Shengnan.

2022 Girls Protection Forum of Deputies to the NPC and
CPPCC

In order to better promote the construction of child protection mechanisms
such as preventing children from sexual abuse, the charity channel of ifeng.
com (http://gongyi.ifeng.com), together with Beijing All in One Foundation
and CFCAC co-hosted 2022 Girls Protection Forum of Deputies to the NPC
and CPPCC on 2 March 2022. Various deputies to the National People's
Congress, members of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, and officials of relevant departments
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of the Office for the Protection of Minors under The State Council, the
Supreme People’s Procuratorate, the Communist Youth League, and
experts in child protection attended the forum to discuss the topic of
preventing children from sexual abuse and solve the problem together.
More than 150 media journalists attended and reported the forum online,
and more than 1.6 million viewers watched the live broadcasting.

2022 Girls Protection Forum of Deputies to the NPC and CPPCC
2022 LERE| 2EARHKKE B RERT

Carbon Neutrality ® Community Neighborhood Garbage
Reduction Day (Event Name: “Children Leading Adults”)

Since 2021, ifeng.com has been cooperating with the China Charities
Aid Foundation for Children and our sponsor Aramco Asia to carry out
the “Children Leading Adults” educational and charity project to promote
environmental protection to schools and families, and helping children to
improve their environmental awareness regarding waste reduction and
sorting. This project aims to start with children and eventually extends to
the whole family, through the theme of “Children Leading Adults’ and
promote sustainable development in the community.

From June to November 2022, ifeng.com held the ifeng.com “Children
Leading Adults” Xiamen Garbage Sorting event in Huli District, Xiamen
City. Such event also includes a series of activities, such as “Community
Neighborhood Garbage Reduction Day and Theme Exhibition” and
“Science Popularization for the Community and School Campus’’ Such
exhibitions and series of activities are directed by Xiamen City Garbage
Sorting Center, jointly organised by Huli District Party Committee
Civilization Office, Huli District Education Bureau, Huli District Jiangtou
Sub-district Office and ifeng.com and supported by our sponsor
Aramco Asia, which advocated a green, low-carbon and sustainable
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lifestyle through fun garden tours, themed lectures, and performances A= ' BEMERE 200 ZFH/NE - 57
regarding environmental protection, covering more than 200 primary C BV RARESIR S HERE - S
and secondary schools and kindergartens in the Huli District, helping to  EXBAFFE - BREFREITIRE ©
improve the accuracy of campus garbage sorting and working together

to create a civilised, clean, tidy and orderly living environment.

China Charities Aid Foundation for Children and Phoenix TV cooperating with Aramco Asia to hold the “Children Leading Adults”
Xiamen Garbage Sorting” educational charity event

HEZERENDESS  BEHREBMEDMNRE [NFREAF | BFIRERSBHE RmER

Achievement of “Children Leading Adults” Waste Reduction Medal
["NFRRTF | KRER SR HEENE

Turning Waste into Resources exhibition

NI EREREERR

The Charity Channel of ifeng.com BEME AR IEE
The charity channel (http://gongyi.ifeng.com) on the Group's internet  AA&EE [BEA] AR T [BEBAZEA

portal ifeng.com is an online charity platform for the continuous  #& ] (http://gongyi.ifeng.com) = 1E R A& A
broadcasting of public welfare information. It features news on major @ ¥ & @ FESERZEN  WES A A=
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charity events, interpretation and discussion of public welfare policies
in the form of salons, forums and charity self-media, as well as
organisation and promotion of charity events.

Large Outdoor LED Panel Displaying Charity Promotion

The Group's outdoor media (large outdoor LED panel display
advertising business) and its related business unit (Phoenix
Metropolis Media) are both leveraging its own advantages in outdoor
media to reach the mainstream crowd of major cities, as well as
assisting the relevant departments of the Mainland government and
various charity cooperative business partners to display public service
advertisements and publicity videos involving public welfare and
positive energy, which became the driving force of our sustainable
social value contribution with an aim to reach more people. In 2022,
Phoenix Metropolis Media has used LED panel to display a total of
22,473 hours of public service advertisements.

LED panel located at New Hualian Mansion, Huaihai
Road (M), Shanghai

G5 BB B E R R E R LED F &

LOOKING AHEAD

The Group will continue to fulfill its corporate social responsibilities
and its beliefs on environmental protection while pursuing higher
business performance and value maximisation for the Shareholders.
Capitalising on its media advantages, the Group will strive to exert its
influence as a role model in society, better undertake its obligations
on public welfare and environmental protection, and create excellent
media credibility through its care for humanity and sense of social
responsibilities. This report was prepared in strict compliance with
the disclosure requirements under Appendix 27 Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange. Any feedback regarding this report is welcome and could
be sent to esg@phoenixtv.com.

Appendix: The Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide Index of the Stock Exchange
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P 8% -
AWM EECIRED

B (RE - HERE

Index Content &3|AA ‘

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements 3 &/ B8 &

— Disclosure of the Board's °
oversight on ESG issues;
FEESSHESGEEMNEE ;

— The Board’s ESG management °

approach and strategy; and
EEGHESG EIR & KRR .
&

Relevant Chapters BB Z &

The Concept of Sustainable
Development

AHEREES

ESG Risk Assessment

ESG Rk T h

ESG Governance Structure (Board
statement)

Board ) —  How the Board reviews progress ESGERLEE (EEE2EH)
Mandatory Disclosure . -
?taterrlent 2o B made against .ESG—reIated gc?als o Supervision of ESG Matters
EEeBP and targets with an explanation ESGEEEE
of how they relate to the issuer’s o ESG Management Policies
business and Strategies
EF 2L ESG 1A B IZiaE ESG BIR 71 KRR A%
EE - WREFETMAEETA o ESGTargets, Progress Review
¥BEWE and Business Relevance
ESG BIR - #ERR R EKEH
=t
An explanation on, or a description e Reporting Principles
of, the application of the relevant FER R Al
reporting principles in the e Materiality Assessment
Reporting ) preparation of the ESG report EE MY
Principles Manda;;r%\ﬁ;;closure RIS E R ESG MER AT o  Environmental Category
R A = FAIERAE SRR A B

o Application of Quantitative
Reporting Principles

ELERR M

Reporting Scope
e

Mandatory Disclosure

58 Il R

A narrative explaining the reporting °
boundaries of the ESG report and
describing the process used to
identify which entities or operations
are included in the ESG report. If
there is a change in the reporting
scope, the issuer should explain the
difference and reason for the change
FRIZESG MBI EMEE - Kbk
EIPLE T B TS M A ESG S BB
12 o BIEREE G FTEE - BITARE
RETE . EREDRER

Reporting Scope
FE 22 865 (]
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A. Environmental Aspect B 5 ik

—RRIKE

A1

Al
Emissions

B a1

A15

General Disclosure

Index Content &5 AR

Comply or Explain &7 7 fE 18

Information on: (a) the policies;

and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to waste air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste
ERERSOREREEBEN - kRt
WP AERESEEYNES
% (@) BER : K (b) BFHEITAR
BRYENERERENERNER

The types of emissions and
respective emission data

BERIIER R AR R BE R EUR

Direct and energy indirect
greenhouse gas emissions (in tons)
and intensity
HEMBEREERAEREINE (JA
WRETH) REE

Total hazardous waste produced (in
tonnes) and intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility)
FEAXEEEEYEE (UEHE)
Ef@gﬁ (WABES B - BIERE
Al

Total non-hazardous waste produced
(in tonnes) and intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per
facility)

FrEEmEREEYES (UEE)
REE (WMABES B - BEKE
FTE)

Description of emission target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them

R PTET e BE i E B B R AERE
Lt B IR PTERER ) P 5%

Description of how hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of
reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them
HEBEENBEEEZYN S
VA - RARPTE] SRV EE B R RS
EF|E L B IR ER A PR

Relevant Chapters 8B Z &

Environmental Protection Policies
S EIRIRBGR

Relevant Environmental Protection
Laws and Regulations

MHERREREMR

Data Collection for Emissions and
Resource Usage

PER R BRI SR M &

Air Pollutants: Emission Data of
Nitrogen Oxides, Sulfur Oxides
and Particulate Matters
Z=R5RY - REY - A
B8 TR BE R

Carbon emissions: Direct and
Energy Indirect Greenhouse Gas
Emissions

TREER - B REREERERE
HERR

Waste Management
REEME IR

Waste Management
EEYERR

Emission Targets
PHERR
Beijing Phoenix Centre possessed
international LEED Platinum
Certification as a green building
IRERFRMERGEEERER
BR LEED $HE R &

Waste Management
BERYER
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Index Content &5 AR ‘ Relevant Chapters 1B = &7
A. Environmental Aspect B 5 &1k
Policies on the efficient use of e Environmental Protection Policies
resources, including energy, R BIRIRBUR
water and other raw materials.
Note: Resources may be used in
General Disclosure production, storage, transportation,
—RRHER buildings, electronic equipments, etc
BRFERAER (BIEEIR - KREA
MR BIBER
* BRUAREE - #fF - 88 -
BF  BYRES
Direct and indirect energy e Energy consumption
consumption by type (e.g. electricity, RERFER
gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and
intensity (e.g. per unit of production
A2.1 volume, per facility)
ARSI S EE REEER (10
B f2ol) BFEE ATETRER
HE) REE (MAESESENT -
BFeETE)
Water consumption in total and e \Water consumption
intensity (e.g. per unit of production FKE
A2 A2.2 volume, per facility)
Use of BRKBREE MASES S -
Resources BIEREAE
IR A
Description of energy use efficiency e Energy consumption
target(s) set and steps taken to BEIRFEE
achieve them
A23 I FTE] LRI RE A B2 %A o  Beijing Phoenix Centre possessed
- FEDE L B IRFTER A B international LEED Platinum
Certification as a green building
IEREBRFRMERGEEERER
¥R LEED <& RE
Description of whether there is any e \Water consumption
issue in sourcing water that is fit for FEKE
purpose, water efficiency target(s)
A24 set and steps taken to achieve them e  Beijing Phoenix Centre possessed
o F 3 SR A KR AT A R RE - international LEED Platinum
LA R Fra] Sz 9 Rk s B AR R A R Certification as a green building
B B R ATERE ) 5 IERERFRMERGEEERER
B} LEED $H€ R &
Total packaging materials used for e Amount of packaging materials
finished products (in tonnes) and used in finished products
A2.5 with reference to per unit produced B ATAREMEE
XM BEMEEE (NG
H) RBEEBMLE
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A. Environmental Aspect B 5 ik

A3 — AR
The
Environment
and Natural
Resources
BARFAER e

General Disclosure

Index Content Z3|AR

Comply or Explain &7 7 fE 18

Policies on minimizing the

issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources
BIREITABRERRRERENE
R BHBR

Description of the significant impacts
of activities on the environment and
natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them

HIL S BB HIRE R RAE R E
ARERDENEEEBTZENTH

Relevant Chapters 8B Z &

Environmental Protection Policies

RERRBE

Impacts on the Environment and
Natural Resources

HRENARERNTE

—RIE

Ad

Climate Change
FIREL

A4

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and

mitigation of significant climate-

related issues which have impacted,

and those which may impact the

issuer

R LB B A R AT e B BT AE
FENBRRREAEENECR

Description of the significant
climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may
impact the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them
BRI g HBETAEETE
MEXNRERBEE RELTTE

Climate Change

RIERE L

o Phoenix TV and World Wide
Fund for Nature (WWF) co-
hosted Zero Carbon Mission
Internation Climate Summit
2022

BEAREERERES

(vvvvF) BE& E 3T [2022 THxfE
wEEREFEES |

o Sub-forums of 2022 Phonenix
Financial Forum for the
Greater Bay Area: "Green
Finance and ESG under the
Dual Carbon Goals” and “Dual
Synergy of Digital Economy
and Green Economy”
[ Bl E& % Bt &8 5mi8 2022 ] 5
wiE  [BREETHEES
B ESG] & [ FACE B4R
AL IZNE |

o Earth Hour 2022: Lights-Out
event was held at the Beijing
Phoenix Centre
HER—/|\EF 2022 1BIETEEIRA
bR E R OERTT
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Index Content Z3|AR ‘ Relevant Chapters 8B Z &
B. Social Aspect 1 &£
Information on compensation e Company policies on employment,
and dismissal, recruitment and occupational safety, training and
promotion, working hours, leave, labour practices
equal opportunity, diversity, ERE  BELE - FEIIRBIER
anti-discrimination and other benefits B A BIBR
and welfare:
ERFMNRE  BEREA - TfE o  Relevant regulations on
RE - BRE - FERKE SRt R employment, occupational safety
General Disclosure SR KA RATB BRI - and Iabou‘r FiaCtiC?,.S, N
e B B% - Bz e k4 TAERKERE
(@)  the policies; and V5,
B K
(b)  compliance with relevant laws
B1 and regulations that have
Employment a significant impact on the
Ef% issuer
BTHBEITABERTEMIE
AR KRB ER
Total workforce by gender, e Analysis on employment
employment type (e.g. full-time EBEBRS
B11 or part-time), age group and
o geographical region
IR - EREAE (2 BsIER) -
FAR R K= E 9 ) fE B 4288
Employee turnover rate by gender, e Analysis on employment
. age group and geographical region ERBERST
o RIER - FiRAER NSt B DEES
TR &
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B. Social Aspect # & &k

B2
Health and

Safety
RS

Index Content Z3|AR

General Disclosure

—RRIKE

B.2.1

B.2.2

B.2.3

Information on: (a) the policies;

and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting
employees from occupational
hazards
ERRMZE2THERERRERE R
REFEEEEM : () BEE : K (b) &
THEBEITABERZENEBRERER
ROIEE R

Number and rate of work-related
fatalities occurred in each of the past
three years including the reporting

year
BE=F (BREERFE) BFET
THEAB R

Lost days due to work injury

ETEBERTIERR

Description of occupational health
and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and
monitored

FM P ER A ) B S R PR B 2 2 B
AR ABRAFIT MBS R T 0A

Relevant Chapters 8B Z &

Comply or Explain &7 7 fE 18

Company policies on employment,
occupational safety, training and
labour practices

&% - BrZ s - JI KL% TR
BN AR

Relevant regulations on
employment, occupational safety
and labour practices

B1% - Bz e k& TAERKERE
VAR

Occupational health and safety

BEREAZE

Occupational health and safety
BEMEEETS

Occupational health and safety
BEMEEREETS
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Index Content &5 AR

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’
knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of
training activities. Training refers to
vocational training. It may include
internal and external courses paid by

Comply or Explain &7 7 fE 18

B. Social Aspect # & &k

Relevant Chapters 8B Z &

Company policies on employment,
occupational safety, training and
labour practices

% - Brz s - JJI KL% TR
BN AIBER

WA ERERERNRERERIER
FRERER &Y 2758

RS the employer Development and Training
AR EERITIEBRENME X R R IE T
RREEHIER - fUBIES - IR
BEEY - P EEREENENAN
B3 e
Development
and Training The percentage of employees Development and Training
R R trained by gender and employee TR KIE
category (e.g. senior management,
B.3.1 )
middle management)
RIERIREERER (WERERE -
RRERE) SoNXIEEBS L
The average training hours Development and Training
completed per employee by gender R &I
B.3.2 and employee category
BRI REEERES - BREST
Pl RS alist =4
Information on preventing child and Company policies on employment,
forced labour: occupational safety, training and
BRAD = Tekaghlss Ta - labour practices
BE  BELd - FIIRSITER
(a)  the policies; and #)A RIBUR
General Disclosure B R )
eEE . . Relevant regulations qn
(b)  compliance with relevant laws employment, occupational safety
and regulations that have and labour practices
a significant impact on the BIE  BEL2RSTAERKNAR
B4 issuer VAR
Lot BTHRTABEAR B
Standards PR RIRDIM AR
e
HIRA Description of measures to review Labour Practices
employment practices to avoid child & TR
B.4.1 and forced labour
fatig s BB E AR R ET
Raglss T
Description of steps taken to Labour Practices
eliminate such practices when 2T 2R
B.4.2 discovered
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B. {2 &R

B5
Supply Chain
Management

MR

Index Content &5 AR ‘ Relevant Chapters 1B = &7

Comply or Explain &7 7 f 18

Policies on managing e Supply chain management and
General Disclosure environmental and social risks of product responsibility
— R the supply chain HrEsEEIE ERET

EEHEENRE R ERRBOR

Number of suppliers by

B.5.1 geographical region
iR E S EREE

Description of practices relating
to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are
being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored
HEREREERAEN - mE
BITEREFIMHEREE - UKk
MHRRITRERRE

B.5.2

Description of practices used to
identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and
how they are implemented and
monitored

H LA BRI e S T (AR R IR
R ERREED - A KRB
TRERTE

B.56.3

Description of practices used

to promote environmentally

preferable products and services

when selecting suppliers, and
B.54 how they are implemented and

monitored

HEBGE HERRE R Z IRIR

Em M REEMED] - A RABEBIT

REERFE
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B. {2 &R

B6
Product
Responsibility
EmEE

Index Content &5 AR

General Disclosure

—RRIE

B.6.1

B.6.2

B.6.3

B.6.4

B.6.5

Information on health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of
remedies:
BRAFTIR M E AR TG ) i BR B %2
2 BE BHEERLBEEURMA
ROTER

(a)  the policies; and
BE: &

(b)  compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on

the issuer
BTHETABERTEN
MEREE AR

Percentage of total products sold
or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons
EEREREXEMEEFELEH
R mMARWME DL

Number of complaints received
which are products and service
related and how they are dealt
with

BN E M KRB HIREFE B A
KRS 7%

Description of practices relating
to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights

Tt B 4 TR RS AN EE R S A Y
=

Description of quality assurance
process and recall procedures
il E S8 1872 N E mm BIE e

Description of consumer data
protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented
and monitored

1 E B B B RHRIE R AL IR
A RAEREENIT RER A

Relevant Chapters 8B Z &

Comply or Explain &7 7 fE 18

Supply chain management and

product responsibility
HrEEERNEREE
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Index Content &5 AR ‘ Relevant Chapters 1B = &7

Comply or Explain &7 7 f 18

B. {2 &R

Information on bribery, extortion, e |nternal control procedures for
fraud and money laundering: anti-corruption and training
BEAPIERERS - B - BGFRER RE)FAEEREFr K E

BH

(a) the policies; and
General Disclosure 1206 N
—Me B

(b) compliance with relevant laws
and regulations that have
a significant impact on the
issuer.
BTHETARERTENIE
BEE RARPIEE R

Number of concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices
B7 brought against the issuer or its
Anti-corruption employees during the reporting
RES B.71 period and the outcomes of the
cases
RERPRHFTASHESRD
WEEAENE SHARGEE &
FantER

Description of preventive
measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are
implemented and monitored
Py e e R AR T - PAKAR
BT REER A

B.7.2

Description of anti-corruption
training provided to directors and
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of Phoenix
Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to
submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group” or "Phoenix”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business is set out on pages 7 to 11 of this
report entitled “Business Overview and Prospects” (the “Business
Overview"”). The Board is satisfied that the Business Overview
together with the financial and non-financial information contained
in this section is a fair description of the Group’s business and the
external environment in which the Group operates, consistent with
the scope of the consolidated financial statements and dealing
evenhandedly with both the favorable and adverse factors. In 2022,
Phoenix has successfully implemented the business strategies of
complete revampification, innovative broadcasting channels and
resource integration, thereby effectively improving broadcasting
capabilities. During the year, Phoenix focused on enhancing its
omni-media communication matrix, continued to promote its
synergistic operating strategies of integrating the operation of its
television broadcasting, internet media, outdoor media, magazines
and App, accelerated and expanded the full distribution and
coverage domestically and internationally, and expanded large-scale
international events. Due to the sluggish global economy, Hong
Kong and the mainland were greatly affected by the repetitious
outbreaks of the pandemic during the year, Phoenix faced various
difficulties in its operations such as shrinking advertising budgets
and obstruction of offline events. Internet media and outdoor
media have also experienced unprecedented difficulties. However,
Phoenix's integrated marketing strategy has gradually paid off, and
television advertising sector had showed rebound. The Group's
revenue from television broadcasting business for the year increased
by 53.2% year-on-year. Although internet media has experienced
special difficulties, and the key industries in advertising, offline
implementation and revenue have been greatly affected, Phoenix
still successfully stabilized traffic and achieved substantial growth
in key indicators such as adhesiveness of users. Our outdoor
media business remained resilient and profitable as usual. The
Board believes that the key to Phoenix's future prospects lies in its
revampification to an omni-media operation. As Phoenix focuses
more on its core media business, strengthens content operations,
and continues to implement the 2023 revampification measures
such as comprehensively integrated marketing and sales, deepening
interactions between television broadcasting and the internet,
innovating communication channels, and enhancing Cantonese
language broadcast. The Board is confident in the future development
of the Group.
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The “Comments on Segmental Information” set out on pages 43 to
44 and "Liquidity and Financial Resources” set out on page 46 of
this report provide analysis of the amounts of revenue, the results of
business segments and gearing ratio of the Group. The operating loss
ratio of the Group, based on the loss from operations to revenue, was
12.6% as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021: 20.5%).
The current ratio of the Group, based on current assets to current
liabilities, was 2.1 as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31 December
2021: 2.1). The Group's earnings before interest expenses, taxes,
depreciation, and amortisation EBITDA was HK$899,000 as at 31
December 2022 (as at 31 December 2021: LBITDA HK$98,845,000).
Please refer to the consolidated income statement and Note 7 to
the financial statements for the underlying data for calculation of the
EBITDA.

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group include the
People's Republic of China (the “PRC") regulatory restrictions on
the reception and rebroadcasting of foreign satellite television
programs and PRC regulatory controls on foreign media content and
transmission modes. The Group has implemented measures such
as enhancing programme content diversification and developing
new transmission channels to mitigate the aforesaid risks as risk
responses. In addition, on a technical level, for the risk management
of safe broadcast, Phoenix is equipped with a reliable generator set
and an uninterruptible power supply system to ensure stable power
supply during programme production and broadcast as well as power
supply for relevant system server units. The proper function of the
news system and storage system are also closely monitored for 24
hours a day.

Furthermore, there is another principal risk that if PRC regulatory
authorities implement prohibition against the variable interest entity
(the “VIE") structure in China, the internet media and education
businesses operated by the Group through the VIE structure in China
will be affected. Please refer to pages 183 to 187 of this report for
the description of the major risks associated with the VIE contractual
arrangements within the Group.
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Other main risks include the risk of lacking licences for the internet
media business (which has been fully disclosed in the 20F financial
statements announced publicly by Phoenix New Media Limited
("PNM"), a subsidiary of the Company, whose shares are listed by
way of American Depositary Shares on the New York Stock Exchange
in the United States, and the delisting risk faced by PNM after formal
implementation of the Foreign Company Accountability Act by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC"). However, with
the signing and implementation of the U.S.-China Audit Oversight
Cooperation Agreement, the U.S. Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (the “PCAOB") issued a report on 15 December
2022 stating that it had been given full authority to inspect and
investigate China Concept Stocks for the first time and announced
the withdrawal of recognition of non-compliant accounting firms.
Meanwhile, the SEC announced that, pending the issuance of any
new resolution by the PCAOB, listed companies in the U.S. are no
longer at risk of being subject to the prohibition of securities trading
under the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act. Accordingly,
the systemic external policy risk of PNM's delisting from the U.S.
stock market has been significantly reduced than before.

The Group's business performance and business risks arising from
the challenges of internet and media evolution are discussed in the
section of “Business Overview” of this report. Besides, the Group's
day-to-day activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, remittance risk, interest
rate risk, pricing risk, significant fluctuation in fair values, etc.), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s financial risk management and
controls are set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 248 to 266 of this report. The above is not intended to be
an exhaustive list of all principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group. The risk profile may change over time as new risks and
uncertainties emerge and others cease to be of concern.

The Board closely monitors the above risks and uncertainties in view
of the fact that any adverse change of these risks and uncertainties
would have a material negative effect on the Group’s business,
financial condition and the results of operations. Discussion of
the Group's systems of risk management and internal control are
presented in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 74 to 79
of this report.

The Group regards employees as one of its valuable assets. In
addition to complying with all relevant labor laws and regulations and
having a reasonable remuneration system, the Group also adopted
measures, including the provision of a variety of employee benefits
and employee training, to attract and retain talents. Details of the
relationship between the Group and employees are set out on pages
47 to 48 of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” and on pages
109 to 115 in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of
this report.
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Advertisers and advertising agencies (the “"Advertisers”), Phoenix
viewers, Phoenix Weekly readers, as well as website and mobile
App users (collectively referred to as the "Audience Groups”) are
all major customers of the Group. Phoenix's programmes have been
favored by corporate executives and business elites for many years.
The quality content and immense Audience Groups of the Group’s
television programmes, weekly magazines, websites and App provide
Advertisers with effective publicity and promotion platforms. The
Group maintains a good and solid business relationship with most
Advertisers, and the advertising sales team of the Group is committed
to exploring new customers in order to maintain stable advertising
revenue for the Group. In addition, the Group has set up a hotline
and a message box on its website to allow Audience Groups to give
feedback on the quality and content of various media platforms, and
would follow up on a case-by-case basis.

The Group has established long-term, good and stable business
relationships with suppliers. Particulars of the major suppliers and
advertising end-customers of the Group are set out on page 175 of
this report.

Regarding corporate social responsibilities, in terms of environmental
protection, the Group is in compliance with the environmental laws
and regulations in the countries of operation. Although the Group's
businesses are not energy intensive or natural resources based,
the management closely monitors key environmental performance
indicators, which include those of energy consumption and exhaust
emission, so as to continuously enhance its efforts in environmental
protection. Detailed discussions on the Group’s environmental
policies, performance, KPIs and compliance are contained in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 84 to 140
of this report.
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In addition to the compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Corporate Governance
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
committed to duly observing the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571) and the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buybacks published by the Securities and Futures Commission. The
Group has complied with the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the
Broadcasting (Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) and the
related subsidiary legislation. The Group has also observed the terms
of the Non-Domestic Television Programme Service Licence granted
to Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited and the relevant
sections of the Codes of Practice from time to time issued by the
Communications Authority. Since the enactment of the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Group was mindful not to contravene the
first conduct rule of the Competition Ordinance while continuously
assessing its market power under the second conduct rule of the
Competition Ordinance.

Particulars of important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year are set out in the
paragraph titled “Other Important Events During the Year and
Subsequent Events” on pages 50 to 52 of this report and on Note 44
to the consolidated financial statements.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Group recognises intellectual property is a valuable asset and
the importance of management and protection of the intellectual
property. In this regard, the Group pursues available protection of the
intellectual property and vigorously protects its intellectual property
against any third-party infringement.

The Group adopts different trademarks to represent the whole group
and its different business lines. The Group applies for trademark
registrations in different countries actively in order to prevent any
third party from using similar trademarks and riding on the back of its
business. The Group has more than 1,000 trademark registrations in
total in different countries and regions including Australia, Canada, EU,
Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, Philippines,
Mainland China, Singapore, South Korea, Taiwan, Thailand and the
U.S. As Mainland China is the main business market of the Group,
over 900 trademark registrations are obtained in Mainland China. The
signature brand name " [BLEIE4R " and the double phoenixes logo are
the most important corporate trademarks of the Group.
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Trademarks of the respective television channels of the Group
such as Phoenix InfoNews Channel, Phoenix Movies Channel and
Phoenix North America Chinese Channel are registered in those
principal countries where the channels are broadcasted. Trademarks
of the core businesses in the Group, such as the ifeng.com, mobile
application Fengshows, Phoenix Metropolis Media, Phoenix Weekly,
Phoenix Digital Technology, Phoenix Orient, Phoenix Art and Phoenix
International Entertainment are mainly registered in Mainland China
and/or Hong Kong. The name and logo of major television event or
contest are also registered in those countries where contestant
selections are held or intended to be held.

The Group has copyright protection in its television programmes,
websites, mobile apps, magazines, softwares and other original
works. Besides, the Group has a lot of copyright registrations in
relation to softwares for computers, mobiles and websites in
Mainland China. The Group also owns patents for inventions applying
to websites and mobiles in Mainland China.

Apart from applying for registrations of the different types of the
intellectual property, the Group has a Brand Centre specialising in
trademark management of the Group. The Group has issued internal
policies including Brand Manual and Brand Management Policy, about
trademark use, application and licensing for the staff to comply with.
The Group further maintains a database for its trademarks, designs,
patents and copyrights.
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Trademark applications which have been published for opposition are
checked by the Group regularly. Once the Group discovers any third
party’s trademark which is confusingly similar to any trademark of
the Group, the Group would file opposition proceedings against such
trademark application. The Group also checks different social media
platforms (such as Twitter, Facebook, YouTube, Instagram, WeChat
and Weibo) regularly to locate any unauthorised use of the television
programs or trademark etc. of the Group by the platform users, and
would take immediate action against any third party infringement by
lodging complaint to the relevant social platform asking for removal
of the infringing contents, sending “cease and desist” letters to
the infringing party, lodging complaint to the relevant government
authority or bringing civil suit against the infringing party whenever
appropriate.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable

segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 200.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the year.

iy 2022

WK%

AEESTERRED AMEMARDEZRS
RS - —EAREEERERE =S
B P IS BN SR B S IR AR L 2 AORVE -
AEBEREZEEIMABREEZRZ - K
SENTETHRETAAREEFE (I
5 + Facebook * YouTube - Instagram - 1=
E®)  EFVFERFPBERERKEEET
FAASENEREE IEES - WHEHE
A5 =7 (R HERNRFERERTTE) I LE - 2AmI4E
HZFERRBFRELBREEAR « M
BREFED [EIERKIE] & - B BK
IHERAR IR E E BR T IRER R
HEREHFA -

O ) )15

R B R @
PHOENIX DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY

(Z15E3}§L§i73

PHOENIX ORIENT

FTEXBREEMED M

AARMEBREBRIRELRR - HHEAR]
M E B XN A REME 18 -

REBIR 2 B ENFRRAITRAGAE
BAB RIS -
RER D

REENFAREERNE 200 ERERA IR
RA -

EEeTEAMARABRR (BRE]) A
FEIKERMRE

147



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Movements in
the reserves of the Company during the year are set out in Note 42
to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$1,232,000 (2021: HK$2,124,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of
the Company during the year are set out in Note 29 and Note 30,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2022,
calculated under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$945,053,000 (2021:
HK$941,862,000).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 372.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

The Company had not redeemed any Shares. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Shares
during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
of the Group are set out in Note 30 of the consolidated financial
statements and the section entitled “Share Option Schemes”
contained in this “Report of Directors”
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Share Option Schemes of the Company

(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme

On 7 February 2017, the Shareholders approved the
2017 Share Option Scheme (the “2017 Share Option
Scheme"”) and the cancellation of up to a total of
95,894,000 unexercised share options granted to
Directors and employees of the Group to subscribe for
the shares under the 2009 Share Option Scheme, for a
replacement grant of the same number of share options
under the 2017 Share Option Scheme but with a lower
exercise price (subject to acceptance of the affected
grantees). The 2009 Share Option Scheme expired on 21
June 2019. The 2017 Share Option Scheme is administered
by the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the scheme is to enable the Company to
grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or
to enable the Group to recruit and retain high caliber
employees and attract human resources that are valuable
to the Group and any invested entity of the Group.

The participants of the scheme

Any employee (whether full time or part time) including
any director of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or
invested entities in which any member of the Group holds
any equity interest; or any other person (including any
employee or director of any business counterparty) whom
the Board considers, in its sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group.

BRETE
(A) ARV S

(1) 2017 FEERETTENIBE

201742878 » BREH L
2017 F e iERTEI (2017 /8
BRAETT &) R EEiE2009 FEAR
T THAERMEERE
B # H &% 4 $£95,894,000 f%
ATREHEERERMDERE
T BRI - DA 2017
BRETE T 2 ERHEER
EITHEE M EAREEZR (A
SEHE T AR AFENARE)
2009 FEE AR IERT EIE 7L 2019 4F
6 21 HEim ° 2017 F B AL 1
SERARARFHEESERE -

it &89 8 /Y

AHEIR B M REA R R AEE
RERZEERHBERE U
B S B A R S AR E R

BERLR SRR EEE

18 8 K W 5] 15 55 B UA K T 4
HAEBRAEEIMNREE

BEEBEAS

it &|a 2 aE

AR S E AR B 2 B 3%
RIWEBER (BAKEETMK
BRAFHAEMREZER)
ZIEMER (T2 Bk
B BRECAESR: 259
E2RBERREHAEEEL
BRSNS ERERZ EAE
AL (BREMAEFEDT

ZEAREHESE)

Annual Report 2022



REEREE (F) BRAT]

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(A) Share Option Schemes of the Company
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Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The total number of shares available for issue

The total number of the Shares in respect of which
options are issuable under the scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company is 500,099,950
Shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as of 7 February 2017, being the
Shareholders’ approval date of the 2017 Share Option
Scheme and 10.01% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

No eligible participant shall be granted an option if
exercised in full, would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to such eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
exceeding 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Any further grant of options to an eligible participant which
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such
eligible participant under the 2017 Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the Shares in issue shall be subject to the Shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such eligible participant
and his close associates (or his associates if the eligible
participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
The Company must send a circular to the Shareholders
containing the information required under the Listing
Rules. The number of Shares subject to the options to be
granted and the terms of the options to be granted to such
eligible participants shall be fixed before the Shareholders’
approval and the date of the Board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for
the purpose of calculating the subscription price.
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(1)

Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Time of exercise of option

An option is exercisable as set out in the offer of the
option, which shall, at the discretion of the Directors,
commence at any time on or after the offer date and
expire no later than the tenth (10th) anniversary of such
offer date.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Upon acceptance of the option, the option holder shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration of the grant
within 14 days from the date of offer of the option.

The basis of determining the exercise price of options
granted

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2017 Share Option Scheme shall be such price as
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of the grant of the relevant option but in any case
shall be at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day; (b)
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the
five (5) business days immediately preceding the offer
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.
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Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The remaining life of the scheme

2017 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of ten (10) years commencing on the date of the
adoption of the scheme. Upon termination, no further
options may be granted under the scheme.

During the year, no share option was granted or exercised
and 12,670,000 share options granted to 53 employees
were lapsed as a result of them ceasing their employment
with the Group. The details and movements of the 2017
Share Option Scheme are as follows:

BREsra (8
(A) AR ()

(1) 2017 FRREEOHME ()
51 &R B A

2017 FFEERAERT BN B N B
PRI E B REI+(10)
FotBIRIEE  BTARE
sHEIEE — PR REE -

REER - BHEEREER D
HATE MR TE3BEEM
12,670,000 17 f (% 7 2 M A 1%
ETBEZERAERE MR -
2017 FRERETEINFERE

o
Number of share options
B
Balance Balance
Exercise asat Granted Lapsed  Cancelled  Exercised asat
Type and number of Date of Vesting Exercise price 1 January during during during during 31 December
remaining grantees grant period period per Share 222 theyear  the year theyear the year 2022
g HanE
BTERAN 1818 RER  RER MR MR 123318
EARsE ik i k8 SRikE i it o3| i fik 3]
HKs
A
298 employees 20170321 000321— 20180321 - 141 69,256,000 — (12,670,000 - - 56,586,000
BBEEE 080320 20270320
Total
& 69,256,000 — (12,670,000 - - 56,586,000

As at 31 December 2022, 410,595,950 share options (as
at 31 December 2021: 410,595,950) are available for grant
under the 2017 Share Option Scheme, being 8.22% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this report.
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Summary of 2017 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, no share option had been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled during the year.
No option was granted to the Directors, chief executives
or substantial Shareholders of the Company, or their
respective associates, or to the suppliers of goods or
services under the 2017 Share Option Scheme. No
participant was granted any option in excess of the
individual limit as set out under the 2017 Share Option
Scheme.

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company

154

(1)

2008 PNM Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2008, the Shareholders approved the
share option scheme of PNM, a listed subsidiary of the
Company whose shares are listed by way of American
Depositary Shares (the “ADS") on the NYSE in the United
States (the “2008 PNM Share Option Scheme”).

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme

Purpose of the scheme

The purposes of the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
is to recognise the contribution or potential contribution
of the executives, employees, directors, consultants,
advisers, agents, business partners, joint venture
partners, service providers and contractors of PNM and/or
its affiliates by granting options to them as incentives or
rewards.
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the 2008 PNM Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM
remains a subsidiary of the Company, the board of
directors of PNM (the “PNM Board”) may, at its absolute
discretion (subject to any terms and conditions as it may
think fit) during the scheme period, make offers to any
eligible persons to take up options. The eligibility of the
eligible persons is determined by the PNM Board with
reference to their past and expected commitment and
contribution to PNM and/or its affiliates.

The total number of shares available for issue

The total number of shares of PNM (the “PNM Shares”)
available for issue under options which may be granted
under the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of PNM shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of 320,000,000 of PNM Shares in issue on
20 June 2008, being the effective date of 2008 PNM
Share Option Scheme.

On 8 June 2012, the Shareholders approved to refresh and
renew the scheme mandate limit of the 2008 PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
PNM to enable grant of further options to subscribe for up
to 31,410,107 Class A ordinary PNM Shares, representing
10% of Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue on 8 June
2012.
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The total number of shares available for issue (Continued)

On 5 June 2014, the Shareholders approved at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company (the
“"EGM") the refreshment of scheme mandate limit
under the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme. Based on
284,014,925 Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue, the
scheme mandate limit has been refreshed to enable grant
of further options to subscribe for up to 28,401,492 Class
A ordinary PNM Shares, representing 10% of the Class
A ordinary PNM Shares in issue as at the date of the said
EGM.

On 20 October 2016, the Shareholders approved at an
EGM the refreshment of the scheme mandate limit
under the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme. Based on
256,335,266 Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue,
PNM may grant further options to subscribe for up to
25,633,526 Class A ordinary PNM Shares, representing
10% of the Class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue as at the
date of such EGM. At the same EGM, the Shareholders
also approved the grant of replacement options as set out
in the Company's circular dated 23 September 2016 (see
also “Grant of replacement options” below).
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and shareholders of
PNM (the “PNM Shareholders”) in the manner set out
in the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme, the total number
of PNM Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to any eligible
person (including both exercised and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period up to and including the offer date
shall not exceed 1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the
offer date.

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme, options
may be exercised with its terms at any time during a
period as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible
person in the offer, provided that such period shall not be
longer than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM
Board may also impose restrictions on the exercise of the
option during the exercisable period of the option.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the 2008 PNM Share Options Scheme,
HK$1.00 (or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to PNM
by the eligible persons by 5:00 p.m. on the date specified
in the offer letter as the latest date for acceptance.
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The basis of determining the exercise price of options
granted

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.

Grant of replacement options

At the EGM of the Company held on 20 October 2016,
the Shareholders approved the proposed grant of options
under the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme to holders of
the then existing options as replacement options beyond
the refreshed limit (i.e. 10% of PNM Shares in issue as at
the date of EGM on 20 October 2016). For details, please
refer to the Company'’s circular dated 23 September 2016.
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

Grant of replacement options (Continued)

With the approvals of the PNM Board and PNM
Shareholders, an option exchange program was
implemented from 21 October 2016 to 1 November 2016
(the “Exchange Program"”) whereby holders of the then
existing options with various exercise prices higher than
US$0.4823 per share (the “Original Options”) exchanged
options to purchase the same number of new share
options granted with a new exercise price of US$0.4823
per share under the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(the "Replacement Options”), which shall be exercisable
immediately after 1 year from the respective original
vesting date, provided that no such Replacement Options
shall be exercisable within 6 months upon the end of offer
under the Exchange Program (i.e. prior to 1 May 2017).

The remaining life of the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme

The 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme remained valid for a
period of ten (10) years commencing on 20 June 2008.

The 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme expired on 20
June 2018 and thus no further options will be granted
thereunder, but the provisions of the scheme in all
other respects remain in full force and effect, and the
share options granted during the life of the 2008 PNM
Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with the terms of issue thereof.
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2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The remaining life of the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 6,392,738
options granted to 20 employees were lapsed and
cancelled. Details of the options granted under the 2008
PNM Share Option Scheme to the employees of the
Group are as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)

(1)

iy 2022

2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)
Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The remaining life of the 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

Notes:

1. Such options have a vesting period of 4 years from the
date of grant during which the options were vested in
batches.

2. The vesting periods of the Original Options ranged from 3
to 4 years and the last vesting date of the relevant Original
Options would be 16 July 2019 (the “Original Vesting
Period”). However, the Exchange Program has the effect
of deferring the Original Vesting Period by 12 months and
therefore, the last vesting date of the relevant Replacement
Options had become 16 July 2020. In addition, pursuant to
the Exchange Program, the Replacement Options would
vest no sooner than six months after the expiration of the
Exchange Program, namely, 1 May 2017.

3. The share options granted on 3 January 2018 has a vesting

period of 3 years from the date of grant during which the
share options were vested in batches. The grantees of
such grant of share options also include consultants of
PNM group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)

(1) 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2008 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

During the year, no option was granted to the Directors,
chief executives or substantial Shareholders, or their
respective associates of the Company, or to the suppliers
of goods or services under the 2008 PNM Share

Option Scheme.

(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

On 6 June 2018, the Shareholders approved the 2018
PNM Share Option Scheme (the “2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme”).

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme

Purpose of the scheme

The purpose of the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme is to
recognise the contribution or potential contribution of the
executives, employees, directors, consultants, advisers,
agents, business partners, joint venture partners, service
providers and contractors of PNM and/or its affiliates by
granting options to them as incentives or rewards.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)

(2)

iy 2022

2018 PNIM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The participants of the scheme

Subject to the terms of the 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme and the Listing Rules and for so long as PNM
remains a subsidiary of the Company, the PNM Board
may, at its absolute discretion (subject to any terms and
conditions it may think fit) during the scheme period,
make offers to any eligible persons to take up options.
The eligibility of the eligible persons is determined by the
PNM Board with reference to their past and expected
commitment and contribution to PNM and/or its affiliates.

The total number of shares available for issue

The total number of PNM Shares available for issue under
options which may be granted under the 2018 PNM Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
PNM shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of 264,335,266
of PNM Shares in issue (i.e. 26,433,526 PNM shares)
(the “Original Scheme Mandate Limit”) on 6 June
2018, being the effective date of 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme.

On 6 June 2022, the Shareholders approved to refresh
and renew the Original Scheme Mandate Limit at the
EGM, in which the maximum number of PNM Shares
which may be allotted and issued shall not exceed 10% of
265,935,266 of class A ordinary PNM Shares in issue (i.e.
26,593,526 class A ordinary PNM shares) as at the date of
the said EGM.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)
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(2)

2018 PNIM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the
scheme

Unless approved by the Shareholders and PNM
Shareholders in the manner set out in the 2018 PNM
Share Option Scheme, the total number of PNM Shares
issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to any eligible person (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the offer date shall not exceed
1% of the PNM Shares in issue as at the offer date.

Time of exercise of option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme, options
may be exercised with its terms at any time during a
period as notified by the PNM Board to each eligible
person in the offer, provided that such period shall not be
longer than ten (10) years from the date of offer. The PNM
Board may also impose restrictions on the exercise of the
option during the exercisable period of the option.

The amount payable on acceptance of the option

Pursuant to the 2018 PNM Share Options Scheme,
HK$1.00 (or foreign currency equivalent) is payable to
PNM by the eligible persons by such time and date as
specified in the offer letter.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) BIRETE (&)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of (B) ARBINEBARaHERRERT

the Company (Continued) 2 (&)
(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued) (2) 2018 FREFFERERETS
(&)
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Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The basis of determining the exercise price of options
granted

The option price shall be determined by the PNM Board
on a fair and reasonable basis, taking into consideration
the prevailing market condition, performance of PNM and
after having assessed the efforts, performance and/or
future potential contribution of the eligible person to the
success of the business and operations of PNM (and its
affiliates from time to time), which shall be no less than
the nominal value of the PNM Shares on the date of offer.

The remaining life of the scheme

The 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme will remain
valid for a period of ten (10) years commencing on 6
June 2018 save that PNM, by an ordinary resolution of
PNM Shareholders and an ordinary resolution of the
Shareholders (for so long as PNM remains a subsidiary
of the Company) in general meetings may at any time
terminate the operation of the PNM Share Option
Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)
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(2)

2018 PNIM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

During the year, no share option was granted or exercised
under the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme and 2,470,121
share options granted to 35 employees were lapsed when
they ceased their employment with the Group. The details
and movements of the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
are as follows:
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

(B) Share Option Schemes of the Subsidiaries of
the Company (Continued)

(2) 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Summary of 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

The remaining life of the scheme (Continued)

Note:

1. Such options have a vesting period of 4 years from the
date of grant during which the options were vested in
batches.

2. As at 31 December 2022, 26,593,526 share options (as at
31 December 2021: 518,405) are available for grant under
the 2018 PNM Share Option Scheme, being approximately
4.6% of PNM Shares as at the date of this report.

During the year, no option was granted to the Directors,
chief executives or substantial Shareholders, or their
respective associates of the Company, or to the suppliers
of goods or services under the 2018 PNM Share Option
Scheme.

iy 2022
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DIRECTORS ==

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are: FARBERREBRAIENESAT ¢
Executive Directors: HITES -

XuWei (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) TREY (FEFITEAGER)

Sun Yusheng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Editorin-Chief) BREW (FHETHAAZF A )
Non-executive Directors: FEMITES -

Ho Chiu King, Pansy Catilina (Vice-chairman) I B38 (BI£/E)

Sun Guanggi BRE

Jian Qin BE]

Wang Haixia FiEE

Independent Non-executive Directors: B IEHITES -

Leung Hok Lim RER

Thaddeus Thomas Beczak Thaddeus Thomas Beczak

Fang Fenglei FHEE

Zhou Longshan JAREL

RETIRING DIRECTORS REES

Ms. Wang Haixia, Mr. Leung Hok Lim and Mr. Fang Fenglei are  T8EX T - R2REENFREEFLERRE
nominated by the Nomination Committee to stand for re-election &ZEGRABREEZIZMAE 87 1812023
at the 2023 AGM in accordance with article 87 of the Articles of FRFAFKRG LFRET -

Association.

The nominations were made in accordance with the relevant articles  R& NIRIFHEBERMAKX ~ REBHK

of the Articles of Association, the selection criteria and objectives set %) R(EFEZTLEE) FHENEE
out in the Nomination Policy and Board Diversity Policy. BHER BIREST -

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER R#5 ™R AI% 13.51B(1) 1R E

RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES MESER

Change of Directors’ information which are required to be disclosed  #R#E EMAERIE13.51B(1) & T AR ENE
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below. EERBIIAT

Sun Yusheng — Appointment BEB —ZF

Chief Executive Officer of PNM BRI 2 SFHITE °

Wang Haixia — Appointment T8E —&F

Supervisor of Beijing-Shanghai High Speed Railway Co., Ltd. TERREHEROARARZEE -
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has entered into any service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Each of the Directors (other than the Chairman) has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of 3 years (if re-
elected for a successive term, upon expiry the terms of which shall
continue to be valid), and is subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years in accordance with the Listing Rules, the
Articles of Association and the Company’s own code on corporate
governance.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, no transaction, arrangement and contract
of significance in relation to the Group’'s business to which the
Company, or its holdings company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or his or her connected entity
has or had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the 31 December 2022 or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY
PROVISION

As permitted by the Articles of Association, every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity does not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty by such Director. Such provision has been in force for the
benefit of the Directors throughout the year and up to the date of this
report.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability

insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover to
the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which such Directors or chief
executive were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Under the terms of the 2017 Share Option Scheme, the relevant
committee responsible to administer the share option scheme (i.e.
Remuneration Committee) may, at its discretion, invite any employee
of the Company or any of the Group companies, including any
executive Directors, to take up options to subscribe for Shares. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the share option scheme must not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the time of approval of the
scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of the companies comprising the Group a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or their associates to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company, the interest of the Shareholders
(not being Directors and the chief executive of the Company) in the
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO and required to be entered in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or as
notified to the Company, were as follows:

(1) Long positions of substantial Shareholders in
the Shares of the Company

FERRRAQTRG REER
DR RAR

R2022F 124310 - ARBEERK
SITBRAEMA  BR (TRERARRES
RESITERAER) RAR RS, KRR
DB IREE S REIEGRAIE XV B E
2REINHBEHERRAR KRBT - AR
IBELLNAR RIREES RS 1R{FI5 336
BEENELTMAE NG RR B R
T

(1) FERENARTERERP
MR

Approximate
shareholding

percentage

Name of Number of as at 31 December

substantial Shareholders Shares 2022

2022 F

12HA318H

BARE

FERRER RHEEE ATt

Bauhinia Culture (Hong Kong) BRI (BB EEBR AR 1,048,668,495 21%
Holdings Limited (B3 2)

(Note 2)

Extra Step Investments Extra Step Investments Limited 983,000,000 19.68%
Limited (Note 3) (H17F3)

Common Sense Limited Common Sense Limited 845,441,505 16.93%
(Note 4) (15t 4)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(1)

Long positions of substantial Shareholders in
the Shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

As at 31 December 2022, the number of issued Shares was
4,993,659,500.

Bauhinia Culture (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (“Bauhinia
HK") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bauhinia Culture Group
Corporation Limited* (“Bauhinia Group”). By virtue of the SFO,
Bauhinia Group is deemed to be interested in the 1,048,668,495
Shares held by Bauhinia HK. Mr. Sun Guanggi, Non-executive
Director, is the deputy general manager of Bauhinia Group and
deputy general manager of Bauhinia HK.

Extra Step Investments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited (“CMHKG") which
in turn is a subsidiary of China Mobile Communications Group
Co., Ltd. (“"CMCC"). By virtue of the SFO, CMCC and CMHKG
are deemed to be interested in the 983,000,000 Shares held
by Extra Step Investments Limited. Mr. Jian Qin, Non-executive
Director, is the vice president of CMCC and the vice president of
China Mobile Limited and the director and vice president of China
Mobile Communication Co., Ltd. (both are subsidiaries of CMCC).

Common Sense Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bold
Heart Agents Limited (“Bold Heart”) which in turn is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Shun Tak Holdings Limited (“Shun Tak").
By virtue of the SFO, Bold Heart and Shun Tak are deemed
to be interested in the 845,441,505 Shares held by Common
Sense Limited. Ms. Ho Chiu King, Pansy Catilina, Vice-chairman
and Non-executive Director, is the group executive chairman,
managing director and an executive director of Shun Tak.

* For identification purpose only

172

FERRRAQTRG REER
R R AR (&)

TRERRNANRE BT
mare (&)

M2022F 12 A31 8 BEEITRMD
# B %4,993,669,500 f% °

KA (58 SEBRAQ A
(TEHEHR]) BEAULEEBR
AR ([EFEE]) H2ENBR
Al o IRIEEHRIEED - KH%E
ERRAREREABBAMEEN
1,048,668,495 I fi% 17 1 7 © AN A
RIIEMITE SR T EEREFIE
B2 Bl REEFIR A Z Bl
g .

Extra Step Investments Limited
RTERY (FE) SEERAF
(hBEHEREE]) HN2EWE
RNR MTBEHEEEERPEBE
HBEEEEERAR ((HBEHE
FEE]) WHBLR - REES
REAEED - A RBEBEEE KRR
BHEEEBE R KPS B Extra
Step Investments Limited ff % &
#)983,000,000 % % 15 4 &5  FEHR
NTEEHHEERTRDBEEEE
ZBIREERFBEBESHERAGZ
BlBKE  URETBERIEES
ATz EEREIREE(HRTHE
REEBEZIBAR) -

Common Sense Limited & Bold
Heart Agents Limited ([Bold
Heart]) f)2 &K@ A &) - i Bold
Heart Bl EE@HER QA ([5
=) MEEMBAT - BREFHR
HAE 156 - Bold Heart 2 (= =115
/&% 4 i Common Sense Limited
T ¥ 5 #)845,441,505 % A% 5 ##
oo RARIEIERE RIERITESM
BEZTAEENEETRERS -
EEMBCERHITES -

Annual Report 2022



REEREE (F) BRAT]

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS FERRRAQFRG RAEER
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES AND DR KRR (&)
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
(2) Long position of other person in the Shares of (2) EMALTRARAREBERS
the Company )=y
Approximate
shareholding
percentage as at
Name of other person who Number of 31 December
has more than 5% interest Shares 2022
20225
12A31H
BEBB5%ERN B BE 40 AR
HtA L BB ROEE Aok
TPG China Media, L.P(Note 2) TPG China Media, L.P (47:#2) 476,714,500 9.55%
China Wise International EEBERERAF (M3 412,000,000 8.25%
Limited (Note 3)
Notes: PI3E -
1. As at 31 December 2022, the number of issued Shares was 1. 202212 A31H » BTG
4,993,659,500. #H 5 4,993,659,500 % °
2. Pursuant to the disclosure of interest forms filed on 15 March 2. RIE2023F 3 A 15 AR A Em %
2023, TPG China Media, L.P is controlled by TPG Asia VI SPV § & 1% TPG China Media, L.P £
GP, LLC and a series of intermediate holding entities, namely TPG Asia VI SPV GP LLC 2 — 25|/
TPG Asia GenPar VI, L.P, TPG Asia GenPar VI Advisors, Inc., TPG MEREEFEBITPG Asia GenPar VI,
Operating Group |, L.R, TPG Holdings I-A, LLC, TPG GPCo, LLC, L.P ~ TPG Asia GenPar VI Advisors,
TPG Inc., TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.R, TPG Group Holdings Inc. ~ TPG Operating Group |,
(SBS) Advisors, LLC and TPG GP A, LLC. TPG GP A, LLC is L.P ~ TPG Holdings I-A, LLC ~ TPG
controlled as to 40% by each of DB CC, LLC and JC GR LLC, GPCo, LLC ~ TPG Inc. * TPG Group
which in turn is ultimately controlled by Mr. David Bonderman and Holdings (SBS),L.P » TPG Group
Mr. James George Coulter, respectively. By virtue of the SFO, Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC X2 TPG
each of the abovementioned entities, Mr. David Bonderman and GP A, LLC#%#l - TPG GP A, LLCH
Mr. James George Coulter are all deemed to be interested in the DB CC, LLC }2JC GP LLC® Rlli##
476,714,500 Shares held by TPG China Media, L.P. 40% * 7 % Bl B3 David Bonderman

% 4 I James George Coulter 5 4
EERYES o RIRFH REIE &M
it EEE - David Bonderman %4
2 James George Coulter 5¢ 4 15 #
R AEHARTPG China Media, L.P AT
FH 476,714,500 B AR (DR ©
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS INTHE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(2) Long position of other person in the Shares of
the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

3. China Wise International Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Cultural Developments Limited (“Cultural Developments”),
which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of China
Group Investment Limited (“BOCGI"). BOCGI is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bank of China Limited (“BOC"), which in turn is
a subsidiary of Central Huijin Investments Limited (“Central
Huijin"”). By virtue of the SFO, Central Huijin, BOC, BOCGI and
Cultural Developments are all deemed to be interested in the
412,000,000 Shares held by China Wise International Limited.
Ms. Wang Haixia, Non- executive Director, is the deputy chief
executive officer of BOCGI.

Save as disclosed above, there was no person (other than the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company) known to the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company, who, as at 31
December 2022, had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and were required to be entered in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of programme purchases and sales for the year
attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and advertising end-
customers are as follows:

EEEN

A FRE NI T RS RADTE
BHRBREMEADHHTERETHE
# e

FEHERREF

AEENTEHEALESRREPEEF
MEBREIEEB LT ¢

2022 2021
2022 2021 4

Programme purchases &nE RS
— the largest supplier — AHIER 7% 15%
— five largest suppliers — ERHEER 22% 37%

Sales HE

— the largest advertising end-customer — BRREERKREP 10% 2%
— five largest advertising end-customers — EREERKREP 16% 8%

None of the Directors or their close associates, or any Shareholders
(which to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
major suppliers or customers mentioned above.

iy 2022
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had conducted
certain continuing connected transactions with connected persons
of the Group as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules to be
reported in this section.

The following transactions constituted non-exempt continuing
connected transactions subject only to the reporting, announcement
and annual review requirements as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

LED Panel Advertisement Transactions

Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited* (/Bl/El
#HmEERRH AR 2 A (“Phoenix Metropolis”), entered
into the following continuing connected transactions (“PMM
CCT") in relation to the sale of advertising airtime on the LED
Panels operated by or licensed to Phoenix Metropolis and/
or its subsidiaries in the PRC with CMCC and its associates
(collectively “CMCC Group ") for promoting the CMCC Group.

As announced on 27 November 2020, the Company considers
that the transactions between Phoenix Metropolis and the
CMCC Group constitute an important and integral part of
the business alliance between them and the operation of
advertising airtime and placing of advertisement on the outdoor
LED panels services in the PRC would strengthen the Group'’s
competitive position in the market. The Company therefore
had applied for and the Stock Exchange had granted to the
Company a waiver from strict compliance with the requirement
under Rule 14A.34 and Rule 14A.51 of the Listing Rules to enter
into a written framework agreement with the CMCC Group at
the outset covering all PMM CCT from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2023.

* For identification purpose only
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REEREE (F) BRAT]

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

LED Panel Advertisement Transactions
(Continued)

For details of the LED Panel Advertisement Transactions, please
refer to the Company’s announcement dated 27 November

HERERS (&)

LEDFFBEERS (&)

EMLEDFEESRZINFHE  F2

BIARAGR HEIA2020611 H27H 2

2020. A o
The Other Announcement Actual Usage  Annual Cap
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in 2022 for 2022
R2022F 20225
2t TRA x5 AERH B EREHATE FEELR
RMB RMB
AR AR
CMCC Group PMM CCT 2020.11.27 2021.01.01 to 15,787621 27000,000
2023.12.31
hBEEE BEHTHERERS 202051 A278 20211 A1BZE
2023%12A31H
CNHK Media Advertising Contract . PBBEEESL
Phoenix Satellite Television Company Limited, through BEERBERATFEBSMNERER
Shenzhou Television Company Limited* (“Shenzhou” NA) ([N - 1ERRIE) EpEE
acting as its agent), entered into a framework agreement HAERAR ([PREE] REPZ

with CNHK Media Limited (“CNHK Media’ acting for the
benefit of the CMCC Group) on 22 December 2021 for the
sale of advertising airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel
and the Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the promotion of
the CMCC Group for the period from 1 January 2022 to
31 December 2022.

For details of the 2022 CNHK Media Advertising Contract,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 22
December 2021.

Eb%lsﬁﬂ §) 72021412 8228

RN TIESR W% AR BEELEERE
FERFNARERFEREMENES
BB UEEHEETRHSEE  #R
202241 818 8 £20229F12 A
31 8L -

BR2022F P B EEBESA NN
15 BBREARE BHEA2021F12
A22 BHIQE »

Agreement &

The Other Announcement Actual Usage
Contracting Party Agreement Date Term in2022  Annual Cap

R2022F
HHTRE i BRERAEEH HR ERBATE FELR
RMB RMB
ANEE ARK
CNHK Media 2022 CNHK Media 2021.12.22 2022.01.01 to 3,398,704 25,000,000

Advertising Contract 2022.12.31
mEEE 002 FFEBEESEAN 20215127228 20251A18%
2022512 A31H
* For identification purpose only
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Lease Agreements

Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) Properties Company Limited* (JBl/E 3
FHHER) B ZE AR AR (“Phoenix Oriental”) (as lessor) entered
into certain lease agreements (the “Lease Agreements”) with
other subsidiaries of the Company (the “Subsidiary Lessee”)
(as lessee) in relation to the lease of certain units of the Phoenix
International Media Centre (the “Beijing Phoenix Centre”) for
business operation of the relevant Subsidiary Lessees. Beijing
Phoenix Center is a building containing offices and television
programme production studios located in the South-Western
corner of Chaoyang Park, Chaoyang District, Beijing, China with
a useful life until 2051.

Upon becoming a connected subsidiary of the Company on 28
July 2022, the relevant transactions between Phoenix Oriental
and the Subsidiary Lessees contemplated under the Lease
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions for
the Company. Such transactions had been performed on the
basis described in the Company’s announcements respectively
dated 29 July 2022 and 1 November 2022, including, amongst
others, the terms of the Lease Agreements were arrived
at after arm’s length negotiations among the parties to the
Lease Agreements; the relevant rental fees and the related
property service fees were determined with reference to
the market price and rents/ relevant fees payable by other
tenants to Phoenix Oriental for the lease of other units within
Beijing Phoenix Centre; and were on terms no less favorable
to the Subsidiary Lessees than those that may be offered by
independent third-party landlords for leases of similar gross
floor area in similar locations in Beijing. For the period from 28
July 2022 to 31 December 2022, rental fees paid or payable
by Subsidiary Lessees to Phoenix Oriental amounted to
approximately RMB9,353,000.

For details of the Lease Agreements, please refer to the
Company’'s announcements respectively dated 29 July 2022
and 1 November 2022.

* For identification purpose only
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Lease Agreements (Continued)

On 23 December 2022, in order to meet the respective
business and commercial needs of the Subsidiary Lessees,
Phoenix Metropolis Communication (Beijing) Co., Ltd* (&
BE T X E#EAER)BR AR, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, in its own capacity as a Subsidiary
Lessee and for and on behalf of all other Subsidiary Lessees,
entered into a framework lease agreement with Phoenix
Oriental (as lessor), in relation to the lease of certain units,
premises or areas in Beijing Phoenix Centre for commercial
or office use of the Subsidiary Lessees for a term of one year
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023. The annual cap
for the transactions contemplated under the abovementioned
framework lease agreement for the year ending 31 December
2023 is RMB65,400,000 (equivalent to HK$73,248,000). For
details, please refer to the Company's announcement dated 23
December 2022.

New Media Platform Service Transaction

PNM and its subsidiaries (“PNM Group”) would, in the ordinary
and usual course of business, enter into continuing connected
transactions (“PNM CCT") in relation to provision of website
portal, value-added telecommunications, promotional and
ancillary services by and to PNM Group, to and by CMCC Group
for three years from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024. The
Company had applied for and the Stock Exchange had granted
to the Company a waiver from strict compliance with the
requirement under Rule 14A.34 and Rule 14A.51 of the Listing
Rules to enter into a framework agreement with the CMCC
Group at the outset covering all of PNM CCT.

* For identification purpose only
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

HERERS (&)

(Continued)
IV. New Media Platform Service Transaction V. $TERFalRBRS (8)
(Continued)
For details of the New Media Platform Services Transactions, EAVERBTaRBEIINFE &
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 25 August 2B A B HEA2021F8A26H
2021, PN
The Other Announcement Actual Usage  Annual Cap
Contracting Party Transaction Date Term in 2022 for 2022
R2022 % 2022F
HeT 87 % AERE HR ERBANE FEELR
RMB RMB
AEE ARE
CMCC Group PNM CCT 2021.8.25 2022.01.01 8,518,913 60,570,000
10 2024.12.31
hHEEE TREREEERS 2021587258 202F1A18E

The Connected Relationships

2024512 A31H

1. As at 31 December 2022, CMHKG, a subsidiary of CMCC, isa 1.
substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
19.68% of the issued share capital of the Company through
its wholly-owned subsidiary Extra Step Investments Limited.
Therefore, the CMCC Group are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the PMM CCT as well as the PNM CCT are
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules.

* For identification purpose only
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Connected Relationships (Continued)

2.

CNHK Media entered into contracts with a subsidiary of
CMCC in the PRC relating to and including the purchase of
advertising airtime at the Phoenix Chinese Channel and the
Phoenix InfoNews Channel for the benefit and on behalf of the
CMCC Group covering the period under the 2022 CNHK Media
Advertising Contract. CNHK Media is therefore considered
a deemed connected person of the Company under Rule
14A.20(1) of the Listing Rules. As such, the transactions
contemplated under the 2022 CNHK Media Advertising Contract
are continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Phoenix Oriental is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company which is owned as to 21% by Bauhinia Group,
a company wholly owns Bauhinia HK, being a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Therefore, Phoenix Oriental is a
connected subsidiary of the Company under Rule 14A.16 of
the Listing Rules and the transactions contemplated under
the Lease Agreements constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors had reviewed the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that:

1. the transactions were entered into by the relevant member of
the Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. the transactions were entered into either on normal commercial
terms or better; and

3. the transactions were entered into in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with the Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) "Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified
letter to the Board containing the findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 176 to 182 of this report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions (as
defined in HKAS 24 — Related Party Disclosures) entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 disclosed in Note
40 to the consolidated financial statements falls under the scope of
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which is subject to the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that
it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company hereby confirms that it has followed the set pricing
policies and guidelines when determining the price and terms of
the transactions during the reporting period for all above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions during the reporting period.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF PNM
GROUP

Foreign investment in the internet and mobile services industries
is currently prohibited or restricted in China. The internet business
of the Group in China is operated by PNM through contractual
arrangements with the legal shareholders of its VIE, among others,
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (IbFZK
BAMNBERM AR AT (“Beijing Tianying”). The Group does
not have equity interests in Beijing Tianying or its subsidiaries.
However, as a result of a series of structured contracts (“Structured
Contracts”) entered into on 31 December 2009 by a subsidiary of
PNM, Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) Information Technology Company
Limited* (BEELILR)EERMBRAE) (“Fenghuang On-
line”) and all subsequent renewals on the same terms, the Group
has become the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying and its
subsidiaries and account for them as its indirect subsidiaries under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"). As at the date
of this report, Beijing Tianying is 51% owned by Mr. Qiao Haiyan
and 49% by Mr. Gao Ximin respectively, and the permitted business
items of Beijing Tianying includes: internet information services
(excluding contents on news, publication, education, medical health,
medicine, medical devices); internet advertising via www.ifeng.com;
information services of category |l value-added telecommunications
services (excluding fixed line telephone information services
and internet information services); production and publishing of
animation, television entertainment, feature programmes; publishing
of mobile game; performance agency; retail of books, newspaper,
journals, electronic publications and audiovisual products; internet
cultural activities. Whereas the general business items of Beijing
Tianying includes: technical development, technical consulting,
technical services, technical training; conference services; design,
production, agent, publishing of advertisement; organising cultural
exchange activities (excluding commercial performances); organising
exhibitions; enterprise planning; economy and trade consulting; lease
of computer and communications equipment.

The Group has consolidated the financial results of Beijing Tianying
and its subsidiaries in its consolidated financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS. In 2022, Beijing Tianying and its subsidiaries
accounted for 13.7% of the total revenues and 9.6% of the total
assets of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF PNM
GROUP (Continued)

The Group has evaluated the relationship among PNM, Fenghuang
On-line and Beijing Tianying in accordance with HKFRS. Pursuant to
the voting right entrustment agreement, PNM has obtained power, as
granted by the legal shareholders in accordance with the applicable
PRC law and the articles of association of Beijing Tianying, to direct
all significant activities of Beijing Tianying, which include but not
limited to budgeting, financing, and other strategic and operational
decision making, and will significantly impact Beijing Tianying's
economic performance. Pursuant to the exclusive technical licensing
and service agreements and other agreements, PNM has the right
to receive benefits of Beijing Tianying in the form of technical service
fees, which may have potential significant impact on Beijing Tianying's
net income. In addition, PNM has the right to receive all the residual
assets of Beijing Tianying through exercise of the exclusive option
agreement. As a result, the Group, through PNM and Fenghuang On-
line, is considered the primary beneficiary of Beijing Tianying and
therefore includes Beijing Tianying's assets, liabilities and operating
results in its consolidated financial statements. With the contractual
arrangements with Beijing Tianying, the Group has the power to
direct the activities of Beijing Tianying, and freely transfer the assets
out of Beijing Tianying’s without any restrictions.

Details of the Structured Contracts and the related information were
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 9 November 2009 (the
“Company’s Announcement”).

There were no material changes to the Structured Contracts and/or
the circumstances under which they were adopted, nor was there
any unwinding of them or of a failure to do the same due to the
restrictions that led to their adoption being removed.

The reasons for using the Structured Contracts were disclosed in the
sub-section headed “Reasons For And Benefits Of The Acquisitions”
under the section entitled “Reasons For And Benefits Of The
Transaction” of the Company’s Announcement.
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF PNM
GROUP (Continued)

The major risks associated with them include, among others:

1.

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating its businesses in China
do not comply with PRC governmental restrictions on foreign
investment in internet businesses, or if these regulations or
the interpretation of existing regulations change in the future,
the Group would be subject to severe penalties or be forced to
relinquish its interests in those operations.

The Group relies on contractual arrangements with Beijing
Tianying in China, and their legal shareholders, for its business
operations, which may not be as effective in providing
operational control or enabling us to derive economic benefits
as through ownership of controlling equity interest.

The legal shareholders of Beijing Tianying may have potential
conflicts of interest with the Group.

For details of the above-mentioned risks during the reporting
period, please refer to “ltem 3. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors — Risks Relating to Our Corporate Structure” of the
2021 Annual Report of PNM disclosed on its website ir.ifeng.
com.

On 15 March 2019, the National People’'s Congress promulgated
the Foreign Investment Law (4P & #& & JX%) (the “FIL"), which
came into effect on 1 January 2020 and the FIL replaced the old
foreign invested entities laws. The FIL, by means of legislation,
establishes the basic framework for the access, promotion,
protection and administration of foreign investment in view of
investment protection and fair competition.

* For identification purpose only
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF PNM
GROUP (Continued)

According to the FIL, foreign investment shall enjoy pre-entry national
treatment, except for those foreign invested entities that operate
in industries deemed to be either “restricted” or “prohibited” in
the “negative list” The FIL provides that foreign invested entities
operating in foreign “restricted” or “prohibited” industries will require
entry clearance and other approvals. It is unclear whether the new
“negative list” will differ from the 2021 Negative List. In addition,
the FIL does not comment on the concept of “de facto control” or
contractual arrangements with variable interest entities, yet it has a
catch-all provision under definition of “foreign investment” to include
investments made by foreign investors in China through means
stipulated by laws or administrative regulations or other methods
prescribed by the State Council. Therefore, it still leaves leeway for
future laws, administrative regulations or provisions to provide for
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The Group cannot assure that PNM will be able to enforce the
Structured Contracts. Although PNM believes they are in compliance
with current PRC regulations, the Group cannot assure that the PRC
government would agree that these Structured Contracts comply
with PRC licensing, registration or other regulatory requirements,
with existing policies or with requirements or policies that may
be adopted in the future. PRC laws and regulations governing the
validity of these contractual arrangements are uncertain and the
relevant government authorities have broad discretion in interpreting
these laws and regulations. For example, it is uncertain whether the
government authorities will promulgate other implementation rules
of FIL and how the implementation rules, when they come into force,
may impact the viability of the current corporate structure in the
future.
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Report of Directors
EEEWEE

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS OF PNM
GROUP (Continued)

The Group will monitor the “negative list” and the regulations related
to structured contracts, and will communicate with PNM closely,
and to seek PRC legal advice before deciding which measures to be
adopted (if any), so that immediate corresponding arrangements can
be made to mitigate against the risk in response to any changes in
the foreign investment regulations or the implementation of relevant
rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors had any interests in a business which
competes or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group and which was required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

ADVANCESTO AN ENTITY

Details of the relevant advances to an entity from the Group are set
out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out on pages 59 to 83 of this report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has, during
the year and up to the date of this report, maintained a public float of
not less than 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules.
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EEEWEE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and provided advice and comments
thereon.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Xu Wei
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 17 March 2023
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To the Shareholders of Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings)
Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Phoenix Media Investment
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 200 to 371, comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPAs
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
° Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou
Television Company Limited (“Shenzhou”)

° Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the Group
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from
Shenzhou

FE LS e YRR B 2 ZE R A I T L B 4

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 21 to the
consolidated financial statements
B2 A MIEREM 3 i) 4(a)i) & 21

At 31 December 2022, the Group had a receivable
balance from Shenzhou, the Group’s advertising agent
in the PRC, of HK$217.9 million which was included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables. This
amount represented the net balance from advertising
revenue collected by Shenzhou, net of agency
commission and service fee earned by Shenzhou and
various expenses incurred and payments made by
Shenzhou on behalf of the Group.

2022612 A31H - EXBEEKEMN (B E%E
R Bz BEMRIE) < RIBA# A 217900,000 7T - ThaT
ATERFRIA ~ 2@ READ BRI o Z e AR M UER
ZEEWAFEL MBS MNRE . RERe KRB EIA
RaiE BEBEFEGECSEERRARIMNZHIE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMMET AR EBEETER

Our audit procedures in relation to the accuracy
and recoverability of the receivable from Shenzhou
included:

FATE PR N FRIE 2 T R AT B 2 BEH R B
e

o Assessing the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement
involved in management'’s collectability
assessment;
FREZERMGA T REEENEREE REEES U E T
Fr{E2 STk ETS R m #I BT AT (S EASE R B O B A
2B

o Understanding management'’s internal control
and process to ensure the accuracy and assess
the recoverability of the outstanding receivable
with reference to Shenzhou's financial position,
credit quality, payment trends and subsequent
settlements;

BB EE 2 W EDIE$I RAR 7 AR (R FE W kI8 2 48
R EETWE M - &R 2E N 2 Bk
e EEEE  NRBERERESTFTEZER
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BRETER

Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from
Shenzhou (Continued)

FEWH INFRIE 2 R R AT IR E (4]

The receivable balance is unsecured and repayable
on demand. Pursuant to the service agreement
signed between Shenzhou and the Group dated 31
December 2019 and the addendum dated 20 June
2022, Shenzhou agreed to deposit the advertising
revenue collected on behalf of the Group in
designated bank accounts in the PRC, which together
with any interest generated from these accounts
would be held in trust on behalf of the Group and
handled according to the Group’s instructions. No
additional interest would be charged by the Group on
the receivable balance from Shenzhou.

JEMRIR AR AR B MR B RER - IREBgMNE &
E@AE A A2019F12 A31 B ZR& kB8
/320226 H20 Bz izt - WMHEEKARK &
SEUIMHESERATFARTEZ BFERITESA - EF
BRERPEEZEMAEHRE BEEENEEEARF
B WRE BESEZETREE- EEEHTSMER
M 2 FIBAERRUCEE I RENFE, ©

Management is of the opinion that the balance is fully
recoverable based on the expected credit loss model and
no provision is required at the year end.

ERERR  REBHEEEEREN  BRERRITE2H
Wm - SWHARFERIELBAE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BB N AEEBREETEE

o Agreeing opening balance of the receivable from
Shenzhou to the prior year audited accounts
and performing analytical procedures on the
movements in the balance with Shenzhou
during the year to identify if there were any
unusual items;
% RN N FRIE 2 B A pREE F F R BZARE 2
BRHELLEN G MR B R - WHFRBM 2 E
REHRNEHETHONETF HEEETEERE
B

° Agreeing the amounts of cash collected for
advertising revenue by Shenzhou recorded in
the Group’s accounting system to the collection
reports submitted by Shenzhou and sales
contracts on a sample basis;

1 ESEeHRASTLBEIBMNERESHAZ
& &R EAMNIE R 2 WS R HE & R fE R
LEE LA RN R S IERE

° Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of commission and service fee paid
to Shenzhou;

BREEXN TNz Me KR EE 2 HiliLEmE
1

o Agreeing, on a sample basis, the expenses and
payments made by Shenzhou on behalf of the
Group to the instructions given by the Group or
other relevant supporting information;
s i eMREx EREXNZRAXEARK
0 BEEEL 2R At AERE X FF A BHELL ¥
AS A IER
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BREETER

Accuracy and recoverability of the receivable from
Shenzhou (Continued)

FEWH INFRIE 2 R R AT IR E (4]

Due to the arrangements with Shenzhou described
above, there is a risk that the receivable balance at 31
December 2022 may not be accurate. The nature of
this balance together with the significant judgements
exercised by management in their collectability
assessment warrant specific audit attention.

MR Lt B 2 R HE - 72022412 A31 R ZJE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BB N AEEBREETEE

° Checking to the bank advices for cash remitted
to the Group by Shenzhou during the year;
EREREMNREAR BEEELZRSHRT
BEE

o Comparing the year end receivable balance
recorded in the Group's accounting system to
the external confirmation obtained by us from
Shenzhou; and
1 BEREE RS2 EUGRIAARR EE
S M IS 2 SN AR R HE AT E B MORI S E BRIE
B &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the
judgement and estimates used by management
to determine the expected credit loss by
considering the historical payment trends and
the appropriateness of forward-looking factors
included in the expected credit loss model.
KEBBEMNKBEMIEHEEEEEXERAOA
EUHREEEAE AAEEEANECHNEER
ERH BT R E RS

We found management’'s assessment on the
recoverability and accuracy of the receivable from
Shenzhou was supportable by the available evidence.
BAPIEEIR B IR AN R UK 2 PT U B 1 R e e 1t 2 BTy
AILAGBIBIR B BB T AR -
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BERETTEE

Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the
Group

EEEERRNZ TWE %

Refer to Notes 3(a)(ii), 4(a)(ii) and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements
EL R A WIS HRERMEE3(@)) ~ 4(a)(i) & 20

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's accounts
receivable balance amounted to HK$899.8 million
comprising gross accounts receivable of HK$1,292.0
million net of provision for impairment of HK$392.2
million. Management has performed an assessment
on the recoverability of the accounts receivable
balance as at 31 December 2022 based on the
expected credit loss model. In performing the
assessment, management also considered a number
of factors including but not limited to the debtors’
current and expected financial positions, business
environment and industry performance, current and
forward looking economic factors, collection history,
past experience and subsequent settlements.
R2022F12A31H: EBEEBEIEREREHR
899,800,000 % 7T + Fh FE Y AR 5K 4288 1,292,000,000 % 7T
HBR R (B 1% 392,200,000 B T AERK - B ERIFETARE
BEREXTEEZE 2022412 A31 A ZERERESR &2
AU EIE o FEESTAIAR  BEENZERTZHEER 2
FERRMEBA 2 RE RIBBT AR - LERERIT
¥RE  RERATEECERR T  BELBRK
HigEBFEIEN -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMNET N AEERREEEE

Our audit procedures in relation to management'’s
assessment on the recoverability of the accounts
receivable included:

BB E IR B 8 AR SR AT B 4 5P 2 BEH IR B8
&

o Assessing the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and judgement involved
in management’s collectability assessment;
FRERMGATREMNEEREEEH KO
PT1E 2 BTk P2 T ) 1 B R Aok B2 R SR AR PR L ) [ B
[EE

o Understanding, evaluating and testing, on a
sample basis, management’s credit control
procedures and their basis and methodology
of estimation of the amount of impairment
provision of the expected credit losses required
for the accounts receivable balance;

B SHERMEARERE L FEEERFLE
BEMET KRR AR BRNEE B RMER B
SRIERERTE

o Testing post-year end settlements of accounts
receivable on a sample basis;
MBS YRR 2 FERE BB

° Obtaining confirmations for a sample of the
balances as at 31 December 2022 directly
from the debtors and testing the reconciling
items. Where a response to the request was
not received, we agreed the relevant receivable
balances to the underlying sale contracts or
supporting information or post year end cash
receipts;
MEEENEBARRESEHE2022F12 43182
AR WAIRKHARIER - EAME RS
BB ZIER - B IERE R YRIAE A A HE

BRI FER S F KRB UKL B AT RMESIE
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

BRETER

Recoverability of the accounts receivable of the
Group (Continued)

EREEBERRZ AT E 4 (4)

Management is of the opinion that the provision for
impairment of accounts receivable based on the
expected credit loss model was adequate but not
excessive at 31 December 2022.
ERERA  2022F12 A31 ARBEHREEEEEAE
B2 RYRTORER R ATIEBES -

This is considered as a key matter to our audit
because of the judgements involved in management’s
assessment and the financial significance of the
receivable balance to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
HRE R BRI h AT &2 &I 8 7 B DA R e R IE 45 A
EEEGAMBRRIVBERE  AEZFERR/E
BifIEe P 2 BRI -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BB N AEEBREETEE

° Testing the accuracy of aging profile of the
accounts receivable at the year end, on a
sample basis, against sales invoices and related
sales contracts or billing records;
RIRHE B R RABMHE S AR IR Sz E
FEUBR RN F 48 2 BRERHE 0 2 ZERE I

o Discussing with management to assess
the recoverability of significant and aged
accounts receivable balances by corroborating
management’s explanations with relevant
supporting documentation and market
information, including external payment
schedules from the customers, supportable
credit risk information, and financial information
of the customers; and
HIE IR [EHETT AT s A RT A K SR RBR R FE U AR BN 45
gRZ FTU I - 05 SR AR R SR U R T IS(E B
(BREEFZININFERE BRIBZEERRE
BREPZUBEER) REREREZHA &

o Assessing the estimates used by management
to determine the expected credit loss by
considering the subsequent settlement against
historical payment trends and assessing the
reasonableness of forward-looking factors
included in the expected credit loss model.

b iR IF AR BE N RBY - SHLERER
RETEMEEBENGLE - WAEEMEEER
BAFANREEREZRN SR -

We found the judgement and assumptions used
by the management in determining the provision
for accounts receivable to be supportable based on
available evidence.

ERAISERRE - RN EE EERE T RURTEER T
TEZ FIER R R 2 REE B IRIEH) °
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. VWe have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. \We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Nga Kwan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

mERER

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE 2022912 A31 BHILFE
(BRIEFERIRIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PR FERT FAT
Revenue ON 5 3,003,733 3,159,240
Operating expenses KREEH (2,883,546) (2,936,930)
Selling, general and administrative & - — R RTHEH
expenses (498,807) (869,600)
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith (B518) WEFHE
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment WEYMENTE
properties (E518) Wz 14 (6,276) 37
Other operating (losses)/gains, net Higes (B18) WS F%E 6 (37,156) 76,371
Interest income FEWA 56,260 70,701
Interest expense FEREX (44,395) (43,970)
Share of profits less losses of joint  #{E&& SRR
ventures 16 1,430 5,070
Share of profits less losses B L& N RRRRE 1B
of associates 17 (9,056) (1,885)
Loss before income tax BRETSHAIEE 7 (417,813) (540,966)
Income tax expense FREBER 9 (29,820) (84,272)
Loss for the year FEEE (447,633) (625,238)
Loss attributable to: T 5| EIEELEIE
Owners of the Company ZN/NETE 2PN (382,500) (456,201)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR I (65,133) (169,037)
(447,633) (625,238)
Loss per share for loss attributable  FERED TEE AEE
to the owners of the Company EBENERER
for the year
Basic loss per share, SAREAREE -
Hong Kong cents Bl 10 (7.66) (9.14)
Diluted loss per share, S EEE -
Hong Kong cents L 10 (7.66) (9.14)

The notes on pages 208 to 371 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REZHEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE 2022912 A31 BHILFE
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIFAR - @RELABTIIE)
2022 2021

2022 &F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Loss for the year FEEE (447,633) (625,238)

Other comprehensive (expense)/ Hih2m (B%) Wi -

income:
Items that have been reclassified/ BACEF I RiEsE
may be reclassified to profit or loss B EEEn 2 HA

Currency translation differences ElmE s (402,137) 149,834
Total comprehensive expense FEXEMXEE

for the year (849,770) (475,404)
Attributable to: T 5l & EpEL, -

Owners of the Company RARHEB A (627,712) (364,587)

Non-controlling interests B (222,058) (110,817)

(849,770) (475,404)

The notes on pages 208 to 371 are an integral part of these #HNFE208EZE371 AT AZEES
consolidated financial statement. ISR 2 MEBCER D -
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REEERMER

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

As at 31 December 2022

202241283114
(BR3ERERIRRR - £FELAETTIIE)

2022 2021
2022 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PR FERT FAT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Purchased programme and film rights, BARE &
net BRI F R 12 14,207 12,934
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 35 961,363 962,458
Property, plant and equipment, net VI - B R EFE 13 638,823 737,587
Investment properties LAY 14 1,307,283 1,470,424
Intangible assets | EE 15 46,754 51,451
Investments in joint ventures REERENRE 16 35,152 41,662
Investments in associates REEE R R]NIRE 17 68,844 95,752
Other long-term assets HivREEE 21 45,536 27,759
Deferred income tax assets BEFBREE 33 104,719 120,125
3,222,681 3,520,152
Current assets RBEE
Accounts receivable, net FEUWBR SRS ER 20 899,782 1,037330
Prepayments, deposits and FERE - me Rk
other receivables E A e GRS 21 445,525 1,009,601
Inventories wE 22 5,171 5,242
Amounts due from related companies YA BEE R RFIE 23 12,822 16,615
Self-produced programmes EECE]= 9,136 7350
Purchased programme and fBAETE REMRE TR
film rights, net 12 305 707
Financial assets at fair value through RATEBEBERCERN
profit or loss BB E 24 1,015,174 1,706,050
Pledged bank deposits BEEBIRITIER 34 — 155,792
Bank deposits HITER 25 222,878 39,729
Restricted cash ZERHIERE 26 11,122 19,278
Cash and cash equivalents Re MReFEIAR 27 1,374,812 1,265,106
3,996,727 5,262,800
Total assets wEE 7,219,408 8,782,952
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital A&z 29 499,366 499,366
Reserves Gl 2,913,986 3,543,279
3,413,352 4,042,645
Non-controlling interests e 18(d) 1,016,542 1,371,782
Total equity MR 4,429,894 5,414,427
202 Annual Report 2022
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REEERMER

As at 31 December 2022

202241283114

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIFAR - @RELABTTIIE)
2022 2021
2022 2021 %
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PR FHET FET
Liabilities afE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Secured bank borrowings BERITEE 32(a) 1,692 1,740
Lease liabilities HEAE 35 671,197 596,905
Other long-term liabilities HivREAEE 4,507 5,044
Loans from non-controlling BB A RIS AR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 32(b) 32,271 35,491
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTISHBE 33 136,255 155,882
845,922 795,062
Current liabilities REBAE
Accounts payable, other FERT AR « H e FRIE
payables and accruals M EETFRIA 31 1,201,263 1,517,120
Secured bank borrowings EHRMRITEE 32(a) 6,534 140,078
Lease liabilities HEAR 35 168,431 223,842
Deferred income PEFEHA 36 259,120 163,426
Loans from non-controlling LIEEPNGIE =2
shareholders of subsidiaries REER 32(b) 144,606 351,579
Current income tax liabilities EHMERAE 163,638 174,710
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFEEBEBERLEN
through profit or loss Eup 3=NE 24 - 2,708
1,943,592 2,573,463
Total liabilities FEN =N 2,789,514 3,368,525
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 7,219,408 8,782,952

The notes on pages 208 to 371 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statement.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 200 to 371 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 17 March 2023 and were

signed on its behalf.

XU Wei

Director

EF

&R 2022

RS SR 2 R ©

E=RREFTERE

SUN Yusheng
BERE
Director

EF

HNE 208 AEF 371 A2 RREHFE

EHNFE 200 EEF 371 ERGEA B BHRERN
2023F3AV7THEESESBBE  WAHNLT
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HZE 2022912 A31 BHILFE
(BRIEFERIRIRA - ©ELUBTHIE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREEE AL
Employee
share-based Non-
Share Share  Statutory Capital  Exchange payment Retained  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve eamings interests equity
EaNRG
]
e RGRE  tERE 0 EARE  ENRRE  SERGE RERA FERER s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Tén Tén TEn T TEn Fén Fén Fén
(Note)
(K&)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202F1 1805 499,366 158,026 181414 1,397,951 1,083 55,119 1,749,686 1,371,782 5414421
Loss for the year FERE - - - - - - (382500 (65133)  (447633)
Other comprehensive expense Ef2ERR
Currency translation differences ERHEEE - - - - (45212) - - (156925 (402,137)
Total comprehensive expense FE2EMEE
for the year - - - - (245,212) - (382,500) (222,058) (849,770)
Transactions with owners HEBAZRS
Share option scheme Al
— value of employee services -BIRHBER - - - - - - - 9,174 9174
— lapse of share options - BB - 5795 - - - (5,795) - - -
Allocation to statutory reserve PREEERE - - 15,982 - - - (15,982) - -
Acquisition of additional equity interests  WEMEAF 2 BINEAER
in a subsidiary - - - (1,581) - - - (69,284) (70,865)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 RIERARE - - - - - - - (13,072) (13,072)
Total transactions with owners HERARGHRALE - 5,795 15,982 (1,581) - (5,795) (15982)  (133182)  (134763)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R202%F12531 AvEE 499,366 163,821 197,396 1,396,370 (244129 49,324 1,351,204 1,016,542 4,429,894
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZE 2022912 A31 BHILFE
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIFAR - @RELABTIIE)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREAEL
Employee
share-ased Non-
Share Share Statutory Capital Exchange payment Retained  controlling Total
capital premium Teserve Teserve Teserve eserve eamings interests equity
EENRG
xf

B BhEE  ieeE  AfEE ENRE SRR REEH  riEs B
HKS000  HKSO000  HKSOOO  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HK$00D  HKSO000  HKSO00
TEL AL AL AL TATL TAL THT TR Thn

Note)
(Bzt)
Balance at 1 January 2021 R202151 B1AHES 499,347 153,503 172,832 1,397951 (90,531) 59,395 2,214,469 1,471,258 5,878,224
Loss for the year FERE - - - - - - (456,201)  (169.037)  (625239)
Other comprehensive income B2 ENE
Currency translation differences ERHEEE - - - - 91,614 - o 58220 149,834
Total comprehensive expense for the year £E2EH %A% - - - - 91,614 - (456,201) (110817)  (475404)
Transactions with owners AEEALRS
Share option scheme BRiETEl
— value of employee services - EIRHERE = = = = = = = 11,552 11,552
— recognition of shares issued - AR ERERRTZRA
on exercise of options 19 335 - - - 88) - - 266
—lapse of share options - BRERH - 4,188 - - - (4,188) - - -
Allocation to statutory reserve ARBETER - - 8562 - = = (8,582) - -
Acquisition of additional equity interests BB 2 BoNEARESR
in a subsidiary - = = = = = - 80 80
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests ~ EFFEERERHRE - - - - - - - (291) (291)
Total transactions with owners REFAETNRSAE 19 4523 8,582 - - 4,276) (8,582) 11,341 11,607
Balance at 31 December 2021 RN E12F31 AfES 499,366 158,026 181414 1,397951 1,083 55,119 1,749,686 1,371,782 5414427

Note: The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC statutory reserve  Fiit : ZEEEETE EBIETBREE#HHEES -

fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made out of profit Mz FEBEEEL BRI R E 4 BB
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC NEVEEM B MERFTREAIBRT LS F] ©
subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit ZHRIBFOREE M B RR AT EAIR
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the Tl mFIH) 10%  BRIFABEERR B BHT B
aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC ANAFEMEARBS0% « EAEREESAA
subsidiaries. The statutory reserve fund can be used to make up prior RBAEPENERRAEFERERE -

years' losses of the PRC subsidiaries.

The notes on pages 208 to 371 are an integral part of these #HRFE208EEE371 BT A
consolidated financial statement. B TRk 2 FERKERTD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

MERERER

EHZE 2022612 A31 BILEE

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIFAR - @RELABTIIE)
2022 2021
2022 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PiisE FERT FAT
Cash flows from operating activities && £ EHNESHRE
Cash generated from/(used in) CEESHTS, (FTA)
operations KR E 37(a) 305,158 (163,860)
Interest received B UFE 56,260 70,701
Interest paid ENFE (44,395) (43,970)
Hong Kong taxation refund BREEFAHIE - 5,181
Overseas taxation paid BHEINRIA (24,647) (45,865)
Net cash generated from/(used in) B EREEFTS, (FTA)
operating activities HIR & FHE 292,376 (177.813)
Cash flows from investing activities REZFHHNREFHE
Decrease in restricted cash PRSI 2R 26 8,156 18,364
Decrease in pledged bank deposit EEARITETORLD 34 155,792 231,848
(Increase)/decrease in bank deposits  $R7T7fEz (3E0) Fi 25 (183,149) 13,426
Purchase of intangible assets BEEEEE 15 (20,612) (24,480)
Purchase of property, plant BAME - BEREE
and equipment 13 (90,363) (64,381)
Purchase of programme and film rights & AR B & EFHriE 12 (12,372) (8,183)
Capital contribution to various MAREZE L E
investments (15,246) (29,251)
Acquisition of an associate s — e A A - (12,188)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMEE
plant and equipment Fri8 5838 36,577 19,165
Investment income from pledged EEPIRITHERAORE WA
bank deposits 2,917 8,719
Redemption/(purchase) of financial b (BE) BATEES
assets at fair value through Bt AR I TS B B
profit or loss 667,839 (144,322)
Dividend from investment in joint WG & R ERE
ventures 16 - 2,038
Net cash generated from investing WERESBIREF5E
activities 549,539 10,755
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EHZE 2022612 A31 BILEE
(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIFAR - @RELABTIIE)
2022 2021
2022 20214
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
PR FERT FAT
Cash flows from financing activities BEEZHNRESHE
Proceeds from exercise of share 1T1E —EM B A ) AR AE
options of a subsidiary Fr1S5k38 - 266
Drawdown of secured bank RAEERRITEE
borrowings 37(b) 5,144 3,620
Repayment of secured bank EERAERRITEER
borrowings 37(b) (143,212) (229,740)
Principal elements of lease payments  THEFIAH A S 55D 37(b) (206,785) (244,741)
Loans from non-controlling M8 A Rl FEFERRAR R
shareholders of subsidiaries RIEER 37(b) - 21,551
Acquisition of additional equity KB A )
interests in subsidiaries (70,388) -
Repayment to non-controlling B EPNGIESE 225
shareholders of subsidiary AR R ER 37(b) (16,115) =
Dividends paid to non-controlling BRI R AR S
interests (73,072) (291)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEHFTAIRE FEE (504,428) (449,335)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash Re MRS FEIAE
and cash equivalents i CRd) F5E 337487 (616,393)
Cash and cash equivalents FReEREFEEE
at beginning of year 1,265,106 1,796,392

Net exchange (loss)/gain on cashand  IR& RIS SEIEEMEN

cash equivalents (E18) /WzFaE (227,781) 85,107
Cash and cash equivalents FHIe MRS FEBEIER
at end of year 27 1,374,812 1,265,106

The notes on pages 208 to 371 are an integral part of these #HNFE208EEF371 Bz [t Az EHE
consolidated financial statement. BATG ek 2 AR D -
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Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

208

General information

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) engage principally in
satellite television broadcasting and provision of internet media
services.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and domiciled in Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of The People's Republic of China (“PRC").
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These financial statements
were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 March
2023.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for the revaluation of investment
properties and financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies and

&R 2022

disclosures

HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group.

(i) Effect of adopting revised standards and
amendments to standards effective in 2022

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds Before Intended Use

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts — Cost of
fufilling a Contract

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
Accounting Guideline b Merger Accounting for Common
(Revised) Control Combinations
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The adoption of the revised standards and
amendments to standards of HKFRS stated above
did not have any significant impact to the Group's
consolidated financial statements in the current and
prior periods.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

210

(b) Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

(ii)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations not yet effective for the Group
and have not been early adopted by the Group

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations have been issued but
are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31

December 2022 and have not been early adopted by

the Group:
HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 8 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKFRS 17

Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statements 2
(Amendments)

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current ?

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction "

Insurance Contracts

Presentation of Financial Statements
- Classification by the Borrower of
aTerm Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause "

Disclosure of Accounting Policies "

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture ©

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback ?

m Effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January

2023

2)

2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on 1 January

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined

These standards are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future

reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unless otherwise specified,

e P BRRME

amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries

(i) Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement

with

the entity and has the ability to affect

those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

(a)

&R 2022

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of subsidiaries is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

2
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

212

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by
acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in
the event of liquidation are measured at either
fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is
required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at
the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in
profit or loss.

2
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(c) Subsidia

e P BRRME

amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration
that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is no
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement.

2
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

214

(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. WWhen necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group's
accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as
transactions with the owners of the subsidiary
in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

2
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(Continued)

(c) Subsidia

e P BRRME

amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

ries (Continued)

(i) Consolidation (Continued)

(c)

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean
that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.

(ii) Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

&R 2022

2
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

216

(d)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’'s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d)

&R 2022

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and
its associates are recognised in the Group's financial
statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates
are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Joint ventures

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures
depending on the contractual rights and obligations each
investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post
— acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. \WWhen the Group's share of losses
in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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(e)

Joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company'’s
functional and the Group'’s presentation currency.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

&R 2022

(ii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and
other assets and liabilities are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other
(losses)/gains, net”

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
nonmonetary financial assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are included in other comprehensive
income.

2

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

(9)

SN ()

(ii)

R 5K eR

SNEZ ZIGERX B RARE
MEtEMIEAMBESHN
RITEXBRE SR
%o B bR 5EE RIR
FRHER IR AINET
ENEBEERABME
EMERER - ARRE
Wan R IER

REH  REeRRLSMHE
A ARAAERS &
BRI 3B A
2% [E A (51R) /K
S ALELTR

BRFERUEMBEEN
BE (ZAFEERE
SACRRBA) ;IRE
BIERER A R RTER S
NFERzm D - BRE
FFERUEMBEE (D
BAEATEEEEME
G &) & R of
HERIOF AR MR
e

219



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

220

(Continued)

(g) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(a)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(9)

(h)

&R 2022

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iv) Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture entity that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control) the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified
to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.
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(Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (h) "% - W& k&

No depreciation is provided on assets under construction
until they are completed and are available for use. No
depreciation is provided on freehold land. Depreciation
of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives at annual rates, as
follows:

2.05-3.33%

shorter of 6.67% — 33.3%
or over the terms
of the leases

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

15% - 20%
10% - 33.3%

Furniture and fixtures

Broadcast operations
and other equipment

Motor vehicles

LED panels

Aircraft

20% - 25%
10% - 11.1%
71%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’'s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2(m)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “Other (losses)/gains, net” in the
consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i)

&R 2022

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the Group. It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment property when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is met. In such
cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted
for as if they were finance leases. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent
prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in the
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain
or loss in “"Other (losses)/gains, net”
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224

(1)

Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries
is included in “intangible assets” Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not subsequently reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose identified according to operating segment.

Licences

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of licences over their estimated useful lives
of two to ten years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalized
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to
four years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(1)

&R 2022

Intangible assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Contractual customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected life of the customer relationship of three
years.

Club debentures

Acquired club debentures are intangible assets with
an indefinite useful life. They are therefore shown
at historical cost and are not amortised. Impairment
assessments on club debentures are carried out
by comparing their recoverable amounts with their
carrying amounts annually and whenever there
is an indication that the intangible assets may be
impaired.

Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as an expense
as incurred.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as
part of the software product include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognized
as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognized
as assets are amortised over their estimated useful
lives, which do not exceed three years.
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(Continued)
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(k)

Purchased programme and film rights

Purchased programme and film rights are recorded at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
Cost of film rights is expensed in the consolidated income
statement on the first and second showing and cost of
purchased programme is expensed in the consolidated
income statement by amortising the cost over the licence
period on a straight line basis.

Purchased programme with licence period of 12 months
or less and film rights with economic lives of 12 months
or less are classified as current assets.

Self-produced programmes

Self-produced programmes are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct production
expenditures and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. Programmes in production that are abandoned
are written off in the consolidated income statement
immediately, or when the revenue to be generated
by these programmes is determined to be lower than
cost, the cost is written down to recoverable amount.
Completed programmes will be broadcast over a short
period of time and their costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement in accordance with a
formula computed to write off the cost over the broadcast
period.
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(m) Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

&R 2022

associates, joint ventures and non-financial
assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary,
associate or joint venture in the period the dividend is
declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee's net assets including goodwill.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

ERETHRME (&)

(m RNHEAR - BEER

al - a2 X LIEMH
BEMNRERE

A T HETE I {E B F IR Y T
EETSTUSE Hed
FERERR - B HIREMFX
BI R BN R 4 BE MR B RRE
B Rl &8 EENRE
8- BEBRZEEREER
BEAKESE (BEERF
BERHERNLEFEREEME
ZEOBREE) HEBEER -
SLRHEREMS @ BERWE
Mo SR E N REKF
(REeELEMN) 8 - EXR
BENFMBEE (BERIN &
KEE R R A Bies 25 A
R E D

FEERERMBAR - BEQR
HEELERNRENBEER
i B EHME AR - BEQ
ARAZEEEET KRS MA
B 2 R AR R - e X fE B
MBRENREREESRHE
KREQAFREERE (BRERE)
REF A M B HRERNEEE - R
AENMBAR - AERHEK
BERRIREETRERNH -

227



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n) Financial instruments

(i)

228

Financial assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI") or through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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(Continued)

(n)

&R 2022

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
profit or loss.
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230

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt
instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost, which include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from related
companies and bank balances. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “Other (losses)/gains,
net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHEE (&)

(Continued)
(n) Financial instruments (Continued) (n) BA%TA (&)
(i) Financial assets (Continued) (i) HMEEE (&)
Measurement (Continued) irZ (&)

Debt instruments (Continued) B TH (B)

. FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection BRATFEHBEAM
of contractual cash flows and for selling the el S |
financial assets, where the assets’ cash RWERE KRR
flows represent solely payments of principal ERLEVBEE
and interest, are measured at FVOCI. mFaHEENIR
Movements in the carrying amount are taken enEERAE R
through OCI, except for the recognition of MEMK - BlZE
impairment gains or losses, interest income BERATEER
and foreign exchange gains and losses which Efh2mEkas ok
are recognised in profit or loss. When the T2 - BREEZS
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative ThiERE M R EI
gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is IR R
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and REWR S S E R M
recognised in “Other (losses)/gains, net” = MBBA RSN
Interest income from these financial assets is PE W2 &2 B HE P 1R

&R 2022

included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains

MR o RIETER
MBEER - SLAl

and losses are presented in “Other (losses)/ PR E M2 S
gains, net” RE) R 3 E
BEREERENS

BEBEHIRH
it (E518) &
FE] hRER - K
BREVBEERN
MBWARAER
M ZEFT AT
A SNEU EE K B
BR [ Hi (E18)
SRR 2751

231



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

232

(n)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI| are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within “Other (losses)/gains, net” in the period
in which it arises.

Equity investments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as “Other
(losses)/gains, net” when the Group's right to
receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in “Other (losses)/gains, net” in
the consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(n)

&R 2022

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement (Continued)
Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized
from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on financial assets measured at
amortised cost other than trade receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit losses
or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred
since initial recognition, then impairment is
measured as lifetime expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit
risk or the proceeds receivables are not settled
in accordance with the terms stipulated in the
agreements, management considers these
receivables as underperforming or nonperforming
and impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit loss.

When management considers that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, the financial
assets measured at amortised cost will be written
off.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

234

(n)

(0)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(ii) Derivatives

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments are recognized
immediately in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories, comprising decoder devices, satellite
receivers and merchandised goods, are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of inventories
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

() Accounts and other receivables

&R 2022

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of accounts and other receivables
is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Accounts and other receivables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment. The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated with its
financial assets. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables.

The Group's other financial assets carried at amortised
cost include other receivables and amounts due from
related companies. The impairment loss of other financial
assets carried at amortised cost is measured based on
the twelve months expected credit loss. The twelve
months expected credit loss is the portion of lifetime
expected credit loss that results from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within twelve
months after the reporting date. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since origination,
the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit loss. See Notes 20 and 21 for further information
about the Group’'s accounting for accounts and other
receivables and Note 3(a)(ii) for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

236

()

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Deferred income

Deferred income represents contract liabilities in relation
to advertising revenue, subscription revenue and
promotion service revenue received in advance from third
party customers while the underlying services are yet to
be provided under HKFRS 15.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

When the Company reacquires its own equity instruments,
the amount of the consideration paid, which includes
directly attributable costs, is recognised as a deduction
from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as treasury
shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve.
No gain or loss shall be recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own
equity instruments. Such treasury shares may be acquired
and held by the Group. Consideration paid or received shall
be recognised directly in equity.

Accounts payable, other payables and
accruals

Accounts payable, other payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured of amortised cost using effective interest
method.
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(V)

(w)

&R 2022

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company,
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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238

(Continued)

(w) Current and deferred income tax

(Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by
the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(x)

&R 2022

Employee benefits

(i)

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for the Hong Kong employees based on
local laws and regulations. Contributions to the
schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries.
The retirement benefit schemes’ costs expensed
in the consolidated income statement represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the
funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement schemes are expensed as incurred and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the schemes prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid.

Pursuant to the relevant local regulations of the
countries where the overseas subsidiaries of the
Group are located, these subsidiaries participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes
and/or set up their own retirement benefit schemes
(the “Schemes"”) whereby they are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions
made to the Schemes are calculated either based on
certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
or fixed sums for each employee with reference to a
salary scale, as stipulated under the requirements in
the respective countries. The Group has no further
obligation beyond the required contributions. The
contributions under the Schemes are expensed in
the consolidated income statement as incurred.
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240

(x)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Bonus plans

The expected bonus payments are recognized
as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the entity receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding
credit to the employee share-based payment
reserve. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions;

o excluding the impact of any service and
nonmarket performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions.
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(Continued)

(x)

&R 2022

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

The fair value of options, at the time of grant is
expensed over the vesting period of these share-
based awards based on an accelerated graded
attribution approach. Under the accelerated graded
attribution approach, each vesting installment of
a graded vesting award is treated as a separate
share-based award, which means that each
vesting installment will be separately measured
and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated
recognition of share-based compensation expense.

Cancellation of share options accompanied by the
grant of replacement share options is accounted for
as a modification of the terms of the cancelled share
options. The compensation costs associated with
the modification are recognised if either the original
vesting condition or the new vesting condition has
been achieved. Such compensation costs cannot
be less than the grant-date fair value of the original
share options. The incremental compensation cost
is measured as the excess of the fair value of the
replacement share options over the fair value of
the cancelled share options at the cancellation
date. Therefore, in relation to the modification, the
Group recognises share-based compensation over
the new vesting periods, which comprises (i) the
amortisation of the incremental portion of share-based
compensation over the remaining vesting term and
(i) any unrecognised compensation cost of original
share option, using either the original term or the
new term, whichever is higher for each reporting
period.
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242

(x)

(y)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Share-based compensation (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

&R 2022

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for goods supplied and services rendered, stated for the
sale net of discounts and after eliminating sales within the
Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the performance
obligations are satisfied by transferring control of a
promised good or service to customer.

(i) Advertising revenue

Advertising revenue is recognised upon the
broadcast or posting of advertisements. The Group
primarily delivers advertisements through telecast
on television, its website and outdoor LED panels.
This performance obligation is satisfied over time
as the advertisers receive and consume benefits
simultaneously provided by the Group when the
advertisements are broadcasted or posted. The
Group applies output method to measure the
revenue. To apply the output method, the transaction
price specified in each contract is allocated into
different advertising timeslots. Each timeslot has its
value determined in the rate cards.

The Group provides other advertising services
allowing customer to post media contents on
the integrated media operating platform. This
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
when the media contents are posted.

(ii) Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income

Mobile, video and wireless value added services
income are recognised in the period in which the
performance obligation is satisfied by transferring
control of a promised service or recognised evenly
in the subscription period.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

244

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Subscription revenue

Subscription revenue received or receivable from
the cable distributors or agents is amortised on a
time proportion basis to the consolidated income
statement. The unamortised portion is classified as
deferred income.

Magazine advertising revenue

Magazine advertising revenue is recognised when
the advertisements are posted in accordance with
the contract advertising period. The Group applies
output method to recognise revenue.

Magazine subscription/circulation revenue

Magazine subscription or circulation revenue
represents subscription or circulation money
received or receivable from customers and is
recognised when the respective magazine is sold.

Sales of decoder devices and satellite receivers

Revenue from sales of decoder devices and satellite
receivers is recognised on the transfer of control on
the goods, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title has passed.

Barter revenue

Barter revenue is recognised at the fair value of
goods or services received or receivable in the
transaction upon the broadcast of advertisements,
the publishing of the magazine or the provision of
promotion services to be provided by the Group in
the barter transaction.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

2 EESTHHEREE (8)

(2)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

WAFER ()

WREWA

B R KRERER D H
A IERE AR B
THHR AR ] L (IR B U
mRAEH o R THHR
#FIERT A

MEESWA

MESBRARESES
KBS HRE LR ER -
&R BER R B DA FERR UL
A °

MR BITRA

R BT AER
Uesk BN R P R B sk 31T
FOE - WIMERIER RS
FriERR o

IRTSER AR M R A R AR
HE

KBRS MR
WamiHENBA TN E m
EIE IR R IR - B
RAB EREEMRXNEP
KA EEREAR -

ZEBA

SEWRATIRASEE S
EXHHRIEHESEL -
AR S S IR B (E RS
B - B 5T WS ER
B an sk RIS 0 QB

"

B

Annual Report 2022



RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(2)

&R 2022

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(viii) Rental income

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

Rental income from investment property is recognised
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.

Tuition revenue

Tuition revenue for educational programs and
services is recognised when the performance
obligation is satisfied by transferring control of
promised services.

IT consultancy service revenue

The Group provides business IT management,
design, implementation and support services under
fixed-price contracts. Revenue from providing
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. The revenue is
recognised based on the actual service provided to
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the
total services to be provided because the customer
receives and uses the benefits simultaneously. This
is determined based on the actual labour hours
spent relative to the total expected labour hours.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts
where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and
payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EESTERHEE (&)
(Continued)

(aa) Leases (aa) HE

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative
stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(aa) Leases (Continued)

&R 2022

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs; and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset'’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise T
equipment and small items of office equipment.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

3

248

(ab) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(ac) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company'’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, PRC
regulatory risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Risk management is mainly carried out by the finance
department (the “Finance Department”) headed by the
Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO") of the Group. The Finance
Department identifies and evaluates financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units to cope with
overall risk management, as well as specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investing excess liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB") and
US dollar (“US$"). Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.
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3
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

To manage their foreign exchange risk arising
from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities, entities in
the Group engage in transactions mainly in
HK$, RMB and US$ to the extent possible. The
Group currently does not hedge transactions
undertaken in foreign currencies but manages
its exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of
its foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities are denominated in a currency
that is not the entity's functional currency.
The Finance Department is responsible for
monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed
to foreign currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the
Group's operations, such as those in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
United Kingdom and the United States is
managed primarily through operating liabilities
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

If the functional currency of the group entities
had weakened/strengthened by 5% (2021:
5%) against the foreign currency of the net
monetary assets of corresponding group
entities, with all other variables held constant,
aftertax profit for the year would have been
HK$122,975,000 (2021: HK$148,177,000)
higher or lower.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to listed securities
price risk because certain investments held by
the Group are classified on the consolidated
balance sheet as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. The Group has
investment in the equity of a publicly traded
entity. For further details of price risk exposed
by the Group, please refer to Note 24.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(c)

PRC regulations

The Group is exposed to certain macroeconomic
and regulatory risks and uncertainties in the
Chinese market. These uncertainties affect the
ability of the Group to provide online advertising,
mobile and Internet related services, and
educational programs and services through
contractual arrangements in the PRC since these
industries remain highly regulated. The Chinese
government may issue from time to time new
laws or new interpretations on existing laws
to regulate this industry. Regulatory risk also
encompasses the interpretation by the tax
authorities of current tax law, the status of
properties leased for the Group’s operations
and legal structure and scope of operations
in the PRC, which could be subject to further
restrictions resulting in limitations on the Group's
ability to conduct business in the PRC. The PRC
government may also require the Group to
restructure its operation entirely if it finds that
the Group's contractual arrangements do not
comply with applicable laws and regulation. It
is unclear how a restructuring could impact the
Group's business and operating results, as the
PRC government has not yet found any such
contractual arrangements to be non-compliant.
However, any such restructuring may cause
significant disruption to the Group’s business
operations.

3

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(a)

R RE = (8)

miEEE (&)

(i)

(c)

o B A

AEERYHHET
BEE T RBKE
SOE IR A R A
RABARE - ZED
PR RFEARE
BEBETENG
HnRHE RERLE
B BB LA
AR RIS AR
BB KRS HORE
ho BARZRETE
RAZ BB ERE
& o BT A] BE
TS B FER L
HIRBEEND
B AEE T
% BERARIA
REBET SRS
BEBENRE
AEBEFERE
BB
EOMENNR K
SRS - 9TTAE
XE—FRE &
HAEEETEE
EEBHEENZR
) o fiaf B8 BT 3%
RAAKENANZ
AR EARA
BREER - AlgeE
EXRANEEEEE
AZER o BETRAR
BREEEERY
LREBEL N
REXE ART
B AL I B 3 3R AT
MAAERNENE
HE o R - EITE
MEAREEREY
BASBENEEE
78 o

Annual Report 2022



RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

(d)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

The Group's cash flow and fair value interest
rate risks primarily arise from bank deposits,
amount due from Shenzhou (Note 21), and
bank borrowings. Bank deposits placed, bank
borrowings and amounts due from Shenzhou
issued at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest-rate risk whereas bank
deposits placed at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. The
Finance Department's policy is to maintain
an appropriate level between fixed-rate and
floating-rate deposits and use interest rate
swap contract to manage certain cash flow
interest rate risks (Note 24).

At 31 December 2022, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest
bearing assets had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$11,426,000 (2021: HK$20,767,000)
higher or lower.

At 31 December 2022, with all other variables
held constant, if the interest rates of interest
bearing liabilities had increased/decreased by
1%, aftertax profit for the year would have
been HK$69,000 (2021: HK$1,184,000) lower
or higher.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, amounts due from related companies,
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as
well as credit exposures to advertising agents
and customers, including outstanding receivables
and committed transactions. The Group has a
receivable from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC amounting to HK$217,864,000 (2021:
HK$696,061,000) representing approximately
3.0% (2021: 7.9%) of the total assets of the Group
as of 31 December 2022. The Group manages its
exposure to credit risk through continual monitoring
of the credit quality of its customers and advertising
agents, taking into account their current and
expected financial positions, business environment
and industry performance, current and forward
looking economic factors, collection history, past
experience and subsequent settlements of debtors
and Shenzhou. For banks, financial institutions and
issuers of derivative financial instruments, only
reputable well established banks and financial
institutions are accepted.

The Group has put in place policies to ensure that
the sales are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Most of the payment terms for advertising revenue
are agreed between the Group and the customers
at the beginning of year. Customers make payments
in accordance with the contract terms. The Group
generally requires its advertising customers in the
television broadcasting segment to pay in advance.
Customers of other business segments are given
credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts
receivable are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected
loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles and the corresponding historical credit
losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors and industry trends affecting
the ability of the debtors to settle the outstanding
balance. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these trade receivables.

Except for certain trade debtors, management
considered the credit risk of trade receivables, other
receivables and amount due from related companies
as low as counterparties have a strong capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term. The Group has assessed the expected
credit losses for these other receivables and amount
due from related companies under 12 months
expected losses.

See Note 19 for further disclosure on credit risk.
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F30E180 HHZEH] -

EUEEARERERREE
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BOBERZMEATMATIE
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ERUESNEREERS
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256

Financial risk management (Continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed
banking facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Finance Department aims to maintain
flexibility in funding by keeping committed banking
facilities available. Details of cash and cash equivalents
and banking facilities are set out in Notes 27 and 28
respectively.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

3

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)

(a)

(iii)

R RE = (8)

REBESEM

RERPETRRERE
wRREENRE MRS
BIHE @ ERTEGER
BRI EEREME TS
BRTEMEES - AN
MEXBHREIEE - B
HRPYE BB T B ARTT
EERFEZORDIE -
RelkReFERBAR
RITEEFHE D RIEHT
5T 27} 28 o

TRIZEMIHEAS S
FAREERIENTEN B R
& DIRERGEERESR
#BH B e T B E
8o ZRARENSEY
REKRBRASRE -

More than More than
one year two years
but not but not
Within exceeding exceeding More than
one year two years five years five years
—F%@E MEZE
—FR TERBMF TRBRE BALE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TR THER THERT
Group PiS . |
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31A8
Accounts payable, other FERERTR - EffEfI30R
payables and accruals RIEFFE 1,195,736 - - -
Secured bank borrowings BEBRITEE 6,534 - - 2,371
Loans from non-controlling LEINGE RS
shareholders of subsidiaries RELER 144,606 10,491 - 21,780
Lease liabilities HEARE 209,442 160,726 386,845 160,498
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A318
Accounts payable, other FEITRRSR - B EREUE
payables and accruals RIEFFE 1,513,294 = = =
Secured bank borrowings BIERITIEE 140,658 = = 2,477
Loans from non-controlling LREINGE RS
shareholders of subsidiaries ~ $REEETR 351,579 1,114 = 27711
Lease liabilities MERE 245,948 199,574 281,285 203,570
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Capital management

&R 2022

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown
in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, adjust the
amounts of borrowings or issue new shares.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at
fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have
been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The Finance Department reviews the valuations of the
Group's financial instruments. The Finance Department
holds discussion with the independent valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed at each interim and annual
reporting dates.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

(b)

(c)

BARER

AEENEAEEBRERE
$EIMﬁW%§%ﬁ*uﬁ
PRERREHO R - WHEFREE
$%%Mﬁ9ﬁ$%%$°%
§$%EF*ﬁFﬁF%%W
2 [#ezs | i EfEEmRTE

%%ﬁim%§$ A RK

AREERAED XN TRRD
H BER - REEATERR
HEEEZ SBENBEITHRD ©

AT

TRAGEED TR A FET
ROFBTE  TRFRZE
FWT

o %ﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%%m:
B RE CREHARE
(FB14R) »

e  BRERE1RNBREN -
BEEXRENEELMH
EHENBARRE (F2
&) o

o WIEENAIEEMISHIE
(BN A m] B SR o A B
M& E S A R AR
(FB3#) »

MBI ERAEEMBE TR
MibE - ERNEFHRFER

& HHETHER - BT
ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ GAENEREE
HEE
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Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31

3

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) FEfL (B)

T&RE25)7M 202212 A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBPBEE

December 2022. ERMBAE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14 F28 #34 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TEr TEn
Financial assets BREE
Financial assets at fair value RATEEBBERTEN
through profit or loss BREE
—Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 14,821 - - 14,821
- Convertible redeemable preferred - ARA R E LR
shares - - 331 331
- Other investments - & - - 72,419 72,419
- Structured deposits - BEIEER - 927,603 - 927,603
14,821 927,603 72,750 1,015,174
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

&R 2022

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31

3

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(c) FEfL (B)

TRE27)M2021F12A31 8
BAFEFENEAEBPBEE

December 2021. EXTBELE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1& F2% E3H @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx T#x TEx
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at fair value RATEEBBERTEN
through profit or loss BREE
—Trading equity securities - HEENRAES 14,317 - - 14,317
- Convertible redeemable preferred - ARA R E LR
shares - - 28,537 28,537
- Other investments - & - - 67754 67754
- Structured deposits - BEEER = 1,595,442 = 1,595,442
14,317 1,595,442 96,291 1,706,050
Financial liabilities HNHas
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEZRBRDRN
through profit or loss g 3=
- Interest rate swap contracts - MEEHAL - 2,708 - 2,708
- 2,708 - 2,708

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or

out of Level 3 (2021: Same).

REE2022F12 8318 IL&F
S WEEREE 22 M
S A F 34 (2021
F 48R o
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3

260

Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm's length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments
are included in level 1. As at 31 December 2022,
instruments included in level 1 comprise shares
of HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC"), an entity
listed on the Stock Exchange, of approximately
HK$14,821,000 (2021: HK$14,317,000) (Note 24).

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair values of structured deposits are determined
by valuation techniques that use observable inputs
such as the price of gold in London Gold Market and
London Interbank Offered Rate that are observable
at commonly quoted intervals while the fair value
of interest rate swap contract is determined by the
valuation technique that uses observable inputs such
as interest rates, yield curves and foreign currency
rates that are observable at commonly quoted
intervals.

3

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
~NHEGE (8)

(c)

(i)

(ii)

E1RAMNEBETR

BRSPS M
TEMATFEEENEE
HEO S MmESS - R
ZAMEN AR S E
HRGmiG - &KHE -
KA EXEER-R
BRI  EE B AT
S WHELEREBE
EREERATFMERS
PR - ZmisAIER A
TEIR o ANEE A MG
BEFANTSHRELSE
THE - ZBETEBRSE
14% o 7220224 12 A 31
B MAFIHFPEHT
B AiEELSERERA
A (EZ] —HERER
FrEmeEe) ki
B {E 4914,821,0007 7T
(20214 : 14,3170007%
7o) (FIE24) ©

F2RANMBE TR

RRBIEF R A THERA
HERMERE - AR
ERRBIEETHENES
BI% - mBRITRAERS
FARE RORERRHEM
EERNABRD AR
B MAXREHEHNA
FEAASERITEE -
BRAKMERFER - et
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

F3R 2022

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii)

Financial instruments in level 3

(1)

Quantitative information about fair value

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

3 MEEREE (&)
(c) AEfEE (8)
(i) EIRAWHBTR

(1) BEEAT AT

measurements using significant unobservable #F Za A ZIRH
inputs (Level 3) nFERZE (F3
R) BIEZER
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable  unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2022 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
R2022% U8R FUEEN
12A31H FER Mg WAHER
it HATE fHER Mg HEE ATENER
HK$'000
TR
Convertible 331 Market approach Lack of marketability 20% The lower the DLOM,
redeemable ik discount (“DLOM") the higher the fair value
preferred shares LHENTE I RENTRE -
TRRTERELR ATEEE
\olatility 50% The lower the volatilty,
L] the higher the fair value
RiEEE  ATEER
Other investments 72419 Market approach and N/A N/A N/A
Atk price derived from NaR TR NaR
observable market
transactions
TRERETHE
RHGILRER
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

262

(c)

(iii)

(1)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)

Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEHET (B)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (iii) FE3IFAMFKEITE (H)
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEATAER
measurements using significant unobservable B+ ZAEE
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£
3RK) HEEEH
(%)
Value of Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation Unobservable unobservable unobservable
Description 31 December 2021 technique(s) inputs inputs inputs to fair value
1H201% B AEEH
127318 AIER EPN 4 GAHER
it MATE EIEGY MEAZE HEE NTENBE
HK$'000
ThL
Convertible 28537 Market Lack of marketability 20% The lower the DLOM,
redeemahle approach discount ("DLOM") the higher the fair value
preferred shares ik s BENTE ANHENTREE
ARRIEENEER AFEER
Volatility 49% The lower the volatility,
iz the higher the fair value
RiESE  ATEER
Other investments 67754 Price derived from N/A N/A N/A
HtriE observable market NER NER NER
transactions

BUEERHEHNER
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

&R 2022

Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(1)

Quantitative information about fair value
measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

The Preferred Shares represent investments in
Series D1-2 convertible redeemable preferred
shares (as at 31 December 2021: Series D1-2
convertible redeemable preferred shares) of
Particle Inc. (“Particle”) by the Group (see
Note 41 for details).

An independent professional valuer adopted
the market approach (2021: market approach)
to first estimate the equity value of Particle,
which was then allocated to Particle’'s common
shares and Preferred Shares using the option
pricing and binomial models.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() RFEM[E (&)

(ili) HFE3PANHMKETE ()

(1)

BT AR
HEBBABIE
HAFEIE (F
34) WEEEN
(#)

BERRELAE
& % Particle Inc.
([Particle]) =z D1-2
Z 5| [ 2 AR AT FE )
BABRIELZEE
(R 2021412 A
318 : D1-2&7l
A] 4% A] fE BB 5T
B%) (FF15:8 RMsE
41) »

B EEGER
A ™%% (2021
F:mBE) UE
% & FtParticle Z
IRAEE - #ifm A
HEFEER AN
Xz iR
Particle < Z 8% &
B -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

(iii) Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

3 MBEREE (&)
() AFEM[E (&)

(ili) HFE3PANHMKETE ()

(1) Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEHT B
measurements using significant unobservable B+ ZAEE
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£

3R) HEEEH
(%)
The following table presents the changes in TREIEIRT
level 3 instruments during the year ended BB 2£20224F
31 December 2022. 12A318 L& E
B -
Convertible
redeemable
preferred Other
shares  investments Total
GIE:T)
B HEE HitiRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
FHExT FEx FTHExT
(Note 24)
(MtzE24)
Opening balance on 20221 A1H
1 January 2022 2 EREERR 28,537 67,754 96,291
Additions NE - 15,246 15,246
Fair value loss REmFERZ AFE
recognised in profit or loss 518 (28,376) (3,899) (32,275)
Currency translation HiHmE =
differences 170 (6,682) (6,512)
Closing balance on R2022% 12 A31H
31 December 2022 2 FRAEER 331 72,419 72,750

264
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(c)

(iii)

(1)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HRERERERE (F)
Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AFEHET (B)
Financial instruments in level 3 (Continued) (ili) HFE3PANHMKETE ()
Quantitative information about fair value (1)  BEEATAER
measurements using significant unobservable B+ ZAEE
inputs (Level 3) (Continued) BN FlEEE (£
3R) HEEEH
€=
Convertible
redeemable
preferred Other
shares investments Total
BIE:di)
A fEEIB A% HiRE #ET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET & T
(Note 24)
(MizE24)
Opening balance on K2021F1H1H
1 January 2021 2 FHEERR 36,431 32,877 69,308
Additions N - 29,251 29,251
Fair value (loss)/gain RSP ER 2 AFE
recognised in profit or loss (E18) /W (7075) 4,353 (2,722)
Currency translation EHsmE s
differences (819) 1,273 454
Closing balance on 7R2021 612 H31H
31 December 2021 2 FREERR 28,637 67,754 96,291
Quantitative sensitivity analysis 2) EEHFEESNT

&R 2022

2)

No sensitivity analysis for other investments
and convertible redeemable preferred shares
amounting to HK$72,419,000 and HK$331,000
as at 31 December 2022 (as at 31 December
2021: HK$67,754,000 and HK$28,537,000) is
presented as a reasonably possible change
in key assumptions used in the sensitivity
analysis would not result in any significant
potential financial impact.

I & 2 51 12022
F12A8318H 8 &£
fh 1% & K 7] #2 R
CIN - R
72,419,0007%8 7T &
331,000 JT ( %
2021512 A318 :
67754,0005 7T &
28,637,000 7T) Z
BREEDW - RE
BERE DT AT
AREZEREZE
Balge LT E
EETMBEENE
e -
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3

(d) Offsetting financial assets and financial

The following financial assets are subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BHERERE (&)
(d) EHEMBEELETBE

&

AT B EESLIEE - 7585
WITR—FREE P REL

agreements. AR o
Gross amounts Related amounts
of recognized ~ Netamounts of  not set off in the
Gross amounts ~ financial liabilities  financial assets balance sheet
of recognized setoffinthe  presented in the cash collateral
financial assets balance sheet halance sheet received Net amount
BHER
BERRRA
REE REE i A il ]
BERNEH BERNZS &8
ERH PARE g EBEE ghEe
BESE BELE et i et
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén Thn Tén TEn Thn
As at 31 December 2022 R202%5124310
Accounts receivable, net RS
-Subjecttomasternetting - RE—FERERIER
arrangement (Note ) UiE) 466,359 - 466,359 (13562) 452,197
- Not subject to master -UARG—FREERIER
netting arrangement 433,423 - 433,423 - 433,423
899,782 - 899,782 (13,562) 886,220
As at 31 December 2021 R2021E12 4317
Accounts receivable, net RUETR
-Subjecttomasterneting - RE—FELEZHER
arrangement [Note i (W) 560,382 = 560,382 (20,203) 540,179
- Not subject to master - UARG—FRREERIER
netting arrangement 476,948 - 476,948 - 476,948
1,037330 - 1,037330 (20,203 1017127
Notes: BT
(i) Internet advertising customers have provided cash collateral (i EMARERFPENAER

to the Group of HK$13,562,000 (2021: HK$20,203,000) as
protection for payment and contractual obligations under
the terms of advertising sale agreements. The Group has
the right to invoke the collateral if a customer has failed to
settle outstanding payments or full contractual obligations.

2 13,562,0007% 7T (2021
£ 120,203,000 7T) 2]
SHEAR  FAEBRLHER
HERETHNREAOE
FZREE - HBEPREELTE
MRKBREHEHNES
ANEE A EE R AR

=]
AA °
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements

(a)

&R 2022

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i)

(ii)

Fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

The fair values of financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss that are not traded in
an active market are determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses its judgement to select
a variety of methods and make assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at
the end of each reporting period. For details, refer to
Note 3(c)(iii).

Provision for impairment of receivables

Significant judgement is exercised in the assessment
of the collectability of accounts receivable, other
receivables, amounts due from related companies
and the receivable from an advertising agent,
Shenzhou. In making such judgement, management
considers a number of factors including but not
limited to the debtors’ current and expected financial
positions, business environment and industry
performance, current and forward looking economic
factors, collection history, past experience and
subsequent settlements of debtors and Shenzhou.

4

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)
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2EE - BEXERMNE

BT -VHRFEEERREN
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(i)
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BBEE AEZATE

WERRNZEERTISEE
IR A HEEBBSLCR
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ERAGEXMEE - &
S B (L HI BT AR SR
TERER T EERER
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& o FHIBH2HMEE3(E)
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FEW R R E R
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

268

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions, including Hong Kong and the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current
and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determination is made. For the
Group's tax exposure in the PRC, please refer to
Note 9.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined
by using valuation technique. Details of the
judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in
Note 14.

Recognition of share-based compensation
expense

The Group adopts the Black-Scholes option pricing
model to determine the fair value of share options
at the grant date. Significant estimates and
assumptions are required to be made in determining
the parameters for applying the Black-Scholes
model, including estimates and assumptions
regarding the risk-free interest rate, expected
dividend yield and volatility of the underlying shares
and the expected life of the share options. Changes
in these estimates and assumptions could affect the
determination of the fair value of the options, and
the amount of such share-based awards expected
to become vested, which may in turn impact the
determination of the share-based compensation
expense.

4

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)
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(iv)

(v)
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4 Critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

(b) Critical judgements in applying the Group'’s

accounting policies

Control over Phoenix Metropolis Media Technology
Company Limited (“PMM Beijing”)

Management considers that the Group has de facto
control of PMM Beijing even though it has less than
50% of the voting rights up to 26 December 2022.
Management has exercised its critical judgement when
determining whether the Group has de facto control
over PMM Beijing by considering the following, amongst
others: (i) the Group has obtained effective control over
majority of the board of PMM Beijing; (ii) the Group has
the ability to direct the relevant activities of PMM Beijing,
i.e. the activities that significantly affect PMM Beijing;
and (iii) PMM Beijing and other shareholders highly rely
on the Group’s industry expertise, brand, network, and

reputation.

5 Revenue and segment information

The Group is principally engaged in satellite television
broadcasting and the provision of internet media services. An

4

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

EREAFT R A (&)

(b) NEMAEESEBOR

S L

HREERTEENEROER
27 (t=BEET ) #ZH
L

ERERE BEALEER
202212 26 AR B L R
BlLEEBTH 2 RIFEENB0%
BEAEEEILABEBHHES
BRI TEEREEAR
SEHIEREESHTESE
ERIEHEN  ZRTIEE
(84 ((NEEEEL
TEERSmATHEEESNE
BRIEGHIRE : (D ANEEpe 8L
REBE TR AREES (BNY
ItRBEESBMEERFE NN

1) ¢ R i b = EUE K
Hiplr R B EKEAEE T
FME - b PR REE -

WARZEER

ARENERXBERBEERERER
REEBAERRY - RIEE S EN

analysis of the Group's revenue by nature is as follows: AREBBASHTAOT
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Advertising sales EEIEE
Television broadcasting BRERE 978,833 610,150
Internet media bG48 809,420 1,093,546
Outdoor media FoMEes 785,341 942,977
Mobile, video and wireless TRED ~ AR SR R ARG E RS
value added services income 123,825 154,239
Subscription sales AR & WA 59,020 64,404
Magazine advertising and MR ES LA BT
subscription or circulation 32,280 33,204
Rental income GiEE A ON 38,879 41,359
Others Hiftb 176,135 219,361
3,003,733 3,159,240
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Revenue and segment information 5

(Continued)

The operating segments have been based on the reports
reviewed by executive directors that are used to make strategic
decisions. The executive directors consider the business from a

product perspective.

The Group has five main operating segments including:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Television broadcasting — broadcasting of television
programmes and commercials and provision of promotion

services;

(a)

Primary channels, including Phoenix Chinese
Channel and Phoenix InfoNews Channel.

Others, including Phoenix Movies Channel, Phoenix
North America Chinese Channel, Phoenix Chinese
News and Entertainment Channel, Phoenix Hong
Kong Channel, integrated media operating platform

Internet media — provision of website portal and value-
added telecommunication services;

Outdoor media — provision of outdoor advertising services;

Real estate — property development and investment
(mainly Phoenix International Media Centre in Beijing); and

Other activities — programme production and ancillary
services, merchandising services, magazine publication
and circulation, and other related services.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

WARTDEER (&)

REDBIRBEBAPTESTENITA
REBORRNOMEMETE - BITES
eEMBEOMTEERS -

AEESREIBETIERENHE B
SC

() BREE-EBRHERESE
BARRHEERS

(a) E2IEE - BREEEER
PXERBRERER

& o

(b) Hft - BEREFHRER
a - BE&EEEMNE B
BEEREMNE - BEGR
EEE  MEBEETS
KEA -

(i) EHFAEEEE - 2 AT
BRI ERT

(i) PINEEE - RHPINES IR
7

(iv) BHE-MEERRKRE (X
ZRURIERNBEBBEREHK
i) R

(v)  EAER - 8 E R EREER

% BRI - MRS AR R 3
17 AR EMAERIRT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE PSRRI

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEER (8)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022
BEANENANALEE
Television broadcasting
ERER Inter
Primary Intemet ~ Outdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate activities  elimination Group

TERE L Nt OEBRRRE  FARRE RME  RERE 2ERME %A
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000

T Tn Thrn T Tn Tn T T T

Revenue WA

External saes HEE 698883 31911 1077964 93345 785341 38819 168304 - 3,003,733

Intersegment sales (Note ¢] ABHEE (Miko) - 86,940 86,940 14,721 26 35,145 4605  (142217) -
Total revenue LN 698,853 466,051 1,164,904 947966 785,547 74,624 172,909 (142217) 3,003,733
Timing of revenue recognition ~ WATEE

Atpointin time KRS - 60,078 60,078 96,507 - - - - 156565

QOver time EERR 698,853 319,033 1,017,886 836,738 785,341 3,796 168,304 - 2,812,065
Revenue from other source EfpRBRMA - - - - - 35,083 - - 35,083

698,853 39mM 1,077964 933,245 785,341 38,879 168,304 - 3,003,733

Segment results L (155,493) 106,252 (49.241)  (183407) 115,955 8,208 (83,841) - (192,306)
Unallocated income (Note ) RARMA (Hia) 45,205
Unallocated expenses Noteb) ~~ RAERX (Ffitb) (263,086)
Loss before share of restlts Ehaglhs/ue

of joint ventures/associates, R

income tax and non-controlling.  RIEERRER A

interests B (410,187)
Share of profits less losses ElhagrsEn

of joint ventures HEE 1430
Share of profits less losses - {i N

of associates HEE (9,056)
Income tax expense HEHER (29,820
Loss for the year EEEE (447633
Non-controling interests FRER 65,133
Loss atiributable to owners NG g

of the Company B (382,500)
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARZEER (&)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022
BENNENANALEE
Television broadcasting
E Inter-
Primary Intemet ~ Outdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others  Sub-total media media estate activities  elimination Group
T A Mt ER@RE  FAMRRE BHE  ERE  AEEHE A5
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
T Thn TEn TEn T Thn TEn TEn T
Depreciation il (9,239) (15,432) (24,671) (44332)  (190,981) (28441) (29,825) - (318.250)
Unallocated depreciation FALNE (25,369)
(343,619)
Interest income FISHA 1 3740 34 37264 11,650 432 315 - 53,462
Unallocated interestincome RARHEMA 2798
56,260
Interest expenses fISH% - (95) (95) (3,985)  (35,566) - (2,720) - (42,366)
Unallocated interest expenses ~ AARFIEER (2,029)
(44,395)
Provision for impairment TN R
of accounts receivable: - (42) (42) (36,247) - - (2,178) - (38.467)
Reversal of provision for impairment RSN ER B EE
of accounts receivable - M2 M2 63,996 2, - - - 66,919
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5 Revenue and segment information

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

5 WARZTEEFR (&)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021
BRANENANALER
Television broadcasting
EERE Inter
Primary Internet Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others Subrotal media media estate activities  elimination Group
TERE fy Nt OEBEEE  FIRE BHE  EfEE  HBREH K58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T T T Tin T T Tin Tin
Revenue WA
External sales e 630,863 72802 703705 1,47785 9429717 41,359 23414 - 3159240
Intersegment sales (Note ¢] ABREE (ko) - 49,203 49,203 30,305 3154 3,128 6435 (124225) -
Total revenue 10N 630,863 122,045 752,908 1,278,090 946,131 76,487 229,849 (124225) 3,159,240
Timing of revenue recognition ~ WATEE
Atpointin time KRS - - - 113008 - - 11,913 - A
QOver time BERE 630,863 72842 703706 1134777 42971 2,535 21,501 - 299%4%
Revenue from other source EHRBHRA - - - - - 38824 - - 38824
630,863 72842 703706 1,247785 942971 41359 23414 - 359,240
Segment results L (46,160) (89,555) (135,715) 300,346) 207038 (1716) (130.195) - (366,934)
Unallocated income (Note ) KA (Hiita) 5,342
Unallocated expenses (Notebl AR (H3th) (232,559)
Loss before share of results ﬁfﬁé%ﬁﬁ/ Eﬁ?%
of joint ventures/associates, ek N
income tax and non-controlling ~ RFERR “1’& 3
interests B (544,151)
Share of profits less losses e yai)]
of oint ventures B 5070
Share of profits less losses N i)
of associates B (1,885
Income tax expense HERRY 84272
Loss for the year EEEE (625,238)
Non-contraling interests FlER 169,037
Loss atiributable to owners LN N
of the Company B (456,201)
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5 Revenue and segment information
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5 WARZTEEFR (&)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2021
BRANENANALER
Television broadcasting
EERE Inter
Primary Internet Qutdoor Real Other ~ segment
channels Others Subrotal media media estate activities  elimination Group
TERE Eff PG EREEE  PIME BHE  AbxE  HREEHE 558
HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
Tin Tin TET Tin i T T i Tin
Depreciation e 6,818) (14,144) (20,962) (676001 (180,385) (40,238) (30,042) - (33922)
Unalocated depreciation FolE (29.905)
369,132)
Interest income MEHA - b4 h4 56,861 92719 30 81 - 67855
Unallocated interestincome AARHEHA 2846
70,701
Interest expenses keSS - (99) (99) (2694 (30433 919) (3.091) - 37236)
Unallocated interest expenses A AEAIEF% (6,734
43,970)
Provision for impaiment EUETRERE
of accounts receivable - (841) (841 22399 (10,097) - o - (234941)
Notes: MI3E -
(@) Unallocated income represents exchange gain, interest income, @ AOBBAEER K= F 2K

investment income and other income.

(b) Unallocated expenses represent primarily:

— corporate staff costs;

— office rental;
—  general administrative expenses;
— marketing and advertising expenses related to the Group =
as a whole; and
—  exchange loss.

A~ BERAREAMBA -

b)  AROEFHAXERA :

UNCII= I NE
WAEHS

—RITHRER
HAEBEEBEBENTISH
BRELSER: &

ELER -

(c)  Sales between segments are carried out based on terms € HDEMEEDNKRERELEMRE

determined by management with reference to market prices.

IREETE 2 IRHCETT -
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5 Revenue and segment information 5
(Continued)

Revenue from external customers by country/region, based on
the destination of the customer:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

BWARDEER (&)

KEIATFPHRARBER &
(REEFFPZBMMmE) 25007

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

The PRC s 2,896,777 3,056,100
Hong Kong &5 61,319 48,607
Others Efth 45,637 54,533
3,003,733 3,159,240

Non-current assets, other than deferred income tax assets, by
country/region:

FRBEE GEEHBREER)
RERHEZIAT

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

The PRC s 2,800,075 3,047,554

Hong Kong B 285,095 314,799
Others Hi 32,792 37674
3,117,962 3,400,027
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6 Other operating (losses)/gains, net

276

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

Hpieg (BB &

L
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Exchange (loss)/gain, net EH (F18) /et FH (113,011) 45,045
Investment income JEWA 2,917 8,719
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial ZAFEEBERLENIBEEE
assets and liabilities at fair value ~ REBENAFE (FiE) /WS
through profit or loss
Investment in Particle Inc. Particle Inc. 1% & (28,376) (7.075)
Other financial assets HEtyBEERBE
and liabilities (3,899) 12,342
Impairment of investment RZ A E QR 2 R ERE
in associates (8,031) —
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - HE KEENRE
plant and equipment 18,602 2,004
Reversal of tax provision for BEHEEAFEEBIESLEN
the disposal of financial assets ~ BIEEE N B BT TG
and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 74,185 —
Government subsidy BR AT R B 18,375 9,124
Others, net HhF5 2,082 6,212
(37,156) 76,371
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

7 Loss before income tax BRETEBAIEE
The following items have been (credited)/charged to the loss THEBEEARFERNRBRETEBA]
before income tax during the year: BEA (GEA) /I
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Crediting A
Reversal of provision for JFE R B SR (B B A B [
impairment of accounts
receivable (66,919) -
Gain on disposal of HEME - HE KEENIRE
property, plant and equipment (18,602) (2,004)
Charging HeR
Production costs of self-produced B £&0 B RLVER A
programmes 203,833 161,887
Commission expenses e 185,590 280,675
Bandwidth costs R 54,776 67,953
Provision for impairment JE IR BR SR (B B
of accounts receivable 38,467 234,941
Provision for impairment of HoAth W GRIER (B B
other receivables 11,739 -
Employee benefit expenses EERAER (BREES=HS)
(including Directors’
emoluments) 1,316,844 1,332,337
Operating lease rental in THEEHERS
respect of
- Directors' quarters -EEEE - 2,166
- Land and buildings — -F=ENTHREF
of third parties 15,429 31,792
— LED panels - LED#RF 7,265 22,685
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BEMRENEIE
plant and equipment 5,374 3,014
Depreciation of property, M - BEREEITE
plant and equipment 118,470 146,162
Depreciation of right-of-use FRAEEENE
assets 225,149 222,970
Amortisation of purchased [ YNCEWSERATT $: 5o
programme and film rights 10,457 10,302
Amortisation of intangible assets /& E# 20,241 18,719
Impairment of intangible assets  EF A ERE 1,204 =
Auditor's remuneration ZEENE S
- Audit services - ZBURTS 13,826 14,979
— Non-audit services - EEHRTS 925 886
Outgoings for investment wEMEZ X H
properties 2,749 2,174
Termination fee of KIFHESHNEA
a lease contract 14,880 -
F1f 2022 277
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8 Employee benefit expenses
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(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

8 EEEMNEH

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Wages, salaries and other IE& - e kEAMER
allowances 1,284,493 1,301,450
Unutilised annual leave RAAER 2,154 (1,934)
Pension costs — defined RIS - EREHKETE
contribution plan, net (FBR#BOZ W) (Mista)
of forfeited contributions
(Note a) 21,023 21,269
Share-based compensation LARZ R 1< SR B F 18
expense 9,174 11,552
1,316,844 1,332,337

Pensions — defined contribution plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution
pension schemes in accordance with the respective
subsidiaries’ local practices and regulations. The Group is
obligated to contribute funding to these plans based on
various percentages of the employees’ salaries or a fixed
sum per employee with reference to their salary level. The
assets of these schemes are generally held in separate
trustee administered funds.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with a defined
contribution provident fund scheme and the Group is
required to make monthly contribution to the scheme
based on 10% of the employees’ basic salaries. Forfeited
contributions are used to offset the employer’s future
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
aggregate amount of the employer’s contributions was
approximately HK$14,799,000 (2021: HK$17,070,000)
and the total amount of forfeited contributions was
approximately HK$1,383,000 (2021: HK$1,549,000).

Since 1 December 2000, the employees in Hong Kong
can elect to join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”). The MPF Scheme was introduced
pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation
introduced in 2000. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group
and each of the employees make monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income as
defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation.

(a)

BT - ERETGTE

NEBERBEHBERRED
BB RERZBELZEHTER
HTGR RST8] - REBEAR
BEF SN TRLLL RN EBEH
LRBEGEZREBUEESHE
RS EREES - 25s
EMEE—MAGETABILE
ERESFEE -

EXREERBETEMER
NHEeEE MAKEZA
AEEEEARF S H
10% M) &% &t &l 8 B 4 3o
WS R T AR K S =
By K R4 3k B E20224
12 A3 HIEFE @ EEAHFR
F 5 #714,799,0007% 7t (2021
& :17070,00077T) © M2
W 1 5% 48 BE /& 491,383,000 %8
7T (20214F : 1,549,000/ 7T) °

B 2000F12 A1 B » HERE
BAEEMARSEAESE
gl ([aEeTE) - BESE
21 T51R B 7 2000 G B AR HY 35
MRESEPIHEL - BIRRE
e 8 AEBERSEEES
RizEEHRBRANLS% (F&
Roabl MR ED) mZs
SIVEH R -
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8 EERNEH (8|

8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

(a)

Pensions — defined contribution plans
(Continued)

Both the employer’s and the employees’ contributions
are subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000 from 1 June 2014 onwards for each employee.
For those employees with monthly relevant income less
than HK$7,100, since 1 November 2013, the employees’
contributions are voluntary.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the aggregate
amount of employer’s contributions made by the Group to
the MPF Scheme was approximately HK$5,052,000 (2021:
HK$3,185,000) and there was no forfeited contributions
(2021: Nil).

(a)

BT - RS
(#&)

E2014F6A1H#E  BEXx X
EEMHFHEXEREES
A FEE Y% A 30,0007 7T A _EBR
Fr#MR - 2T AMEBEKA LD
71008 T fE B - 52013
F1MA1BR  ZEEERNE
FAVEH IR -

B £2022F12A31H 1 F
B AEBEmARESEEY
/Y& £ 4R %E 5 495,052,000
# 7t (20214 : 3,185,000/
JL) W R W R (2021
Fom) o

(b) Five highest paid individuals and senior b) AZEmFALTEEHK
managements’ emoluments EEABZHE

The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the AEBEEET2022F12A318

year ended 31 December 2022 included no director FtFEzREHERHFALTH

(2021: one former director) and three members of senior mBEESE Q21F: — %

management (2021: two). The aggregate emoluments AMEE) R=FZRABEAE

paid/payable to the five highest paid individuals during the (20214 : WB) - FRENR

year are as follows: FERS T A% = 5 A T 89 42 B

S

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHTT

Salaries e 13,164 17440

Discretionary bonus BB B A TEAT 6,365 6,311

Housing allowance B EERL 1,547 2,535

Pension costs RIS A 925 577

22,001 26,863
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8 Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

280

(b)

Five highest paid individuals and senior
managements’ emoluments (Continued)

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals (2021:
five highest paid individuals) fall within the following

bands:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

8 EERNEH (8

hEasEETmATESHR
EEABZHE (8)
bEmEma AL (2021%F : |
FEREHAL) SN T
TEE :

Number of individuals

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000
HK$6,000,001 — HK$6,500,000
HK$7500,001 — HK$8,000,000

3,000,001 /7T - 3,500,000/8 7T
3,500,001 /& 7T — 4,000,000/8 7T
4,500,001 /87T - 5,000,000 % 7T
5,500,001 7 7T — 6,000,000 /& 7T
6,000,001 /7T - 6,500,000/8 7T
7500,001 77T — 8,000,000 7T

During the year, no emoluments or incentive payments
were paid or payable to the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join the Group or as compensation for

loss of office (2021: Nil).

AE
2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
2 —_
1 2
1 —_
- 2
1 —_
5 5

FRTERNREREFALTS
5F Bk FE 1 A o] B <& Bk 22 D 4
B MIEAMARSE®R
Bk 1E A RER (8 (2021 4F -
£
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

9 Income tax expense FreBiER
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% BRNBHIIEAF R HER G
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. F A 16.5% (20214 : 16.6%) Fit K
Taxation on PRC and overseas profits has been calculated on B - B KB INGE T B TR IR AR
the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of FEMGEETRERT RN - ZAEEZE
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates. BAIERROBRITIHENE -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Current income tax & HFT1S TR
— Hong Kong profits tax - BBNIEH - 244
- PRC and overseas taxation - P RGINRIE 32,329 89,576
Deferred income tax (Note 33) EIEFTEH (FIFE33) (2,509) (5,548)
29,820 84,272
On 20 January 1998, the PRC State Administration of Taxation 19984 1 A20H + ER TR
granted a Tax Ruling of Business Tax and Foreign Enterprise BRALE B P EES BN UK
Income Tax on certain of the Group's advertising fees collected RETESERHEEHNINEIRE
from an advertising agent, Shenzhou in the PRC (the “Ruling”). EMBRBBEE (ZHE]) -
The Group has dealt with the aforementioned taxes according REBDBEZEENGEAEUMBERER
to the Ruling in the consolidated financial statements. However, WERIE EAFiIE - A - PEIEER
PRC tax laws and regulations and the interpretations thereof WoEE AR KRB RE T eEE)
may change in the future so that the Group would be subject to WAEBERBERE THKEERE
PRC taxation on certain income deemed to be sourced in the (BEBRIN) S H A SR T
PRC other than Hong Kong. The Group will continue to monitor TR - NEBBEEHR PR AR
developments in the PRC tax regime in order to assess the HEA R IAFHEZ R ENER A K
ongoing applicability and validity of the Ruling. 15 o
F1f 2022 281
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Income tax expense (Continued)

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of the
location in which the Company operates as follows:

Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

FresiEA (8

RE BRI S B AT E B ET BT
18 - EIRAAR R TR FY A
MELRIEMNRNEZRMOT

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss before income tax BRET1S T AT E1E (417,813) (540,966)
Calculated at a taxation rate RAERZE 16.5% 515 (20214 : 16.5%)
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (68,939) (89,259)
Income not subject to taxation BAERBUA (24,418) (8,630)
Expenses not deductible DA AT R A E A
for taxation purposes 33,070 37125
Tax losses not recognised RERRIBEE 126,506 181,033
Effect of different tax rate EmERGFEREENTE
in other countries (9,837) (12,002)
Effect of tax exemptions TR BB A R IR e R e R R 2
and concessions granted
to PRC subsidiaries (10,107) (10,683)
Utilisation of previously E R SRR R FIBEE
unrecognised tax losses (16,455) (13,312)
Income tax expense RS ER 29,820 84,272
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10 Loss per share

(a)

&R 2022

Basic

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

10 BREE

(a)

R

BREABERDREARRHE
BABEEEBRAFAND #IT
BB IR OGS -

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

Loss attributable to owners AN R)#EA AFE(EEE (FT)

of the Company ($'000) (382,500) (456,201)
Weighted average number B 2775 @AM N9 80 (FA%)

of ordinary shares in issue

('000) 4,993,650 4,993,650
Basic loss per share BREREE (BI)

(Hong Kong cents) (7.66) (9.14)

Diluted

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Group has dilutive potential ordinary shares
which comprise share options of the Company and a
subsidiary (2021: share options of the Company and a
subsidiary).

(b)

BE

BREEERDERKME S
SHEEEBRE LBRERT -
AT E AR I
BYHEEE - AEEFHE
BETBER  EEEARAR
— P & & B &9 8 A 4 (2021
F AR R KB R RN
AE) -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
10 Loss per share (Continued) 10 SREE (&)
(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) #F (&)

There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares in 2022 FI WA EEEEE Y

existence during 2022 as the share options of the B BAERRREMBAR

Company and a subsidiary were antidilutive. BRI E R RETE R -
2022 2021
2022 F 20214

Loss attributable to owners AQ @B AEREE (F7T)
of the Company ($'000) (382,500) (456,201)

Weighted average number B 2775 @A N9 80 (FA%)
of ordinary shares in issue
('000) 4,993,650 4,993,650

Weighted average number A% EE 18 A L BA%

of ordinary shares nEEEE (FR)

for diluted loss per share

('000) 4,993,650 4,993,650
Diluted loss per share ERESEEE OB1L)

(Hong Kong cents) (7.66) (9.14)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

11 Dividends 11 BRE
No dividend had been paid or declared during the year. FABBKREHEIRKRE - NRAFIE
The Board of Directors of the Company (“Board”) did not Fe ([EFg]) TEFAMEIRE
recommend the payment of final dividend to shareholders for #HZE2022F12 A31 HIEFER KA
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). A% B (20214 : £) -
12 Purchased programme and film rights, net 12 BAGBREZIREFHR
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHTT
Balance, beginning of year FHEERR 13,641 16,730
Additions NE 12,372 8,183
Amortisation i3 (10,457) (10,302)
Others Hity (1,044) (970)
Balance, end of year FIRERR 14,512 13,641
Less: Purchased programme B BARTE RERE
and film rights
— current portion — BPEREL D (305) (707)
14,207 12,934

F3R 2022

285



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited
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e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13 Property, plant and equipment, net

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

13 1% BERRERHE

Broadcast
Leasehold  Furniture  operations
Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED Construction
land  Buildings -ments fixtures equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft in progress Total
KA Bg Bk EEEER
£ i BR  MEEE %E  HitRE A& LEDERE R REIE st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
Thn TEn TEn TEn Tén TEn TEn Thn Tén TEn
(Note a) (Note b)
(zta) (Hfztb)
Year ended HZ2025128
31December 2022 31ALEE
Openingnetbook  FAIHAFE
amount 12,066 455,766 80,057 113 131975 4322 40,656 11,622 - 131581
Additions HE - - 10,766 176 49,838 402 83 - 29,098 90,363
Disposals i3 - - - (1) (12.957) (99) (1,696) (8,581) - (23,349)
Depreciation i - () (19882) (450) (49242  (1387)  (17131)  (3.041) - (18410)
Transfer B - - - - - - 10921 - (10921) -
Currency translation ~ EHAEEE
differences (434)  (33,862) (2,461) (58) (6,045) (260) (3,618) - (570)  (47308)
Closingnetbook ~ FABEFE
amount 11632 394471 68,520 175 113,569 3,028 29215 - 17607 638823
At 31 December R2022%
2022 12A318
Cost A& 1632 675206 518656 28721 91075 34755 149,044 - 17607 2,346,366
Accumulated ZHAERAE
depreciation
and impairment - (280,729)  (450,136) (27946)  (797176)  (31,7271)  (119,829) - - (1,707543)
Net book amount HEFE 11632 394471 68,520 775 113,569 3,028 29215 - 17607 638823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE PSRRI

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIERFRIRLRR - SRABTTINE)
13 Property, plant and equipment, net 13 Y%  BERREFHE
(Continued) (&)
Broadcast
Leasehold ~ Furniture  operations
Freehold improve and  and other Motor LED Construction
land  Buildings -ments fixtures  equipment  vehicles panels Aircraft in progress Total
KA B  BAR EREE

REH BT URRE KB HtRk AE  LEDETR ik ERIRE it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000
TR TR TR TEn  TEn TR TAn  TEn  TAn TR

(Note a) (Note b

(Bzka) (HfzEb)
Year ended HEaNE
31December2021 1231 BIL5E
Openingnetbook  FAIBEZE
amount 11,933 464,086 101,397 1,485 151,182 5409 58,605 18921 - 813,018
Additions AE = - 8,260 393 54,359 455 914 - - 64,381
Disposals HE - - (14) W (1963) (41) (479) = - 0w
Depreciation i - (991 30922) (785)  (67232) (1,634 (20,299 (7299) - (146,162)
Curency translation ~ SE#EZE
differences 133 19,671 1,336 34 3,302 133 1915 - - 26,524
Closing net book EREREE
amount 12,066 455,766 80,057 1123 131,975 4,322 40,656 11,622 - 737587
At31December  H2021%
2021 12318
Cost A 12,066 733,876 521,189 30,036 942,655 42,733 185,326 88871 - 2,556,752
Accumulated ZAHTERRE
depreciation and
impairment = (2781100 (441,132) (28913)  (810,680) (3841)  (144,670) (77249) - (1,819,165)
Net book amount EEFE 12,066 455,766 80,057 1123 131,975 4322 40,656 11,622 - 7137587
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

13 Property, plant and equipment, net
(Continued)

288

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$69,414,000 (2021:
HK$84,830,000) has been charged in “Operating expenses’ and
approximately HK$49,056,000 (2021: HK$61,332,000) has been
charged in “Selling, general and administrative expenses’

(a)

Included in the net book value as of 31 December 2022 is
an amount of HK$19,885,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
HK$20,585,000) which relates to the Group's entitlement
to use 10,000 square metres in the Shenzhen Building. As
at 31 December 2022, the cost was HK$30,848,000 (as at
31 December 2021: HK$30,848,000) with a net book
value of HK$19,885,000 (as at 31 December 2021:
HK$20,585,000). As at 31 December 2022, the Group
was still in the process of obtaining the title certificate to
the 8,500 square metres of the entitled areas through the
payment of land premium and taxes (see Note 35(i)(b)).

As of 31 December 2022, the Group was still in the
process of renewing and obtaining certain licences of
LED panels. The Directors are of the opinion that the
licences will be obtained in the near future and the risk of
noncompliance with laws and regulations is remote.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

13 % BERREFHE

(%)

T E E A 469,414,0007% 7T (2021
4 84,830,000/ r) B & A&
%A A M #49,056,0007% T
(2021 % : 61,332,000/ 7t) J5&F A
[fH% - —MERITERERIA -

(a)

(b)

7R2022F12R318 A R @A
FEBIEREEA#EERZRI
2 510,000 75 K FT 8 & B
7% #E19,885,00078 7T ( 742021
12 A31H : 20,585,000/
JC) e 7202212 A31H © &
7K /30,848,000 7T (74 2021
#12 4318 : 30,848,000
Jt) - BREVFERA 19,885,000
BT (R 20215128318
20,585,000/ JT) ° 722022 F
12A318  AEEBATFH
B RFIE - LAFF#E 88,500
FATAEBENEEE (R
£ 35(i)(b)) ©

K2022F 128318 A& E
MEERE L EDBERENE
BRI RFETA c EERAE
RAAAGRIEZE G - M
KRB PEAEERNER TR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEFFRIERAR + A ITSIE)
14 Investment properties 14 REME

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHTT

Balance, beginning of year FEXNEEER 1,470,424 1,417526

Fair value (loss)/gain AFE (BE) e (6,276) 37

Currency translation differences ~ E¥HRE =% (156,865) 52,861

Balance, end of year FIREERR 1,307,283 1,470,424

(a) Fair value measurement of investment (a) WEVHEMNRFEE
properties

The Group applied the fair value model for the accounting AEEFEARATFEENFER

of investment properties. Independent valuations of the BYMEAR - REWERMHE

investment properties were performed by the valuers, EE T EETGEEERA

Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited and Lambert Al K& Lambert Smith Hampton

Smith Hampton, to determine the fair value of the EBETBYGE UEBETZS

properties as at 31 December 2022 (2021: Same). Fair ¥ % 72022612831 H &

value loss of approximately HK$6,276,000 (2021: gain NFA{E (2021 F : $8R) - 4

of approximately HK$37,000) is included in the “Other 6,276,000787T (2021 4F « W&

(losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated income statement. #1370007T) M A FEERE

Bt AGARERTH [ EHib
(B8) Wz FeE] -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

(a) Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

14 REWE (&)

(a) WEMENAFEFE
(#&)

(i) 2FEER
Fair value Fair value

measurements measurements
at 31 December at 31 December

2022 using 2021 using
significant significant
unobservable unobservable

inputs (Level 3) inputs (Level 3)
FABENEE TABENEE

BWABE 9 A SR
TR TEA
2022 4 2021 F
1283188 12 A31 BAY
Description AFE NE
H (E34%) (FB34)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Recurring fair value  &EEQAFERFE
measurements
Investment properties && 4%
— Phoenix — BEBEEEAR L (FE)
International
Media Centre
(The PRC) 1,293,732 1,455,247
— Commercial (UK) — M (EE) 13,018 14,581
- Others (the PRC)  — EAh (FE) 533 596

(ii) Valuation processes of the Group

The Group's investment properties were valued
at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by independent
professionally qualified valuers who hold a
recognised relevant professional qualification and
have experience in the locations and segments of
the investment properties valued. For all investment
properties, their current use equates to the highest
and best use.

290

(i) FEEOGERRF

AEBNREMESHE
TEEXSERERMGEME
20224 [ 20214F 12 A 31
BfEE - A ERR A
R EREM - WHA
HEMNRE YR
BEERRER - BAAAR
BYE - HRRHERS
WE &S MERERR
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Valuation processes of the Group (Continued)

The Finance Department, headed by CFO, reviews
the valuations performed by the independent valuers
for financial reporting purposes. Discussions of
valuation processes and results are held between
the Finance Department and valuers at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s interim
and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the Finance Department:

° Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation reports;

° Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior year valuation reports;
and

° Holds discussions with the independent
valuers.

Valuation techniques

For the investment property in UK with a carrying
amount of HK$13,018,000 (2021: HK$14,581,000),
the valuation of the investment property held directly
by the Group is made on the basis of the “Market
Value” adopted by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (“RICS"). It is performed in accordance
with the RICS Valuation Standards on Properties
published by RICS. The valuation is reviewed at least
once every six months by a qualified valuer using
income capitalisation approach.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

14 REWE (&)

(a) WEMENAFEFE
(#&)

(ii)

(iii)

REFENGERF ()

Y TS AR B R G RO BA 75 7
WES=¢ 2 WVARY=LIY )
B3RE B P {ER fh (B3
TR - BESAEEDN
PEHAMERE RS A - B
BEPI R ER R D E R

BARE—R - SwmbE

TEFMHRAER o

EEEMBRFEFER

BT ERPI M =

s REUBIMAER
EHFBEREA
5

o  HEMEMEREL
FEMEHRELR
THEE &

o EBVIHEMMETT
BE

fhER M

RUREBEEEA
13,018,000/ (2021
4 114,581,000/ JT) Z
REMEMS @ A5EEE
BB ZIREME L (RE
TR 2 REFFA 2
e ([HEERFR
REMBE]) KM Z
[M{E] £ REES
EX o ir:it=8=p Vi
ERERFASMES
YL ELERHEST o [HE
& EREERERKRA
BN ERDENERAR
= e
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

14 REWE (&)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

Fair value measurement of investment

(a)

292

properties (Continued)

(iii)

Valuation techniques (Continued)

Income capitalisation approach is based upon
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions
specific to the property to reflect its tenancy and
cash flow profile. The fair value of the investment

(a)

A s A FAEH B

(#8)

(iii)

fhERM (F)

WABRMEETIRIBARK
ES LRI NEAEEYE
RO RE AR RBRELFH
HRREREMRN ° %

property reflects, among other things, rental income BREMEZ ATER
from current leases and assumptions about rental B (EhaE RERE
income from future leases in light of current market HE B WA RIRE

conditions including open market rents, appropriate
capitalisation rate and reversionary income potential

In addition, for the investment property in the
PRC, which represents gross floor area of Phoenix
International Media Centre held for rental income,
has a carrying value of HK$1,293,732,000 (as at 31
December 2021: HK$1,455,247000). The fair value
of this investment property is determined using the
information from the valuation performed by external

BTN (BRAFMS
HE  BRZEMEERR
WARKE &S HRE
ARME 2 HERANR

& o

BN - AL B 2 8B
Y (FBAKIAS A
Fr 58 /9 Bl B\ B B 438 4
FOMEEEE) MR
M 18 A& 1,293,732,00078
7C (72021412 A318
1,455,247.0007% 7T) ° it

professional valuer using the direct comparison BREMENAFENERE
method. However, given the heterogeneous nature K% - RINBEEGERD
of this property, appropriate adjustments are made NEZLEESEELMEE

to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved.

There were no changes in valuation techniques
during the year.

FrRELOEN - AT - &
RILIEMEZ 5L
% BREMTETES
B EENEEERME
A -

AERY EMGEERME
) o
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

Fair value measurement of investment

properties (Continued)

(iv)

Information about fair value measurements

14 REWE (&)
KEYMEN AT ETZE

using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

(a)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

(#8)

(iv) EFRAEATTEENER
WABBNAFEE
(£3/;) HEHR

Relationship

Fair value at of unobservable

31 December Valuation Unobservable inputs to

Description 2022 technique(s) inputs fair value

R2022%F TUREN

128318 FUREN BAYBR

it HATE B BWARE AFENEE
(HK$'000)
(F#r)

Phoenix International 1,293,732 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre EZLEE price of HK$29,619 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

EEERR AL - ARy metre, the higher

BRABEAA the fair value

2961987  FFHRNEREE

THERER

ATEES

Commercial-UK 13,018 Income Capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
% - ZE approach  value of HK$3,741 rental value,
WABRLE per annum the higher

per square metre the fair value

EREEIEY HEES

BYHREE ATEES

3741757

Reversionary The higher the

yield of 8% reversionary yield,

N ¢ the lower the

Wz £8% fair value

LN PG

BE - ATEYE
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14 Investment properties (Continued)

294

(a)

e P BRRME

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

14 REWE (&)

Fair value measurement of investment (a) IEWMENLAFEF=E

properties (Continued) (%)

(iv) Information about fair value measurements (iv)] ERFERATITEENEE
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) WMAHBNAFETE
(Continued) (3% MER (&)

Relationship

Fair value at of unobservable

31 December Valuation Unobservable inputs to

Description 2021 techniquel(s) inputs fair value

720214 NAEER

12A31R AAERE BARIRE

fEit HATE fhERA BARE ATEMER
(HK$'000)
(F#1)

Phoenix International 1,455,247 Direct comparison Adjusted average The higher the
Media Centre ERZLE price of HK$33,317 adjusted average
-The PRC per square metre price per square

EUEEIRR EEA.L - F AR metre, the higher

BRABEAA the fair value
BITET  BIAKNERE
FHERES -
ATEES
Commercial-UK 14,581 Income Capitalisation Estimated rental The higher the
A% - 2E approach  value of HK$4,273 rental value,
WABREE per annum the higher
per square metre the fair value
et EER MHEES -
BYHREE ATEES
4,2737%7L
Reversionary yield The higher the
of 8% reversionary yield,
N ¢ the lower the
Wz £ 8% fair value
WA 2 g

BE - ATEYE
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Investment properties (Continued)

(a)

(b)

&R 2022

Fair value measurement of investment
properties (Continued)

(v) Quantitative sensitivity analysis

The major sources of estimation uncertainty of
investment properties are mainly contributed by
the Phoenix International Media Centre and the
quantitative sensitivity analysis is shown as below:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

14 REWE (&)

(a)

A s A FAEH B
()

(v) ZEEHBREDIN

BREMFEGR T EEL L
IBERRREIERARE
B EEHL - EEHR
EDREZIT -

Adjusted
average

price per
square metre
5% increase
or decrease
BYFKZ
ERBTIERE
S MR D 5%
HK$'000
i

At 31 December 2022 720225128318
At 31 December 2021 7R2021F12 A31H

Deferred tax

The Group's investment properties in the PRC are held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties through use. The Group has
measured the deferred tax relating to the temporary
differences of these investment properties using the
tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent with
the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (Note 33).

(b)

64,687
72,762

EIETR IR

REERFPREMEEYEZR
B—EREREREE - mZE
Xz B 825 BE A mEFER
B FTREIE M 4B KSR S
Mo REEGFEHNFZRE
MENE R =EE BRI
B - ATE AR R KRR
TBHRE L EREMENT R
— B (M97E33) °
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
15 Intangible assets 15 JEEEE
Contractual
customer Club
Goodwill Licences relationship debentures Software Total
BHEF
HE i) BE efifEs L act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T Thr Tir Tr THL
Year ended 31 December EZ2022F12A31H
2022 tEE
Opening net book amount  FANEMEFE 12,120 13,495 - 2,065 23,111 51,451
Addition NE - - - - 20,612 20,612
Amortisation B - (5,561) - - (14,680) (20,241)
Impairment A - - - - (1,204) (1,204)
Currency translation ERBEEE
differences (137) (905) - - (2,822) (3,864)
Closing net book amount ~ FARERMEFE 11,983 7,029 - 2,065 25,677 46,754
At31December2022 20225 12A31H
Cost A 11,983 51,971 1,924 2,065 61,644 129,587
Accumulated amortization ~ Z:HE KA
and impairment - (44,942) (1,924) - (35,967) (82,833)
Net book amount REFE 11,983 7,029 - 2,065 25,677 46,754
Year ended 31 December & Z2021%£12A31H
2021 LEE
Opening net book amount  E¥IBREF{E 12,074 17625 - 2,085 13,024 44,788
Addition E - 7278 - - 17202 24,480
Amortisation e - (12,003) - - (6,716) (18,719)
Currency translation SRHMBER
differences 46 595 - - 261 902
Closing net book amount ~ FAKEFE 12,120 13,495 - 2,065 23771 51,451
At 31 December 2021 R2021%12A31H
Cost KA 12,120 57876 1,924 2,065 4777 121,759
Accumulated amortization ~ 2ztE (A
and impairment - (44,381) (1,924) - (24,003) (70,308)
Net book amount FRFE 12,120 13,495 - 2,065 23,77 51,451
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 Intangible assets (Continued) 15

Amortisation of approximately HK$20,148,000 (2021:
HK$18,625,000) is included in “Operating expenses’,
HK$93,000 (2021: HK$94,000) is included in “Selling, general
and administrative expenses” during the year.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
has been allocated to individual cash-generating units
(CGUs) identified according to operating segment.
The recoverable amount is based on a value in use
calculation. Carrying amount of allocated goodwill as at
31 December 2022 are not material individually or in aggregate.
There was no impairment charge recognised during the year
(2021: There was no impairment charge recognised during the

year).

Certain of the Group's new media subsidiaries are in the
process of applying for certain licences for the operation of
their businesses, including internet audio-visual program
transmission licence and internet news licence.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

BLEE ()

FE R - #720,148,0007 7T (2021 4 :
18,625,0008 7T) 2 #HFT A [ & &
B R i #493,000/% JT (20214 :
94,0008 7T) 2 EHFTATHE ~ —
BERTRER] -

FREREME - FIREREE SR
EREBELCEDEERNENRSEL
B GREELENMN) - AlKEE%E )
REFEREBETE - K2022F12 A
A ZE N EREEEENE
RETBEX - FAMESRSHER
¥ (2021 F : FRWEE FERBERH
%) e

AR EE TR R NI B A R IEHHE
BRUFAIENTE  AEAKLEH
% BEELHBEERESHA
A E MR AT o

16 Investments in joint ventures 16 REELENRE
2022 2021
2022 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Unlisted investments, net EEMREFEE 35,152 41,662

The Group’'s investments in joint ventures are analysed as

REBREELENRENTNAT

follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE + KA 56,585 63,155
Dividend received 2R E (2,038) (2,038)
Provision for impairment B (3,859) (4,330)

Share of profits less losses BEe g ntRER
of joint ventures (15,490) (19,117)
Currency translation differences B #HmEZE (46) 3,992
Unlisted investments, net FEETIRE TR 35,152 41,662

&R 2022
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16 Investments in joint ventures (Continued) 16

Details of the joint ventures which are accounted for by the
equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2022 were as

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

REELEENRE (&)

M2022F 12 A31 AR EHEA
IRMAEREMFBOT

follows:

Percentage of Issued and fully

Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/

Name incorporation operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
FREREN BETRAR

£ MR B 2EBE TEEH RAEREA A/ ERER

Beijing Simulcast Communication The PRC, 7 January 2005 The PRC  Advertising business in 45% RMB30,000,000
Co. Ltd. * HE - 20056F1 470 HEl  radio broadcasting, and AK#30,000,0007C

FRRSEEERERAR media marketing industry

in the PRC

HHESERES
AR ERERAR The PRC, 15 December 2010 The PRC Radio broadcasting 50% RMB10,000,000
MEl - 20105128158 e in the PRC AR%10,000,0007T

PEEARREER

Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural The PRC, 2 September 2013 The PRC  Provision of promotional 65% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* (Note () ~ Bl 201369/ 2R ME  and related consulting AK#2,000,0007C

FREERRULERERAR services
(B Gi) AR R R

Phoenix Culture Property Investment  Hong Kong, 19 June 2017 The PRC  Investment management 40% HK$10,000,000
Management Limited (Note (ii)) &% 201767196 i REEE 10,000,000787C

BRI EXREERERAR
(fE (i)

Shenzhen Fenghuang Jingcai The PRC, 1 April 2014 The PRC Internet media 1719% RMB71,428 571
Network Technology Co. Ltd.* HE 20144 A1 H i GEHEER ARET1428571 T
(Note (iii)

RTEBREY AR ERDE
(FEE i)

EREREENBEERERAR The PRC, 27 July 2016 The PRC Technical consulting 30% RMB1,000,000

HE - 2016F7 A 278 i UEE AR1,000,0007C

* For identification purpose only EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16 Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

16 REELENRE (&)

Percentage of Issued and fully
Place and date of Place of equity interest paid share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity held by the Group registered capital
FREREN BETRAR
£ SME LR A S BENY TEEH RAEREA A/ HRER
HBUK( LB EXERERAR The PRC, 9 October 2016 The PRC Cultural development 40% RMB60,000,000
HE 20165 10A9A HE 34633 AR 60,000,007
International Chinese Medicine Hong Kong, 11 January 2017 Hong Kong  Cultural development 50% HK$10,000
Cultural Festival Company Limited &7 201741 A 11 B A 3463 10,000% 7T
ERREEAERAT

ERRELEEARAR The PRC, 26 September 2017 The PRC Programme production 65% RMB10,000,000
HE 201759 R 26 R HE R AR 10,000,000
B@RHE (M) BRAF The PRC, 31 August 2017 The PRC Big data 5.45% RMB11,111,112
HE 20178 A 31 B HE AR AREM1 12T
EMBEEEEEiREERAR  The PRC, 11 September 2020  The PRC  Cultural development 30.60% RMB2,000,000
HEl - 20209 A 1A e p¢id AK#2,000,0007C

Notes: FIE

(i) Huabao Phoenix Beijing Cultural Communication Co., Ltd.*
in which the Group previously held 65% equity interest was
dissolved on 24 February 2023.

(ii) Phoenix Culture Property Investment Management Limited
in which the Group previously held 40% equity interest was
disposed on 5 August 2022.

(i) Shenzhen Fenghuang Jingcai Network Technology Co. Ltd.* in

which the Group previously held 17.19% equity interest was
dissolved on 11 April 2022.

* For identification purpose only

F3R 2022

(i) IEtREBEEEEEER AR
(REEBREFEH65% RAER)
B 2023%2 A 24 BAEEK °

(i) BEXEEERETEBRAR
(REEBAFHEHA0% BAKER)
ER2022F8 A5 HHE

(i) FIMEEBE RN ERAR

(RERBAFAE1719% RAE
=) BR2022F 4 A 11 BAEAK ©

* EHER
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

16 Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

17

300

(a)

16

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

REELEENRE (&)

Aggregate information of joint venture that are individually (a) MERNIEEBHNEERENE
immaterial. FrER
The Group has interests in a number of individually NEBRZRENEZEEHEA
immaterial joint ventures that are accounted for using the BRMERIEEER & &R
equity method. e o .
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
The Group's share of profits 75 [& (ki F) Rl 518 &
less losses and total EHEKERTE
comprehensive income 1,430 5,070
Aggregate carrying amount AEERILES L 7R
of the Group's interests in WA HEREE
these joint ventures 35,152 41,662
As at 31 December 2022, there are no commitments and (b)  2022F12A31H » AEEN

contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in
joint ventures (2021: Nil).

Investments in associates

The Group's investments in associates are analysed as follows:

EEENSETENERE R
EfEE RS A A E (2021 F :
48) o

/AN

17 REEZEQRTNERE

REBERBERRNRESTAT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FAT

Unlisted investments, at cost FEETIRE + KA 155,337 143,149

Capital contribution HE - 12,188

Impairment of investment B E R R E RE

in associates (32,943) (24,912)
Share of profits less losses BB E R AR FREE

of associates (44,812) (35,756)

Currency translation differences BB =S (8,738) 1,083

Unlisted investments, net FEETIREFRE 68,844 95,752
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Investments in associates (Continued)

Details of the principal associates which are accounted for by
the equity method of accounting as at 31 December 2022 are

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

17 RBERRANRE (&)

R2022F12 A31 B EEH#Z N A]
(NiEmesEAAR) S50 -

as follows:
Percentage Issued
of equity and fully paid
Place and date of Place of interest held share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity by the Group registered capital
AEEREN ERTRER
£ ALt B EEWE TEEH  RAERASL BRAS/EMER
Fengxin Technology (Haikou) The PRC, 22 August 2014 The PRC Provision of 8.50% RMB10,652,456
Group Company Limited* FE - 201468 A22H HE financing AR#10,652,456 7T
("Fengxin Technology") (Note (c)) platforms
B (80) SEERAR RtRE
(TERHR ) (Pt (c))
BEBE (LK) HERHRERAR  The PRC, 6 May 2016 The PRC Education 24% RMB10,000,000
B 2016F5A6H R technology AR® 10,000,000 7T
HERR
Phoenix FM (Beijing) Information The PRC, 24 January 2014  The PRC  Internet media 10.89% RMB59,663,991
Technology Co. Ltd.* B - 201451 4248 H HH A8 AR#59,663,991 7T
BEEE (R GERMARAR
Beijing Fengming Jiutian Network The PRC, 28 February 2014 The PRC  Internet media 10.89% RMB1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* B - 201452 A28 H H BB AR 1,000,0007T
I REEAABREMARAR
AIEIEREBR AR The PRC, 8 March 2017 The PRC Game product 19.80% RMB10,418,750
M 2017F3A8H HE development AE#10,418,750 ¢
BRERRE
* For identification purpose only * EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

17 Investments in associates (Continued) 17 REEZEQTNERE (8)
Percentage Issued
of equity and fully paid
Place and date of Place of interest held share capital/
Name incorporation operation Principal activity by the Group registered capital
AEEEREN BRTRAR
£ sk Y g=)- EE M TEERE RAEZEAH BRA/ERER
TEEERGBE IR AR The PRC, 4 December 2018 The PRC Technical 21.80% RMB5,000,000
FRE 2018512 A4 H F consultation AR®5,000,0007T
HilrssA
IRy EEREER R AR The PRC, 22 June 2017 The PRC Cultural 35.47% RMB500,000
HE - 201766 4228 i development AR#500,000 7T
XILHE
PEGECERERL(BRAY)  ThePRC, 12June 2018  The PRC Business 2.92% RMB373,000,000
B 2018F6 A 128 HE management AR # 373,000,000 75
consulting
PEEERAN
RER—HRBAERERRLE The PRC, 11 November 2020 The PRC Investment 13.49% RMB161,600,000
(BIRER) FE 202011 A1 H e holding AR 161,600,000 7T
(Note (i) BEER
(= G)
Henan Zhongyu Phoenix Digital The PRC, 18 June 2021 The PRC Digital 31.16% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Limited* 202146 A187 HE technology AK#10,000,0007T
AEETRERETREARAA TR
BEBERE R BRATF The PRC, 18 December 2018 The PRC Technical 3.50% RMB13,360,682
HE 2018F 12 A 18H i consultation AR 13,360,682 7T
A
Note: FfsE :

(i)~ On 8 April 2022, the Group's equity interest in KM —45:E Al
HERERBLXE (BRAE) decreased from 21.62% to 13.49%
as a result of increase of share capital from RMB100,800,000 to
RMB161,600,000.

* For identification purpose only
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K2022F4 888 A A B A
R #100,800,0007C & & A R #
161,600,0007T « & A & B R
REM—SHRBAIERESBLHE
(BRER) ®RAEZRE21.62%
BAE13.49% °

£35S %3]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 Investments in associates (Continued)

(a)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

17 RBERRANRE (&)

Note: (Continued) MisE : (8)
Aggregate information of associates that are individually @ ERNIFEEMHERFNNETE
immaterial Y
The Group has interests in a number of individually immaterial REERZHE S HEART
associates that are accounted for using the equity method. BRI IEEZMEE N T PG
2022 2021
2022 £ 20214
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT THET
The Group's share of profits & E#H(5 5 F Rl ks 18
less losses and total k2ERS BT
comprehensive income (9,056) (1,885)
Aggregate carrying amount  AEEBR I EEE N A
of the Group's interests 2w (BIENE)
(including goodwill) Ve ETEREE
in these associates 68,844 95,752
As at 31 December 2022, there are no commitments and (b)  R2022F12A31 8 » AEE W&
contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in associates ERE B N RV SR B R BV AR
(2021: Nil). FERIEEE (202145 : &) °
The Group indirectly held approximately 8.50% effective equity (c) 7M2022%F12 A31H k20214

&R 2022

interest in Fengxin Technology as at 31 December 2022 and
2021. The directors of the Company considered that the Group
has significant influence over Fengxin Technology through its
representative on the board of directors of Fengxin Technology,
Fengxin Technology's reliance on the branding of Phoenix, and the
relationship of the controlling shareholder of Fengxin Technology
with the Group. The total investment costs in Fengxin Technology
have been separated into (i) “investments in associates” which
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting; and (ii)
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” for the call
options and put options. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
entire carrying value of investment costs in Fengxin Technology
and option for long-term investment were HK$NIil.

12 A31 A AEBREEFBERN
BHZ#18.50% < BRI - KA F]
EEZRAAEEBEBERBHEIE
BEEg AR BFEEGREEE
2 B hR DA R BT R 122 AR B 3R B AR
SEZERMYBNREEERY
27 - REFEHE Z B ERKAE
ED AN RELEQRNIRE] - T
RS EFUEAR K (i) BRER
BRALREE DA RATES
BEECENMBEEE] - 12022
F%2021F12 8318 REFE
BZERAZBREERRBR
BRERERAT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries

(a)

304

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 KB E]

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK
31 December 2022: BARIFENAT
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEMER REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BERY IEEH  REABEADML EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, limited Hong Kong Provision of 100% HK$20
Company Limited liability company &% management and 20%7T
BE&RARAR A BRALAR related services
REERR
Bk
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Chinese Channel) Limited limited liability company i television (EF
BEERTPXABRAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREMAH BEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(Movies) Limited limited liability company i television 1%
BEGRET AERAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREMAH BEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, The PRC Trademark 100% US$1
Trademark Limited limited liability company i holding (E
BEGRARERAR EERARS BiFHA
BREFLH
Phoenix Chinese News & The United Kingdom, The United Satellite 70% GBP9,831,424
Entertainment Limited limited liability company Kingdom television 9,831,424 55
5B BREFAR B broadcasting
BEERER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 54.49% US$1
Information Limited limited liability company e holding (3
BEEARRAR EERARS RERR
BREFLH
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BERY TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, British Virgin Investment 100% US$1
(B.V.I.) Holding Limited limited liability company Islands holding (E
(Note a (i) EBENES RRRAEE RARR
BEERERERAR* BREFLH
(HisEal))
Hong Kong Phoenix Weekly Hong Kong, Hong Kong Publishing and 77% HK$100
Magazine Limited limited liability company % circulation of 10077
EBERATBRAR B8 BRELAR periodicals
iR RE TR
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Satellite 100% US$1
(InfoNews) Limited limited liability company i television (EF
BEGERENABRAR RBRIES broadcasting
BREMAH HEERER
Phoenix Film and Television The PRC, The PRC  Ancillary services 60% HK$10,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company i for programme 10,000,00087C
EEZE () BRAR HE - BREREAR production
RS
Phoenix Satellite Television (U.S.), Inc. - United States, The United  Broadcast media 100% US$1
limited liability company States of production and (ETD
X8 BRRAAR America distribution
*H BRI
ey
Phoenix Satellite Television British Virgin Islands, Taiwan Programme 100% US$1
(Taiwan) Limited limited liability company ag production 1%
BREERAERAR * EERARS LRSS
BREMAH
Hong Kong Phoenix Satellite Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$2
Television Limited limited liability company Bk holding 2B
FREEERBRAR Bk BRAEAT RERR
* For identification purpose only EHER
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e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

306

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK
31 December 2022: (Continued) BRBFEWT « (&)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEMER REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BERY IEEH  REABEADML EfER
Fenghuang On-line (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% US$43,850,000
Information Technology limited liability company HE consulting 43,850,000% T
Company Limited * TE - BRERAR SIS
BEEE (tR) EERMARAR
Hong Kong Phoenix Books Culture  Hong Kong, The PRC Publication 100% HK$1
Publishing Company Limited limited liability company i i ARENRI 1A
AABEERULRERAR A BRALAR
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$400
Holdings Limited limited liability company i media business 400787
BEHTEEERERAR Fh BREEAR POMERER
Phoenix New Media Limited Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.49% US$2,669,353
BEHEEER AR limited liability company EP holding (Class A
REHS  EREMAA REER Ordinary shares)
US$3,173,254
(Class B
Ordinary shares)
2,659,353 7T
(AEBEER)
3173254 %7
(BEL@ER)
Phoenix Pictures Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BEERERRAF limited liability company % holding 18
A BREEAR RERR
Phoenix Centre (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Property holding 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B S 187
BESL (BE) BRAR &% BREERA
Green Lagoon Investments Limited  British Virgin Islands, The PRC Property holding 100% US$1
EHRAERAR limited liability company e eSSt (E37
ABRUES FREEAR
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at

31 December 2022: (Continued)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(a)

#2022 F12 A

3NTBMEZH

Eﬂﬁjgil‘%m:ﬂt : (é,g)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A RREREN BRIRBERE/
4 R EERRER 2EMY FTEEK RABZEA FMER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB154,000,000
Technology Company Limited* company limited by share i media business AR 154,000,000 70
(Note ali) HE - RAERAR PIMERER
EEATEERBRABRAR
(PizEali)
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB22,072,992
(Shanghai) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR#22,072,992 7
EEGRADEE (L8) BRAE  FE - AREEAF PIMERER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB8,857320
(Hangzhou) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR¥8,857320 T
ERGERATEE (M) BRRE  FE - BREEAF PIMERER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB35,000,000
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR 35,000,0007C
EESHER (RY) BRAR HE - BREFAR PIMERER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB3,000,000
(Guangzhou) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AK%3,000,0007T
BE#HTEE (BM) ERAR HE - AREEAA POMEERER
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

308

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

#2022 F12 A

3NTBMEZH

Eﬂﬁjgil‘%m:ﬂt : (é,g)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE IEEH  REABEADML EfER
Jiangsu Phoenix Metropolis Media ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB15,000,000
Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR 15,000,0007
T EESTEEERAT hE - BREEAR POMEERER
Phoenix Metropolis Media The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 61.55% RMB8, 795,328
(Sichuan) Company Limited* limited liability company i media business AR%8795,328TC
EESHER (W) BRAR HE - AREEAR POMEERER
Phoenix Oriental (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC  Property holding 70% RMB300,000,000
Properties Company Limited* limited liability company e NERE ARE300,000,0007C
BERH () EXERAR HE - BRELAR
PNACCTelevision (Canada) Inc. Canada, Vancouver, Satellite 100% CAD100
limited liability company British television 10017
mex - RAEFAHA Columbia, broadcasting
Canada HEERER
JIIEYN
HEFR R
REET
Phoenix Metropolis Media Hong Kong, The PRC Outdoor 100% HK$10,000
Company Limited limited liability company H media business 10,000%7T
BEHTEERRAR &t BREERR POMERERH
Phoenix Radio Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Investment holding 100% HK$1
BEREERAR limited liability company % REER 15T
A BREEAR
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued) 18 MiBLAT (&)

(a The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK

F3R 2022

31 December 2022: (Continued)

Ei\\ﬁjgil‘%m:ﬂ? : (é,g)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEBEN  CRORARRE/
4 R EEERER BERY TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Phoenix Satellite Television (France)  France, France Satellite 100% EUR500,000
SAS limited liability company B television 500,000 BT
B BREFLF broadcasting
BEERER
Beijing Tianying Jiuzhou The PRC, The PRC Advertising, 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Network Technology limited liability company i mobile value-add AR#10,000,0007
Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) E - BRELAR services, games
FRRBAMBERIERA A production and
(s aliil) others
FEEE
BEEERY
BRIBUER At
Yifeng Lianhe (Beijing) Technology The PRC, The PRC Mobile value-add 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Co., Ltd.* (Note alii) limited liability company # services AR#10,000,0007
REHE (tR) BEEREARR B BREEAR BEER
(P i)
Beijing Quwu Technology Co., Ltd.*  The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.49% RMB1,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company i development AR1,000,0007C
IRBIREERAR (Fitaii)  FE - AREAARA SUES
Beijing Tianying Chuangzhi The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB5,000,000
Advertising Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company i BERE AR%5,000,0007T
IRRBEIBEEERAT HE - BREEAR
(Rt afii)
PSTV, LLC United States, The United  Property holding 100% US$5,000,000
limited liability company States of vESTe 5,000,000 7T
X6 BREMLAR America
*H
Phoenix Metropolis Communication ~ The PRC, The PRC Outdoor 100% RMB78,170,238
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* limited liability company B mediabusiness AEK#78,170,238 T
BESTUEE OLR) BRRE B - BREFAF POMEERER

* For identification purpose only

* {EHER
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

310

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEMER REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BERY IEEH  REABEADML EfER
Phoenix Cultural Consult (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB1,000,000
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e holding AR1,000,0007C
BEAEAR OLR) BRRE 1B - REEAF REER
Beijing Phoenix Huibo Media The PRC, The PRC Television and 100% RMB19,000,000
Company Limited* limited liability company H media content AK19,000,0007
(formerly known as HE - BRELAR production
Beijing Huibo Advertisement ERREENS
and Media Company Limited?) 8
(Note afii])
FRBEEREEERAT
(B1F - LREREEEEARAR)
(P 2E i)
Phoenix (UK) Properties Hong Kong, Hong Kong  Property holding 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company Bh vESSTe 1587
BB (RE) E¥ERAR 4 BREMAR
Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Television 100% HK$1
(Hong Kong Channel) Limited limited liability company B broadcasting 187
BE&R (BEa) BRAF 4 BRELAR BRER
Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Advertising 54.49% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company B EERE 187
BRI (B8) BRAA &t BREERA
Peak Apex Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Aircraft 100% US$1
BEBRAF limited liability company B chartering services (EFD
EERARE AR SRR
BREFLH
Phoenix Research & Development ~ British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Research and 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company BE development (EFD
BERERERERAF EERARE PR R
BRELAA
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK
31 December 2022: (Continued) BARFEBET : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Phoenix Industrial Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% HK$1
Centre Limited limited liability company i development 181
BEEZERTLERAT A BRALAR HERFAZ
Phoenix Research Institute Limited ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Research and 100% -
BEH%ERER AR company limited by i development
guarantee HERFAR
B8 ERERAF
Phoenix Culture Industrial Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company i holding 18T
BEXtEXERERARA 4 BRALAR REER
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company BE development 181
BEXEIERERAR A BREMAR MR
Phoenix Culture Creation Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
Management Company Limited limited liability company BE development 187
BEXAIERERAR A BRAMAR MR
Phoenix Culture Creation Industrial ~ Hong Kong, Hong Kong Cultural 100% HK$1
investment Management limited liability company BE development 18
Company Limited &5 BREMLAR MR
BEXAEXREERARAR
Beijing Fenghuang Yutian The PRC, The PRC Software 54.49% RMB5,000,000
Software Technology Co., Ltd. * limited liability company e development ARE5,000,0007
I REERREERMBRAR HE - EREFAR HHHE
I RERBEBRRAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% RMB10,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company e consulting AK#10,000,0007
(Pt &E afii)) HE - EREAAR U]
* For identification purpose only {EHET)

3N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

312

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EERRER 2EMY FTEEK RABZEA FMER
Phoenix Culture Industrial The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% HK$25,000,000
Development (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.*  limited liability company i development 25,000,000787C
BEGE U ESER (LF) hE - BREEAR YR
BRAH
Tianjin Fenghuang Mingdao The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB2,000,000
Culture Communication Co., Ltd. *  limited liability company i EERE AK%2,000,0007T
(Note afii) HE - BRELAR
REBRHEXERERAR
(P 2E i)
Beijing Fenghuang Ronghe The PRC, The PRC Financial 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Investment Co. Ltd.* (Note a(ii) limited liability company Ml consulting services AK#10,000,0007
FRBERARERRAT HE - AREEAR SRR
(P 2E i)
Shanghai Miaogiu Information The PRC, The PRC Technical 54.49% RMB62,080,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* limited liability company i consulting AK%62,080,0007C
(Note aliii) HE - BREFAR SRS
AR ESRNERAR
(P &E i)
Phoenix Overseas Infonews Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company E holding 1587
EEENERBRAR A BRAEMAR REER
Fenghuang Feiyang (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB200,000,000
New Media Information limited liability company e BERE AE%200,000,0007T
Technology Co., Ltd.* T BRERAH
BERE (JtR) FERES
RITERAR
* For identification purpose only EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

#2022 F12 A

3NTBMEZH

Ei\\ﬁjgil‘%m:ﬂ? : (é,g)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/

4 R EEERER 2EMY TEXE  RAREAIW EfER

Phoenix New Media (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 54.49% HK$1
information Technology limited liability company i holding 181
Company Limited &8 BREFAR REER

BEHEE (B%) GERMERAT

Convergence Investment Co. Ltd Cayman Islands, The PRC Investment 54.49% US$0.01

limited liability company i consultancy 001 %
FEHE RE®H
BREMAH
Phoenix InfoNews Japan Limited* ~ Japan, Japan  Satellite television 100% JPY9,000,000
BEERBABRAR* limited liability company AR broadcasting 9,000,000 A
B - EREMEAA HEERER

Shanghai Phoenix General The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB100,000,000
Nice Art Development Co. Ltd.* limited liability company i development AE%100,000,0007C

LERRERENERARAR HE - BREFAR MR

Fread Limited Cayman Islands, Cayman slands Investment 54.49% US$0.01

BHER AR limited liability company REeHs holding 001 %L

FEHE REER
BREFLF

| Game (Hong Kong) Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 54.49% HK$1
Limited limited liability company % holding 18

B (B8) BRAR A BREEAR RERR

Beijing Chenhuan Technology The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.49% RMB1,500,000
Co., Ltd. *(Notes aliii and (iv)) limited liability company HE promotion AK®1,500,000 7T

I REENREARAR HE - AREEAA Rt E
(R alii) B (v)

BEROR) X BEERAR The PRC, The PRC Cultural 32.69% RMB10,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company e development AR#10,000,0007
(Pt EE afii)) HE - ARELAR WEHE

* For identification purpose only & EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

314

18 MEAR (F)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK
31 December 2022: (Continued) BARFEBET : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER 2EMY TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Beijing Huanyou Tianxia The PRC, The PRC Software 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note aliii)) limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007T
FRBER TR ERAT HE - ARELAR B
(Rt afii)
Beijing Fenghuang Borui Software ~ The PRC, The PRC Software 54.49% US$1,000,000
Technology Co. Ltd.* limited liability company i development 1,000,000%7C
IREREHEURMEREARR  +E  BREFARF HHRE
Qie YiYou (Beijing) Information The PRC, The PRC Software 54.49% US$5,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note alv)) limited liability company i development 5,000,000% 7T
&S (tR) EERMERAT HE - AREEAR BAHFEE
(Mfizaw)
Phoenix Education Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Company Limited limited liability company it holding 18T
EEHEREERAR &% BREEAR REHER
Phoenix International Education Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 60% HK$500,000
Company Limited limited liability company % holding 500,000/ 7T
BEEBAEERAR % BRRAAR REER
BRI HE R ERAR The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i 5 AK%5,000,0007T
HE - BRELAR
EERHS GLR)BERBARARE  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB10,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company mE #5 AR#10,000,0007
(P& ai)) HE - ARELAR
BEZHE LR BERRARRDE  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB5,000,000
(Note aii) limited liability company el 6] AR 5,000,0007C
(Pt &E afi)) HE - ARELAA
EEBEHEEERMERDRA  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB10,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company e #5 AK#10,000,0007

(Fit3ai) M RREEAR
* For identification purpose only

o {EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued) 18 MiBLAT (&)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

F3R 2022

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/

4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER

BABE (3) X{LEERRAR  The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB6,000,000
(3178 : BREE (R) HERE  limited liability company i ¥A AR6,000,0007C
BRAF) HE - BRELAR
(Note afii])

(R afii)

B& (%) HERBARAR The PRC, The PRC Education 42% RMB1,000,000
(Note alii)) limited liability company e #E AR%1,000,0007T
(P& alil) hE - AREEAR

Phoenix Property Investment British Virgin Islands, British Investment 100% US$1
Holding Limited limited liability company  Virgin Islands holding 1%

BEESRERRERAR EERARS ERRIES REHER

BREMAH

Phoenix Property Development Hong Kong, Hong Kong Property 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company BE development 187

BEESERERAR A BRAMAR NELE

Phoenix Cloud Technology Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Development Company Limited limited liability company &5 holding 181

BEEERRERARAT A BRAMAR REER

BEZEE (LR BHEERARAA  The PRC, The PRC Technical 100% RMB3,000,000

limited liability company i consulting AK%3,000,0007T

HE - BREEAA U
TRBEEREUBRER AR The PRC, The PRC Software 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA AR

Phoenix Entertainment and Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 98.98% HK$985
Game Company Limited limited liability company % holding 9858 7T

EEREERI RO A BRELAR RERR

Phoenix Satellite Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HK$1
investment Limited limited liability company % holding 187

EEERRERRAT 4 BRELAR RERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

316

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at

31 December 2022: (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(a) T2022F12A31 BB EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AEMER REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE IEEH  REABEADML EfER
Phoenix New Life Limited Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
BB EEEAERAR limited liability company BE holding 187
B4 BREEAR REBR
I RBERAEENRERAR The PRC, The PRC Investment 98.98% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e holding AK%1,000,0007T
hE - AREEAR REBR
FRERGERRER AR The PRC, The PRC Game 98.98% RMB10,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company i development AK%10,000,0007C
(HisEatii) hE - AREEAR B
TEEREERBERAR The PRC, The PRC Game 98.98% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e development AR%1,000,0007T
HE - BREEAR
Phoenix Hong Kong Television Hong Kong, Hong Kong Dormant 100% HK$1
Limited (Note alvi) limited liability company &b TEXG 18T
EEEESRERAR (Miav))  BE EREMAF
BEGRULES (L) BRAT  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
limited liability company i development AK%20,000,0007C
HE - AREERR (63
BEERHENR (LRI BBAE  The PRC, The PRC Investment 60% RMB10,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company i management AK10,000,0007
GEET) HE - AREEAA RAEE
Phoenix Exhibitions Company Hong Kong, Hong Kong Exhibitions 100% HK$1
Limited limited liability company B business 187
EEERARAR BE  BRAEMAR EEXK
Sky Fame Business Limited British Virgin Islands, Hong Kong Investment 100% US$100
REEZERAT limited liability company % holding 100%7T
EERARE RERR
BRELAA
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued) 18 MiBLAT (&)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

(@) The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

F3R 2022

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEBEN  CRORARRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Shanghai Fengyu Shixun Technology ~ The PRC, The PRC Media 54.49% RMB50,000,000
Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company e technology AR®50,000,0007C
DEERRHRRHARAR TE - BRERAR development
(P& aliil) RERTRE
I RBEEFHRERAR The PRC, The PRC Technical 7791% RMB14,618,900
(Note alvii) limited liability company i consulting A 14,618,900
(P alvii) HE - BRELAR U]
TIWAZEE(LR)ERAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 7791% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T
HE - BRELAR YR
Gongxi (Taiyuan) Cultural The PRC, The PRC Cultural 62.33% RMB500,000
Communication Co., Limited* limited liability company i development AR¥500,0007C
BE (KR) X ERBRAR HE - BREFAR MR
Beijiing Fengyue Culture The PRC, The PRC Media 54.49% RMB10,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiii) limited liability company i technology AK#10,000,0007
IREBUEREERAR T BRERAH development
(Pt &E afi)) RERTRE
Tianjin Fengying Hongda Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 54.49% RMB2,000,000
Communication Co., Ltd.* limited liability company e development AR2,000,0007C
REBREEERERAR HE - BRELAA (63
Phoenix Culture Property Hong Kong, Hong Kong [nvestment 100% HK$1
Investment Limited limited liability company % holding 187
BEXLEXBRAR A BERALAR REER
BB HRERAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 54.49% RMB5,000,000
(Note a(xi) limited liability company HE development ARE5,000,0007C
(MizEali) HE - BREAAR SUE
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

318

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at

31 December 2022: (Continued)

18 MEAR (F)

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage

of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
BEAEXEIZ (XR)ARAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 82.35% RIMB2,000,000
limited liability company i development AR2,000,0007T

hE - BREEAR YR
Lilita Financial Investment Limited British Virgin Islands, The PRC Investment 100% US$1
limited liability company i holding (3

RERLES REER

BREMAH

FENGSHOWS LIMITED Hong Kong, The PRC Software 100% HK$1
BEFERAR limited liability company i application 18T

&5 BREFAR development

BfHERRE
BEEH (LR EENRERART  ThePRC, The PRC Technology 100% RMB1,000,000
limited liability company e development AR%1,000,0007T

HE - AREEAR U
Phoenix Overseas Investment Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$1
Advisory Limited limited liability company B holding 181

BEBMERRERAR A BREMAR REER
HEEREREZ UL ERBRAF  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 51% RMB10,526,300
limited liability company e development AE%10,526,3007

HE - BRELAA (63
BEBECRR (R BRAT  The PRC, The PRC Technology 51% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T

HE - AREEAA R
BELER (R HEERAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 30.60% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company e promotion AK%3,000,0007T

HE - BREEAA Rt E
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE PSRRI

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (a)
31 December 2022: (Continued)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage

of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
AL FREREN BRTRARRAE/
25 R EERRER BERY FTEEK RABZEA FMER
ERARECHEEREERAR  The PRC, The PRC Hotel 51% RMB3,000,000
limited liability company i management AK#3,000,0007T

HE - BRELAR BEEE
Phoenix Radio US Inc. United States, The United Radio 100% US$1
limited liability company States of broadcasting (3

B ERELAR America ERER

e

BB (R ERAR Macau, Macau  Satellite television 100% MOP25,000
limited liability company il programme JRFI% 25,000 7T

B ARAEAA production

GEERHEE
BRAIFESRA (TE)ERAT  ThePRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e management AK%10,000,0007T

HE - BREFAR REER

BEGREXREESER The PRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB10,000,000
(B ERAR limited liability company e management AK#10,000,0007
(Note afvii) T BRERAT REER
(Pt atvii))

Beijing Fenghuang Tianbo Network ~ The PRC, The PRC Technology 2725% RMB1,960,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afiii) limited liability company i promotion AK#1,960,000 7

IR BERBRER AR AR HE - BREAAR RirEE
(Fit&E afii)

IRERBRRENBRAR The PRC, The PRC Technology 2725% RMB500,000
Note i) limited liability company HE development ARE500,0007C
(PrtzEalii) T BRERAH e

* For identification purpose only & EHER
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e ISR R M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

320

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at (@) H2022F12A31BMEZEK
31 December 2022: (Continued) BARFEBET : (8)
Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEBEN  CRORARRE/
4 R EERRER BERY TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
BESEEEAM(LR)ARAR  The PRC, The PRC Advertising 2725% RMB1,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company HE S ARH1,000,0007
(P ali)) HE - BRELAR
Aifang (Tianjin) Internet The PRC, The PRC Internet 2725% RMB2,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.* (Note afii) limited liability company i technology AK%2,000,0007T
ER (X% BRERIERAR HE - BRELAR development
(P& ali)) RIS
ERERRAERPHMERLE  The PRC, The PRC Internet 16.35% RMB2,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company e technology AR2,000,0007C
(P& alil) HE - BRELAR development
BRERAE
WERTAZEMBRIERRT  The PRC, The PRC Internet 2725% RMB1,500,000
(Note alii) limited liability company i technology AK®1,500,000 7T
(P& aliil) HE - BREFAR development
BRERE RS
BB (TR U EEERAF The PRC, The PRC Programme 100% RMB10,000,000
(Note alii) limited liability company i production AK#10,000,0007C
(P &E alii)) HE - BREFAR il
BEGREXREAESER(EM)  ThePRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB10,000,000
BRAF limited liability company e management AK#10,000,0007
(Note afix)) HE - BREAAR REER
(Fitzkalix)
* For identification purpose only & EHER
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

F3R 2022

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at

31 December 2022: (Continued)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(a) T2022F12A31 BB EHK
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/
4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER
Beijing Phoenix Shangpin Culture The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB5,000,000
Communication Co,. Limited* limited liability company HE development AK5,000,0007
T RBE R ERERAR HE - BRELAR YR
BEmm (TR Y ERERAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB5,000,000
limited liability company i development AK¥5,000,0007T
HE - AREEAR YR
BB mm (M) L EEERART  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 50.50% RMB10,000,000
limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007T
hE - AREEAR YR
Phoenix Odyssey Culture Hong Kong, Hong Kong Program 85% HK$10,000
Communications Co. Limited limited liability company i production 10,000%7T
BEETATERERARA 4 BRAELAR HilEEdE
Phoenix Health Technology (HK) Hong Kong, Hong Kong Investment 100% HK$10,000
Limited limited liability company 5 holding 10,0007
BERERE(EB)ERAA A BREEAR RERR
Phoenix Health Technology The PRC, The PRC Health 100% HK$10,000,000
(Hainan) Co., Limited* limited liability company e consultation 10,000,000787C
(Note alx)) T BRERAT service
BEARERE(EE)BRAR [ B ARRES
(Hf&al)
BETE (B EXREANEE  ThePRC, The PRC Fund 70% RMB100,000,000
(BRA%) limited partnership e investment AR %100,000,0007T
HE - ARaR EeRE
* For identification purpose only * {EHET)
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e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

322

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at

31 December 2022: (Continued)

18 MEAR (F)

(a)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Percentage
of equity Issued and fully
Place of incorporation Place of Principal interest held paid share capital/
Name and kind of legal entity operation activity by the Group registered capital
A REEREN  BROREZRE/

4 R EEERER BEHE TEXE  RAREAIW EfER

BEZ (B LM RERAR The PRC, The PRC Advertising 100% RMB10,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company i S AK#10,000,0007
(P ali)) hE - AREEAR

IRBERACAIERBERAR  The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB10,000,000

limited liability company e development AK%10,000,0007C
HE - AREEAR YR

Phoenix Cultural Media (Beijing) The PRC, The PRC Cultural 100% RMB20,000,000
Co., Limited* limited liability company i development AR 20,000,0007C

BEFSRUCEEGLR)BRAT HE - BRELAR MR

Phoenix Investment (Cayman Islands) Cayman Islands, The PRC Fund 100% US$1
Limited limited liability company i investment (E

BERE(HE)ERAR FEHE  ARALAR HEBE

FREIRFS L BREER AR The PRC, The PRC Investment 100% RMB100,000
(Note afii) limited liability company i holding AR%100,0007T
(P& alii) HE - BREEAR RERR

BERSS (BN BB BiE The PRC, The PRC Advertising 54.49% RMB1,000,000
BRAF limited liability company e EEEE AE%1,000,0007T
(Note afiii) HE - BREFAR
(R afii)

K& EBEHEHEARAR The PRC, The PRC Education 60% RMB10,000,000
(Note afii) limited liability company HE #E AK#10,000,0007
(P &E afi)) HE - BREFAR

* For identification purpose only * EHER

Notes: Fit%E

(i) Phoenix Satellite Television (B.V.l.) Holding Limited is
directly held by the Company, while all other subsidiaries
are indirectly held by the Company through Phoenix

Satellite Television (B.V.I.) Holding Limited.

i  FEHREEERIRFHA
RAEEFA - MAAHEM
MEARRBAREEBE
BEEEEBEAR DA BER

Ao
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

&R 2022

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at
31 December 2022: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

During the year, the Group’s equity interest in Phoenix
Metropolis Media Technology Company Limited* increased
from 45.54% to 61.55% as a result of acquisiton of
additional interest.

The Group does not have any equity interest in Beijing
Tianying Jiuzhou Network Technology Co. Ltd., Beijing
Fenghuang Ronghe Investment Co. Ltd., it FI&FRi5 B
BEBRAR,EREIERNE S LEEBR AT and Bl
B A dt ) EBHE AR AR and their respective
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “VIE entities”).
However, through entering into various contractual
arrangements with the registered equity holders of VIE
entities, the Group has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with these VIE entities and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over them and is
considered to control them. Consequently, the Company
regards VIE entities as indirect subsidiaries under HKFRS.
The Group has included the financial position and results of
these VIE entities in the consolidated financial statements
from date of acquisition of control. The management
of the Group is of the opinion that these contractual
arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC laws
and regulations and are legally binding and enforceable.

Beijing Chenhuan Technology Co., Ltd.* in which the Group
previously held 54.49% equity interest was dissolved on 8
November 2022.

Qie Yi You (Beijing) Information Technology Co., Ltd.* in
which the Group previously held 54.49% equity interest
was dissolved on 5 January 2023.

Phoenix Hong Kong Television Limited became dormant
since 12 October 2017.

For identification purpose only

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(a)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

Bt - (%)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

RER - AREBEINMERT
B AEERB BT EE
BB H B R A A A IR AHE
5 45.54 %32 % 61.55% °

REBEIRBERIERRAN
MBEEMABRAT -~ bR
FEREEEGRAR 1t
RIERGBREARAR
LR IEANS A E AR
RARBEHES (ER)
HEMBRBERATAAREZE
BB AE (REA A&
MEEE) EEEMRAR
Rz o AT o BB E AT B A
S BRBNEERTA AR
YENENRY  AEEY
SENFEAENREE T
HOHRFEREANIARESER
HILFERZRIZEZRS
Bl - B A 1 1l b 55 T
MEEEE - Fit - ARFRIR
EEBMBRE LRI SF
AENEEREARENEA
B AEEEHRISERIEZ
B HRERSMBERERFA
It % AT S M 5 B B8 2 B ISR
MMEE - AEEZEIEE
RE - WFEANRYENEE
B BAR MOERIAR AR
SERKIR R TR BT o

E

b

RERREERAR (K
SEBAEREHES4.49% K
AHEZS) B 2022411 A8
=)

EEH (bR EERME
BAR (AEEBARE
H5449% A=) BER
202341 A5 AfERL °

BREEERAR QAR
201710 A12B K BT &
E/NGII
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18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

324

(a)

The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at
31 December 2022: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(viil  On 16 August 2022, the Group’s equity interest in 1t 5Bl
BE#FEHE AR AT increased from 52.25% to 77.91% as
a result of share transfer.

(viii BEFREXEEESER(EMN) BR2AR), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, was dissolved on 1
August 2022.

(ix) FBEEREXEEZESER(EP) ARARF, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, was dissolved on 10
August 2022.

(x) Phoenix Health Technology (Hainan) Co., Limited*, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was dissolved
on 31 October 2022.

xi)  ERBEEFEEEHEAR AT in which the Group previously
held 54.49% equity interest was dissolved on 3 February
2023.

The Company has undertaken to provide the necessary
financial resources to support the future operations of the
subsidiaries within the Group. The Directors are of the
opinion that the underlying value of the subsidiaries was
not less than the carrying amount of the subsidiaries as at
31 December 2022.

* For identification purpose only

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(a)

(b)

MR 2022412 A31 B H £ 2t
BRAFBOT - (8)

BRE - ()

(viii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

ZIN/N

M2022468F16 B » F#E
EEMERAEBN IR
BEHEFHEER QRN
f% 7 # %5 A 52.25% 1% &=
7791%

BEGREXREECER
(BM) BERAT  AARZ
2EHBAF - BR20224F
8 A1 BfRE -

EEREREXERERESER
(EF) BRAR  NARAZ
=EMBAR B 20224
8 A 10 BfFAN -

ReEXEix (Cem) &
RAF - RNARZZEN B
XA B720224 10 A 31
BARESL

I RBEFEEREER AR
(REEBTRHEEDS449%
fEA#ERS) BR2023F2 A
3 AR -

AAFGRIRH M 2B ER

S EFAREEANNEBRRAR
REB-EERE WEAA
WHEBEETERMBARR
202212 A 31 BEEREE °
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(c)

&R 2022

Cash and short-term deposits of HK$1,160,900,000
(2021: HK$1,088,008,000) held in the PRC are subject to
local exchange control regulations. These local exchange
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting capital
from the country, other than through normal dividends.

Material non-controlling interests

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December
2022 are HK$1,016,542,000 (2021: HK$1,371,782,000),
of which HK$201,814,000 (2021: HK$277,536,000) is
attributed to PMM Beijing and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as "PMM Group”); HK$719,205,000 (2021:
HK$868,267,000) is attributed to Phoenix New Media
Limited (“"PNM") and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “PNM Group”); and HK$117673,000 (2021:
HK$162,868,000) is attributed to Phoenix Oriental (Beijing)
Properties Company Limited (“Phoenix Oriental”). The
non-controlling interests in respect of other subsidiaries in
which the Group holds less than 100% are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for PMM Group, PNM Group and Phoenix Oriental that
have non-controlling interests that are material to the
Group. See Note 38 for transactions with non-controlling
interests.

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(c)

B A 2 1,160,900,000 78
7t (20214 : 1,088,008,000
TT) RE REHHERAEST I
T3 INE B HIE I o it it 5 Hh
B 5 ] 1% 191 BRR 71 48 B P B 1
T HBEBREEEREET
HBRAN

SRS

7202212 B31 B 2 3E# &
# 25 42 % /1,016,542,00078
7T (20214 :1,371,782,000
B IT) - & H A9 201,814,00078
7t (20214 : 277536,000 7
) BRI REEE T &
EWEAR (i@t REE
#B ™ & E]) : 719,205,0007%5
7T (20214 : 868,267,000 %
) BEREENEEERA
A ([BEHEE]) REWBEA
A (B B EFEEERE])
. 117673,0007% 7T (2021 4F :
162,868,000/% Jt) 5% & M Bl
BEF (R EXERAF
(TBER=RRF])  HAKEFE
DA 100% 42 25 HY E A0 BT 8 A
A BRI E S IEE -

TXHINEEUAEBREE
ZIRER S A I R R EE
SE - BEFKREELEE
RITNMIEEREE - BIEE
Ptz R 5 E2HMEES8 -
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18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

18 MEAR (F)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

(d) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (d EZIEERE= (B)
Summarised balance sheet EEEERUE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
17EEHTER BEfREEE BEXA
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
A2 F 20015 20225 015 20225 2001£
HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL Fhn Tan ThL Fhx FhL
Current assets THEE 696,168 860,072 1,803,787 2,545,116 176,540 172,202
Current ligbilities THaE (445,370) (524,876) (697548) (1,156,982) (1,313,374) (1,37.921)
Netcurentassets) ~ FHEE/

(iabilties) (BF) 58 250,798 335,19 1,106,239 1,388,134 (1,136,834) 1,202,719)
Noncurentassets  FEREEE 841,228 866,422 346573 318757 1,655,124 1,888,512
Non-curent liabiliies ~ FEREIEE (570,104) (546,485) (92,149) (29,829) (126,047) 142,899)
Net non-current assets  JEREI AR RE M4 319937 254,424 288934 1,529,077 1,745,613
Net assets BEFE 521922 655,133 1,360,663 1677068 392,043 542,894
Non-controlling IrEEHTEE/

interests within BEyiEeE/

PMM Group/PNM BERARA

Group/Phoenix SHERER

Oriental - - 76,440 56,747 - -
Net assets attributable It REE#THEE/

toownersof MM~ EBfiEEEE/

GroupPNM Group/ ~ BERAHEBA

Phoenix Oriental FEEESE 521,922 655,133 1437103 1,733,815 392,243 542,894
Non-controlling interests FE2RE% 201814 277536 719,205 868,267 117673 162,868
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18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(d)  Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(d) EEFERED (B)

Summarised income statement and statement of KaRREEREREE
comprehensive income
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
IREESTER BEFEERE BERA
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022% 1% 2225 0215 2225 20145
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn T Thx i T Fin
Revenue WA 785,547 946,131 947966 1,278,090 70,604 72,112
Profit/loss) before B
income tax &/ (58) 108,446 20,752 (192,398) (301,128) 5,739 (9,487)
Income tax it
(creditlexpense (B4) /2R (33,252) (56,635 7912 (25410) 1633 18
Profitfloss) after WREnEHiA
income tax &/ (B) 75,194 146,117 (184,486) (326,538) 7302 (9,469)
Other comprehensive 2N
income - = - = - -
Profitfloss) and total %R/ (BE) &
comprehensive FENGEE
income for the year 75,194 146,117 (184,486) 326,538) 1312 (9.469)
Total comprehensive  tREEHTEE/
incomefor theyear ~ EEFftkEEE/
attributable to EERARY
non-controling SRR
interests within EEEE2ERE
PMM Group/ e
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental - - 19,782 81,220 - -
Total comprehensive St REEHHEE/
incomelexpense) BEEREE/
for the year BERAHESA
attributable to owners — ESFE 2 AN
of PMM Group/ / (%) 68
PNM Group/
Phoenix Oriental 75,194 146,117 (164,704) (245,318) 1312 (9,469)
Total comprehensive  AEZIHERERH
(expenselfincome 2 (B%) /&
allocated to &g
non-controlling
interests (41,206) (79,553 94,982 229,828 (2213) 2,841
Dividends paid to BERERR
non-controling BRE
interests 73,0712 - - - - =

F3R 2022

327



Phoenix Media Investment (Holdings) Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

18 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(d)  Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

18 MEAR (F)

(d) EEFERED (B)

Summarised cash flows REREYE
PMM Group PNM Group Phoenix Oriental
1ZRESHEME BENRREE BERA
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
22% Ik 22% 015 plirrk:3 2001%
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TEn TEn T FEn T
Cash flows from BEXEIBN
operating activities ~ B&HE
Cash generated from/|  BEEXFE/
used in) operations  (Ff) B& 284,450 386,839 (373,240) (117956) 20,483 101,181
Income tax [paidfcrecit  (Ef) /& FiEH (39.278) (36,229 15,156 (7320) - =
Netcashgenerated ~ HEEHEEEFS/
from/{used inf (R A58
operating activities 25,172 350,610 (358,084) (125,276) 20,483 101,181
Netcash(used i/ FEE8 (1F) /
generated from fEReFE
investing activities (31,458) 3,401 412131 (144,140) (40) (2,344)
Net cash used in BEEHHA
financing activities s (292,175) (187397) (33,958) (41,608) (16,115) (10,004)
Net (decrease)/ RERRLSEER
increase in cash (D) /%M
and cash equivalents  F4& (78,461) 166,614 20,095 (311,024) 4,328 88,743
Cash and cash ENReRRLSE
equivalents at R
beginning of year 453,047 274,984 230,329 472,305 154,034 62,952
Net exchange (losses)/  RERREEEEE
gains on cash HEX (BB) /
andcash equivalents  MEFE (50,919) 11449 (146,668) 69,048 (9.918) 2339
Cash and cash ERRERAS
equivalents LEEE
atend of year 323,667 453,047 103,756 230,329 148,444 154,034
The information above is the amount before intercompany FHERRAEEBARRZ
eliminations. ¥ HR R ©
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
19 Credit quality of financial assets 19 IIBEEZEEEZR
The credit quality of financial assets can be assessed by M EENEREERAZ2ZERMRS
reference to external credit ratings or historical information HFRINEEFTRNELN ERNE
about counterparty default rates. £ ERTF AR o
Accounts receivable FEW R K
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER FAT

Counterparties without external ~ IWEEIMNIEE RO SEF
credit rating

Group 1 4851 344,491 435,108
Group 2 48512 947,547 1,132,385
1,292,038 1,567493
. Eod

Other receivables H i & W R IR
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Counterparties without external ~ WEINEEFRMNRZ HEF
credit rating

Group 1 #8711 5,680 12,548
Group 2 #8712 358,021 828,004
363,701 840,552
: sE N\ = 2

Amounts due from related companies PRI BB R RIFIA
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Counterparties without external ~ IWEESMNIEE RO S F
credit rating

Group 2 #7512 12,822 16,615

Group 1 - new customers/related parties (less than 6 months). BRI - FRE/EREAL (DR
NEAR) -

Group 2 - existing customers/related parties (more than 6 HERI2 - RERF /BHREAL (Z

months). RANEA) °
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19 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued)

330

Cash and cash equivalents

Ratings by rating agencies of banks at which cash and deposits

19

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

MREEZFEER (&)
Re MREFEEAR

FERBERERE RERNRITH

are held AR
2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
AA- AA- 282,828 133,448
A+ A+ 15,887 12,377
A A 440,536 107219
A- A- 49,805 96,719
BBB+ BBB+ 494,487 772,892
BBB BBB 449 782
BBB- BBB- 11,000 21,945
Others (Note a) Eh (izEa) 79,820 119,724
1,374,812 1,265,106

Note a: Others represented cash held at banks without credit rating.
These banks are reputable banks with no defaults in the past.

Restricted cash

fMista: HpEAREREBFRORT
EENRE - ZERITER

Rif - BENEARFOR

XRHIRE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
A A 2,366 244
A- A- 583 =
BBB+ BBB+ 8,173 19,034
11,122 19,278

Bank deposits RITER
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
AA- AA- 111,555 =
A A - 19,396
BBB+ BBB+ 103,660 =
BBB- BBB- 7,663 20,333
222,878 39,729
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

19 Credit quality of financial assets (Continued) 19 MKEEZFEEEE (&)

Pledged bank deposits BEEIRITER
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
AA- AA- - 155,792
155,792
| i | H /N7 YA S 2> -
Financial assets at fair value through profit or ?ﬁ%q:@ﬁ@ig\mnaﬁﬁmm
loss BAE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
AA- AA- 287,071 136,197
BBB+ BBB+ 655,353 1,473,562
Others (Note b) HAth (FifaEb) 72,750 96,291
1,015,174 1,706,050
Note b: Balance represents investments in debt and equity securities MizEb : AHRRRREREETRRER
of private companies which credit ratings are not available. ZIARRELE RRAES
None of the financial assets that are fully performing has been FEZHEBETHMBEERFRLE
renegotiated during the year (2021: Nil). FUAEFER (2021 4F : £) ©
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20 Accounts receivable, net

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

20 FEWRFERE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Accounts receivable FEULBRFK 1,292,038 1,567,493
Less: Provision for impairment B R ER (392,256) (530,163)
899,782 1,037330

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, net, approximate

their fair values.

The Group has appointed an advertising agent in the PRC
to promote the sales of the Group’s advertising airtime and
programme sponsorship and collect advertising revenues within
the PRC on behalf of the Group. The Group generally requires
its advertising customers to pay in advance. Customers of other
business segments are given credit terms of 30 to 180 days.

At 31 December 2022, the ageing analysis of the accounts
receivable from customers based on invoice date was as

FEMBRFUF R AR (B B L R E AR

Eo

REBEETFHREZET—LESNE -
FEUBAEERPEIEANEENER
MESREHE R E &8 - WwUE
BERA - AEE—RERKEERS
TES S NRIE - EMEBSENER
EXT30E180 BEMEEH] -

M2022F12 A31 0 » EREFER
RIEEZBHNERE ST

follows:
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0-30 days 0%30H 210,067 312,873
31-60 days 31£60H 176,754 175,614
61-90 days 61290H 104,055 161,972
91-120 days 91% 120 H 89,477 131,589
Over 120 days 120 HA E 711,685 785,445
1,292,038 1,567493
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (392,256) (530,163)
899,782 1,037330
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
20 Accounts receivable, net (Continued) 20 EWERFCFE (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group's accounts receivable are AEEEYERFHREBEN TS &8
denominated in the following currencies: REA
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
RMB AR 1,278,693 1,551,552
US$ ET 11,171 13,005
UK pound i 1,262 1,859
Other currencies EmmEr 912 1,077
1,292,038 1,567,493
Movements on the Group's provision for impairment of NEEEREFRERENEE 0N
accounts receivable are as follows: N
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At 1 January R1B18 530,163 281,522
Provision for impairment BB RHE 38,467 234,941
Receivables written off during F RS A AT Uk 21 /) FE W R TR
the year as uncollectible (58,722) -
Reversal of provision for BB ER D
impairment (66,919) -
Currency translation differences ~ E¥BREEE (50,733) 13,700
At 31 December M®12A31H8 392,256 530,163
The creation and release of provision for impaired accounts B 2R B FE U AR TR E T R 18 4 I e [m] 43
receivables of approximately HK$38,467,000 (2021: &5 71 #4138,467.0007%8 7T (2021 4F :
HK$234,941,000) and HK$66,919,000 (2021: Nil) respectively, 234,941,000 JT) #166,919,000 %
have been included in “Selling, general and administrative JC (2021 : &) - Bt ARE KRR
expenses” in the consolidated income statement (Note 7). The RPHE —RBRETREARIET
Group has written off approximately HK$58,722,000 (2021: Nil) (ME7) - AEBERAFEAFBE
of accounts receivable against the provision for impairment of FEEH R EUER R E B E A
accounts receivable made in prior years during the year because Ji& Uk BR 3K 4958,722,0007% JT (2021
there is no expectation of recovering additional cash. F &) RAABEHTgKEFEIN
RE o
There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts BERASEBEEAERF RMUES
receivable because the Group has a large number of customers. FARBEEFAEESTRER -
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21

334

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

21 FENRE REREBER

MIE

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Prepayment and deposits TENRERIES 127,360 196,808
Other receivables Hth U RIE 363,701 840,552
491,061 1,037,360
Less: Non-current portion R FEENERER (D (45,536) (27.759)
Current portion BERER (D 445,525 1,009,601

Included in other receivables is an amount of approximately
RMB200,073,000 (HK$217,864,000) (2021: RMB571,104,000
(HK$696,061,000)) owing from an advertising agent, Shenzhou,
in the PRC. The amount represents advertising revenue
collected, net of expenses incurred by Shenzhou on behalf of
the Group.

Pursuant to a service agreement signed between Shenzhou
and the Group dated 31 December 2019 and addendum dated
20 June 2022, Shenzhou agreed to deposit the advertising
revenue it had collected prior to the execution of that
agreement and to be collected in the future in one or more than
one specific trust bank accounts in the PRC, which together
with any interest generated from such bank account(s) (based
on prevailing commercial interest rates) would be held in trust
on behalf of the Group and handled according to the Group's
instructions. No additional interest will be charged by the Group
on the balance.

The Trust Law in the PRC enacted in recent years has not
laid out specific detailed implementation rules applicable to
trust arrangements such as that of the Group with Shenzhou.
Therefore the extent of the enforceability of the arrangement
is still unclear. Although the management recognises that the
present arrangement is the only legally viable arrangement, the
management will continue to monitor and explore alternatives
to improve the situation.

HmERRESE —FE KT
BESAREBNOREDHDAR
# 200,073,000 7T (217,864,000
7)) (20214 + AR 571,104,000 7T
(696,061,000787T)) ° I FRIE A @M
REAEBREBMHES WA (BB
i) o

RIE B M E AR E B 7 20196 12 A 31
HZ 5] M AR 7% 1 7% & 7R 20226 6 A
0B FFTNHEAGE  BMNEEH
H BT 175 B B UK B K oK 2R A5 U ER
KBS R ATE AR B — &k — @A
ZHRERITERERERPA  ERBE%SE
SRITEEFES ZEAN B (FRE AT
EMERFTE) HRRAEB U EFAR
AFE - UREAKREZIEREE -
A B S Tk 4 SR ER AT (] BB S F)

B o
o

BRI FEMANEALEE HER
IR SR E B3 M SRR BE P
HERSAE - B - REEBER LY
PAMEOERAITREE o 3N E IR E R
RERITREDER LE—AITTHR
B BEIRE SRS MR
ATHOERAR = A REENR -
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

21 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 21 FE{IFIE - RERHAER

(Continued)

The management of the Group is of the opinion that the amount
owing from Shenzhou of approximately RMB200,073,000
(HK$217,864,000) as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
RMB571,104,000 (HK$696,061,000)) is fully recoverable and
no provision is required. The balance is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

A ()

AEBEBEERA  M2022F12
A3TBEBENEXRNRBEBLHARE
200,073,000t (217,864,000/%7T)
(2021 4F : HARM 571,104,000
7T (696,061,00078 7T)) #5 AT ZE £ Uk
B - B BAELRE o BHRAER
- RERARENREE -

BNRA - 2E AR IRR R
E{EEENFERE -

RS B H A R ORROBREETIA T
FIEHETIE -

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

RMB ARHE 345,978 815,113
US$ ET 210 293
HK$ BT 15,217 22,672
UK pound gy 2,259 2,416
Other currencies HEmEk 37 58
363,701 840,552

As at 31 December 2022, other receivables of HK$60,767000
(2021: HK$58,084,000) were impaired.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of the prepayment, deposits and other
receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

&R 2022

M20229F12 B31 8 » BREZHi
JE U IE £60,76700078 7T (20214F :
58,084,000/ L) °

REAHEENESEERRE
ERFIRENFOR - 2E REMER
FIAMRRE(E - NEE L ER A TR
HRRIERTER -
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22

23

336

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

The cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$216,300
(2021: HK$1,462,000) for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
charged to the consolidated income statement.

Amounts due from related companies

Inventories 22 &
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Merchandised goods SHE M m 5,171 5,242
5,171 5,242

HE202F12A31MBEFE &

216,300/ 7T (2021 4F :
NEEFERAEREZE

°©
S

23 EWHBERXTRE

1,462,000 7T)
& E il

2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Amounts due from related FEW A BiE R BI5kIA
companies
— Joint ventures (Note a) - B (Fﬁufa) 694 2,079
— Other related companies - Hib & 12,128 14,536
12,822 16,615
(a) Amounts due from joint ventures (a) MEWAEZERKIE
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Amounts due from joint ventures  JEUA &> EEFIE 13,187 14,572
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE (12,493) (12,493)
Amounts due from joint ventures, FEURA &b 3 FIEF58
net 694 2,079
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

23 Amounts due from related companies 23 EWEBREQTME (&)
(Continued)
(b) At 31 December 2022, the ageing analysis of the amounts (b) R2022%F 1283168 EWK A
due from related companies, were as follows: E A RIFIBRRE DT -
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Amounts due from related  JEUH RIE A RIFIE
companies
0 -90 days 0&90H 10,180 8,333
91 - 120 days 912 120H 94 974
Over 120 days 120 B £ 2,548 7308
12,822 16,615
(c) The amount due from related companies are unsecured, () EWEBERAIXRELEK
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. Other BB RAREREE - &
receivables from related parties are repayable in i FE Y B A B R W R TR
accordance with credit terms. RIREEMEE -
The carrying amounts of amounts due from related EEEQEE\EEZ%EEE\@EEE ' FE
companies approximate their fair values as the impact of WA A& 1 R KR Y Bk 1 R
discounting is not significant. HAFERS -
The maximum exposure of amounts due from related %iﬁ%ajﬁﬁ ' %H&ﬁ%ﬁ@@aﬂ
companies to credit risk at the reporting date is the fk\lgﬁﬁﬁﬁw‘jﬂ%ﬁfzgﬁﬁﬂﬂﬂ
carrying value mentioned above. FABRE(E -
(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s amounts due from (d) K%@EWE@@@E%’N/EZ
related companies are denominated in RMB. FREEAARKIIE -
F1f 2022 337
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24

338

Financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

BAVPEEBRERTCRNT

through profit or loss BEE/ (BF)
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FAET
Current assets REEE
Trading equity securities BERAES 14,821 14,317
Convertible redeemable preferred A #1f% A] & [0l 4t A%
shares (Note 41) (FftzE41) 331 28,537
Other investments HEmiRE 72,419 67,754
Structured deposits EREETR 927,603 1,595,442
1,015,174 1,706,050
Current liabilities nREBEE
Interest rate swap contract FIRBEE L — (2,708)
— (2,708)

Included in the financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss is an amount of approximately HK$14,821,000 (2021:
HK$14,317000) representing the shares of HSBC.

These shares are held for trading. The fair value of these shares
is based on the current bid prices in an active market. As at
31 December 2022, the closing price of the shares of HSBC
listed in Hong Kong was HK$48.6 (2021: HK$46.9). If the price
of the shares of HSBC increased/decreased by 20% with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$2,964,000 (2021: HK$2,863,000)
higher/lower.

Fair value loss on financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value through
profit or loss of HK$32,275,000 (2021: gain of HK$5,267,000)
are recognised in “Other operating (losses)/gains, net” in the
consolidated income statement (Note 6).

BATEEREBRLCENTHEE
B 1 #4914,821,0005 7T (2021 4F :
14,317.000 7 7T) AVELRR (D ©

ZERMARBIEESE - HERHBZA
FESEENERMESANENEA
o R2022F 128318 - REBLE
MZELRMHZWTEA48.67 T
(20214F : 4698 L) - BEHEEL
RADEVER EF T 20% - TFTAE
H S SuB g AFRRKEER
FRE AN, 8 #92,964,000 7 IT
(2021 % : 2,863,000/ 7T) °

BATEEBBRCENMBEE,
(BfE) /9~ F(EEE32,275,000%
7C (2021 5 : W2£5,267.000787T) Jo
FTAEREETH [ Hige (8
18) /Wt F58 | (ffsxe) -
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25 Bank deposits

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

25 SRITIER

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

Short-term deposits (Note a) EEER (MisEa) 222,878 39,729
(a)  Short-term bank deposits represents bank deposits with (a) RWERITEFEFEEFAEAR

a maturity date exceeding 90 days but not exceeding 1
year from the date of making the deposits. The carrying
amounts of bank deposits are denominated in the
following currencies:

55| B 181890 BB T R —4F
BOSRITIFAR - B 1T7F BB 8
AT B3 -

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

RMB AR 149,233 39,729
Uss ETT 73,645 =
222,878 39,729

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded HK$56,260,000 interest income from cash
and cash equivalents, bank deposits, restricted cash and
pledged bank deposits (2021: HK$70,701,000).

26 Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents funds pledged to banks to secure
banking guarantee and advance payment.

(b)

REE2022412 A31 8 IEF
B AEESSRSEESSE
BEIEE - RITTFXK - ZRFIR
& REERBITERZF LU
A 56,260,000/ 7T (20214 :
70,701,000 7¢) °

26 ZREBRE

XRHERSARERTRITZES N
TERIRITERR RIS RAVIER

2022 2021
2022 % 2021 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

RMB AR 11,122 19,278
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27 Cash and cash equivalents

28

29

340

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

27 RERRTEHERE

2022 2021

2022 2021 4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Cash at bank and on hand RITRFEERE 965,348 840,964

Short-term bank deposits RAERITER 409,464 424,142

1,374,812 1,265,106

Maximum exposure to credit risk FAEEREE 1,374,025 1,263,979
Denominated in: AR IIE

- HK$ - BT 28,843 48,718

- RMB - AR¥ 1,110,716 1,064,345

- US$ - ETT 227,950 140,686

— Other currencies - Hih g 7,303 11,357

1,374,812 1,265,106

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less for the purpose of the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

RFARSRERME  ReRAe
SEER RERTRSREERS M
RREISA A= B AR T 2 AR
TR -

Bank facilities 28 RITEE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has undrawn banking MN2022%12 B31H » AEEBKIR
facilities of HK$18,446,000 (2021: HK$16,528,000). HY R 17 Bb & 18,446,0007% 7T (2021
4 :16,528,000787T) °
Share capital 29 KA
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BHEE ot f& &8 &5
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT Tt
Authorised: ERE -
Ordinary shares BAREME0.1 T
of $0.1 each ZEBR 10,000,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ETRAR :
At 1 January ®n1B1H 4,993,659,500 499,366 4,993,469,500 499,347
Exercise of share e
options - - 190,000 19
At 31 December M®12A31H 4,993,659,500 499,366 4,993,659,500 499,366
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30 Share-based compensation

(a)

&R 2022

Share options of the Company

The Company has a share option scheme under which it
may grant options to employees of the Group (including
executive Directors of the Company) to subscribe
for shares of the Company. Options are granted and
exercisable in accordance with the terms set out in the
relevant scheme. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as
follows:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

30 LURGMERAVFEE

(a)

ZA/NCIE g

ARERABBREE - RE
ETRMAKRENEER (21
ARBNBITES) XT AR
BARAB M ERE - B
TR AT BB D M IR &
TTME o« REE Y EEMETE K
EEMRENRSBOREE
FEARIE -

RITEBRERENES R H
8 B8 o0 #E T 15 17 {6 B & 5 1A
T

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

Average Average

exercise exercise

price in HK$ price in HK$
per share Options per share Options

B SilE LA TAIE

NER¥H BN FRTE
THEE B IR e 171E(8 R
‘000 ‘000
T T
At 1 January ®1A18 141 69,256 1.41 78,602

Lapsed and BB KT

cancelled 1.41 (12,670) 1.41 (9,156)
Exercised 217 - - 1.41 (190)
At 31 December A12 A 31 H 1.41 56,586 1.41 69,256

As at 31 December 2022, all of the (2021: all) outstanding
options were exercisable. No option was granted (2021:
Nil) and no option was exercised in 2022 (2021: 190,000).

R2022F 124318 » REKRITE
BREE S - 25 (20214 ¢
) BREA FITFE R
2022 FHL R B AR (2021
FE) MTERBREEE
774# (2021 4 : 190,000 %) °
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

342

(a)

Share options of the Company (Continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

30 BURGREFEE (F)

(a)

Exercise price in

ANEIRERE ()

RELRKRITEERENEIE A
MATEBIT -

Expiry date HK$ per share 2022 2021
E#A LU T IEN B RITEE 2022 F 20214
‘000 ‘000

Tt T

20 March 2027 2027 %3 A20H 1.41 56,586 69,256
56,586 69,256

Share options of PNM

PNM has two share option schemes under which it may
grant options to the executives, employees, directors,
consultants, advisers, agents, business partners, joint
venture partners, service providers and contractors
of PNM and/or its affiliates. Options are granted and
exercisable in accordance with terms set out in the
relevant share option schemes. PNM has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options
in cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, PNM
implemented an option exchange program from
21 October 2016 to 1 November 2016, whereby PNM'’s
directors, employees and consultants exchanged options
to purchase 21,011,951 Class A ordinary shares of PNM
granted under PNM’s 2008 Share Option Plan with
various exercise prices greater than US$0.4823 per share
(or US$3.8587 per ADS) for new options granted by
PNM under the same plan with a new exercise price of
US$0.4823 per share and a new vesting schedule that
generally adds 12 months to each original vesting date,
and the new options would vest no sooner than 1 May
2017

(b)

RUEFT RS BV i Ahe

[ B\ £ B8 R B o M1 B P e T
g RIEET S A AR R R R
BR/SAEBBRANITEA
B -EE EF EM- &6
A RE - XBEH a8
- REHEBERAEERT
B - BRI R IRERE B
P A AT BB 51 B0 IR i e 7T
£ o [BLELF B A8 3 B AE E
ST UEREAR S EOE
HRBAHE -

Il

REZE2016F12 A31 8 I F
& - BlEETEEER 2016 510 A
21HZE2016F 11 A1 BHEE
THERERIREE - B - Bl
BTN ESE  EE REEM
1R 15 [BL L 37 5 58 2008 S & IR
HEET SIS AT BB A 21,011,951
AL BmRaBERE G
BITEE M SN &% 0.4823
EN(KBRERBIRHD
3.8587% 7t)) r AR #]IR
BR—IBFTEER 2 AR
(FF1TEEAENR04823F T
m¥rEBERER —RESIRET
SREBAHEMNLER2B@A) W
R TR R2017F5 A
1B%E -
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

30 Share-based compensation (Continued) 30 BARMGMIRHIEE (&)
(b) Share options of PNM (Continued) (o) Bl 2\ ¥ K 88 1) B Az 7
(%&)
Movement in the number of share options outstanding MARITEBRESEEFH R E
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as BRANETHTEENAT -
follows:
2022 2021
2022 20214
Average Average
exercise exercise
price in US$ price in US$
per share Options per share Options
UETHIE AZETTYIME
WERTH B ER
TEE B 1TEE B
‘000 ‘000
T3 T1n
At 1 January ®m1A1H 0.403875 50,338 0.41200 52,225
Granted B - - 0.212038 1,730
Lapsed B 0.443524 (8,863) 0.432476 (3,617)
Exercised B2171E - - - -
At 31 December %12 A31 H 0.395403 41,475 0.403875 50,338

&R 2022

As at 31 December 2022, out of the 41,475,000 (2021:
50,338,000) outstanding options, 32,491,000 (2021:
33,821,000) were exercisable. No options were exercised
in 2021 and 2022.

Management estimates the fair values of options at
the grant dates. The fair values of the options were
determined using the Black-Scholes model. The key
assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of the
options granted on respective dates are set out in the
below table.

® 20224912 A31H » % 41,475,000
% (2021 4 : 50,338,00013) AT
FERBERRAEH © 32,491,0001% (2021
£ :33,821,00013) A] T4 ° 2021
F 122022 FHLEEIEETE -

ERERBRENREBRZAF
B BREZATERE M NR-
SR BAETE - B BRE
RERLEBHz ATEGEFRAZ
ETEEREIINTE -
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued)

344

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

30 BRI REEE (&)

(b) JBlE\ 3 £ 58 &Y 5 AL

(&)
Closing share
Fair value of price at Exercise price  Annual risk-free Expected life Expected
Date of grant share options grant date per share interest rate of options volatility
BRED R A EEk Btk
RiAH Ve UL G BRAEE £R= RES KR
US$ US$ US$ % years %
(%7) (%7) (Fn) (%) (%) (%)
15 March 2013 2013%3A 158 0.29895 0.5125 0.44593 154 6.16 5810
23 May 2013 13E5R 23R 0.37349 061125 0.46565 160 6.16 5760
1 October 2013 13F10A18 0.9615 140625 0.7867 187 6.16 5820
17 October 2016 16F 107178 0.2342 045125 04734 155 6.16 55.30
21 October 2016 W6F10/218  0.173202193 0.4525 0.4823 130 391539 50.67-55.65
14 September 2017 1759A14A 0.4648 0.7025 0.4149 188 6.16 55.99
24 November 2017 NTENF2A4E 0.6294 0.9338 0.5344 192 6.16 5706
3 January 2018 201851438 0.1300-0.2492 0.4000 0.4823-0.6326 0.91-169 254.9 56.81-5703
5 July 2019 2019%7F5H 0.201 0.39 0.4836 312 6.16 5709
20 July 2020 020574208 0.1154 0.2038 0.1925 143 6.16 5859
20 January 2021 021F1A208 01178 0.1975 0.2006 132 6.16 65.34
4 June 2021 01 F6A4R 01373 0.2188 0.2158 172 6.16 6845
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30 Share-based compensation (Continued) 30

(b) Share options of PNM (Continued)

&R 2022

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

IR R fE (&)

(b) JBl 2\ £ 58 &Y 5 AL
(#&)

RERRITEBRAZENTHA

following expiry dates and exercise prices: RATEEWT :
Exercise price in

Expiry date USS$ per share 2022 2021
ZH8 A UETSIENESRITEE 2022 F 20214
‘000 ‘000
T4 T1n
14 March 2023 20233 A 14 H 0.445925 1,200 2,950
22 May 2023 2023%F5H22H 0.46565 2,900 2,900
30 September 2023 202399 A30H 0.7867 6 6
16 October 2026 2026410 A 16 H 0.4734 1,220 2,375
20 October 2026 2026410 A20H 0.4823 10,083 11,309
13 September 2027 20279 A13H 0.4149 2,491 3,200
23 November 2027 2027 % 11 A23 H 0.5344 130 298
2 January 2028 202841 H2H 0.4823 - 1,385
4 July 2029 20297 H4H 0.4836 1,715 13,375
19 July 2030 20307 A19H 0.1925 10,100 10,810
19 January 2031 203141 A 19H 0.2006 330 430
3 June 2031 203146 A3H 0.2158 1,300 1,300
41,475 50,338
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31 Accounts payable, other payables and

346

(BRIEHEH

IBE8E - £FABTTIIE)

31 ENRX - EMUBEARER

accruals PEStTRIE
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Accounts payable JERTBRR 482,834 390,055
Other payables and accruals Hoth FE AN 5UIE R FERTRUR 718,429 1,127,065
1,201,263 1,517120
Less: Non-financial liabilities W RS AE (5,527) (3,826)
1,195,736 1,513,294

At 31 December 2022, the ageing analysis of the accounts

7K 2022 %12 A 31

B ERAERRRE

payable based on invoice date was as follows: EEBHHNRERSTAT ¢
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
0-30 days 02 30H 210,244 190,833
31-60 days 31E£60H 30,173 13,170
61-90 days 61£290H 10,428 14,515
91-120 days 91 %120 H 27,994 18,772
Over 120 days 1208 £ 203,995 152,765
482,834 390,055

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and
accruals approximate their fair values.

The carrying amounts of accounts payable, other payables and

FEfSRRAR - BARfE

BESEVYa e e

ZEHEERLATFERE -

FEASRRAR - BARfE

BESEVYa e e

accruals are denominated in the following currencies: FIRREEA T EHESIME
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
HK$ BT 241,140 182,783
RMB AR 936,162 1,322,658
US$ ET 15,534 4,194
UK pound g 2,479 2,840
Other currencies Hih g 421 819
1,195,736 1,513,294
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

32 Borrowings BE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Secured bank borrowings (Note a) G#EFRITEE (H:Ta) 8,226 141,818
Loans from non-controlling BB A R FEEAR AR R IR L E 3K
shareholders of subsidiaries (FF3ED)
(Note b) 176,877 387070
185,103 528,888
. PR
(a) Secured bank borrowings (a) BEFRITEE
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Non-current FERED
Long-term secured bank REFERIRITEE
borrowings 1,692 1,740
Current B
Current portion of long-term FHEIAEIFRITEE 2
secured bank borrowings 7 ENED 6,534 140,078
Total secured bank BIRFRITEERRE
borrowings 8,226 141,818
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
The secured bank HEBRITEERRAT
borrowings are repayable  FFREERE :
as follows:
—Within one year -—FR 6,534 140,078
— More than one year - —FEETBBME
but not exceeding
two years - _
— More than two years - MERETBBERE
but not exceeding
five years - -
— More than five years - HBBAF 1,692 1,740
Total secured bank BIRFRITEERE
borrowings 8,226 141,818

&R 2022
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32 Borrowings (Continued)

348

(a)

Secured bank borrowings (Continued) (a)
A bank borrowing of HK$1,692,000 (as at 31 December

2021: HK$1,740,000) is secured by a property in the

United States with carrying value of approximately
HK$2,562,000 (as at 31 December 2021: HK$2,587.000)

recorded in property, plant and equipment as at 31

December 2022. The bank borrowing is denominated in

US dollar (“US$"”) and bears interest at an average interest

rate of 3.59% annually (as at 31 December 2021: 3.59%)

annually.

As at 31 December 2021, bank borrowings of
HK$136,422,000 are secured by bank deposits of
HK$155,792,000. The bank borrowings are fully repaid
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Loans from non-controlling shareholders of (b)

subsidiaries

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

32 58 ()

BEMRTEE (B)

—$ R 1718 51,692,0007T (7
2021412 A 318 : 1,740,000
IT) THLA—IEE B Y E K
o H 2022512318 &
ME - BERIBEHSHED
{BE#/42,562,000/8 7T (722021
128318 : 2,587000/87T) °
ZERTEEUET ((ET))
F{E - Wi T FF| K369
(FA2021412 A31H : 3.59F)
TR o

202112 A31 8 © IRITEE
136,422,000787T ]y A R 1T 17 3K
155,792,000 TL/EHAR 8817
EEDREHE 20225128318
IFFEREEE -

B /88 X B SRR AR B2
HER

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Non-current JERE
Long-term loans from MIB A Rl FEFEARAR R
non-controlling Bz REER
shareholders of subsidiaries 32,271 35,491
Current B
Short-term loans from MY /B A R 2 FEIE R
non-controlling IR M 2 EIE R
shareholders of
subsidiaries 144,606 351,579
Total loans from BT ZIEEBRIRR
non-controlling REZEREE
shareholders
of subsidiaries 176,877 387070
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(b)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

32 Borrowings (Continued) 32 B8 (&)
Loans from non-controlling shareholders of (b) MIEB R FIFEIERRAR RS
subsidiaries (Continued) HEK
2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
The loans from Fﬁ% A2 IEERR IR ERIR A
non-controlling ERERATREERE :
shareholders of
subsidiaries are
repayable as follows:
—Within one year -—FR 144,606 351,579
— More than one year but - —FR{ETBBMRF
not exceeding two years 10,491 11,114
— More than two years but - FIEZERBBARE
not exceeding five years - =
— More than five years - BBAF 21,780 24,377
Total loans from MEBATZIEERRRREMZ
non-controlling BB
shareholders
of subsidiaries 176,877 387070

&R 2022

The loans from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries are denominated in RMB, unsecured
and interest-free (2021: loans from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries are denominated in RMB,
unsecured and interest-free).

M8 A Bz JEERR AR R IR 2
BERABNARES|E - KT
Reg (2021 & : fIBAAZ
IR RBERZERBUA
RESE - BEERRE) -
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32

350

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

Borrowings (Continued) 32 B8 (&)

(c) The carrying amounts and fair values of the

() EERREENRAFE

borrowings are as follows: NN
Group
rEE
Carrying amount Fair value
REE AYE
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 20214 2022 % 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THER TET THET
Secured bank borrowings BHEARTEE 8,226 141,818 8,226 141,818
Loans from non-controlling ENGERE
shareholders of subsidiaries RERHER 176,877 387070 176,877 384,566
185,103 528,888 185,103 526,384
The fair values of floating rate borrowings approximate FBHNEEEN R TFEERR

their carrying amounts. The fair values of fixed rate
borrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a
rate based on the borrowing rate of 6.48% (2021: 6.48%)
and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

HEEE BEFXEEN
ANFERB—EEK648E
(20214 : 6.48[8) 2 EEFI=
WAEBIRNRESREETE
BRATESHANSE 24
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RE#EREE (FE) BRAT]
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

33 Deferred income tax

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

33 RLEFTEH

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

AR

on the consolidated balance sheet are analysed as follows:

HABEERERZELEMEHEE
NMBEEFTSHBEITNT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Deferred income tax assets: FIEFTSTHEE ¢
- Deferred income tax assets to ~ — #5412 & A & W Bl REEFT ST & E
be recovered after more
than 12 months (5,786) (6,475)
- Deferred income tax assets to  — #5412 &8 A UL REEFT ST & E
be recovered within
12 months (98,933) (113,650)
(104,719) (120,125)
Deferred income tax liabilities: FEASH AR :
- Deferred income tax liabilities ~ — #5128 A& KB AEEFRSR & &
to be recovered after more
than 12 months 136,255 155,882
Deferred income tax liabilities, net {EIEFTET: B (& F5E 31,536 35,757

The gross movements in the deferred income tax liabilities, net

are as follows:

BEFSHAEFREEEHMT

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FET

At 1 January W1A18 35,757 33,373
Credited to the TEiFaWEERTA (M)

consolidated income

statement (Note 9) (2,509) (5,548)

Currency translation differences B EZE (1,712) 7932

At 31 December ®12A318 31,536 35,757

&R 2022
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33

352

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred taxation for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability
method using a principal taxation rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%).

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carryforwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is probable.
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets
of HK$531,752,000 (2021: HK$401,423,000) in respect
of unrecognised tax losses of HK$3,222,739,000 as at 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$2,432,869,000) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. Approximately
HK$1,760,000,000 (2021: HK$1,469,593,000) of the
unrecognized tax losses have no expiry date and the remaining
balance will expire at various dates up to and including 2040.

As at 31 December 2022, deferred income tax liabilities
of HK$3,660,000 (2021: HK$8,429,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of HK$73,192,000
(2021: HK$168,586,000) of certain PRC subsidiaries. Since the
Directors consider the timing for the reversal of the related
temporary differences can be controlled and such temporary
differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable future, no
withholding tax has been provided.

The movement in deferred tax income assets and liabilities
during the year without taking into consideration the offsetting
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

33 EIEFTSH (M)

HZE 2022912 A31 BILFEMIEL
MBDREEBELREREEZR 1%
E E R E16.5% (20214 : 16.5%)
EREGETE -

REMBHEE TSR IAEHRE

R MELATTRE 1B R R FEER Bl F
FIRAERE R AR - NEEWE
PR 2022F 12 B31H A 4 & A LA
S R R SR B A B R R T IR
&5 $83,222,739,00078 JT (20214 :
2,432,869,000/% JT) i R IE L& FT 13
i & 531,752,000 JT (2021 F :
401,423,000 7T) : R ARERH TS
548 - 491,760,000,000% 7T (2021
F 1 1,469,593,000/% Jr) I f& F| HY
B - MRS REZ2040F (B1E%
F) MZERHARIER -

R2022F 12 A31H @ WEAEILE
TFHBEMNE AR Z 73,192,000 T
(20214F: 168,586,000 7T) AKIE L
ARG 2 TR F K H B IR W R
3,660,000/ 7T (20214 : 8,429,000
BIL) CBELEFBEHEE EFRA
A LA 22 i) 75 B B B 1 = B RO B B B
- AR ERATTE R R & B A
PRt ER - B ARIEL TR
1 o

RERNELEMEHEERARE

(TEHR SR — BT b (= B) &5 88 B1) 40
™
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33 Deferred income tax (Continued)

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

33 EIEFTSH (M)

Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSREE
Accelerated tax depreciation Revaluation of assets Total
MERERE EfEE @t
2022 201 2022 201 2022 2021
2022% W1 5F W2F 2001% W2F 015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T Thn TEn Thn TEn
At 1 January B®1A1R (115) (695) 155,997 150,395 155,882 149,700
(Credited)/charged to the ERANER
consolidated income statement (&) /4k - 580 (3,146) 18) 3,146) 562
Currency tranlation differences ~ SHHEZE - - (16,481) 5,620 (16,481) 5,620
At 31 December R’M2A31H (115) (115) 136,370 155,997 136,255 155,882
Deferred income tax assets EREFTS I E E
Tax losses Provisions Total
REEE BE 5t
2022 2021 2022 201 2022 2021
222% W15 W2F 2001% W2F 015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn T Tén TEn Thn Tén
At 1 January ®A1R (9,107) (9,107) (11,018) (107220) (120,125) (116,327)
Charged/(credited) o ERANER
the consolidated s/ (£2)
income statement - - 637 6,110) 637 (6,110)
Currency translation differences ~ SEHEZE - - 14,769 2312 14,769 2312
At 31 December R’M2A31H (9,107) (9,107) (95,612) (111,018 (104,719) (120,125)
FH 2022
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34

354

Pledged bank deposits

As at 31 December 2022, no bank deposit was pledged.
As at 31 December 2021, a bank deposit of approximately
HK$155,792,000 bearing fixed interest rates at 2.44% per
annum, is pledged to a bank to secure one bank borrowing of
approximately HK$136,422,000 (Note 32(a)). The bank borrowing
bears interest at LIBOR plus 0.45% per annum. The Group has
entered into interest rate swap and cross-currency interest rate
swap contracts with the same bank, with notional principals of
the same amount of the borrowings, to swap its floating rate
obligations under the borrowings for fixed rates obligation at
3.38% per annum. The maturity dates of the borrowings are
the same as the interest rate swap contracts, in which the
cross-currency interest rate swap contract was matured in
June 2021. The Group did not elect to apply hedge accounting
for the interest rate swap contracts. As at 31 December 2021,
the fair value of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts
of HK$2,708,000 has been recorded as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss under current liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet (Note 24).

The fair value of the pledged bank deposit approximate its
carrying amounts.

34

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

SEARTER

MR 2022F12A831H  REDHEE
SRITFER - 20214 12A318 -
—EIRITF R4 155,792,000/ 7T /5
RETEFF K2 44B5H 8 - WK
F—HERITURE —ERITEED
136,422,000/ 70 (M 3E32(a))  $R1T
BEABBFAZEFEMFHNEQ.45
EiFt B - ALEEF—FHRTREER
LR AEASE LA RERARR
XEBRNEREHEL - UBEEZF
EEBEXMARFNEIIGELER
BfE  MEBEEANXEHEHER
2021F 6 AEIHR - (EE 2 B HA A B2 7|
K HAE QAR o AEEYERE H
MR E L REHAETER - R
2021 128318 X ¥R ZF Xz
HA XM AF(E 2,708,000 L E R
RABEABRANTBAE TR
AT EFEBEECENTFSAERRE
(Mf7E24) o

EEMRTERN A HEREREE
EE=R
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(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

35 Leases 35 HE
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a mAEEAEEA - AIANEHEE
lessee. RHER -
(i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (i) HMRAREEEBXRN®
]
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating EEBBERERATEHEES
to leases: AR &5 -
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BRE FET FAT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties bIES 120,552 85,353
Land T b a, b 172,967 188,563
LED screen LEDF%& 667,844 667307
Radio channel and facility B & 58 N & - 21,235
961,363 962,458
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current BnER 168,431 223,842
Non-current JEBNEA 671,197 596,905
839,628 820,747

&R 2022
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35 Leases (Continued)

356

(i)

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
(Continued)

(a)

Included in the right-of-use assets as of
31 December 2022 is an amount of HK$81,303,000
(as at 31 December 2021: HK$94,155,000) which
represents land use rights held by the Group for
a piece of land situated in Beijing for the Phoenix
International Media Centre.

Included in the right-of-use assets as of
31 December 2022 is an amount of HK$11,506,000
(as at 31 December 2021: HK$11,911,000) which
was paid by the Group pursuant to notification
from the Shenzhen Municipal Bureau of Land
Resources and Housing Management (“Shenzhen
Land Bureau"”) to the Shenzhen Land Bureau to
obtain a title certificate in the name of Phoenix
Satellite Television Company Limited (the “Phoenix
Subsidiary”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, for the Group's upper ground space
entitlement of approximately 8,500 square metres
in China Phoenix Building in Shenzhen (“Shenzhen
Building”). As of 31 December 2022, the Group was
still awaiting the issuance of the title certificate to
the Phoenix Subsidiary by the Shenzhen Municipal
Government. The Directors are of the opinion that
the title certificate of the Shenzhen Building will be
issued in the near future.

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

35 HE (&)

() HRNEERBEXRNE

2 (

(a)

==
&)

#HZ=2022612A31H8
HEREEEPBRIE—
% 5£%81,303,000/87C
(R 20215128318
94,155,00077C) 7XIB
HARRAEEZBE R
BEAOFE BRI
WAt R R -

20224128 31 BH(E
REEEZSR  BEAS
ER R R £ &R
EEEER([FIIBEL
B1) MBEmMmEFEYIEL
BX 511,506,000/
TT(A 20214128318
11,911,000 7T) + LAGE
REBMPEIINPERBE
BEKE(FRIEF])
K -2 E 549 8,500
EIORKIFTERE - BAFIA
REEEEWBEAR-B
BERaRAE ([ EREMH
BRAll) AEETHE
HEFE - 12022412 A 31
B NEBDESEFRY
MBI RREM B A 7%
LEEE - EERAERY
BFHEEFTBRTAL
I o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P BRRME
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35 Leases (Continued)

(ii)

&R 2022

Amounts recognised in the income
statement

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

35 HE (&)

(i) HERRWARTOTER

The income statement shows the following amounts WaRBRUATERESEEEM
relating to leases: crx- I
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
PiEE FET FAT
Depreciation charge of FRAESENEXL
right-of-use assets
Properties L/ (40,162) (51,626)
Land T (5,788) (5,862)
LED screen LED #& (166,136) (151,367)
Radio channel and facility & & S8 M & (13,063) (14,115)
(225,149) (222,970)
Interest expense (included FIBFAX (BiEREKA)
in finance cost) (41,452) (35,614)
Expense relating to B HREEREE AR
short-term and
low-value leases (22,694) (56,643)

The Group leases various properties, land, LED screens,
radio channel and facility. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 11 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 December 2022 were approximately HK$364,391,000
(2021: HK$344,869,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, total cash
outflow for leases of approximately HK$229,479,000
(2021: HK$301,384,000).

AEBHEREYE £ LEDAF

- BRABRRE  HERNER
E2E2NFHBEEMRARL - HE
R EERER LiHE - XBES
BRI GRR M - HE W &
FEIEARS - HEEETSRE
EEMER -

HZE2022F 12 A31 HILFE - FE
M A1 & E#) 5 364,391,000/8 7T
(2021 £ : 344,869,000 7T) °

HE2022F12A31HILFE - BE

mIE & 7 4258 49 /5 229,479,000 75
7t (2021 £ : 301,384,000/ 7T) °
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36 Deferred income

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

36 EIEWA

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Deferred income FEIEWA 259,120 163,426

On fulfilment of its obligations, the deferred revenue is
recognized in revenue in the period when the performance
obligations are fulfilled. HK$100,595,000 was recognized as
revenue in 2022 (2021: HK$118,132,000) that was included in
the deferred income balance as at the beginning of the year.

()  Unsatisfied long-term fixed price contracts

The following tables includes revenue expected to
be recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied
as 31 December 2022. The Group does not disclose the
amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with an original
expected duration of one year or less.

ERTEBR EERALEET
BHEBHHEBERAEKA-
100,595,000 %8 7T A 2022 FHER AU
A (20214 : 118,132,000 7T) * %
WA B S AF IR EIEIRAFREE o

(i)

RETHEEEBR R
aH#
T 3R B 15 T8 HA 8 1A R SR A R B
HZE2022F 12 B31HiH kB
IO ARBITHROETE
BRI A - REE W ERES
BT RTEHAH —F kA T A
BHANBRTRITIEENXSE
BEHE

2022 2021
2022 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Within 1 year —4F 250,356 329,155
More than 1 year —F LA 100,430 73,940

358
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37 Notes to consolidated statement of cash
flows

(a)

&R 2022

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash generated
from/(used in) operations

37

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

REXBRE/ (P
) WRE

B P15 B0 A B0 18 B A8 8 ZE 7
&/ (FR) MRS U

2022 2021
2022 20214
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx T
Loss before income tax BRATSTAIEE (417813) (540,966)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE  BRELSETE 118,470 146,162
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESENE 225,149 222,970
Amortisation of purchased programme and film rights 8 A& E K E /il 35 10,457 10,302
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets & BE#EHLAE 21,445 18,719
Share-based compensation expense R SR ERY 9,174 11,552
Provision for impairment of accounts receivable FEMR R B R 38,467 234,941
Reversal of provision for impairment of PR SUR E R R
accounts receivable (66,919) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HEYE - BERREER 5,374 3,014
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  tHEW% « BE L& ERE (18,602) (2,004)
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEEE (994) (6,396)
Share of profits less losses of joint ventures BEagrEENRER (1,430) (5,070)
Share of profits less losses of associates BieHE N RlsNREE 9,056 1,885
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties BENELTEES/ (W) 6,276 (37)
Interest income FIEMA (56,260) (70,701)
Interest expense FBFY 44,395 43,970
Investment income RERA (2,917) (8,719)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value R AFEE BESDRNNHEEN
through profit or loss AFEEE/ (M) 32,275 (5,267)
Reversal of tax provision for the disposal of financial %[ &R AT EE BEFDEN
assets and liabilities at fair value through WEEERABOHTEE
profit or loss (74,185) -
Provision for impairment of other receivables HitUGRE R ERE 1,739 -
Impairment of investment in associates REENRNRERE 8,031 =
Impairment of right-of-use assets EREEERE - 821
(Increase)/decrease in other long-term assets HEREEE (Em) SR (17777) 26,447
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable SRR D,/ (1) 166,001 (64,499)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and ~ TERNFUE « 124 K i el zA
other receivables B/ (580) 549,125 (121,146)
Decrease in inventories TR n 761
Decrease in amounts due from related companies ~ FEYUR BE R AIFUE R 7793 1,927
(Increase)/decrease in self-produced programmes ~ BELETR (1811) /H (1,786) 1,601
Decrease in accounts payable, other payables ERER - HthENFERESZERD
and accruals (395,151) (17654)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income AN,/ O ) 95,694 (46,473)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BEERHME/ (FR) HRE 305,158 (163,860)
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)
37 Notes to consolidated statement of cash 37 HmEHEREXRMHE (&)
flows (Continued)
(b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from b) BMEEBELANBEY
financing activities is as follows: BRa0 T -
Loans from Loans from

non-controlling  non-controlling
Secured bank  Secured bank  shareholders of  shareholders of

borrowings borrowings subsidiaries subsidiaries Lease
(current) (non-current) (current) (non-current) liabilities Total
HEBAR WEBAH
BEA FEA FERBR FERRR
B8 R7EE RUER RIUER
(&) (78 (%8) €3k HEEE @it
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tén T T T
Year ended 31 December 2022 #Z2022%
12A3NBLEE
At 1 January 2022 R02E1A1A 140,078 1,740 351,579 35,491 820,741 1,349,635
Cash flows RenE
- inflow from financing -BEEHTA
activities 5,144 - - - - 5,144
- outflow from financing -BEE
activities (143,155) (57) (16,115) - (206,785) (366,112)
Non-cash changes FBLEY
- Acquisition - leases -YE-HE - - - - 364,391 364,391
- Currency translations -BEng 4,467 9 (37379) (3,.220) (93,859) (129,982)
- Other -Hf - - - - (44,866) (44,866)
- Reclassification -ENDE - - (153,479) - - (163,479
At 31 December 2022 R2022612831H 6,534 1,692 144,606 3221 839,628 1,024,731
Year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021%
12A31BLLEE
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A18 367575 1,187 306,167 45,787 714,934 1,436,250
Cash flows Reng
- inflow from financing -BEEHTA
activities 3,620 - 20,291 1,260 - 2617
- outflow from financing - AR
activities (229,740) = = - (244,741) (474,481)
Non-cash changes FReE
- Acquisition - leases -WE-HE - - - - 344,869 344,869
- Currency translations -SHHE (1,377) (47 11,682 1,264 25573 3709
- Other - Htp = - - 619 (19,888) (19,269)
- Reclassification -ENnE - - 13439 13,439) = =
At 31 December 2021 R0 E12R318 140,078 1,740 351,579 35,491 820,747 1,349,635
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38 Transactions with non-controlling interests

(a)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021, the Group's equity interest in PNM
remain unchanged as 54.49%.

In December 2022, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company have completed the acquisition of additional
24,658,370 shares of PMM Beijing, representing
16.01% equity interests in PMM Beijing, which resulted
a reduction in non-controlling interests amounting to
HK$73.1million. PMM Beijing remained as a subsidiary
of the Company upon the completion of the acquisition,
with the Group's shareholding interest in PMM Beijing
increasing from 45.54% to approximately 61.55%.

In August 2022, the Group's equity interest in 1t BIE
HFRIXBR AT increased from 52.25% to 77.91% as a
result of share transfer, which result an increase in non-
controlling interests amounting to HK$3.8million. 1t
BEZHFRITAR AR remained as a subsidiary of the
Company upon the completion of the share transfer.

39 Commitments

(a)

&R 2022

Service charges

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had committed
service charges payable under various agreements as
follows:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

38 EEFEREmZIRS

(a)

(b)

(c)

39 &iE

(a)

REZE 20224 12 A 31H & 2021
F12A3MBLEFE  AEER
L2\ 2 88 B AR A s (R B D
B B54.49% °

R2022F 128 WA &N AQ
AWM EENE A A ERKE
R BE# ™ 24,658,370 %
B (454t = BB &P i Ak
16.01%) * B BUIETE BRI %R
4>73,100,000%8 7 - E# K 1t
REEREEmKREERETKE
ERBEREBTINABERRN
oy RN PN S E T o g
7 FR45.54 %38 £ 4961.55% °

R2022F 8 A - FARAEEE M
BYAEERERBERETR
BB A 7 # R #E H52.25%
HZET7791% @ BEHIFIERER
# 5n3,800,000/8 7T - BER
A R T A& - b B RS
FRFERARNABERAR
RKIE AR

R#%5E

MR2022F 128318 A&EH
RAR T B 2 FE A B AR RS
BN

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Not later than one year TER—F 10,573 10,516
Later than one year and ERN—FETERAT

not later than five years 12,335 22,785

22,908 33,301
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39 Commitments (Continued)

362

(b) Operating leases as lessee

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had rental
commitments under various short-term and low-value
operating leases. Total future minimum lease payments
payable in respect of land and buildings, LED panels and
other equipment under non-cancellable operating leases

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

39 A& (&)
EREBEANEEHE

R2022F12A318 A& E
BEZHRAREEELER
EEAERS - TAIBEELE
FAEBTNz LM REF - LED
N R H A SR 2 ROk R

(b)

are as follows: =EHRSETFOT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Not later than one year TRR—F 7,029 5,695

Later than one year and BA—FETNERRTF

not later than five years 21,448 5,891
28,477 11,586

Operating leases as lessor

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had contracted with
its tenants for future aggregate minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

() ERLEANKEHEE

R2022F 123318 A& H
BEEEF A Al B S M
HENARKERE S EE

Not later than one year
Later than one year and

not later than two years

Later than two year and

not later than three years

Later than three year and

not later than four years

Later than four year and
not later than five years

TER—
B — B TRATEF

ERMEETNER=F

ER=FBTNEREF

EANFETERES

FRIARWT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
7,740 1,246
7,324 -
6,468 S
6,164 -
5,603 =
33,299 1,246
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39 Commitments (Continued)

(d)

F3R 2022

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no
material capital commitments.

Other commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had other operating
commitments under various agreements as follows:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

39 A& (&)

(d)

(e)

B A

M202245F K% 202112 8318 -
REBIEHEREARHKIE -

H iz
R2022F 12 A31H A& H

B850 B E G A
T

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Not later than one year TER—F 35,075 33,172
Later than one year and ERN—FETERAT

not later than five years 14,050 19,5681

49,125 52,753
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40 Related party transactions

364

(i)

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with the related parties as defined in HKAS
24 — Related Party Disclosures:

(i)

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

40 BEBREALIRS

BB RREMEOMKRES
h REBEEBEAEAL
(EER BB GFTERE245% —
BEEALHRE) £TTTIE
AR5

2022 2021
2022 20214
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FisE TET FHT
Service charges received/ AREREBEEEEERAR
receivable from the China ((HHHmEER]) &
Mobile Communication Group ~ EMBAR] (44
Co., ("CMCC”) and its [FBBHEE]) KR,/
subsidiaries (collectively FEMR &) AR5 &
"CMCC Group") a,b 4,106 33,181
Service charges paid/payable  AIFBEIEESN, EMHREE
to the CMCC Group a,c 5,889 8,043
Advertising sales to AR BBEEETHNESHES
the CMCC Group a, d 22,227 19,851
Key management compensation = Z%& 18 A & 8 ii 26,737 38,346

Notes:

(@)  The CMCC Group, through a wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Mobile (Hong Kong) Group Limited, owns 19.68% of
the issued share capital of the Company.

(b)  Service charges received/receivable from CMCC Group
related to wireless income which are charged based on
terms specified in the agreements.

(c) Service charges paid/payable to CMCC Group related to
video cost which are charged based on terms specified in
the agreements.

(d)  Advertising sales to the CMCC Group are related to airtime
advertising and programme sponsoring on channels and
airtime advertising on giant sized light-emitting diode
panels operated by the Group.

)
=
R

(@) HEHEEEZBTEZH
(B%) SEBERARNEE
B A REA AR R B#IT
BEAN 19.68% #E# °

b)  BLAERUANE B
R BB EE R E TR
T B IR RURER ©

(¢ BB BEYRAINEN
TR BEENRGE IR
R E HO AR ARUER

(o)  MRBBEEETHESH
ENABAREEME LIRS
ERERERSERESHAESD -
AR SR B3 e — 1R B BER
B EROEERER -
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40 Related party transactions (Continued)

41

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e T ERR MR

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

40 FREAEIREZ (&)

Notes: BFE
(i) Year end balances arising from related party (i) 20 _E 3BT EE400) B i B8
transactions as disclosed in Note 40() above were MEBEATRFEED
also disclosed in Note 23. FIREHR B ERFE23
R -
(il Key management compensation (i) EZEEAEMSE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Salaries e 18,271 25,137
Discretionary bonuses B I5 8 B TEAT 3,374 3,600
Housing allowance B ==L 2,794 6,443
Pension costs RIRE AR 1,506 1,650
Share-based compensation LARD S ZRE i E R 2
expense 792 1,516
26,737 38,346

Investments in Particle Inc. (“Particle”)

As at 31 December 2022, PNM held 4,584,209 Series D1-2
Preferred Shares which PNM was entitled to approximately
0.60% (2021: 0.60%) equity interest on an as-if and fully
converted basis in Particle, which is classified as financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss as at 31 December 2022.

The independent professional valuer adopted the market
approach to calculate the enterprise value of Particle at
31 December 2022. Accordingly, the fair value of the
investment in Series D1-2 Preferred Shares have decreased
from approximately HK$28,537,000 at 31 December 2021
to approximately HK$331,000 at 31 December 2022 and
a fair value loss of approximately HK$28,376,000 (2021:
HK$7,075,000) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

&R 2022

41

12 & Particle Inc.([ Particle ])

HE2022F 128318 © BEHHE
#75 4,5684,20900% D1-2 R P ME LK
HepEEHIERIZBNE 2 PE R
R EEEHER Particlet$ B 40.60%
(20214 :0.60%) R&#E - 720224
12A31 AN EAKR AT EEBIBERT
IRAIIS A E -

R2022% 128318 » By EEME
EOER A T T35 A 5T 8 Particle M1
¥EBE - Bk - D1-2 R 5 BERIR
B ATER 202112831 B4
28,537,000 TR = 2022F 12 A
31BH4331,000/8 7T @ WA UK
TR AHER A 28,376,000/ 7T (2021
£ 7075,000%7T) BIAFEERE -
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42 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the

366

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

42 RRFRNEERBERRAR

Company 2E
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AR RS 157,292 157292
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFELEMEEE 15,835 699
Amounts due from subsidiaries,  FEUHIE A R IEF4E
net 1,970,011 1,970,011
1,985,846 1,970,710
Total assets wEE 2,143,138 2,128,002
Equity =
Equity attributable to owner KATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 499,366 499,366
Reserves (Note (a)) & (M (a) 969,034 971,638
Total equity MR 1,468,400 1,471,004
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HAth S FRIE R FERTRUE 450 370
Amount due to a subsidiary FER —FIM B A RIRIA 674,288 656,628
Total liabilities FR=Ni 674,738 656,998
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 2,143,138 2,128,002
XU Wei SUN Yusheng
Director Director
2 E
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(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

42 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the
Company (Continued)

Note (a)

Movement in the reserves of the Company during the year was as

follows:

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

42 RRAFNEERBERRAR

28 (&)
i (o

ARFRERNEERBIT

Employee
share-based
Share payment Retained

premium reserve earnings Total

EEURHA

S ]
R RE HIERE RERF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL THT FAL
At 31 December 2020 R2020%12831H 153,503 34,052 787764 975,319
Exercise of share options {TERERRE 336 88) = 247
Lapse of share options BRI 4,188 (4,188) - -
Loss for the year FEER - - (3,928) (3,928)
At 31 December 2021 RH2021%F12831H 158,026 29,776 783,836 971,638
Lapse of share options BRELN 5,795 (5,795) = =
Loss for the year FEBR - - (2,604) (2,604)
At 31 December 2022 2022512 A318 163,821 23,981 781,232 969,034

F3R 2022
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43

368

Benefits and interest of directors

Directors’ and senior management'’s
emoluments

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

43 EEEMRA=ZH

SEENEREEABNME

BEZBEFENEE2022F12 83181k

31 December 2022 is set out below: FEMHSIHINAT
As director (note (i)
fERES (W)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit ~ management
Fees Salaries honus benefits allowance scheme (note (ii) Total
HftgA Eim
BiERh fhfbat BAERHE fFRERE
he 5 ipAN SEERE EERR frditots (HH i) &5t
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
Thn Thn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn T
1 XUWei - - - - - - 3,059 3,059
18
2 SUN Yusheng - - - - - - 3,409 3409
Fik
3 HO Chiu King, Pansy Catifina - - - - - - - -
(&g
4 SUN Guanggi - - - - - - - -
B JIAN Qin - - - - - - - -
&g
6 WANG Haixia - - - - - - - -
5
7 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
2ER
8 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - - - - - - 250
9 FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 250
HBE
10 ZHOU Longshan 250 - - - - - - 250
BE
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RE PSRRI

(Unless otherwise specified, amounts expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BRIEHFRIEER - BB ITIIE)

43 Benefits and interest of directors (Continued) 43 EEZEEF K FIH (E)

Directors’ and senior management’s BEENEREEABRNES
emoluments (Continued) (#8)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended BEZEFENEE2021F12A31 81t
31 December 2021 is set out below: FEMHSIHINAT
As director note i)
fe5ES (i)
Employer
contribution
Estimated toa
money value retirement As
Discretionary of other Housing benefit  management
Fees Salaries bonus benefits allowance scheme (note (i) Total
Eftied Exm
s Bfbs RIS {FRERE
k3 ) il SEERE BEEH fEiffts: (Riti) a3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thn Tin Thn ThL T T AL
1 XU Wei (appointed on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - 2,5% 2,69%
f5 (120 £6 A 2 FEZA)
2 SUN Yusheng (appointed on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - 2854 2854
R (M02156R 2 REER)
g LIU Changle (resigned on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - 7656 765
YR (M1 567 2 BER)
4 CHUI Keung (resigned on 22 June 2021) 336 - - - - - 3407 3,13
ER (12021 567 22A%HT)
B WANG JiYan fresigned on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - 2,650 2,650
TiE (RN %6 A0 BER)
6 HO Chiu King, Pansy Catifina (appointed
on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - - -
08 (202156 522 REEF)
7 SUN Guanggj (appointed on 22 June 2021) - - - - - - - -
Bt % (M200156 5 22 RERF)
8 LEUNG Hok Lim 250 - - - - - - 250
RER
9 Thaddeus Thomas BECZAK 250 - - - - - - 20
10 FANG Fenglei 250 - - - - - - 20
HRE
I HE Di fresigned on 20 August 2021) 168 - - - - - - 168
{ii# (142021 €8 A 20 AEHE)
12 ZHOU Longshan (appointed on
20 August 2021) 9 - - - - - - 2
el (R 2021 £8 F 20 BEEA)
13 JANQn - - - - - - - -
#g

14 ZHANG Dong (resigned on 20 August 2021) - - - = = - - -
RA(R021 587 2085E)

15 SUNQiang Chang (resigned on

23 November 2021) - = = - - - - _

7 (RN E 1 A3ERE)

16 HUANGTao (resigned on 19 March 2021) - - = - - - _ _
&2 (R0 E3R19BFH)

17 WANG Haixia (appointed on 19 March 2021) - - - = = - - _
BB (R202153 7 19 HREF)
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43

370

Benefits and interest of directors (Continued)

As of 31 December 2022, Mr. LIU Changle, the former chairman
and executive director, had outstanding share options of the
Company to purchase 4,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per share
(2021: 4,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per share) and Mr. CHUI
Keung, former executive director, had outstanding share options
of the Company to purchase 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41
per share (2021: 3,900,000 shares at HK$1.41 per share). No
options were exercised by them during 2022.

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertakings.

(i)~ The amounts represented emoluments paid or receivable
in respect of a person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company
or its subsidiary undertakings and included salaries,
discretionary bonuses, employer’s contributions to
retirement benefit schemes, housing allowance and
value of the share option. The value of the share options
granted to the directors of the Company under the share
option schemes of the Company represents the fair value
of these options charged to the consolidated income
statement for the year in accordance with HKFRS 2.

(iii)

No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year.

During the year, no emoluments, retirement benefits, payments
or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor
are any payable (2021: Nil). No consideration was provided to
or receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2021: Nil). There are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2021: None).

43

(BRIERFRIRERR - £FEABTTIIE)

EEEANR M= (45)

MN2022F12 8318 B £ & & #
TEZIRZEEFERTEZAR
NABERETESRIMBTEE
4,900,000 f% f% f2 (20214 : LB &
1.417 7T B8 B 4,900,000 % B% 17) K&
AMMITEEEREERBERITHEZA
DR ERE]IZSRI141BTEER
3,900,000 f% f% {5 (20214 : L &K
1.41 7 T E 3,900,000 A% i1 ) o 1%
£ 2022 FAIEITEEERME -

() FHZBARARAERES
(TR RS E M B R
BF) MEHARS  XNHT
ZAWEFB - HRZAATRZF
RS T RO Fr B

(il FAHEARAXAEEER
ARR (HEMBLE) OF
BARBENER TR E M
MR#% A TFRRARFB - X
% A RJ Bk % 5 Fl 5 T W B O i
B YemEHs  BISERD
TEAL ~ R ERR KR I EH &I
HE MR - BERR - ARE
BHEMEE - REARFNE
BHEERTARREENE
BHEMEE  KRIEFBRE
RBERBW B REEAE 25
RERZEWERMEFH R F
B

(i) MEEERNFAREXFRBN
EEHAIME -

FR - TERESEZESMEEZES K
EH AR IEEERBOEE « BIK
&R SEREAE  TNET A R
TFRIE (20216 « ) o WL ER
HEEREMGE T EZERE=EA]
FITHE B RIS UERAI R (B (2021
FoE) WEMESE ZEEEN
SIEHIHEABRE R B BT EED
NERMBLUER  BRZEAL
MEMZ S (20214F : £) o
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44 Subsequent event

Acquisition of equity interests in (i) Shanghai Phoenix
Shenzhou Film and Television Cultural Development
Company Limited (“Shanghai Yingshi”), (ii) Beijing
Huizhi Bozhong Public Relations Consultancy Company
Limited (“Huizhi Bozhong”), (iii) Guangdong Yidai Media
Advertising Company Limited (“Guangdong Yidai”) and
(iv) Shenzhen Phoenix Star Cultural Industrial Company
Limited (“Shenzhen Phoenix Star”)

Beijing Phoenix Huibo Media Company Limited (formerly
known as Beijing Huibo Advertisement and Media Company
Limited), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
has completed the acquisition of 100% equity interests of
Huizhi Bozhong, Shenzhen Phoenix Star and Shanghai Yingshi
and 70% equity interest of Guangdong Yidai at a consideration
of RMB5,000,000, RMB2,000,000, RMB5,000,000 and
RMB3,500,000 on 3 January 2023, 1 February 2023, 8 February
2023 and 8 March 2023 respectively. The Group is in the
process of assessing the fair value of acquired identified assets
and liabilities and not yet in a position to determine the final
amounts.

&R 2022

44

(BRIEAFRIRERR - SFABTTIIE)

REE

W& (i) LB RE AR SN R (L3
RERAT ([ EEZRAD L=
EEERLBERERAR (NELSE
R iER-—AKEEESERD
a8 ([RR-—KD) Riv)RITREE
XEEEARAR (MRITREL])
IR RE

KRB IFEEEEZEWNB AT R
BEVEREEAR AR (AIfE : bR
ERESEEERAR)  EXRR
202341 A3H 202352 A18 -
2023%2 A8H KX&202343A8H
TRKBESER  FIWEEE
FEEBEENEHERE URER
—RK70%KEE RESFAAR
#5,000,0007C * A & #2,000,000
7T AR #5000,0007T & AR
3,500,000 7T ° AN £ B 1F 5114 Fr ik g
BHAEERBENRATE  MEX
ETE XX -
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BHME

Consolidated results mEXE
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 % 20215 20205 20195 20184
12A831H 12H31H 12A31H 12R831H 12A31H
LEE HFE HFE HFE EFE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr Fr Fr T Tt
Revenue WA 3,003,733 3,159,240 3,029,046 3,688,231 4,062,816
Operating expenses meBh (2,883,546) (2,936,930) (2,740,646) (3,262,829) (2,976,886)
Selling, general and BE - —REOTBER
administrative expenses (498,807) (869,600) (790,551) (1,153,314) (1,152,628)
Other (losses)/gains, net and Htt (B8) Mas
share of results of joint FRERBERELE
ventures and associates PG AN (39,193) 106,324 (1,118,700) 1,564,608 844,809
({Loss)/profit before income tax PRSI R IE AR
and non-controlling interests w=A (&518) /& (417813) (540,966) (1,620,851) 836,696 778,111
Income tax (expensel/credit FiisH (BR) /8% (29,820) (84,272) 124,358 (252,468) (216,768)
(Loss)/profit before non-controlling B FEHER S Al
interests (B8) /&8 (447633) (625,238) (1,496,493) 584,228 561,343
Non-controlling interests IS 65,133 169,037 459,450 (461,563) (317553)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners ~ AR RIEAR A
of the Company fE(h (B538) /8 (382,500) (456,201) (1,037043) 122,665 243,790
Consolidated assets and liabilities HEEERERE
As at 31 December
W12831R
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
2022 F 20214 20205 20194 20184
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tr T T T T
Total assets BEE 7219,408 8,782,952 9,354,368 11,958,261 10,861,694
Total liabilities BEE (2,789,514) (3,368,525) (3,476,144) (4,326,598) (3,125,542)
Non-controlling interests kS (1,016,542) (1,371,782) (1,471,258) (2,269,961) (2,257223)
Equity attributable to owners ARAHEEA
of the Company FEfb R 3,413,352 4,042,645 4,406,966 5,361,702 5,478,929
372 Annual Report 2022
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